
Selection From: 04/17/2013 - Rules (2:30 PM) 2013 Regular Session 

Committee Packet 04/19/2013 12:52 PM 

Agenda Order  

 

Page 1 of 2 

CS/SB 1494 by JU, Thrasher; (Similar to CS/CS/H 0935) Florida False Claims Act 

298330  A      S     RCS         RC, Lee                   Delete L.188 - 333:      04/17 07:48 PM   
784344  A      S     RCS         RC, Lee                   Delete L.597:            04/17 07:48 PM   

 

CS/SB 1496 by JU, Thrasher; (Similar to H 0937) Public Records/False Claims Against the State/Department of Legal 
Affairs 

 

CS/SB 528 by CA, Simpson; (Similar to CS/CS/H 0537) Growth Management 

622998  A      S  L  RCS         RC, Thrasher              btw L.52 - 53:           04/17 07:49 PM   

 

CS/CS/SB 1122 by GO, CA, Simpson (CO-INTRODUCERS) Dean; (Similar to CS/CS/H 0971) Florida Fire 

Prevention Code 
764182  A      S     RCS         RC, Montford              Delete L.21 - 30:        04/17 07:51 PM   

 

CS/SB 824 by GO, Garcia; (Similar to H 1183) Public Records/Forensic Behavioral Health Evaluation 

 

CS/SB 1014 by GO, Garcia; (Similar to H 1185) Public Records/ Participants in Treatment-based Drug Court Programs 

 

SB 986 by Soto; (Identical to H 0235) Requirements for Driver Licenses 

 

CS/CS/SB 1210 by CF, JU, Soto; (Identical to CS/CS/H 0905) Family Law 

 

CS/CS/SB 1734 by GO, CJ, Flores; (Similar to CS/H 1327) Public Records/Victims of Human Trafficking 

143288  A      S     RCS         RC, Negron                Delete L.19:             04/17 07:53 PM   

 

SB 1424 by Evers; (Similar to CS/H 1333) Public Records/Personal Identifying Information/Department of 
Transportation 

 

CS/CS/SB 490 by RI, JU, Stargel; (Identical to CS/1ST ENG/H 0077) Landlords and Tenants 

 

CS/SB 536 by HP, Detert; (Identical to CS/H 0413) Physical Therapy 

 

CS/CS/SB 1016 by JU, HP, Hays; (Compare to H 0581) Dentistry 

 

CS/CS/SB 580 by CA, RI, Hays; (Compare to CS/CS/CS/1ST ENG/H 0073) Homeowners’ Associations 

125176  D      S  L  WD          RC, Richter               Delete everything after  04/17 07:55 PM   
446246  D      S  L  RCS         RC, Richter               Delete everything after  04/17 07:55 PM   

 

CS/CS/SB 1160 by EP, HP, Bullard; (Compare to CS/CS/CS/1ST ENG/H 0375) Onsite Sewage Treatment and Disposal 
Systems 
445448  A      S  L  RCS         RC, Smith                 Delete L.197 - 199:      04/17 07:55 PM   
485304  A      S  L  RCS         RC, Smith                 Delete L.162 - 189:      04/17 07:55 PM   
947950  A      S  L  RCS         RC, Smith                 btw L.93 - 94:           04/17 07:55 PM   

 

CS/SB 474 by GO, MS; (Identical to H 7143) OGSR/Department of Veterans' Affairs/Direct-support Organization/Donor 
Information 

 



Selection From: 04/17/2013 - Rules (2:30 PM) 2013 Regular Session 

Committee Packet 04/19/2013 12:52 PM 

Agenda Order  

 

Page 2 of 2 

CS/SB 1840 by CA, MS; (Identical to CS/H 7019) Development Permits 

624254  A      S     RCS         RC, Smith                 btw L.42 - 43:           04/17 07:59 PM   
709122  A      S  L  RCS         RC, Latvala               btw L.71 - 72:           04/17 07:59 PM   

 

SB 712 by Latvala; (Identical to H 0911) Fallen Law Enforcement Officers License Plates 

901884  D      S  L  WD          RC, Latvala               Delete everything after  04/17 07:59 PM   
895022  D      S  L  RCS         RC, Latvala               Delete everything after  04/17 07:59 PM   

 

CS/SB 1260 by EE, Ring; (Similar to CS/H 0249) Public Records/E-mail Addresses/Voter Registration Applicants 

 

SB 1800 by GO; (Identical to H 7145) OGSR/Employment Discrimination Complaints 

 

SB 706 by Montford; (Identical to CS/H 0341) Uninsured Motorist Insurance Coverage 

 

CS/SB 1756 by GO, Montford; (Similar to H 7089) Public Records/Applicants or Participants School Food and Nutrition 
Service Programs 

 

SB 736 by Richter; (Similar to CS/H 0995) Limitations Relating to Deeds and Wills 

 

CS/SB 1098 by BI, Richter; (Identical to CS/CS/H 0833) General Assignments 

 

SB 1848 by BI; Public Records/Inspector General/Citizens Property Insurance Corporation 

 

SB 1850 by BI; (Similar to H 7095) Public Records/Citizens Property Insurance Corporation Clearinghouse 

 

CS/SB 834 by BI, Simmons; (Similar to CS/CS/H 0823) Public Records/Proprietary Business Information/Office of 
Insurance Regulation 

 

CS/SB 1172 by JU, Simmons; (Similar to CS/CS/H 0229) Land Trusts 

 

CS/SB 714 by CU, Simmons; (Similar to CS/H 0649) Public Records/Proprietary Confidential Business Information 

 



 

 S-036 (10/2008) 
04172013.1730 Page 1 of 9 

2013 Regular Session     The Florida Senate  

 COMMITTEE MEETING EXPANDED AGENDA 

   

    RULES 

 Senator Thrasher, Chair 

 Senator Smith, Vice Chair 

 
MEETING DATE: Wednesday, April 17, 2013 

TIME: 2:30 —5:30 p.m. 
PLACE: Toni Jennings Committee Room, 110 Senate Office Building 

MEMBERS: Senator Thrasher, Chair; Senator Smith, Vice Chair; Senators Benacquisto, Diaz de la Portilla, 
Galvano, Gardiner, Latvala, Lee, Margolis, Montford, Negron, Richter, Ring, Simmons, and Sobel 

 

TAB BILL NO. and INTRODUCER 
BILL DESCRIPTION and 

SENATE COMMITTEE ACTIONS COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
1 
 

 
CS/SB 1494 

Judiciary / Thrasher 
(Similar CS/CS/H 935, Compare H 
937, H 1297, Link CS/S 1496) 
 

 
Florida False Claims Act; Revising conditions under 
which a person is liable for a specified civil penalty; 
authorizing the Department of Legal Affairs to issue 
subpoenas for specified purposes before the 
institution of civil proceedings; authorizing the 
department to stipulate to protective orders of 
submitted documents and information; providing for 
estoppel as to certain matters following a final 
judgment or decree rendered in favor of the state or 
the Federal Government in certain criminal 
proceedings, etc. 
 
JU 03/18/2013 Fav/CS 
RC 04/02/2013 Not Considered 
RC 04/09/2013 Not Considered 
RC 04/17/2013 Fav/CS 
 

 
Fav/CS 
        Yeas 14 Nays 0 
 

 
2 
 

 
CS/SB 1496 

Judiciary / Thrasher 
(Similar H 937, H 1297, Compare 
CS/CS/H 935, Link CS/S 1494) 
 

 
Public Records/False Claims Against the 
State/Department of Legal Affairs; Providing an 
exemption from public records requirements for a 
complaint and other information held by the 
Department of Legal Affairs pursuant to an 
investigation of a violation of provisions relating to 
false claims against the state; providing for future 
legislative review and repeal of the exemption under 
the Open Government Sunset Review Act; specifying 
conditions under which an investigation is considered 
completed, etc. 
 
JU 03/18/2013 Fav/CS 
GO 04/02/2013 Favorable 
RC 04/09/2013 Not Considered 
RC 04/17/2013 Favorable 
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 13 Nays 0 
 



COMMITTEE MEETING EXPANDED AGENDA 

Rules 
Wednesday, April 17, 2013, 2:30 —5:30 p.m.            
 

 

 S-036 (10/2008) 
04172013.1730 Page 2 of 9 

TAB BILL NO. and INTRODUCER 
BILL DESCRIPTION and 

SENATE COMMITTEE ACTIONS COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
3 
 

 
CS/SB 528 

Community Affairs / Simpson 
(Similar CS/CS/H 537) 
 

 
Growth Management; Clarifying the prohibition on an 
initiative or referendum process in regard to 
development orders, comprehensive plan 
amendments, and map amendments; clarifying that 
the exception to the prohibition on an initiative or 
referendum process in regard to any local 
comprehensive plan amendment or map amendment 
is limited to a local government charter provision in 
effect on June 1, 2011, that specifically authorized an 
initiative or referendum process for local 
comprehensive plan or map amendments that affect 
more than five parcels of land, etc. 
 
CA 03/07/2013 Fav/CS 
JU 04/01/2013 Favorable 
CM 04/08/2013 Favorable 
RC 04/17/2013 Fav/CS 
 

 
Fav/CS 
        Yeas 14 Nays 0 
 

 
4 
 

 
CS/CS/SB 1122 

Governmental Oversight and 
Accountability / Community Affairs 
/ Simpson 
(Similar CS/CS/H 971) 
 

 
Florida Fire Prevention Code; Requiring fire officials 
to enforce Florida Building Code provisions for 
occupancy separation for certain structures with 
certain occupancies; exempting certain farming and 
ranching structures from the code, etc. 
 
CA 03/20/2013 Not Considered 
CA 04/02/2013 Fav/CS 
GO 04/09/2013 Fav/CS 
RC 04/17/2013 Fav/CS 
 

 
Fav/CS 
        Yeas 14 Nays 0 
 

 
5 
 

 
CS/SB 824 

Governmental Oversight and 
Accountability / Garcia 
(Similar H 1183) 
 

 
Public Records/Forensic Behavioral Health 
Evaluation; Creating an exemption from public 
records requirements for a forensic behavioral health 
evaluation filed with a court; providing a definition for 
the term “forensic behavioral health evaluation”; 
providing a statement of public necessity, 
applicability, and construction, etc. 
 
CJ 03/18/2013 Favorable 
GO 04/09/2013 Fav/CS 
RC 04/17/2013 Favorable 
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 13 Nays 1 
 



COMMITTEE MEETING EXPANDED AGENDA 

Rules 
Wednesday, April 17, 2013, 2:30 —5:30 p.m.            
 

 

 S-036 (10/2008) 
04172013.1730 Page 3 of 9 

TAB BILL NO. and INTRODUCER 
BILL DESCRIPTION and 

SENATE COMMITTEE ACTIONS COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
6 
 

 
CS/SB 1014 

Governmental Oversight and 
Accountability / Garcia 
(Similar H 1185) 
 

 
Public Records/ Participants in Treatment-based Drug 
Court Programs; Exempting from public records 
requirements information from the initial screenings 
for participation in a treatment-based drug court 
program, substance abuse screenings, behavioral 
health evaluations, and subsequent treatment status 
reports regarding a participant or a person considered 
for participation in a treatment-based drug court 
program; providing for future repeal and legislative 
review of the exemption under the Open Government 
Sunset Review Act; providing a statement of public 
necessity, etc.  
 
JU 03/12/2013 Favorable 
GO 04/09/2013 Fav/CS 
RC 04/17/2013 Favorable 
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 12 Nays 1 
 

 
7 
 

 
SB 986 

Soto 
(Identical H 235) 
 

 
Requirements for Driver Licenses; Including notice of 
the approval of an application for Deferred Action for 
Childhood Arrivals status issued by the United States 
Citizenship and Immigration Services as valid proof of 
identity for purposes of applying for a driver license, 
etc. 
 
TR 03/14/2013 Favorable 
JU 04/01/2013 Not Considered 
JU 04/08/2013 Favorable 
RC 04/17/2013 Favorable 
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 15 Nays 0 
 

 
8 
 

 
CS/CS/SB 1210 

Children, Families, and Elder 
Affairs / Judiciary / Soto 
(Identical CS/CS/H 905, Compare 
CS/CS/S 718) 
 

 
Family Law; Providing for consideration of time-
sharing schedules or time-sharing arrangements as a 
factor in the adjustment of awards of child support; 
authorizing judges in family cases to take judicial 
notice of certain court records without prior notice to 
the parties when imminent danger to persons or 
property has been alleged and it is impractical to give 
prior notice; creating an exception to a prohibition 
against using evidence other than the verified 
pleading or affidavit in an ex parte hearing for a 
temporary injunction for protection against domestic 
violence, repeat violence, sexual violence, dating 
violence, or stalking, etc. 
 
JU 04/01/2013 Fav/CS 
CF 04/08/2013 Fav/CS 
RC 04/17/2013 Favorable 
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 14 Nays 0 
 



COMMITTEE MEETING EXPANDED AGENDA 

Rules 
Wednesday, April 17, 2013, 2:30 —5:30 p.m.            
 

 

 S-036 (10/2008) 
04172013.1730 Page 4 of 9 

TAB BILL NO. and INTRODUCER 
BILL DESCRIPTION and 

SENATE COMMITTEE ACTIONS COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
9 
 

 
CS/CS/SB 1734 

Governmental Oversight and 
Accountability / Criminal Justice / 
Flores 
(Similar H 1327, Compare 
CS/CS/H 1325, Link CS/CS/S 
1644) 
 

 
Public Records/Victims of Human Trafficking; 
Providing an exemption from public records 
requirements for criminal history records of victims of 
human trafficking expunged under s. 943.0583, F.S.; 
providing for future legislative review and repeal of 
the exemption under the Open Government Sunset 
Review Act; providing a statement of public necessity, 
etc. 
 
CJ 04/01/2013 Fav/CS 
GO 04/09/2013 Fav/CS 
RC 04/17/2013 Fav/CS 
 

 
Fav/CS 
        Yeas 15 Nays 0 
 

 
10 
 

 
SB 1424 

Evers 
(Similar CS/H 1333) 
 

 
Public Records/Personal Identifying 
Information/Department of Transportation; Providing 
that personal identifying information about individuals 
related to the payment of tolls, which is held by the 
Department of Transportation and certain other 
entities, is exempt from public records requirements; 
providing for future legislative review and repeal of 
the exemption under the Open Government Sunset 
Review Act; providing legislative findings and a 
statement of public necessity, etc. 
 
TR 03/14/2013 Favorable 
GO 04/09/2013 Favorable 
RC 04/17/2013 Favorable 
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 14 Nays 0 
 

 
11 
 

 
CS/CS/SB 490 

Regulated Industries / Judiciary / 
Stargel 
(Identical CS/H 77, Compare H 
755, S 1120) 
 

 
Landlords and Tenants; Revising exclusions from 
applicability of the Florida Residential Landlord and 
Tenant Act; providing that the right to attorney fees 
may not be waived in a lease agreement; providing 
that attorney fees may not be awarded in a claim for 
personal injury damages based on a breach of duty of 
premises maintenance; revising and providing 
landlord disclosure requirements with respect to 
security deposits and advance rent; providing 
examples of conduct for which the landlord may not 
retaliate, etc. 
 
JU 04/01/2013 Fav/CS 
RI 04/09/2013 Fav/CS 
RC 04/17/2013 Favorable 
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 9 Nays 5 
 

 
12 
 

 
CS/SB 536 

Health Policy / Detert 
(Identical CS/H 413) 
 

 
Physical Therapy; Authorizing physical therapists to 
implement physical therapy treatment plans of a 
specified duration which are provided by advanced 
registered nurse practitioners, etc. 
 
HP 03/07/2013 Fav/CS 
BI 04/09/2013 Favorable 
RC 04/17/2013 Favorable 
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 15 Nays 0 
 



COMMITTEE MEETING EXPANDED AGENDA 

Rules 
Wednesday, April 17, 2013, 2:30 —5:30 p.m.            
 

 

 S-036 (10/2008) 
04172013.1730 Page 5 of 9 

TAB BILL NO. and INTRODUCER 
BILL DESCRIPTION and 

SENATE COMMITTEE ACTIONS COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
13 
 

 
CS/CS/SB 1016 

Judiciary / Health Policy / Hays 
(Compare H 581, CS/H 1205, S 
924) 
 

 
Dentistry; Prohibiting a contract between a health 
insurer, a prepaid limited health service organization, 
or a health maintenance organization and a dentist 
from requiring the dentist to provide services at a fee 
set by the insurer or the organization under certain 
circumstances; requiring a contract with a 
governmental contractor for health care services to 
include a provision for a health care provider licensed 
under ch. 466, F.S., as an agent of the governmental 
contractor, to allow a patient or a parent or guardian 
of the patient to voluntarily contribute a fee to cover 
costs of dental laboratory work related to the services 
provided to the patient without forfeiting sovereign 
immunity, etc. 
 
HP 03/14/2013 Fav/CS 
JU 04/01/2013 Not Considered 
JU 04/08/2013 Fav/CS 
RC 04/17/2013 Favorable 
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 14 Nays 0 
 

 
14 
 

 
CS/CS/SB 580 

Community Affairs / Regulated 
Industries / Hays 
(Compare CS/CS/CS/H 73, CS/H 
7119, CS/CS/S 436, S 596) 
 

 
Homeowners’ Associations; Providing grounds for 
disciplinary actions against community association 
managers; requiring associations to allow a member 
to use a portable device to make an electronic copy of 
the official records and prohibiting associations from 
charging a fee for such an electronic copy; revising 
provisions relating to the amendment of homeowners’ 
association declarations; providing additional 
circumstances for authorizing members to elect a 
majority of association board members, etc. 
 
RI 04/02/2013 Fav/CS 
CA 04/09/2013 Fav/CS 
RC 04/17/2013 Fav/CS 
 

 
Fav/CS 
        Yeas 15 Nays 0 
 

 
15 
 

 
CS/CS/SB 1160 

Environmental Preservation and 
Conservation / Health Policy / 
Bullard 
(Similar CS/CS/CS/H 375) 
 

 
Onsite Sewage Treatment and Disposal Systems; 
Requiring onsite sewage treatment and disposal 
systems to comply with rules of the Department of 
Environmental Protection and provide a certain level 
of treatment; providing that certain onsite sewage 
treatment and disposal systems installed after a 
specified date are not required to connect to a sewer 
until a specified date; authorizing the department to 
approve and permit a property owner of an owner-
occupied, single-family residence as a maintenance 
entity for the property owner’s own aerobic treatment 
unit system under certain circumstances, etc. 
 
HP 03/20/2013 Fav/CS 
CA 04/02/2013 Favorable 
EP 04/09/2013 Fav/CS 
RC 04/17/2013 Fav/CS 
 

 
Fav/CS 
        Yeas 14 Nays 0 
 



COMMITTEE MEETING EXPANDED AGENDA 

Rules 
Wednesday, April 17, 2013, 2:30 —5:30 p.m.            
 

 

 S-036 (10/2008) 
04172013.1730 Page 6 of 9 

TAB BILL NO. and INTRODUCER 
BILL DESCRIPTION and 

SENATE COMMITTEE ACTIONS COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
16 
 

 
CS/SB 474 

Governmental Oversight and 
Accountability / Military and 
Veterans Affairs, Space, and 
Domestic Security 
(Identical H 7143) 
 

 
OGSR/Department of Veterans' Affairs/Direct-support 
Organization/Donor Information; Provides an 
exemption from public records requirements for any 
identifying information of a donor or prospective donor 
to the direct-support organization of the Department 
of Veterans’ Affairs, and an exemption from public 
meetings requirements for portions of meetings at 
which the identity of a donor or prospective donor 
whose identity is confidential and exempt is 
discussed; saving the exemptions from repeal under 
the Open Government Sunset Review Act, etc. 
 
GO 03/21/2013 Fav/CS 
RC 04/09/2013 Not Considered 
RC 04/17/2013 Favorable 
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 15 Nays 0 
 

 
17 
 

 
CS/SB 1840 

Community Affairs / Military and 
Veterans Affairs, Space, and 
Domestic Security 
(Identical CS/H 7019) 
 

 
Development Permits; Requiring counties and 
municipalities to attach certain disclaimers and 
include certain permit conditions when issuing 
development permits; revising the deadline for the 
holder of certain permits to notify the authorizing 
agency of automatic extension eligibility, etc. 
 
CA 04/09/2013 Fav/CS 
RC 04/17/2013 Fav/CS 
 

 
Fav/CS 
        Yeas 15 Nays 0 
 

 
18 
 

 
SB 712 

Latvala 
(Identical H 911) 
 

 
Fallen Law Enforcement Officers License Plates; 
Creating a Fallen Law Enforcement Officers license 
plate; establishing an annual use fee for the plate; 
providing for the distribution of use fees received from 
the sale of such plates, etc. 
 
TR 03/21/2013 Favorable 
RC 04/09/2013 Not Considered 
RC 04/17/2013 Fav/CS 
ATD   
AP   
 

 
Fav/CS 
        Yeas 13 Nays 0 
 

 
19 
 

 
CS/SB 1260 

Ethics and Elections / Ring 
(Similar CS/H 249, Compare 
CS/CS/H 247, Link CS/S 1352) 
 

 
Public Records/E-mail Addresses/Voter Registration 
Applicants; Providing an exemption from public 
records requirements for the e-mail addresses of 
voter registration applicants and voters; providing for 
future legislative review and repeal of the exemption 
under the Open Government Sunset Review Act; 
providing a statement of public necessity, etc. 
 
EE 03/11/2013 Fav/CS 
GO 04/09/2013 Favorable 
RC 04/17/2013 Favorable 
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 14 Nays 0 
 



COMMITTEE MEETING EXPANDED AGENDA 

Rules 
Wednesday, April 17, 2013, 2:30 —5:30 p.m.            
 

 

 S-036 (10/2008) 
04172013.1730 Page 7 of 9 

TAB BILL NO. and INTRODUCER 
BILL DESCRIPTION and 

SENATE COMMITTEE ACTIONS COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
20 
 

 
SB 1800 

Governmental Oversight and 
Accountability 
(Identical H 7145) 
 

 
OGSR/Employment Discrimination Complaints; 
Amending provisions relating to a public records 
exemption for agency records concerning complaints 
of employment discrimination; saving the exemption 
from repeal under the Open Government Sunset 
Review Act; removing the scheduled repeal of the 
exemption, etc. 
 
RC 04/09/2013 Not Considered 
RC 04/17/2013 Favorable 
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 14 Nays 0 
 

 
21 
 

 
SB 706 

Montford 
(Identical CS/H 341) 
 

 
Uninsured Motorist Insurance Coverage; Providing 
that, under certain circumstances, specified persons 
who elect non-stacking limitations on their uninsured 
motorist insurance coverage are conclusively 
presumed to have made an informed, knowing 
acceptance of the limitations on behalf of all insureds, 
etc. 
 
BI 03/14/2013 Favorable 
JU 04/01/2013 Not Considered 
JU 04/08/2013 Favorable 
RC 04/17/2013 Favorable 
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 13 Nays 0 
 

 
22 
 

 
CS/SB 1756 

Governmental Oversight and 
Accountability / Montford 
(Similar H 7089, Compare CS/H 
7087, Link CS/S 1628) 
 

 
Public Records/Applicants or Participants School 
Food and Nutrition Service Programs; Providing an 
exemption from public records requirements for 
personal identifying information of an applicant for or 
participant in a school food and nutrition service 
program held by the Department of Agriculture and 
Consumer Services, the Department of Children and 
Families, or the Department of Education; providing 
for specified disclosure; providing for legislative 
review and repeal of the exemption under the Open 
Government Sunset Review Act, etc. 
 
AG 03/18/2013 Favorable 
GO 04/09/2013 Fav/CS 
RC 04/17/2013 Favorable 
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 12 Nays 0 
 

 
23 
 

 
SB 736 

Richter 
(Similar CS/H 995) 
 

 
Limitations Relating to Deeds and Wills; Providing for 
limitations of actions when a deed or will is on record; 
providing that a person claiming an interest in real 
property affected by amendments made in the act has 
until a specified date to file a claim or defense in court 
to determine the validity of the instrument; providing 
that if a claim or defense is filed within the specified 
period, the validity of the instrument is determined 
without regard to these amendments, etc. 
 
JU 03/06/2013 Favorable 
CF 04/08/2013 Favorable 
RC 04/17/2013 Favorable 
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 12 Nays 0 
 



COMMITTEE MEETING EXPANDED AGENDA 

Rules 
Wednesday, April 17, 2013, 2:30 —5:30 p.m.            
 

 

 S-036 (10/2008) 
04172013.1730 Page 8 of 9 

TAB BILL NO. and INTRODUCER 
BILL DESCRIPTION and 

SENATE COMMITTEE ACTIONS COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
24 
 

 
CS/SB 1098 

Banking and Insurance / Richter 
(Identical CS/CS/H 833) 
 

 
General Assignments; Requiring an assignee’s bond 
to be in at least a specific amount or double the 
liquidation value of the unencumbered and liquid 
assets of the estate, whichever is higher; authorizing 
an assignee to conduct certain discovery to determine 
whether to prosecute certain claims or causes of 
action; extending the time period for which a court 
may authorize an assignee to conduct the business of 
the assignor; providing that the Florida Rules of Civil 
Procedure apply to objections to claims in all pending 
cases beginning on a specific date, etc. 
 
JU 04/01/2013 Favorable 
BI 04/09/2013 Fav/CS 
RC 04/17/2013 Favorable 
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 13 Nays 0 
 

 
25 
 

 
SB 1848 

Banking and Insurance 
(Link CS/S 1770) 
 

 
Public Records/Inspector General/Citizens Property 
Insurance Corporation; Providing a public records 
exemption for the identity of individuals who make 
certain allegations or provide certain information to 
the inspector general of Citizens Property Insurance 
Corporation and for information relating to a resulting 
investigation; providing for future review and repeal; 
providing a statement of public necessity, etc. 
 
GO 04/09/2013 Favorable 
RC 04/17/2013 Favorable 
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 13 Nays 0 
 

 
26 
 

 
SB 1850 

Banking and Insurance 
(Similar H 7095, S 1606, Compare 
CS/H 7093, S 1622, Link CS/S 
1770) 
 

 
Public Records/Citizens Property Insurance 
Corporation Clearinghouse; Providing an exemption 
from public records requirements for all underwriting 
guidelines, manuals, rating information, and other 
underwriting criteria or instructions submitted by an 
insurer to the corporation’s policyholder eligibility 
clearinghouse program which are used to identify and 
select risks from the program; providing for future 
review and repeal; providing a statement of public 
necessity, etc. 
 
GO 04/09/2013 Favorable 
RC 04/17/2013 Favorable 
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 13 Nays 0 
 

 
27 
 

 
CS/SB 834 

Banking and Insurance / Simmons 
(Similar CS/CS/H 823, Compare 
CS/CS/H 821, Link CS/S 836) 
 

 
Public Records/Proprietary Business 
Information/Office of Insurance Regulation; Creating 
an exemption from public records requirements for 
proprietary business information submitted to the 
Office of Insurance Regulation; defining the term 
"proprietary business information," etc. 
 
BI 04/02/2013 Fav/CS 
GO 04/09/2013 Favorable 
RC 04/17/2013 Favorable 
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 13 Nays 0 
 



COMMITTEE MEETING EXPANDED AGENDA 

Rules 
Wednesday, April 17, 2013, 2:30 —5:30 p.m.            
 

 

 S-036 (10/2008) 
04172013.1730 Page 9 of 9 

TAB BILL NO. and INTRODUCER 
BILL DESCRIPTION and 

SENATE COMMITTEE ACTIONS COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
28 
 

 
CS/SB 1172 

Judiciary / Simmons 
(Similar CS/CS/H 229) 
 

 
Land Trusts; Providing requirements relating to 
vesting of ownership in a trustee; prohibiting the 
operation of the statute of uses to execute a land trust 
or to vest the trust property under certain conditions; 
prohibiting the operation of the doctrine of merger to 
execute a land trust or to vest the trust property under 
certain conditions; providing that a trustee’s legal and 
equitable title to the trust property is separate and 
distinct from the beneficiary’s beneficial interest in the 
land trust and the trust property; revising and 
providing scope of the Florida Trust Code, etc. 
 
JU 03/12/2013 Fav/CS 
BI 04/02/2013 Favorable 
RC 04/09/2013 Not Considered 
RC 04/17/2013 Favorable 
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 13 Nays 0 
 

 
29 
 

 
CS/SB 714 

Communications, Energy, and 
Public Utilities / Simmons 
(Similar CS/H 649) 
 

 
Public Records/Proprietary Confidential Business 
Information; Providing an exemption from public 
records requirements for specified proprietary 
confidential business information held by an electric 
utility that is subject to ch. 119, F.S., in conjunction 
with a due diligence review of an electric project or a 
project to improve the delivery, cost, or diversification 
of fuel or renewable energy resources; providing for 
the retention of such information for a specified time; 
providing for future review and repeal of the 
exemption, etc. 
 
CU 03/06/2013 Fav/CS 
GO 04/02/2013 Favorable 
RC 04/09/2013 Not Considered 
RC 04/17/2013 Favorable 
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 13 Nays 0 
 

 
 
 

 
Other Related Meeting Documents 
 
 

 
 
 

 



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Rules 

 

BILL:  CS/CS/SB 1494 

INTRODUCER: Rules Committee; Judiciary Committee; and Senator Thrasher 

SUBJECT:  Florida False Claims Act 

DATE:  April 19, 2013 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Munroe  Cibula  JU  Fav/CS  

2. Munroe  Phelps  RC  Fav/CS 

3.        

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... X Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

 

CS/CS/SB 1494 conforms the Florida False Claims Act (FFCA)
1
 to the Federal False Claims 

Act.
2
 Specifically, the bill: 

 

 Expands the authority of the Department of Legal Affairs to issue subpoenas to investigate 

false claims against the state. However, this authority is contingent upon a public records 

exemption in Senate Bill 1496 or similar legislation becoming law. 

 Removes the statement of purpose for the FFCA. 

 Revises the definitions under the FFCA to conform to the Federal False Claims Act, revises 

the violations under the FFCA, 

 Revises procedures for the Department of Legal Affairs to intervene in a case under the 

FFCA. 

                                                 
1
 Section 68.081, F.S., states that ss. 68.081 - 68.09, F.S., may be cited as the “Florida False Claims Act.” 

2
 See Federal False Claims Act currently codified at 31 U.S.C. ss. 3729-3733 (Supp IV. 2010). 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1494   Page 2 

 

 Expands the authority of the Attorney General’s Office to prosecute false claims allegedly 

made by certain governmental officials which are not acted upon by other state officials 

having authority to act. 

 Revises provisions for the burden of proof, to provide that if a defendant in a state or federal 

proceeding is found guilty, pleads guilty, or pleads nolo contendere in a criminal action with 

underlying facts that would support a qui tam action, the defendant may not deny any of the 

matters in the criminal proceeding, as if the department had been a party. 

 

This bill creates section 68.0831, Florida Statutes. 

 

This bill substantially amends the following sections of the Florida Statutes:  68.081, 68.082, 

68.083, 68.084, 68.085, 68.086, 68.087, 68.089, and 68.09. 

II. Present Situation: 

The Florida False Claims Act (FFCA)
3
 authorizes civil actions by individuals and the state 

against persons who file false claims for payment or approval by a state agency. The Florida 

Legislature enacted the FFCA in 1994 and the FFCA is modeled after the Federal Civil False 

Claims Act.
4
 The Federal Civil False Claims Act was enacted during the Civil War in response 

to widespread fraud among defense contractors.
5
 The Federal Civil False Claims Act provides 

that the United States Attorney General and the Department of Justice may enforce the 

provisions of the federal act.
6
 The “qui tam” provisions of the Federal Civil False Claims Act, 

however, also authorize private individuals to enforce its provisions on behalf of the United 

States.
7
 “Qui tam action” means “[a]n action brought under a statute that allows a private person 

to sue for a penalty, part of which the government or some specified public institution will 

receive.”
8
 

 

In 1986, the Federal False Claims Act was substantially amended and the amendments 

revitalized the qui tam provisions of the federal act by allowing persons to bring an action 

regardless of the government’s prior knowledge of the allegations.
9
 As a result of the financial 

success that the Federal False Claims Act brought for federal government, a number of states in 

addition to Florida have adopted false claims act with qui tam provisions.
10

 

 

In Florida, the FFCA has often been used to combat health care, nursing home, and Medicaid 

fraud.
11

 An action under the FFCA can be brought either by the state itself, or by a private 

                                                 
3
 Section 68.081, F.S., supra note 1 

4
 See House Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statement for SB 1185 (1994 Reg. Sess.) by the House Committee on 

Judiciary (Mar. 15, 1994) and see also, Federal False Claims Act, supra note 2. 
5
 See Rainwater v. United States, 356 U.S. 590, 592 (1958) (“The Act was originally passed in 1863 after disclosure of 

widespread fraud against the Government during the War Between the States.”). 
6
 See 31 U.S.C. s. 3729. 

7
 See 31 U.S.C. s. 3730(a) and (b)(1). 

8
 BLACK’S LAW DICTIONARY (9th ed. 2009). 

9
 House Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statement for SB 1185 (1994 Reg. Sess.) supra note 5. 

10
 House Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statement for SB 1185 (1994 Reg. Sess.) supra note 5 and also see The False 

Claims Act Legal Center, Taxpayers Against Fraud Education Fund, State False Claims Acts, http://www.taf.org/states-false-

claims-acts (last visited March 12, 2013). 
11

 Florida Department of Legal Affairs. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1494   Page 3 

 

individual on behalf of the state. The Department of Legal Affairs and the Department of 

Financial Services are responsible for investigating and litigating actions brought under the 

FFCA. Qui tam actions may be brought by private entities on behalf of the State of Florida.
12

 

 

When a private person files a qui tam action, a copy of the complaint and disclosure of all 

material evidence must be served on the Attorney General, as head of the Department of Legal 

Affairs, and the Chief Financial Officer, as head of the Department of Financial Services.
13

 The 

FFCA does not explicitly provide that a complaint is to be sealed automatically upon filing. 

However, certain provisions in s. 68.083, F.S., arguably only have meaning if they are construed 

to mean that a complaint is automatically sealed. Section 68.083(2), F.S., provides that “[p]rior 

to the court unsealing the complaint under subsection (3), the action may be voluntarily 

dismissed ….” Section 68.083(5), F.S., allows the Department of Legal Affairs to request an 

extension of the time during which the complaint remains sealed under subs. 68.035(2), F.S. 

Furthermore, the Leon County Clerk of Courts office indicated that the office’s current practice 

in order to comply with s. 68.083, F.S., is to automatically seal such complaints for 90 days. The 

complaint is unsealed on the 91st day unless a party successfully moves the court to keep it 

under seal. 

 

Section 68.083(3), F.S., also provides that when a private individual brings a potential claim to 

the attention of the Department of Legal Affairs or the Department of Financial Services, these 

departments have 60 days to decide whether they are going to intervene and take over litigating 

the FFCA action from the private individual. 

 

Actions that violate the FFCA include: 

 

 Submitting a false claim for payment or approval;
14

 

 Making or using a false record to get a false or fraudulent claim paid or approved;
15

 

 Conspiring to make a false claim or to deceive an agency to get a false or fraudulent claim 

allowed or paid;
16

 or 

 Making or using a false record to conceal, avoid, or decrease payments owed to the state 

government.
17

 

 

The penalty for violating the FFCA is $5,500 to $11,000 per claim, plus three times the amount 

of damages to the state government.
18

 For example, if a person is found guilty of making a false 

claim where he or she defrauded $100,000 from the state, that person is liable to pay the state 

$300,000 plus the $5,500 to $11,000 penalty per claim. 

                                                 
12

 See s. 68.083(2), F.S. Qui tam cases usually arise from an employee of an institution such as a health care provider who 

discovers that violations of the FFCA are occurring. This is a type of whistleblower action. In a qui tam action under the 

FFCA, the employee will sue on behalf of the state to collect money that was illegally defrauded from the state. A private 

entity that brings a successful FFCA action on behalf of the state will receive an amount that the court decides is reasonable 

for collecting the civil penalty and damages. See ss. 68.085 and 68.086, F.S. The amount must not be less than 25 percent and 

not more than 30 percent of the proceeds recovered under a judgment. Section 68.085(3), F.S. 
13

 Section 68.083(3), F.S. 
14

 Section 68.082(2)(a), F.S. 
15

 Section 68.082(2)(b), F.S. 
16

 Section 68.082(2)(c), F.S. 
17

 Section 68.082(2)(g), F.S. 
18

 Section 68.082(2), F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1494   Page 4 

 

 

Section 68.089, F.S., provides a statute of limitation where a civil action under the FFCA cannot 

be brought: 

 

 More than 6 years after the date on which the false claim against the state is committed; or 

 More than 3 years after the date when the facts are known or reasonably should have been 

known by the state; but in no event more than 10 years after the date on which the violation 

is committed. 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

The Florida False Claims Act – Section 68.081, F.S. 

The current statute includes a statement of purpose that the FFCA is: 

 

to deter persons from knowingly causing or assisting in causing state 

government to pay claims that are false or fraudulent, and to provide remedies 

for obtaining treble damages and civil penalties for state government when 

money is obtained from state government by reason of a false or fraudulent 

claim. 

 

The bill removes the statement of purpose. The bill clarifies that the Florida False Claims Act 

includes ss. 68.091 and 68.092, F.S. Section 68.091, F.S., states that the “act shall be liberally 

construed to effectuate its remedial and deterrent purposes” and also contains a severability 

clause. Section 68.092, F.S., states that all moneys recovered by the Chief Financial Officer as 

head of the Department of Financial Services in any civil action for violation of the FFCA based 

on an action brought under the FFCA must be deposited in the Administrative Trust Fund of the 

Department of Financial Services. 

 

Definitions – Section 68.082, F.S. 

The current statute defines “agency” as an official or other subset of the executive branch of the 

state government. 

 

The bill removes this definition, and consistently changes the term “agency” throughout the 

balance of the FFCA to “state.” The term “state” is defined in the bill so as to include state 

agencies, authorities, and instrumentalities. The net effect of these changes is to expand the 

applicability of the FFCA to state subdivisions and instrumentalities where prior law limited it to 

executive branch agencies.
19

 

 

The bill also adds definitions for “material” and “obligation”
20

 which conforms with definitions 

found in the Federal False Claims Act. “Material” includes the ability to influence the payment 

of money, and “obligation” now includes an established duty. 

                                                 
19

 Cf. Fla. AGO 2011-10, which excludes municipalities from the act because of the definitions of “agency,” and 

“instrumentality.” 2011 WL 2429107. 
20

 Under the Federal False Claims Act, “material” means having a natural tendency to influence, or be capable of influencing, 

the payment or receipt of money or property. 31 U.S.C. 3729(b)(3). Under the Federal False Claims Act, “obligation” means 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1494   Page 5 

 

 

Violations under Section 68.082(2), F.S. 

The bill substantially expands the jurisdiction of the Department of Legal Affairs to investigate 

and prosecute violations of the FFCA. Currently, the jurisdiction of the Department of Legal 

Affairs under the FFCA is limited to pursuing perpetrators of fraudulent claims against executive 

branch entities. The bill authorizes the Attorney General’s Office to investigate or prosecute 

perpetrators of false claims against any instrumentality of the state, which would include the 

Legislative and Judicial Branches. 

 

Currently, an agency or the department may take action against perpetrators of false claims. 

Because the bill consistently removes “agency” and replaces it with “department,” the bill makes 

the Department of Legal Affairs the sole entity in the state to pursue the FFCA, except for those 

initiated by or intervened in by the Department of Financial Services pursuant to s. 68.083, F.S. 

 

Under the bill, a person is liable under the FFCA who: 

 

 Knowingly presents or causes to be presented a false or fraudulent claim for payment or 

approval; 

 Knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used a false record or statement material to 

a false or fraudulent claim; 

 Conspires to commit a violation the violations statute; 

 Has possession, custody, or control of property or money used or to be used by the state and 

knowingly delivers or causes to be delivered less than all or that money or property; 

 Is authorized to make or deliver a document certifying receipt of property used or to be used 

by the state and, intending to defraud the state, makes or delivers the receipt without knowing 

that the information on the receipt is true; 

 Knowingly buys or received, as a pledge of an obligation or a debt, public property from an 

officer or employee of the state who may not sell or pledge the property; or 

 Knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used a false record or statement material to 

an obligation to pay or transmit money or property to the state, or knowingly conceals or 

knowingly and improperly avoids or decreases an obligation to pay or transmit money or 

property to the state. 

 

The conduct prohibited by the FFCA as revised by the bill is only subtly different than the 

conduct prohibited under existing law. The civil penalties for violating the FFCA of $5,500 to 

$11,000 per claim, plus three times the amount of damages to the state government are 

unchanged. 

 

Civil Actions for False Claims – Section 68.083, F.S. 

Section 68.083(7), F.S., provides that when a private individual brings a potential claim to the 

attention of the Department of Legal Affairs or the Department of Financial Services, as 

                                                                                                                                                                         
an established duty, whether or not fixed, arising from an express or implied contractual, grantor-grantee, or licensor-licensee 

relationship, from a fee-based or similar relationship, from statute or regulation, or from the retention of any overpayment. 31 

U.S.C. 3729 (b)(4). 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1494   Page 6 

 

appropriate, have 60 days to decide whether to intervene and take over litigating the FFCA 

action from the private individual. The bill removes the reference to “on behalf of the state,” 

which appears to preclude other government entities other than the Department of Legal Affairs 

or the Department of Financial Services from intervening or bringing a related action.  

 

Subpoenas – Section 68.0831, F.S. 

Under current law, the Department of Legal Affairs may investigate claims but is not authorized 

to issue subpoenas to facilitate the investigation of claims. The department reports that the lack 

of subpoena authority can make it difficult for the department to determine if it is appropriate to 

intervene in a FFCA case. 

 

The bill creates s. 68.0831, F.S., to grant the Department of Legal Affairs discovery capabilities 

prior to the institution of a civil proceeding, if it has reason to believe that any person has 

testimony or evidence relevant to an investigation. The bill provides that the department may 

issue subpoenas requiring the recipient to: 

 

 Produce documents; 

 Answer interrogatories under oath; and 

 Give sworn testimony. 

 

The bill provides: 

 

 A subpoena will be served as other process; 

 A subpoena must detail the materials requested and the nature of the conduct to which the 

materials relate; 

 The recipient of a subpoena may petition the Circuit Court of Leon County for relief from the 

subpoena; 

 The recipient of a subpoena has 30 days to respond at the time and place specified, or risk 

being subject to contempt;  

 Transcribed testimony may be reviewed by the deponent; 

 The department may stipulate to protective orders; and 

 The department may request that a person who refuses to comply on Fifth Amendment 

grounds may be compelled to comply by the court.  

 

The bill provides that the discovery provisions do not impair the ability of the department to: 

 

 Institute a civil proceeding; or 

 Invoke the power of the court to compel production of evidence before a grand jury. 

 

The bill provides for a civil penalty up to $100,000 for a natural person and $1 million for any 

other entity, plus reasonable attorney fees and costs if the person or entity knowingly creates or 

destroys evidence while a subpoena is pending. 

 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1494   Page 7 

 

The new authority of the Department of Legal Affairs to issue subpoenas in connection with an 

investigation of a false claim contingent upon a public records exemption in Senate Bill 1496, or 

similar legislation, becoming law. 

 

Rights of Parties in Civil Actions – Section 68.084, F.S. 

Currently, the department may dismiss a cause voluntarily over the objections of the person who 

initiated the action. The bill authorizes the department to dismiss an action “at any point” over 

the objections of said person. 

 

Currently, the application of one civil remedy under the Act does not preclude another. The bill 

authorizes the state to elect to pursue a false claim though an administrative remedy to determine 

a civil monetary penalty, and if the state does so, the person bringing the action has the same 

rights as the person will have in an action brought through the courts. 

 

The bill also specifies when a finding or conclusion is final once the time for appeal has expired. 

 

Awards to Plaintiffs Bringing Actions – Section 68.085, F.S. 

Currently, the private party bringing the action is entitled to recover a portion of the proceeds 

awarded by the court in the event that the department prevails in a false claims action. 

 

The bill adds that the person bringing the claim will also be entitled to expenses incurred in 

pursuit of the claim, including reasonable attorney fees and costs. Moreover, those fees and costs 

will be assessed against the defendant and are payable only from the proceeds of the action. 

 

Expenses and Attorney Fees – Section 68.086, F.S. 

Currently, the provisions for the fees and costs of the person bringing the action and the 

department are contained in the same section of the FFCA. Because the provisions for the 

payment of private parties has been moved to s. 68.085, F.S., that provision was removed from 

s. 68.087, F.S., leaving provision for payment of attorney fees to the department intact. 

 

Exemptions to Civil Actions – Section 68.087, F.S. 

Government Officials 

Section 68.087, F.S., closely resembles the federal false claims statute.
21

 Currently, the statute 

provides that no court shall have jurisdiction over an action under the statute against any member 

of the Legislature, a member of the judiciary, or a senior execute branch official if the action is 

based on evidence or information known to the state government. 

 

The bill departs from the federal model, which continues to provide that a court has no 

jurisdiction over a false claims action for acts known to “the [g]overnment.” The bill changes 

                                                 
21

 31 U.S.C. 3730(e)(2)(A) provides “[n]o court shall have jurisdiction over an action brought under [the Federal False 

Claims Act] against a Member of Congress, a member of the judiciary, or a senior executive branch official if the action is 

based on evidence or information known to the Government when the action was brought.” 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1494   Page 8 

 

this limitation to information known to the Department of Legal Affairs or Department of 

Financial Services. This distinction has the effect of expanding potential false claims actions to 

now include previously excluded government officials where information is not previously 

known to the Department of Legal Affairs or the Department of Financial Services. 

 

Publicly Disclosed Evidence 

Currently if a false claim is brought based upon evidence which was disclosed in a pending 

investigation, the court does not have jurisdiction to entertain the action. Disclosure of the 

evidence through the media also causes the court to lose jurisdiction, unless the person bringing 

the action was the original source of the information.
22

 

 

The bill provides that the court may dismiss an action brought upon publicly disclosed facts, and 

gives the department the opportunity to object to such dismissal of the action. 

 

Local Governments 

Currently, the statute
23

 provides that the court has no jurisdiction over a case brought against 

local governments, which is defined as a county or municipality. 

 

The bill removes the reference to local governments and continues to provide that the court 

cannot have jurisdiction over an action brought under the act against a county or municipality. 

 

Limitations and Interventions by the Department – Section 68.089, F.S. 

Limitation of Actions 

Currently, no action may be brought for false claims more than 6 years after the violation, or 

more than 3 years after the material facts were known to the public official charged with 

responsibility of the matter, but in no event more than 10 years after the date on which the 

violation was committed. 

 

Under the bill expands the limitation on actions so that an action may not be brought more than 

three years after the date when the material facts were known or reasonably should have been 

known by Department of Legal Affairs or the Department of Financial Services, as appropriate, 

rather than the state official charged with responsibility of the matter. The distinction of this 

effect will allow the department to sit in the shoes of the government official who has 

responsibility for the matter. Therefore, no action may be brought more than 3 years after 

material facts were known to the department. 

 

                                                 
22

 The current provision which deprives the court of jurisdiction subjects a suit in these circumstances to dismissal pursuant to 

Fla. R. Civ. Pro. 1.140 on the basis of a lack of subject matter jurisdiction. Further, a court order entered without jurisdiction 

is void. Blewitt v. Nicholson, 2 Fla. 200 (1848). 
23

 Section 68.088(6), F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1494   Page 9 

 

Intervention by the Department 

The bill adds a new provision which allows the Department of Legal Affairs or the Department 

of Financial Services, as appropriate, to amend the pleadings if it intervenes in an existing action. 

It may also file a completely new complaint. For statute of limitations purposes, the bill provides 

that such changes relate back to the original date the action was brought. The bill authorizes the 

department to intervene and make such changes in pending actions. 

 

Burden of Proof – Section 68.09, F.S. 

Currently the statute provides that the State of Florida must prove the essential elements of a 

false claim action by a preponderance of the evidence. The bill changes the “State of Florida” to 

the “department.” 

 

The bill adds that if a defendant in a state or federal proceeding is found guilty, pleads guilty, or 

pleads nolo contendere in a criminal action with underlying facts that would support a qui tam 

action, the defendant is estopped (may not deny) any of the matters in the criminal proceeding, as 

if the department had been a party. 

 

Effective date 

The bill takes effect July 1, 2013, except as otherwise provided in the bill. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

None. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1494   Page 10 

 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

None. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS/CS by Rules on April 17, 2013: 

The committee substitute defines the word “department” as used in s. 68.0831, F.S., to 

mean the Department of Legal Affairs. Additionally, the bill authorizes the Department 

of Legal Affairs to issue subpoenas in connection with an investigation of a false claim. 

The committee substitute makes this authority contingent upon a public records 

exemption in Senate Bill 1496 or similar legislation becoming law. 

 

CS by Judiciary on March 18, 2013: 

The committee substitute corrects a scrivener’s error, replacing the word “department” 

with “state government.” 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1494 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì298330ÇÎ298330 

 

Page 1 of 8 

3/28/2013 4:58:15 PM 595-02953A-13 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

04/17/2013 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Rules (Lee) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete lines 188 - 333 3 

and insert: 4 

Section 4. Effective on the same date that SB 1496 or 5 

similar legislation takes effect, if such legislation is adopted 6 

in the same legislative session or an extension thereof and 7 

becomes a law, section 68.0831, Florida Statutes, is created to 8 

read: 9 

68.0831 Subpoena.— 10 

(1) As used in this section, the term “department” means 11 

the Department of Legal Affairs. 12 

(2) Whenever the department has reason to believe that any 13 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1494 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì298330ÇÎ298330 

 

Page 2 of 8 

3/28/2013 4:58:15 PM 595-02953A-13 

person may be in possession, custody, or control of any 14 

documentary material or may have any information, which 15 

documentary material or information is relevant to a civil 16 

investigation authorized by s. 68.083, the department may, 17 

before the institution of a civil proceeding thereon, issue in 18 

writing and cause to be served upon the person a subpoena 19 

requiring the person to: 20 

(a) Produce such documentary material for inspection and 21 

copying or reproduction; 22 

(b) Answer, under oath and in writing, written 23 

interrogatories; 24 

(c) Give sworn oral testimony concerning the documentary 25 

material or information; or 26 

(d) Furnish any combination of such material, answers, or 27 

testimony. 28 

(3) The subpoena shall: 29 

(a) Be served upon the person in the manner required for 30 

service of process in this state or by certified mail showing 31 

receipt by the addressee or by the authorized agent of the 32 

addressee. 33 

(b) State the nature of the conduct that constitutes the 34 

violation of this act and that is alleged to have occurred or to 35 

be imminent. 36 

(c) Describe the class or classes of documentary material 37 

to be produced thereunder with such definiteness and certainty 38 

as to permit such materials to be reasonably identified. 39 

(d) Prescribe a date and time at which the person must 40 

appear to testify, under oath or affirmation, or by which the 41 

person must answer written interrogatories or produce the 42 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1494 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì298330ÇÎ298330 

 

Page 3 of 8 

3/28/2013 4:58:15 PM 595-02953A-13 

documentary material for inspection or copying; however, such 43 

date shall not be earlier than 30 days after the date of service 44 

of the subpoena. 45 

(e) Specify a place for the taking of testimony or for the 46 

submission of answers to interrogatories and identify the person 47 

who is to take custody of any documentary material. Inspection 48 

and copying of documentary material shall be carried out at the 49 

place where the documentary material is located or at such other 50 

place as may be thereafter agreed to by the person and such 51 

designated custodian. Upon written agreement between the person 52 

and the designated custodian, copies may be substituted for 53 

original documents. 54 

(4) Such subpoena may not require the production of any 55 

documentary material, the submission of any answers to written 56 

interrogatories, or the giving of any oral testimony if such 57 

material, answers, or testimony would be protected from 58 

disclosure under: 59 

(a) The standards applicable to subpoenas or subpoenas 60 

duces tecum issued by a court of this state in aid of a grand 61 

jury investigation; or 62 

(b) The standards applicable to a discovery request under 63 

the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, to the extent that the 64 

application of such standards to any such subpoena is 65 

appropriate and consistent with the provisions and purposes of 66 

this act. 67 

(5) This section does not limit the power of the department 68 

to require the appearance of witnesses or production of 69 

documents or other tangible evidence located outside the state. 70 

(6) Within 30 days after the service of a subpoena upon any 71 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1494 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì298330ÇÎ298330 

 

Page 4 of 8 

3/28/2013 4:58:15 PM 595-02953A-13 

person or at any time before the return date specified therein, 72 

whichever period is longer, the person served may file, and 73 

serve on the department, a petition for an order of the court 74 

modifying or setting aside the subpoena. Any such petition shall 75 

be filed in the circuit court of the Second Judicial Circuit in 76 

and for Leon County. The time allowed for compliance in whole or 77 

in part with the subpoena as deemed proper and ordered by the 78 

court shall not run while the petition is pending before the 79 

court. The petition shall specify each ground upon which the 80 

petitioner relies in seeking relief and may be based upon the 81 

failure of the subpoena to comply with this section or upon any 82 

constitutional or other legal right or privilege of such person. 83 

(7) In case of the failure of any person to comply in whole 84 

or in part with a subpoena and when such person has not filed a 85 

petition under subsection (6), the circuit court of the Second 86 

Judicial Circuit in and for Leon County, upon application of the 87 

department, may issue an order requiring compliance. The failure 88 

to obey the order of the court shall be punishable as a contempt 89 

of court. 90 

(8) The examination of all witnesses under this section 91 

shall be conducted by the department before an officer 92 

authorized to administer oaths in this state. The testimony 93 

shall be taken stenographically or by a sound-recording device. 94 

Any person compelled to appear under a subpoena for oral 95 

testimony pursuant to this section may be accompanied, 96 

represented, and advised by counsel. Counsel may advise such 97 

person, in confidence, either upon the request of such person or 98 

upon counsel’s own initiative, with respect to any question 99 

asked of such person. Such person or counsel may object on the 100 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1494 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì298330ÇÎ298330 

 

Page 5 of 8 

3/28/2013 4:58:15 PM 595-02953A-13 

record to any question, in whole or in part, and shall briefly 101 

state for the record the reason for any such objection. If such 102 

person refuses to answer any question, the person conducting the 103 

examination may petition the circuit court as provided by 104 

subsection (11). 105 

(9) When the testimony is fully transcribed, the person 106 

conducting the deposition shall afford the witness, and counsel, 107 

if any, a reasonable opportunity to examine the transcript, and 108 

the transcript shall be read to or by the witness, unless such 109 

examination and reading is waived by the witness. Any changes in 110 

form or substance that the witness desires to make shall be 111 

entered and identified upon the transcript by the officer or the 112 

department, with a statement of the reasons given by the witness 113 

for making such changes. The transcript shall then be signed by 114 

the witness unless the witness waives the signing in writing, is 115 

ill, cannot be found, or refuses to sign. If the transcript is 116 

not signed by the witness within 30 days after his or her being 117 

afforded a reasonable opportunity to examine it, the person 118 

conducting the examination shall sign it and state on the record 119 

the fact of the waiver, illness, absence, or refusal to sign, 120 

together with the reason, if any, given therefor. Any person 121 

required to testify or to submit documentary evidence is 122 

entitled, on payment of reasonable costs, to procure a copy of 123 

any document produced by such person and of his or her own 124 

testimony as stenographically reported or, in the case of a 125 

deposition, as reduced to writing by or under the direction of 126 

the person taking the deposition. 127 

(10) The department shall have the authority to stipulate 128 

to protective orders with respect to documents and information 129 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1494 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì298330ÇÎ298330 

 

Page 6 of 8 

3/28/2013 4:58:15 PM 595-02953A-13 

submitted in response to a subpoena under this section. 130 

(11) The department may request that any natural person who 131 

refuses to comply with this section on the ground that the 132 

testimony or documents may incriminate him or her be ordered by 133 

the circuit court to provide the testimony or the documents. 134 

Except in a prosecution for perjury, a natural person who 135 

complies with a court order to provide testimony or documents 136 

after asserting a privilege against self-incrimination to which 137 

he or she is entitled by law may not be subject to a criminal 138 

proceeding with respect to the transaction to which he or she is 139 

required to testify or produce documents. Any natural person who 140 

fails to comply with such a court order to testify or produce 141 

documents may be adjudged in contempt and imprisoned until the 142 

time the person purges himself or herself of the contempt. 143 

(12) While in the possession of the custodian, documentary 144 

material, answers to interrogatories, and transcripts of oral 145 

testimony shall be available, under such reasonable terms and 146 

conditions as the department shall prescribe, for examination by 147 

the person who produced such materials or answers or that 148 

person’s duly authorized representative. 149 

(13) This section does not impair the authority of the 150 

department to: 151 

(a) Institute a civil proceeding under s. 68.083; 152 

(b) Invoke the power of a court to compel the production of 153 

evidence before a grand jury; or 154 

(c) Maintain the confidential and exempt status of the 155 

complaint and any other information as provided in s. 68.083(8). 156 

(14)(a) A person who knows or has reason to believe that a 157 

 158 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1494 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì298330ÇÎ298330 

 

Page 7 of 8 

3/28/2013 4:58:15 PM 595-02953A-13 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 159 

And the title is amended as follows: 160 

Delete lines 10 - 35 161 

and insert: 162 

files an action under the act; creating s. 68.0831, 163 

F.S.; defining the term “department”; authorizing the 164 

Department of Legal Affairs to issue subpoenas for 165 

specified purposes before the institution of civil 166 

proceedings; providing requirements for the content 167 

and service of subpoenas; providing that such 168 

subpoenas may not require specified protected 169 

documents or testimony; specifying that the 170 

department’s power to require the appearance of 171 

witnesses or production of documents or other tangible 172 

evidence located outside the state is unaffected; 173 

providing for petitions to modify or set aside 174 

subpoenas; providing for orders to comply with 175 

subpoenas; providing for the examination of witnesses; 176 

providing for review of transcripts of testimony; 177 

authorizing the department to stipulate to protective 178 

orders of submitted documents and information; 179 

providing for natural persons who decline to testify 180 

or produce documents after asserting a privilege 181 

against self-incrimination to be ordered to testify or 182 

produce documents; providing for contempt to comply 183 

with such orders; providing for examination of 184 

testimony, answers, or materials by the person who 185 

produced such materials or answers; providing 186 

applicability; prohibiting a person knowing or having 187 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1494 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì298330ÇÎ298330 

 

Page 8 of 8 

3/28/2013 4:58:15 PM 595-02953A-13 

reason to believe that a subpoena is pending from 188 

tampering with evidence; providing civil penalties; 189 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1494 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì7843440Î784344 

 

Page 1 of 1 

3/28/2013 4:59:02 PM 595-02962A-13 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

04/17/2013 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Rules (Lee) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment  1 

 2 

Delete line 597 3 

and insert: 4 

Section 11. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this 5 

act, this act shall take effect July 1, 2013. 6 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1494 

 

 

 

By the Committee on Judiciary; and Senator Thrasher 

 

 

 

 

590-02624-13 20131494c1 

Page 1 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to the Florida False Claims Act; 2 

amending s. 68.081, F.S.; revising a cross-reference; 3 

deleting a statement of purpose; amending s. 68.082, 4 

F.S.; deleting, revising, and providing definitions; 5 

revising conditions under which a person is liable for 6 

a specified civil penalty; amending s. 68.083, F.S.; 7 

revising terminology; revising language concerning who 8 

may intervene or bring a related action after a person 9 

files an action under the act; creating s. 68.0831, 10 

F.S.; authorizing the Department of Legal Affairs to 11 

issue subpoenas for specified purposes before the 12 

institution of civil proceedings; providing 13 

requirements for the content and service of subpoenas; 14 

providing that such subpoenas may not require 15 

specified protected documents or testimony; specifying 16 

that the department’s power to require the appearance 17 

of witnesses or production of documents or other 18 

tangible evidence located outside the state is 19 

unaffected; providing for petitions to modify or set 20 

aside subpoenas; providing for orders to comply with 21 

subpoenas; providing for the examination of witnesses; 22 

providing for review of transcripts of testimony; 23 

authorizing the department to stipulate to protective 24 

orders of submitted documents and information; 25 

providing for natural persons who decline to testify 26 

or produce documents after asserting a privilege 27 

against self-incrimination to be ordered to testify or 28 

produce documents; providing for contempt to comply 29 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1494 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02624-13 20131494c1 

Page 2 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

with such orders; providing for examination of 30 

testimony, answers, or materials by the person who 31 

produced such materials or answers; providing for 32 

construction; prohibiting specified actions by a 33 

person knowing or having reason to believe that a 34 

subpoena is pending; providing civil penalties; 35 

amending s. 68.084, F.S.; clarifying that the 36 

department may dismiss actions at any point; revising 37 

language concerning the costs to the department for 38 

continuing to receive pleadings and transcripts of an 39 

action after it has elected to withdraw; providing 40 

that the state may elect to pursue available 41 

alternative remedies, including administrative 42 

proceedings; specifying what constitutes a final 43 

finding or conclusion in an alternative proceeding 44 

that is binding on all parties to an action under the 45 

act; amending s. 68.085, F.S.; providing for 46 

successful plaintiffs to receive, in addition to a 47 

portion of the amount recovered, awards of expenses 48 

and attorney fees and costs; amending s. 68.086, F.S.; 49 

deleting references to awards of attorney fees to 50 

successful plaintiffs; revising provisions relating to 51 

awards of attorney fees to the department; amending s. 52 

68.087, F.S.; revising provisions relating to 53 

dismissal of an action if substantially the same 54 

allegations or transactions as alleged in the action 55 

were publicly disclosed; amending s. 68.089, F.S.; 56 

providing for the treatment for statutes of 57 

limitations purposes of pleadings filed in 58 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1494 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02624-13 20131494c1 

Page 3 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

interventions by the department; amending s. 68.09, 59 

F.S.; providing for estoppel as to certain matters 60 

following a final judgment or decree rendered in favor 61 

of the state or the Federal Government in certain 62 

criminal proceedings; providing an effective date. 63 

 64 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 65 

 66 

Section 1. Section 68.081, Florida Statutes, is amended to 67 

read: 68 

68.081 Florida False Claims Act; short title; purpose.— 69 

(1) Sections 68.081-68.092 68.081-68.09 may be cited as the 70 

“Florida False Claims Act.” 71 

(2) The purpose of the Florida False Claims Act is to deter 72 

persons from knowingly causing or assisting in causing state 73 

government to pay claims that are false or fraudulent, and to 74 

provide remedies for obtaining treble damages and civil 75 

penalties for state government when money is obtained from state 76 

government by reason of a false or fraudulent claim. 77 

Section 2. Section 68.082, Florida Statutes, is amended to 78 

read: 79 

68.082 False claims against the state; definitions; 80 

liability.— 81 

(1) As used in this section, the term: 82 

(a) “Agency” means any official, officer, commission, 83 

board, authority, council, committee, or department of the 84 

executive branch of state government. 85 

(a)(b) “Claim” means includes any written or electronically 86 

submitted request or demand, whether under a contract or 87 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1494 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02624-13 20131494c1 

Page 4 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

otherwise, for money or, property, regardless of whether the 88 

state has title to the money or property, that: or services, 89 

which 90 

1. Is presented made to any employee, officer, or agent of 91 

the state; an agency, or 92 

2. Is made to a any contractor, grantee, or other recipient 93 

if the state agency provides or has provided any portion of the 94 

money or property requested or demanded, or if the state agency 95 

will reimburse the contractor, grantee, or other recipient for 96 

any portion of the money or property that is requested or 97 

demanded. 98 

(c) “Knowing” or “knowingly” means, with respect to 99 

information, that a person: 100 

1. Has actual knowledge of the information; 101 

2. Acts in deliberate ignorance of the truth or falsity of 102 

the information; or 103 

3. Acts in reckless disregard of the truth or falsity of 104 

the information. 105 

 106 

No proof of specific intent to defraud is required. Innocent 107 

mistake shall be a defense to an action under this act. 108 

(d) “Material” means having a natural tendency to 109 

influence, or be capable of influencing, the payment or receipt 110 

of money or property. 111 

(e) “Obligation” means an established duty, fixed or 112 

otherwise, arising from an express or implied contractual, 113 

grantor-grantee, or licensor-licensee relationship, from a fee-114 

based or similar relationship, from statute or regulation, or 115 

from the retention of any overpayment. 116 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1494 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02624-13 20131494c1 

Page 5 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(f)(d) “State government” means the government of the state 117 

or any department, division, bureau, commission, regional 118 

planning agency, board, district, authority, agency, or other 119 

instrumentality of the state. 120 

(b)(e) “Department” means the Department of Legal Affairs, 121 

except as specifically provided in ss. 68.083 and 68.084. 122 

(2) Any person who: 123 

(a) Knowingly presents or causes to be presented to an 124 

officer or employee of an agency a false or fraudulent claim for 125 

payment or approval; 126 

(b) Knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used a 127 

false record or statement material to get a false or fraudulent 128 

claim paid or approved by an agency; 129 

(c) Conspires to commit a violation of this subsection 130 

submit a false or fraudulent claim to an agency or to deceive an 131 

agency for the purpose of getting a false or fraudulent claim 132 

allowed or paid; 133 

(d) Has possession, custody, or control of property or 134 

money used or to be used by the state an agency and, intending 135 

to deceive the agency or knowingly conceal the property, 136 

delivers or causes to be delivered less property than all of 137 

that money or property the amount for which the person receives 138 

a certificate or receipt; 139 

(e) Is authorized to make or deliver a document certifying 140 

receipt of property used or to be used by the state an agency 141 

and, intending to defraud deceive the state agency, makes or 142 

delivers the receipt without knowing that the information on the 143 

receipt is true; 144 

(f) Knowingly buys or receives, as a pledge of an 145 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1494 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02624-13 20131494c1 

Page 6 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

obligation or a debt, public property from an officer or 146 

employee of the state an agency who may not sell or pledge the 147 

property lawfully; or 148 

(g) Knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used a 149 

false record or statement material to an obligation to pay or 150 

transmit money or property to the state, or knowingly conceals 151 

or knowingly and improperly avoids or decreases to conceal, 152 

avoid, or decrease an obligation to pay or transmit money or 153 

property to the state an agency, 154 

 155 

is liable to the state for a civil penalty of not less than 156 

$5,500 and not more than $11,000 and for treble the amount of 157 

damages the state agency sustains because of the act or omission 158 

of that person. 159 

(3) The court may reduce the treble damages authorized 160 

under subsection (2) if the court finds one or more of the 161 

following specific extenuating circumstances: 162 

(a) The person committing the violation furnished the 163 

department officials of the agency responsible for investigating 164 

false claims violations with all information known to the person 165 

about the violation within 30 days after the date on which the 166 

person first obtained the information; 167 

(b) The person fully cooperated with any official 168 

investigation of the violation; or 169 

(c) At the time the person furnished the department agency 170 

with the information about the violation, no criminal 171 

prosecution, civil action, or administrative action had 172 

commenced under this section with respect to the violation, and 173 

the person did not have actual knowledge of the existence of an 174 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1494 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02624-13 20131494c1 

Page 7 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

investigation into the violation; 175 

 176 

in which case the court shall award no less than 2 times the 177 

amount of damages sustained by the state agency because of the 178 

act of the person. The court shall set forth in a written order 179 

its findings and basis for reducing the treble damages award. 180 

Section 3. Subsection (7) of section 68.083, Florida 181 

Statutes, is amended to read: 182 

68.083 Civil actions for false claims.— 183 

(7) When a person files an action under this section, no 184 

person other than the department on behalf of the state may 185 

intervene or bring a related an action under this act based on 186 

the facts underlying the pending action. 187 

Section 4. Section 68.0831, Florida Statutes, is created to 188 

read: 189 

68.0831 Subpoena.— 190 

(1) Whenever the department has reason to believe that any 191 

person may be in possession, custody, or control of any 192 

documentary material or may have any information, which 193 

documentary material or information is relevant to a civil 194 

investigation authorized by s. 68.083, the department may, 195 

before the institution of a civil proceeding thereon, issue in 196 

writing and cause to be served upon the person a subpoena 197 

requiring the person to: 198 

(a) Produce such documentary material for inspection and 199 

copying or reproduction; 200 

(b) Answer, under oath and in writing, written 201 

interrogatories; 202 

(c) Give sworn oral testimony concerning the documentary 203 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1494 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02624-13 20131494c1 

Page 8 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

material or information; or 204 

(d) Furnish any combination of such material, answers, or 205 

testimony. 206 

(2) The subpoena shall: 207 

(a) Be served upon the person in the manner required for 208 

service of process in this state or by certified mail showing 209 

receipt by the addressee or by the authorized agent of the 210 

addressee. 211 

(b) State the nature of the conduct that constitutes the 212 

violation of this act and that is alleged to have occurred or to 213 

be imminent. 214 

(c) Describe the class or classes of documentary material 215 

to be produced thereunder with such definiteness and certainty 216 

as to permit such materials to be reasonably identified. 217 

(d) Prescribe a date and time at which the person must 218 

appear to testify, under oath or affirmation, or by which the 219 

person must answer written interrogatories or produce the 220 

documentary material for inspection or copying; however, such 221 

date shall not be earlier than 30 days after the date of service 222 

of the subpoena. 223 

(e) Specify a place for the taking of testimony or for the 224 

submission of answers to interrogatories and identify the person 225 

who is to take custody of any documentary material. Inspection 226 

and copying of documentary material shall be carried out at the 227 

place where the documentary material is located or at such other 228 

place as may be thereafter agreed to by the person and such 229 

designated custodian. Upon written agreement between the person 230 

and the designated custodian, copies may be substituted for 231 

original documents. 232 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1494 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02624-13 20131494c1 

Page 9 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(3) Such subpoena may not require the production of any 233 

documentary material, the submission of any answers to written 234 

interrogatories, or the giving of any oral testimony if such 235 

material, answers, or testimony would be protected from 236 

disclosure under: 237 

(a) The standards applicable to subpoenas or subpoenas 238 

duces tecum issued by a court of this state in aid of a grand 239 

jury investigation; or 240 

(b) The standards applicable to a discovery request under 241 

the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, to the extent that the 242 

application of such standards to any such subpoena is 243 

appropriate and consistent with the provisions and purposes of 244 

this act. 245 

(4) This section does not limit the power of the department 246 

to require the appearance of witnesses or production of 247 

documents or other tangible evidence located outside the state. 248 

(5) Within 30 days after the service of a subpoena upon any 249 

person or at any time before the return date specified therein, 250 

whichever period is longer, the person served may file, and 251 

serve on the department, a petition for an order of the court 252 

modifying or setting aside the subpoena. Any such petition shall 253 

be filed in the circuit court of the Second Judicial Circuit in 254 

and for Leon County. The time allowed for compliance in whole or 255 

in part with the subpoena as deemed proper and ordered by the 256 

court shall not run while the petition is pending before the 257 

court. The petition shall specify each ground upon which the 258 

petitioner relies in seeking relief and may be based upon the 259 

failure of the subpoena to comply with this section or upon any 260 

constitutional or other legal right or privilege of such person. 261 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1494 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02624-13 20131494c1 

Page 10 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(6) In case of the failure of any person to comply in whole 262 

or in part with a subpoena and when such person has not filed a 263 

petition under subsection (5), the circuit court of the Second 264 

Judicial Circuit in and for Leon County, upon application of the 265 

department, may issue an order requiring compliance. The failure 266 

to obey the order of the court shall be punishable as a contempt 267 

of court. 268 

(7) The examination of all witnesses under this section 269 

shall be conducted by the department before an officer 270 

authorized to administer oaths in this state. The testimony 271 

shall be taken stenographically or by a sound-recording device. 272 

Any person compelled to appear under a subpoena for oral 273 

testimony pursuant to this section may be accompanied, 274 

represented, and advised by counsel. Counsel may advise such 275 

person, in confidence, either upon the request of such person or 276 

upon counsel’s own initiative, with respect to any question 277 

asked of such person. Such person or counsel may object on the 278 

record to any question, in whole or in part, and shall briefly 279 

state for the record the reason for any such objection. If such 280 

person refuses to answer any question, the person conducting the 281 

examination may petition the circuit court as provided by 282 

subsection (10). 283 

(8) When the testimony is fully transcribed, the person 284 

conducting the deposition shall afford the witness, and counsel, 285 

if any, a reasonable opportunity to examine the transcript, and 286 

the transcript shall be read to or by the witness, unless such 287 

examination and reading is waived by the witness. Any changes in 288 

form or substance that the witness desires to make shall be 289 

entered and identified upon the transcript by the officer or the 290 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1494 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02624-13 20131494c1 

Page 11 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

department, with a statement of the reasons given by the witness 291 

for making such changes. The transcript shall then be signed by 292 

the witness unless the witness waives the signing in writing, is 293 

ill, cannot be found, or refuses to sign. If the transcript is 294 

not signed by the witness within 30 days after his or her being 295 

afforded a reasonable opportunity to examine it, the person 296 

conducting the examination shall sign it and state on the record 297 

the fact of the waiver, illness, absence, or refusal to sign, 298 

together with the reason, if any, given therefor. Any person 299 

required to testify or to submit documentary evidence is 300 

entitled, on payment of reasonable costs, to procure a copy of 301 

any document produced by such person and of his or her own 302 

testimony as stenographically reported or, in the case of a 303 

deposition, as reduced to writing by or under the direction of 304 

the person taking the deposition. 305 

(9) The department shall have the authority to stipulate to 306 

protective orders with respect to documents and information 307 

submitted in response to a subpoena under this section. 308 

(10) The department may request that any natural person who 309 

refuses to comply with this section on the ground that the 310 

testimony or documents may incriminate him or her be ordered by 311 

the circuit court to provide the testimony or the documents. 312 

Except in a prosecution for perjury, a natural person who 313 

complies with a court order to provide testimony or documents 314 

after asserting a privilege against self-incrimination to which 315 

he or she is entitled by law may not be subject to a criminal 316 

proceeding with respect to the transaction to which he or she is 317 

required to testify or produce documents. Any natural person who 318 

fails to comply with such a court order to testify or produce 319 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1494 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02624-13 20131494c1 

Page 12 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

documents may be adjudged in contempt and imprisoned until the 320 

time the person purges himself or herself of the contempt. 321 

(11) While in the possession of the custodian, documentary 322 

material, answers to interrogatories, and transcripts of oral 323 

testimony shall be available, under such reasonable terms and 324 

conditions as the department shall prescribe, for examination by 325 

the person who produced such materials or answers or that 326 

person’s duly authorized representative. 327 

(12) This section does not impair the authority of the 328 

department to: 329 

(a) Institute a civil proceeding under s. 68.083; or 330 

(b) Invoke the power of a court to compel the production of 331 

evidence before a grand jury. 332 

(13)(a) A person who knows or has reason to believe that a 333 

subpoena pursuant to this section is pending shall not: 334 

1. Alter, destroy, conceal, or remove any record, document, 335 

or thing with the purpose of impairing its verity or 336 

availability in such proceeding or investigation; or 337 

2. Make, present, or use any record, document, or thing 338 

knowing it to be false. 339 

(b) Any natural person who violates this subsection is 340 

subject to a civil penalty of not more than $100,000, reasonable 341 

attorney fees, and costs. Any other person who violates this 342 

subsection is subject to a civil penalty of not more than $1 343 

million, reasonable attorney fees, and costs. 344 

Section 5. Subsections (2) through (5) of section 68.084, 345 

Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 346 

68.084 Rights of the parties in civil actions.— 347 

(2)(a) The department may at any point voluntarily dismiss 348 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1494 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02624-13 20131494c1 

Page 13 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

the action notwithstanding the objections of the person 349 

initiating the action. 350 

(b) Subject to s. 17.04, nothing in this act shall be 351 

construed to limit the authority of the department or the qui 352 

tam plaintiff to compromise a claim brought in a complaint filed 353 

under this act if the court determines, after a hearing, that 354 

the proposed settlement is fair, adequate, and reasonable under 355 

all the circumstances. 356 

(c) Upon a showing by the department that unrestricted 357 

participation during the course of the litigation by the person 358 

initiating the action would interfere with or unduly delay the 359 

department’s prosecution of the case, or would be repetitious, 360 

irrelevant, or for purposes of harassment, the court may, in its 361 

discretion, impose limitations on the person’s participation, 362 

including, but not limited to: 363 

1. Limiting the number of witnesses the person may call; 364 

2. Limiting the length of the testimony of the person’s 365 

witnesses; 366 

3. Limiting the person’s cross-examination of witnesses; or 367 

4. Otherwise limiting the participation by the person in 368 

the litigation. 369 

(d) Upon a showing by the defendant that unrestricted 370 

participation during the course of the litigation by the person 371 

initiating the action would be for purposes of harassment or 372 

would cause the defendant undue burden or unnecessary expense, 373 

the court may limit the participation by the person in the 374 

litigation. 375 

(3) If the department elects not to proceed with the 376 

action, the person who initiated the action has the right to 377 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1494 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02624-13 20131494c1 

Page 14 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

conduct the action. If the Attorney General, as head of the 378 

department, or the Chief Financial Officer, as head of the 379 

Department of Financial Services, so requests, it shall be 380 

served, at the requesting department’s expense, with copies of 381 

all pleadings and motions filed in the action along with and 382 

copies of all deposition transcripts at the requesting 383 

department’s expense. When a person proceeds with the action, 384 

the court, without limiting the rights of the person initiating 385 

the action, may nevertheless permit the department to intervene 386 

and take over the action on behalf of the state at a later date 387 

upon showing of good cause. 388 

(4) Regardless of whether or not the department proceeds 389 

with the action, upon a showing by the department that certain 390 

actions of discovery by the person initiating the action would 391 

interfere with an investigation by the state government or the 392 

prosecution of a criminal or civil matter arising out of the 393 

same facts, the court may stay such discovery for a period of 394 

not more than 60 days. Such a showing shall be conducted in 395 

camera. The court may extend the 60-day period upon a further 396 

showing in camera by the department that the criminal or civil 397 

investigation or proceeding has been pursued with reasonable 398 

diligence and any proposed discovery in the civil action will 399 

interfere with an ongoing criminal or civil investigation or 400 

proceeding. 401 

(5) Notwithstanding paragraph (2)(b), the state may elect 402 

to pursue its claim through any available alternate remedy, 403 

including any administrative proceeding to determine a civil 404 

money penalty. If any such alternate remedy is pursued in 405 

another proceeding, the person initiating the action shall have 406 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1494 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02624-13 20131494c1 

Page 15 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

the same rights in such proceeding as the person would have had 407 

if the action had continued under this section The application 408 

of one civil remedy under this act does not preclude the 409 

application of any other remedy, civil or criminal, under this 410 

act or any other provision of law. Civil remedies under this act 411 

are supplemental, not mutually exclusive. Any finding of fact or 412 

conclusion of law made in such other proceeding that has become 413 

final shall be conclusive on all parties to an action under this 414 

section. For purposes of As used in this subsection, a finding 415 

or conclusion is final if it has been finally determined on 416 

appeal to the appropriate court, if all time for filing such an 417 

appeal with respect to the finding or conclusion has expired, or 418 

if the finding or conclusion is the term “final” means not 419 

subject to judicial review. 420 

Section 6. Section 68.085, Florida Statutes, is amended to 421 

read: 422 

68.085 Awards to plaintiffs bringing action.— 423 

(1)(a) If the department proceeds with and prevails in an 424 

action brought by a person under this act, subject to the 425 

requirements of paragraph (b), the person shall receive except 426 

as provided in subsection (2), the court shall order the 427 

distribution to the person of at least 15 percent but not more 428 

than 25 percent of the proceeds of the recovered under any 429 

judgment obtained by the department in an action under s. 68.082 430 

or of the proceeds of any settlement of the claim, depending 431 

upon the extent to which the person substantially contributed to 432 

the prosecution of the action. 433 

(b)(2) If the department proceeds with an action which the 434 

court finds the action to be based primarily on disclosures of 435 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1494 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02624-13 20131494c1 

Page 16 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

specific information, other than information that provided by 436 

the person bringing the action, relating to allegations or 437 

transactions in a criminal, civil, or administrative hearing; a 438 

legislative, administrative, inspector general, or auditor 439 

general report, hearing, audit, or investigation; or from the 440 

news media, the court may award such sums as it considers 441 

appropriate, but in no case more than 10 percent of the proceeds 442 

recovered under a judgment or received in settlement of a claim 443 

under this act, taking into account the significance of the 444 

information and the role of the person bringing the action in 445 

advancing the case to litigation. 446 

(c) Any payment to a person under paragraph (a) or 447 

paragraph (b) shall be made from the proceeds. The person shall 448 

also receive an amount for reasonable expenses that the court 449 

finds to have been necessarily incurred, plus reasonable 450 

attorney fees and costs. All such expenses, fees, and costs 451 

shall be awarded against the defendant. 452 

(2)(3) If the department does not proceed with an action 453 

under this section, the person bringing the action or settling 454 

the claim shall receive an amount that which the court decides 455 

is reasonable for collecting the civil penalty and damages. The 456 

amount shall be not less than 25 percent and not more than 30 457 

percent of the proceeds of the action or settlement and shall be 458 

paid out of such proceeds recovered under a judgment rendered in 459 

an action under this act or in settlement of a claim under this 460 

act. The person shall also receive an amount for reasonable 461 

expenses that the court finds to have been necessarily incurred, 462 

plus reasonable attorney fees and costs. All such expenses, 463 

fees, and costs shall be awarded against the defendant. 464 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1494 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02624-13 20131494c1 

Page 17 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(3)(4) Following any distributions under subsection (1) or, 465 

subsection (2), or subsection (3), the state entity agency 466 

injured by the submission of a false or fraudulent claim shall 467 

be awarded an amount not to exceed its compensatory damages. If 468 

the action was based on a claim of funds from the state Medicaid 469 

program, 10 percent of any remaining proceeds shall be deposited 470 

into the Operating Trust Fund to fund rewards for persons who 471 

report and provide information relating to Medicaid fraud 472 

pursuant to s. 409.9203. Any remaining proceeds, including civil 473 

penalties awarded under s. 68.082, shall be deposited in the 474 

General Revenue Fund. 475 

(5) Any payment under this section to the person bringing 476 

the action shall be paid only out of the proceeds recovered from 477 

the defendant. 478 

(4)(6) Regardless of whether or not the department proceeds 479 

with the action, if the court finds that the action was brought 480 

by a person who planned and initiated the violation of s. 68.082 481 

upon which the action was brought, the court may, to the extent 482 

the court considers appropriate, reduce the share of the 483 

proceeds of the action that which the person would otherwise 484 

receive under this section, taking into account the role of the 485 

person in advancing the case to litigation and any relevant 486 

circumstances pertaining to the violation. If the person 487 

bringing the action is convicted of criminal conduct arising 488 

from his or her role in the violation of s. 68.082, the person 489 

shall be dismissed from the civil action and shall not receive 490 

any share of the proceeds of the action. Such dismissal shall 491 

not prejudice the right of the department to continue the 492 

action. 493 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1494 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02624-13 20131494c1 

Page 18 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Section 7. Section 68.086, Florida Statutes, is amended to 494 

read: 495 

68.086 Expenses; attorney attorney’s fees and costs.— 496 

(1) If the department initiates an action under this act or 497 

assumes control of an action brought by a person under this act, 498 

the department shall be awarded its reasonable attorney 499 

attorney’s fees, expenses, and costs. 500 

(2) If the court awards the person bringing the action 501 

proceeds under this act, the person shall also be awarded an 502 

amount for reasonable attorney’s fees and costs. Payment for 503 

reasonable attorney’s fees and costs shall be made from the 504 

recovered proceeds before the distribution of any award. 505 

(2)(3) If the department does not proceed with an action 506 

under this act and the person bringing the action conducts the 507 

action, the court may award to the defendant its reasonable 508 

attorney attorney’s fees and expenses costs if the defendant 509 

prevails in the action and the court finds that the claim of the 510 

person bringing the action was clearly frivolous, clearly 511 

vexatious, or brought primarily for purposes of harassment. 512 

(3)(4) No liability shall be incurred by the state 513 

government, the affected agency, or the department for any 514 

expenses, attorney attorney’s fees, or other costs incurred by 515 

any person in bringing or defending an action under this act. 516 

Section 8. Subsections (2), (3), and (6) of section 68.087, 517 

Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 518 

68.087 Exemptions to civil actions.— 519 

(2) In no event may a person bring an action under s. 520 

68.083(2) based upon allegations or transactions that are the 521 

subject of a civil action or an administrative proceeding in 522 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1494 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02624-13 20131494c1 

Page 19 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

which the state agency is already a party. 523 

(3) The No court shall dismiss have jurisdiction over an 524 

action brought under this act unless opposed by the department, 525 

if substantially the same based upon the public disclosure of 526 

allegations or transactions as alleged in the action were 527 

publicly disclosed: 528 

(a) In a criminal, civil, or administrative hearing in 529 

which the state is a party; 530 

(b) In a legislative, administrative, inspector general, or 531 

other state Auditor General, Chief Financial Officer, or 532 

Department of Financial Services report, hearing, audit, or 533 

investigation; or 534 

(c) From the news media, 535 

 536 

unless the action is brought by the department, or unless the 537 

person bringing the action is an original source of the 538 

information. For purposes of this subsection, the term “original 539 

source” means an individual who, before a public disclosure 540 

under subsection (3), has voluntarily disclosed to the 541 

department the information on which allegations or transactions 542 

in a claim are based, or who has knowledge that is independent 543 

of and materially adds to the publicly disclosed allegations or 544 

transactions has direct and independent knowledge of the 545 

information on which the allegations are based and has 546 

voluntarily provided the information to the department before 547 

filing an action under this section act based on the 548 

information. 549 

(6) No court shall have jurisdiction over an action brought 550 

under this act against a local government. For the purposes of 551 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1494 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02624-13 20131494c1 

Page 20 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

this subsection, the term “local government” means any county or 552 

municipality. 553 

Section 9. Section 68.089, Florida Statutes, is amended to 554 

read: 555 

68.089 Limitation of actions; effect of interventions by 556 

department.—A civil action under this act may not be brought: 557 

(1) More than 6 years after the date on which the violation 558 

of s. 68.082 is committed; or 559 

(2) More than 3 years after the date when facts material to 560 

the right of action are known or reasonably should have been 561 

known by the department state official charged with 562 

responsibility to act in the circumstances, but in no event more 563 

than 10 years after the date on which the violation is 564 

committed, whichever occurs last; or. 565 

(3) If the department elects to intervene and proceed with 566 

an action brought under s. 68.083(2), the department may file 567 

its own complaint or amend the complaint of a person who has 568 

brought an action under s. 68.083(2) to clarify or add detail to 569 

the claims in which the department is intervening and to add any 570 

additional claims with respect to which the department contends 571 

it is entitled to relief. For statute of limitations purposes, 572 

any such pleading shall relate back to the filing date of the 573 

complaint of the person who originally brought the action, to 574 

the extent that the claim of the state arises out of the 575 

conduct, transactions, or occurrences set forth, or attempted to 576 

be set forth, in the prior complaint of that person. This 577 

subsection applies to any actions under s. 68.083(2) pending on 578 

or filed after July 1, 2013. 579 

Section 10. Section 68.09, Florida Statutes, is amended to 580 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1494 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02624-13 20131494c1 

Page 21 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

read: 581 

68.09 Burden of proof.— 582 

(1) In any action brought under this act, the department 583 

State of Florida or the qui tam plaintiff shall be required to 584 

prove all essential elements of the cause of action, including 585 

damages, by a preponderance of the evidence. 586 

(2) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a final 587 

judgment or decree rendered in favor of the state or the Federal 588 

Government in any criminal proceeding concerning the conduct of 589 

the defendant that forms the basis for a civil cause of action 590 

under this act, whether upon a verdict after trial or upon a 591 

plea of guilty or nolo contendere, shall estop the defendant in 592 

any action by the department pursuant to this act as to all 593 

matters as to which such judgment or decree would be an estoppel 594 

as if the department had been a party in the criminal 595 

proceeding. 596 

Section 11. This act shall take effect July 1, 2013. 597 



(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Address

Bill Number

State Zip

[--] Information

Amendment Barcode

Str e e~)._~

City

Speaking:    [Z~or [---] Against

Representing

(if applicable)

Phone

E-mail

Appearing at request of Chair: [--] Yes E~o

(if applicable)

Lobbyist registered with Legislature: [~Yes I---] No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the pubfic record for this meeting, s-001 (10/20/11)



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Rules 

 

BILL:  CS/SB 1496 

INTRODUCER:  Judiciary Committee and Senator Thrasher 

SUBJECT:  Public Records/Complaint and Information Requirement/Department of Legal Affairs 

DATE:  April 5, 2013 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Eichin/Munroe  Cibula  JU  Fav/CS 

2. Naf  McVaney  GO  Favorable 

3. Eichin/Munroe  Phelps  RC  Favorable 

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... X Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

CS/SB 1496 creates a public records exemption for a complaint of a Florida False Claims Act 

(FFCA) violation and other information held by the Department of Legal Affairs pursuant to an 

investigation of the alleged violation. The exemption expires when the investigation is complete, 

unless the complaint and other information are otherwise protected by law. 
 

The bill provides for repeal of the exemption on October 2, 2018, unless reviewed and saved 

from repeal by the Legislature. It also provides a statement of public necessity as required by the 

Florida Constitution. 

 

Because this bill creates a new public records exemption, it requires a two-thirds vote of the 

members present and voting in each house of the Legislature for passage. 

 

This bill is linked to SB 1494,1 which substantially revises the authority of the Department of 

Legal Affairs to pursue fraud and other acts of misconduct under the FFCA. 

                                                 
1
 See Senate Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statement for SB 1494 (2013 Reg. Sess.) by the Senate Committee on 

Judiciary (Mar. 15, 2013). 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/SB 1496   Page 2 

 

 

This bill substantially amends section 68.083 of the Florida Statutes. 

II. Present Situation: 

Public Records Laws 

The Florida Constitution provides every person the right to inspect or copy any public record 

made or received in connection with the official business of any public body, officer, or 

employee of the state, or of persons acting on their behalf.
2
 The records of the legislative, 

executive, and judicial branches are specifically included.
3
  

 

The Florida Statutes also specify conditions under which public access must be provided to 

government records. The Public Records Act
4
 guarantees every person’s right to inspect and 

copy any state or local government public record
5
 at any reasonable time, under reasonable 

conditions, and under supervision by the custodian of the public record.
6
  

 

Only the Legislature may create an exemption to public records requirements.
7
 Such an 

exemption must be created by general law and must specifically state the public necessity 

justifying the exemption.
8
 Further, the exemption must be no broader than necessary to 

accomplish the stated purpose of the law. A bill enacting an exemption may not contain other 

substantive provisions
9
 and must pass by a two-thirds vote of the members present and voting in 

each house of the Legislature.
10

 

 

                                                 
2
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(a). 

3
 Id. 

4
 Chapter 119, F.S. 

5
 Section 119.011(12), F.S., defines “public records” to mean “all documents, papers, letters, maps, books, tapes, 

photographs, films, sound recordings, data processing software, or other material, regardless of the physical form, 

characteristics, or means of transmission, made or received pursuant to law or ordinance or in connection with the transaction 

of official business by any agency.” Section 119.011(2), F.S., defines “agency” to mean as “any state, county, district, 

authority, or municipal officer, department, division, board, bureau, commission, or other separate unit of government created 

or established by law including, for the purposes of this chapter, the Commission on Ethics, the Public Service Commission, 

and the Office of Public Counsel, and any other public or private agency, person, partnership, corporation, or business entity 

acting on behalf of any public agency.” The Public Records Act does not apply to legislative or judicial records (see Locke v. 

Hawkes, 595 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1992)). 
6
 Section 119.07(1)(a), F.S. 

7
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). There is a difference between records the Legislature designates as exempt from public records 

requirements and those the Legislature designates confidential and exempt. A record classified as exempt from public 

disclosure may be disclosed under certain circumstances (see WFTV, Inc. v. The School Board of Seminole, 874 So.2d 48 

(Fla. 5th DCA 2004), review denied 892 So.2d 1015 (Fla. 2004); City of Riviera Beach v. Barfield, 642 So.2d 1135 (Fla. 4th 

DCA 2004); and Williams v. City of Minneola, 575 So.2d 687 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). If the Legislature designates a record as 

confidential and exempt from public disclosure, such record may not be released, by the custodian of public records, to 

anyone other than the persons or entities specifically designated in the statutory exemption (see Attorney General Opinion 

85-62, August 1, 1985). 
8
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). 

9
 The bill may, however, contain multiple exemptions that relate to one subject. 

10
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). 



BILL: CS/SB 1496   Page 3 

 

The Open Government Sunset Review Act (the Act) prescribes a legislative review process for 

newly created or substantially amended public records or open meetings exemptions.
11

 It 

requires the automatic repeal of such exemption on October 2nd of the fifth year after creation or 

substantial amendment, unless the Legislature reenacts the exemption.
12

 The Act provides that a 

public records or open meetings exemption may be created or maintained only if it serves an 

identifiable public purpose and is no broader than is necessary to meet such public purpose.
13

 

 

Florida False Claims Act 

The Florida False Claims Act (FFCA)
14

 authorizes civil actions by individuals and the state 

against persons who file false claims for payment or approval with a state agency. The Florida 

Legislature enacted the FFCA in 1994 and the FFCA is modeled after the Federal Civil False 

Claims Act.
15

 Actions that violate the FFCA include: 

 

 Submitting a false claim for payment or approval;
16

 

 Making or using a false record to get a false or fraudulent claim paid or approved;
17

 

 Conspiring to make a false claim or to deceive an agency to get a false or fraudulent claim 

allowed or paid;
18

 or 

 Making or using a false record to conceal, avoid, or decrease payments owed to the state 

government.
19

 

 

The penalty for violating the FFCA is $5,500 to $11,000 per claim, plus three times the amount 

of damages to the state government for FFCA violations.
20

 The Department of Financial Services 

or the Department of Legal Affairs (DLA) may bring an action for a false claim or may join a 

private action brought on the grounds outlined in the statute.
21

 

 

SB 1494 

Under current law, the DLA may investigate false claims against the state but does not have 

subpoena powers. The DLA reports that the lack of subpoena authority can make it difficult for 

the department to determine if it is appropriate to intervene in a FFCA case. 

 

                                                 
11

 Section 119.15, F.S. An exemption is substantially amended if the amendment expands the scope of the exemption to 

include more records or information or to include meetings as well as records (s. 119.15(4)(b), F.S.). The requirements of the 

Act do not apply to an exemption that is required by federal law or that applies solely to the Legislature or the State Court 

System (s. 119.15(2), F.S.). 
12

 Section 119.15(3), F.S. 
13

 Section 119.15(6)(b), F.S. 
14

 Section 68.081, F.S., supra note 1. 
15

 See House Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statement for SB 1185 (1994 Reg. Sess.) by the House Committee on 

Judiciary (Mar. 15, 1994) and see also, Federal False Claims Act, currently codified at 31 U.S.C. ss. 3729-3733 (Supp IV. 

2010). 
16

 Section 68.082(2)(a), F.S. 
17

 Section 68.082(2)(b), F.S. 
18

 Section 68.082(2)(c), F.S. 
19

 Section 68.082(2)(g), F.S. 
20

 Section 68.082(2), F.S. 
21

 See Section 68.083, F.S. 



BILL: CS/SB 1496   Page 4 

 

The bill creates s. 68.0831, F.S., to grant the DLA discovery capabilities before the institution of 

a civil proceeding, if it has reason to believe that any person has testimony or evidence relevant 

to the investigation.
22

 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

The bill creates a public records exemption for a complaint of a violation of the FFCA and other 

information held by the DLA pursuant to an investigation of the alleged violation. Such 

complaint and information is confidential and exempt from public records requirements until the 

investigation is completed, unless the information is otherwise protected by law. 

 

The bill provides that an investigation is completed when: 

 The Department of Legal Affairs files its own action or closes its investigation without filing 

an action; or 

 The qui tam action
23

 is unsealed or voluntarily dismissed before unsealing. 

 

In addition, the DLA may disclose the complaint and other information at any time to a law 

enforcement agency or another administrative agency in the performance of its official duties 

and responsibilities. 

 

The bill provides that the public records exemption is subject to the Open Government Sunset 

Review Act and will repeal on October 2, 2018, unless reviewed and saved from repeal through 

reenactment by the Legislature. It provides a statement of public necessity as required by the 

Florida Constitution. 

 

This bill takes effect on the same date as SB 1494 or similar legislation, which is July 1, 2013. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

Not applicable. The bill does not appear to require counties or municipalities to take an 

action requiring the expenditure of funds, reduce the authority that counties or 

municipalities have to raise revenue in the aggregate, or reduce the percentage of state tax 

shared with counties or municipalities. 

                                                 
22

 See Senate Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statement for SB 1494 (2013 Reg. Sess.) supra note. 
23

 “Qui tam action” means “[a]n action brought under a statute that allows a private person to sue for a penalty, part of which 

the government or some specified public institution will receive.” BLACK’S LAW DICTIONARY (9th ed. 2009). See also 

s. 68.083(2), F.S. Qui tam cases usually arise from an employee of an institution such as a health care provider who discovers 

that violations of the FFCA are occurring. This is a type of whistleblower action. In a qui tam action under the FFCA, the 

employee will sue on behalf of the state to collect money that was illegally defrauded from the state. A private entity that 

brings a successful FFCA action on behalf of the state will receive an amount that the court decides is reasonable for 

collecting the civil penalty and damages. See ss. 68.085 and 68.086, F.S. The amount must not be less than 25 percent and 

not more than 30 percent of the proceeds recovered under a judgment. Section 68.085(3), F.S. 

 



BILL: CS/SB 1496   Page 5 

 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

Vote Requirement 

Article I, s. 24(c) of the Florida Constitution requires a newly created or expanded public 

records or open meetings exemption to pass by a two-thirds vote of the members present 

and voting in each house. This bill creates a public records exemption; therefore, a two-

thirds vote is required. 

 

Public Necessity Statement 

Article I, s. 24(c) of the Florida Constitution requires a bill creating or expanding a public 

records or open meetings exemption to contain a public necessity statement. This bill 

creates a public records exemption; therefore, this bill includes a public necessity 

statement. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

None. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

None. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

The Department of Financial Services (DFS) or the Department of Legal Affairs (DLA) may 

bring an action for a false claim, or may join a private action brought on the grounds outlined in 

the statute.
24

 The public records exemption created by this bill applies only to information held 

by the DLA; however, the DFS states that it currently uses the public records exemption in 

s. 17.0401, F.S.,
25

 when investigating false claim allegations
26

 

                                                 
24

 See Section 68.083, F.S. 
25

 Section 17.0401, F.S., provides a public records exemption for information relative to an investigation conducted by the 

DFS’s Division of Accounting and Auditing pursuant to s. 17.04, F.S., including any consumer complaint. Section 17.04, 



BILL: CS/SB 1496   Page 6 

 

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS by Judiciary on March 18, 2013: 

The committee substitute revises the point in time at which the complaint and other 

information, which relate to an investigation under the Florida False Claims Act, are 

subject to disclosure under the public records laws. Under the committee substitute, the 

records are subject to the disclosure requirements under the public records laws once an 

investigation is complete. Other criteria that may have authorized the Department of 

Legal Affairs to maintain the confidential and exempt status of the records beyond the 

completion of the investigation were removed from the bill. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 

                                                                                                                                                                         
F.S., authorizes the Division of Accounting and Auditing to conduct investigations as it deems necessary to aid in the 

enforcement of the Chief Financial Officer’s auditing duties. 
26

 Email correspondence, dated April 1, 2013 (on file with the Senate Governmental Oversight and Accountability 

Committee). 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1496 

 

 

 

By the Committee on Judiciary; and Senator Thrasher 

 

 

 

 

590-02618-13 20131496c1 

Page 1 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to public records; amending s. 68.083, 2 

F.S.; providing an exemption from public records 3 

requirements for a complaint and other information 4 

held by the Department of Legal Affairs pursuant to an 5 

investigation of a violation of s. 68.082, F.S., 6 

relating to false claims against the state; providing 7 

for future legislative review and repeal of the 8 

exemption under the Open Government Sunset Review Act; 9 

providing for specified disclosure; specifying 10 

duration of the exemption; specifying conditions under 11 

which an investigation is considered completed; 12 

providing a statement of public necessity; providing a 13 

contingent effective date. 14 

 15 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 16 

 17 

Section 1. Subsection (8) is added to section 68.083, 18 

Florida Statutes, to read: 19 

68.083 Civil actions for false claims.— 20 

(8)(a) Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, the 21 

complaint and other information held by the department pursuant 22 

to an investigation of a violation of s. 68.082 is confidential 23 

and exempt from s. 119.07(1) and s. 24(a), Art. I of the State 24 

Constitution. This paragraph is subject to the Open Government 25 

Sunset Review Act in accordance with s. 119.15 and shall stand 26 

repealed on October 2, 2018, unless reviewed and saved from 27 

repeal through reenactment by the Legislature. 28 

(b) Information made confidential and exempt under 29 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1496 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02618-13 20131496c1 

Page 2 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

paragraph (a) may be disclosed by the department to a law 30 

enforcement agency or another administrative agency in the 31 

performance of its official duties and responsibilities. 32 

(c) Information made confidential and exempt under 33 

paragraph (a) is no longer confidential and exempt once the 34 

investigation is completed, unless the information is otherwise 35 

protected by law. 36 

(d) For purposes of this subsection, an investigation is 37 

completed: 38 

1. Under subsection (1) once the department files its own 39 

action or closes its investigation without filing an action. 40 

2. Under subsection (2) upon the unsealing of the qui tam 41 

action or upon the voluntary dismissal of the qui tam action 42 

prior to the unsealing. 43 

Section 2. The Legislature finds that it is a public 44 

necessity that the complaint and other information held by the 45 

Department of Legal Affairs pursuant to an investigation of a 46 

violation of s. 68.082, Florida Statutes, relating to false 47 

claims against the state, be held confidential and exempt from 48 

public records requirements. Because a false claims 49 

investigation conducted by the Department of Legal Affairs may 50 

lead to the filing of an administrative or civil proceeding, the 51 

premature release of the complaint or other information held by 52 

the department could frustrate or thwart the investigation and 53 

impair the ability of the department to effectively and 54 

efficiently administer its duties under the Florida False Claims 55 

Act, ss. 68.081-68.092, Florida Statutes. This exemption also 56 

protects the reputation of the named defendant in the event the 57 

allegations of the qui tam complaint ultimately prove to be 58 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1496 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02618-13 20131496c1 

Page 3 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

unfounded. Without this exemption, a plaintiff can subject a 59 

defendant to serious fraud allegations in the name of the state 60 

merely by filing a qui tam complaint. Additionally, given the 61 

department’s subpoena powers for all qui tam investigations, 62 

this exemption, which mirrors the existing statutory exemption 63 

in s. 409.913(12), Florida Statutes, for information obtained 64 

during investigations of Medicaid fraud and abuse claims, is 65 

especially appropriate. Therefore, the Legislature finds that it 66 

is a public necessity that the complaint and information held by 67 

the Department of Legal Affairs pursuant to an investigation of 68 

a violation of s. 68.082, Florida Statutes, relating to false 69 

claims against the state, be held confidential and exempt from 70 

public records requirements. 71 

Section 3. This act shall take effect on the same date that 72 

SB 1494 or similar legislation takes effect, if such legislation 73 

is adopted in the same legislative session or an extension 74 

thereof and becomes a law. 75 



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Rules 

 

BILL:  CS/CS/SB 528 

INTRODUCER:  Rules Committee; Community Affairs Committee; and Senator Simpson 

SUBJECT:  Growth Management 

DATE:  April 17, 2013 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Anderson  Yeatman  CA  Fav/CS 

2. Brown  Cibula  JU  Favorable 

3. Malcolm  Hrdlicka  CM  Favorable 

4. Anderson  Phelps  RC  Fav/CS 

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... X Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

CS/CS/SB 528 clarifies which local initiative and referendum processes relating to development 

orders, comprehensive plan amendments, or map amendments are not prohibited. Under the bill, 

the local initiative and referendum processes that are allowed to continue are limited to those 

that: 

 Were in effect on June 1, 2011; 

 Affect more than five parcels of land; and 

 Were expressly authorized in a local government charter specifically for matters such as 

development orders or comprehensive plan or map amendments. 

 

The bill applies retroactively to any initiative or referendum process on local growth 

management issues commenced after June 1, 2011.  

 

The bill also retroactively repeals section 4 of chapter 2012-75, Laws of Florida, relating to a 

presumption regarding agricultural enclaves. 

 

This bill amends s. 163.3167, F.S. 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/CS/SB 528   Page 2 

 

II. Present Situation: 

Growth Management 

The Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act (the 

Act),
1
 also known as Florida’s Growth Management Act, was adopted in 1985. The Act requires 

all counties and municipalities to adopt local government comprehensive plans that guide future 

growth and development.
2
 Comprehensive plans contain chapters or “elements” that address 

future land use, housing, transportation, water supply, drainage, potable water, natural 

groundwater recharge, coastal management, conservation, recreation and open space, 

intergovernmental coordination, capital improvements, and public schools.
3
 The state land 

planning agency that administers these provisions is the Department of Economic Opportunity.
4
 

 

Amendments to a Comprehensive Plan 

A local government may choose to amend its comprehensive plan for a variety of reasons. A 

local government may wish to expand, contract, accommodate proposed job creation projects or 

housing developments, or change the direction and character of growth. Some comprehensive 

plan amendments are initiated by landowners or developers, but all must be approved by the 

local government.
5
 The first step in the process is for the local government to develop a 

comprehensive plan amendment proposal. Public participation is a critical part of the 

comprehensive planning process.
6
 Citizens often want to be a part of planning their communities 

and landowners need to be aware of changes that could affect their property. A local government 

considering a plan amendment must hold at least two advertised public hearings on the proposed 

comprehensive plan or plan amendment.
7
 Notice must be published in a newspaper of general 

paid circulation in the jurisdiction of interest.
8
 The procedure for transmittal of a proposed or 

adopted comprehensive plan amendment requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the 

members of the governing body present at the hearing.
9
 

 

Referenda Approval of Amendments to Comprehensive Plans or Development Orders 

The 1995 Legislature prohibited all initiative or referendum processes on development orders, 

local comprehensive plan amendments, or map amendments affecting five or fewer parcels of 

land.
10

 

 

In November 2010, the voters voted in a statewide election against the citizen initiative known as 

Amendment 4, otherwise known as “Florida Hometown Democracy.”
11

 This initiative would 

                                                 
1
 See ch. 163, part II, F.S. 

2
 Section 163.3167, F.S.  

3
 Section 163.3177, F.S.  

4
 Section 163.3221, F.S.  

5
 See s. 163.3184, F.S.  

6
 See section 163.3181, F.S. (setting out the minimum requirements for public participation in the comprehensive planning 

process). 
7
 Section 163.3184(11)(b), F.S.  

8
 Section 163.3184(6)(c), F.S. 

9
 Section 163.3184(11)(a), F.S. 

10
 Chapter 95-322, L.O.F. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 528   Page 3 

 

have amended the Florida Constitution to require referenda approval by the local electorate 

before a local government could adopt a new comprehensive land use plan or amend an existing 

comprehensive land use plan. 

 

In 2011, the Legislature passed the Community Planning Act.
12

 The Community Planning Act 

prohibited all voter initiatives or referendums on development orders, comprehensive plan 

amendments, and map amendments irrespective of the number of parcels of land involved.
13

 The 

Town of Yankeetown subsequently challenged the Community Planning Act through a suit 

against the Department of Community Affairs and the Administration Commission.
14

 The City 

of St. Petersburg Beach intervened as a defendant on the side of the state.  

 

Yankeetown sought a declaratory judgment from the court to allow the city to apply its referenda 

provision to require voter approval for comprehensive land use changes affecting more than five 

parcels, as the charter provision pre-dated the Community Planning Act. The charter provision at 

issue appeared in the section of the charter titled “Comprehensive Plan Amendments,” and read, 

in part, “Adoption of the amendment may also require voter approval under the Town Charter . . 

. .”
15

 

 

To settle the lawsuit, the Department of Community Affairs, the Administration Commission, St. 

Petersburg Beach, and Yankeetown agreed to ask the Legislature to amend the statutory 

prohibition on initiative or referendum processes to allow charter provisions that authorized voter 

approval of comprehensive plans and comprehensive plan amendments if the charter provision 

was in effect as of June 1, 2011. The agreement, detailed in a letter, provides, in part: 

 

The Department of Community Affairs (“DCA”) and Yankeetown will seek a 

legislative amendment to s. 163.3167(8), F.S., (2011) which, if it becomes law, will 

allow the Town to continue to require voter approval for comprehensive plan 

amendments pursuant to Section 11 of the Town of Yankeetown Charter, while 

retaining the ban on referenda for local governments which did not have a charter 

provision authorizing referenda on June 2, 2011 . . . .
16

 

 

During the 2012 Florida legislative session, the Legislature passed House Bill 7081 (ch. 2012-99, 

L.O.F.) which included a section amending the referenda approval of amendments provision 

found in s. 163.3167(8), F.S. The bill contained a grandfathering clause, which saved from repeal 

any local government charter provision, in effect as of June 1, 2011, for an initiative or 

referendum process on development orders, local comprehensive plan amendments, or map 

amendments. Satisfied with the savings clause, Yankeetown dismissed its case with prejudice 

upon HB 7081 becoming law. 

                                                                                                                                                                         
11

 “Referenda Required for Adoption and Amendment of Local Government Comprehensive Land Use Plans", available at 

http://election.dos.state.fl.us/initiatives/initdetail.asp?account=37681&seqnum=2 (last visited March 4, 2013).  
12

 Chapter 2011-139, s. 7, L.O.F. 
13

 Section 163.3167(8), F.S. (2011). 
14

 Yankeetown v. Dept. of Community Affairs, Case. No. 37 2011 CA 002036 (Fla. 2nd Jud. Cir. 2011). 
15

 Charter of Yankeetown, Article II, Comprehensive Plan Amendments. 
16

 Letter dated Sept. 28, 2011, from David L. Jordan, Assistant General Counsel, DCA to Ralf Brookes, Town of 

Yankeetown and Suzanne Van Wyk, City of St. Pete Beach, signed by all parties and also signed by Jonathan Glogau, 

Administration Commission (on file with the Senate Committee on Commerce and Tourism). 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 528   Page 4 

 

Court Interpretation of s. 163.3167(8), F.S. 

Subsequent to passage of ch. 2012-99, L.O.F., the City of Boca Raton challenged a local attempt 

to initiate a referendum on a development order, pursuant to a general charter referenda 

provision.
17

 The language in the city’s charter was not specific to development orders or 

comprehensive plan amendments. The charter provision at issue reads, in part: 

 

The qualified voters of the city shall have the power by petition to require 

reconsideration by the council of any adopted ordinance or resolution, and if the 

council fails to repeal an ordinance or resolution, to approve or reject it at a city 

election . . . .
18

  

 

The city argued that the 2012 Legislature intended to limit application of the law to city charters 

that previously contained express language for a referendum process on a comprehensive plan 

amendment affecting more than five parcels.
19

 The trial court denied the city’s motion for 

summary judgment, indicating that the current version of s. 163.3167(8), F.S., applies to all 

ordinances and resolutions, including those addressing development orders.
20

 

 

Land Surrounded By Single Land Use Designation 

 

Current law allows the owner of a parcel of land defined as an “agricultural enclave” to apply for 

an amendment to the local government's comprehensive plan.
21

 Such amendment is presumed 

not to be urban sprawl if it includes land uses and intensities of use that are consistent with the 

uses and intensities of use of the industrial, commercial, or residential areas that surround the 

parcel.
22

 This presumption may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence. If the parcel is 

larger than 640 acres, the development must include appropriate new urbanism concepts.
23

  

 

An agricultural enclave is defined in s. 163.3164(4), F.S., as an unincorporated, undeveloped 

parcel that is owned by a single person or entity and that has been in continuous use for bona fide 

agricultural purposes, for a period of five years. The parcel must be surrounded on at least 75 

percent of its perimeter by either property that has existing industrial, commercial, or residential 

development, or property that the local government has designated, in the local government’s 

comprehensive plan, zoning map, and future land use map, as land that is to be developed for 

industrial, commercial, or residential purposes, and at least 75 percent of such property is 

existing industrial, commercial, or residential development. The parcel must have public 

services, including water, wastewater, transportation, schools, and recreation facilities, available 

or scheduled in the capital improvement element to be provided by the local government or 

provided by an alternative provider. Additionally, the parcel may not exceed 1,280 acres; 

however, if the property is surrounded by existing or authorized residential development that will 

                                                 
17

 City of Boca Raton vs. Kathleen Kennedy, Case No. 2012-CA-009962MB (Fla. 15th Jud. Cir. 2012). 
18

 Section 6.02, City of Boca Raton Charter. 
19

 Supra note 17 at 5. 
20

 Supra note 17 at 6. 
21

 Section 163.3162(4), F.S. 
22

 Id. 
23

 Such as clustering, mixed-use development, the creation of rural village and city centers and the transfer of development 

rights. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 528   Page 5 

 

result in a density at buildout of at least 1,000 residents per square mile, then the area shall be 

determined to be urban and the parcel may not exceed 4,480 acres.
24

 

 

The 2012 Legislature passed a new agricultural enclave provision that authorized certain 

qualifying agricultural lands located in an unincorporated area of a county to apply for an 

amendment to the local government comprehensive plan.
25

 This amendment is presumed not to 

be urban sprawl
26

 if the amendment proposes land uses and intensities of use that are consistent 

with existing or authorized land uses and intensities for industrial, commercial, or residential 

areas that surround the parcel subject to the amendment. The bill provided that if the parcel of 

land is abutted on all sides by land having only one land use designation, the same land use 

designation must be presumed by the county to be appropriate for the parcel subject to the 

amendment. After considering the proposed density and intensity of use, the county is required to 

grant the same land use designation as the surrounding parcels that abut the parcel subject to the 

amendment unless the county finds by clear and convincing evidence that granting the same land 

use designation would be detrimental to the health, safety, and welfare of its residents. In order 

to qualify as an enclave, the owner of the parcel of land must submit a written application to the 

county where the parcel is located by January 1, 2013. 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

Section 1 of the bill amends s. 163.3167(8), F.S., to clarify which local initiative and referendum 

processes relating to development orders, comprehensive plan amendments, or map amendments 

are not barred by law. Under the bill, the local initiative and referendum processes that are not 

prohibited are those that: 

 Were in effect on June 1, 2011; 

 Affect more than five parcels of land; and 

 Were expressly authorized in a local government charter specifically for matters such as 

development orders or comprehensive plan or map amendments. 

 

The bill applies retroactively to any initiative or referendum process on local growth 

management issues commenced after June 1, 2011.  

 

Section 2 states that Section 4 of chapter 2012-75, Laws of Florida, is repealed, retroactive to 

June 30, 2012. 

 

Section 3 provides that the bill takes effect upon becoming law. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

                                                 
24

 Section 163.3164(4), F.S. 
25

 Section 4, 2012-75, Laws of Fla., see also Section 163.3162, F.S., (Note 1). 
26

 As defined in s. 163.3164, F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 528   Page 6 

 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

D. Other Constitutional Issues: 

To the extent that the provisions of this bill may be applied retroactively, provisions of 

the bill may prompt concerns regarding the unconstitutional impairment of contract. 

 

Article I, Section 10 of the United States Constitution prohibits state legislatures from 

enacting laws impairing the obligation of contracts. As early as 1880, the federal courts 

recognized that the contract clause does not override the police power of the states to 

establish regulations to promote the health, safety, and morals of the community.
27

 The 

severity of the impairment is a key issue when evaluating whether a state law impairs a 

contract.
28

 In Exxon Corp. v Eagerton, 462 U.S. 176 (1983), the Supreme Court 

suggested it would uphold legislation that imposes a generally applicable rule of conduct 

designed to advance a broad societal interest that only incidentally disrupts existing 

contractual relationships. 

 

Article I, s. 10 of the Florida Constitution also prohibits the state from enacting laws 

impairing the obligation of contracts. While Florida courts have historically strictly 

applied this restriction, they have exempted laws when they find there is an overriding 

public necessity for the state to exercise its police powers.
29

 This exception extends to 

laws that are reasonable and necessary to serve an important public purpose,
30

 to include 

protecting the public’s health, safety or welfare.
31

 For a statute to offend the 

constitutional prohibition against impairment of contract, the statute must have the effect 

of changing substantive rights of the parties to an existing contract. Any retroactive 

application of a statute affecting substantive contractual rights would be constitutionally 

suspect.
32

 

 

Historically, both the state and federal courts have attempted to find a rational and 

defensible compromise between individual rights and public welfare when laws are 

enacted that may impair existing contracts.
33

 

                                                 
27

 Stone v. Mississippi, 101 U.S. 814 (1880). 
28

 General Motors Corp. v. Romein, 503 U.S. 181 (1992). 
29

 Park Benziger & Co. v Southern Wine & Spirits, Inc., 391 So2d 681 (Fla. 1980). 
30

 Yellow Cab Co. v. Dade County, 412 So2d 395 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982), petition den. 424 So2d 764 (Fla. 1982). 
31

 Khoury v Carvel Homes South, Inc., 403 So2d 1043 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981), petition den. 412 So2d 467 (Fla. 1981). 
32

 Tri-Properties, Inc. v. Moonspinner Condominium Association, Inc., 447 So.2d 965 (Fla. 1
st
 DCA 1984). 

33
 Pomponio v Claridge of Pompano Condominium, Inc., 378 So2d 774 (Fla. 1979). 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 528   Page 7 

 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

This bill may promote private development projects and reduce the time required for 

implementation. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

This bill may lead to fewer local referenda on growth management issues. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None.  

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS/CS by Rules on April 17, 2013: 

The CS repeals a provision of law relating to a presumption regarding agricultural 

enclaves. 

 

CS by Community Affairs Committee on March 7, 2013: 

The CS made technical and clarifying changes. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 528 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì622998fÎ622998 

 

Page 1 of 2 

4/17/2013 11:49:11 AM 595-02539A-13 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

04/17/2013 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Rules (Thrasher) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Between lines 52 and 53 3 

insert: 4 

Section 2. Section 4 of chapter 2012-75, Laws of Florida, 5 

is repealed, retroactive to June 30, 2012. 6 

 7 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 8 

And the title is amended as follows: 9 

Between lines 16 and 17 10 

insert: 11 

providing for the retroactive repeal of s. 4 of 12 

chapter 2012-75, Laws of Florida, relating to a 13 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 528 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì622998fÎ622998 

 

Page 2 of 2 

4/17/2013 11:49:11 AM 595-02539A-13 

presumption regarding agricultural enclaves; 14 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 528 

 

 

 

By the Committee on Community Affairs; and Senator Simpson 

 

 

 

 

578-02027-13 2013528c1 

Page 1 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to growth management; amending s. 2 

163.3167, F.S.; clarifying the prohibition on an 3 

initiative or referendum process in regard to 4 

development orders; clarifying the prohibition on an 5 

initiative or referendum process in regard to 6 

comprehensive plan amendments and map amendments; 7 

clarifying that the exception to the prohibition on an 8 

initiative or referendum process in regard to any 9 

local comprehensive plan amendment or map amendment is 10 

limited to a local government charter provision in 11 

effect on June 1, 2011, that specifically authorized 12 

an initiative or referendum process for local 13 

comprehensive plan or map amendments that affect more 14 

than five parcels of land; providing legislative 15 

intent; providing for retroactive application; 16 

providing an effective date. 17 

 18 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 19 

 20 

Section 1. Subsection (8) of section 163.3167, Florida 21 

Statutes, is amended to read: 22 

163.3167 Scope of act.— 23 

(8)(a) An initiative or referendum process in regard to any 24 

development order or in regard to any local comprehensive plan 25 

amendment or map amendment is prohibited. However, any local 26 

government charter provision that was in effect as of June 1, 27 

2011, for an initiative or referendum process in regard to 28 

development orders or in regard to local comprehensive plan 29 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 528 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

578-02027-13 2013528c1 

Page 2 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

amendments or map amendments may be retained and implemented. 30 

(b) An initiative or referendum process in regard to any 31 

local comprehensive plan amendment or map amendment is 32 

prohibited. However, an initiative or referendum process in 33 

regard to any local comprehensive plan amendment or map 34 

amendment that affects more than five parcels of land is allowed 35 

if it is expressly authorized by specific language in a local 36 

government charter that was lawful and in effect on June 1, 37 

2011; a general local government charter provision for an 38 

initiative or referendum process is not sufficient. 39 

(c) It is the intent of the Legislature that initiative and 40 

referendum be prohibited in regard to any development order. It 41 

is the intent of the Legislature that initiative and referendum 42 

be prohibited in regard to any local comprehensive plan or map 43 

amendment, except as specifically and narrowly permitted in 44 

subsection (b) with regard to local comprehensive plan or map 45 

amendments that affect more than five parcels of land. 46 

Therefore, the prohibition on initiative and referendum stated 47 

in subsections (a) and (b) is remedial in nature and applies 48 

retroactively to any initiative or referendum process commenced 49 

after June 1, 2011, and any such initiative or referendum 50 

process that has been commenced or completed thereafter is 51 

hereby deemed null and void and of no legal force and effect. 52 

Section 2. This act shall take effect upon becoming a law. 53 



 

 

SENATOR WILTON SIMPSON 
18th District 

THE FLORIDA SENATE 
 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-1100 
 

   
COMMITTEES: 
Community Affairs, Chair 
Appropriations Subcommittee on General  
   Government 
Appropriations Subcommittee on Transportation, 
   Tourism, and Economic Development 
Commerce and Tourism 
Communications, Energy, and Public Utilities 
Environmental Preservation and Conservation 
 
JOINT COMMITTEE: 
Joint Legislative Auditing Committee 
 

 

 
 REPLY TO: 
   322 Senate Office Building, 404 South Monroe Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1100  (850) 487-5018 
   Post Office Box 938, Brooksville, Florida 34605 
   Post Office Box 787, New Port Richey, Florida 34656-0787  (727) 816-1120  FAX: (888) 263-4821 
 

Senate’s Website:  www.flsenate.gov 
 
 

 DON GAETZ GARRETT RICHTER 
 President of the Senate President Pro Tempore 
 

 
 
 
 
 
April 8, 2013 
 
Senator John Thrasher, Chairman 
Rules Committee 
402 Senate Office Building  
404 S. Monroe Street 
Tallahassee, FL 32399 
 
 
Senator Thrasher, 
 
Please place Senate Bill 528, relating to community planning, on the next Rules Committee 
agenda. This bill passed all previous committees with a unanimous favorable vote. 
 
Please contact my office with any questions. 
Regards, 
 

 
Senator Wilton Simpson, 18th District 
 



Meeting Date

Topic

Name

Job Title

Address

(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Bill Number

Amendment Barcode
(if applicable)

(if applicable)

City ~ State Zip

Speaking:    ~ For _ [~ Against . ~[~ Information

Representing "~ ~’~~ ~~

Appearing at request of Chair: Lobbyist registered with Legislature: ~YYes [~ No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting, s-001 (10/20/11)



THE FLORIDA SENATE

APPEA NC  N :COND
(DeLiver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

4/17/13
Meeting Date

Topic Growth Management

Name Brian Kemp

Job Title Government Consultant

Bill Number

Amendment Barcode

528
(if applicable)

(if applicable)

Address 215 S. Monroe Street, Suite 500
Street

Tallahassee
CiO,

Speaking: E~ For    F"] Against

FL 32301
State Zip

~] Information

Phone (850) 224-1585

E-mail bkemp@carltonfields.com

Representing The Villages of Lake Sumter

Appearing at request of Chair: F--]Yes [] No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: [] Yes [---] No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to fimit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting, s-0ol (10/20/11)



~e!in~g Date

Topic

Name

(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Amendment Barcode
(if applicable)

(if applicable)

Job Title

Address
Street

City State

Speaking:    [~For

Representing

Appearing at request of Chair: [---] Yes J~ No

Z~p

Phone

E-mail

Against [--] Information

Lobbyist registered with Legislature: [~Yes [~] No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting, s-001 (10/20/11 )



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Rules  

 

BILL:  CS/CS/CS/SB 1122 

INTRODUCER:  Rules Committee; Governmental Oversight and Accountability Committee; Community 

Affairs Committee; and Senators Simpson and Dean 

SUBJECT:  Florida Fire Prevention Code 

DATE:  April 17, 2013  

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Toman  Yeatman  CA  Fav/CS 

2. McKay  McVaney  GO  Fav/CS 

3. Toman  Phelps  RC  Fav/CS 

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... X Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

CS/CS/CS/SB 1122 establishes the following provisions related to the Florida Fire Prevention 

Code (FFPC): 

 fire officials must enforce fire wall separation ratings for certain mercantile or business 

occupancies as defined in the Florida Building Code; and  

 certain structures on agricultural property used in farming or ranching operations are exempt 

from the FFPC. 

 

This bill amends section 633.0215 of the Florida Statutes. 

II. Present Situation: 

Fire Safety and Building Provisions in Florida 

The Division of State Fire Marshall, housed within the Department of Financial Services, is 

responsible for protecting Floridians from fire hazards pursuant to ch. 633, F.S. 

Section 633.0215(1), F.S., requires the State Fire Marshal to adopt by rule the latest editions of 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 1122   Page 2 

 

the National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) codes every three years. These NFPA codes 

serve as a base code for the Florida Fire Prevention Code (FFPC). Local governments enforce 

the FFPC as a minimum standard although they may adopt more stringent fire safety standards 

within their own jurisdictions subject to requirements provided in s. 633.025(4), F.S. The 2010 

FFPC was adopted on December 31, 2011. 

 

The FFPC operates in conjunction with the Florida Building Code (Building Code) adopted 

pursuant to ch. 553, F.S. The Building Code governs the design and construction of buildings 

and structures in the state and is developed and modified by the Florida Building Commission 

(Commission).
1
 The Commission maintains and updates the Building Code and its component 

codes for plumbing, electrical, mechanical, energy conservation, accessibility, structural, and fire 

systems in buildings. The Building Code, like the FFPC, is adopted every three years and utilizes 

international codes as a foundation for Florida’s base code. Enforcement of the Building Code is 

also similar to the FFPC: local governments bear this responsibility and may adopt more 

stringent code requirements within their own jurisdictions subject to provisions.
2
 

 

Conflicts between the FFPC and the Building Code are resolved through coordination and 

cooperation between the State Fire Marshall and the Commission in favor of requirements 

offering the greatest degree of life safety.
3
 If the State Fire Marshal and Commission are unable 

to agree on a resolution to a conflict, the issue goes to a mediator. 

 

Fire Rated Walls or Partitions in the FFPC 

Both the FFPC
4
 and the Building Code

5
 require that where different parts of a building comprise 

different categories of occupancy, those buildings must provide passive fire protection systems 

to slow or prevent a fire from spreading from one part of the building to another. For example, if 

a restaurant abuts a day care center or a hotel, the codes will require a fire wall between the two 

occupancies rated to certain wall fire-rating. These fire ratings are often expressed in “hours,” 

expressing how long the wall can resist a fire of a certain temperature.
6
 The rules are intended to 

protect life safety, slow the spread of fire, and reduce insurance rates by restricting the ability of 

a commercial tenant to offload his or her fire risk onto adjoining tenant occupancies.  

 

Chapter 6 of the FFPC outlines several occupancy classifications for buildings and structures. A 

business occupancy is defined as one used for the transaction of business other than mercantile; a 

mercantile occupancy is one used for the display and sale of merchandise. A separated 

occupancy is one in which two or more classifications exist separated by a fire-resistance rated 

assembly. Fire resistance ratings are permitted to be reduced by 1 hour where the building is 

protected throughout by an approved automatic sprinkler system.
7
 

 

                                                 
1
 Pursuant to s. 553.74, F.S., the Commission is a 25-member technical body appointed by the Governor subject to 

confirmation by the Senate. The Department of Business and Professional Regulation (DBPR) provides the Commission with 

administrative, technical, and legal support. 
2
 See ss. 553.73(1)-(4) and 553.80, F.S. 

3
 See ss. 553.72(5) and 553.73(1)(d), F.S. 

4
 NFPA 101 s. 6.1.14.4.1, as specified in 6.1.14.4.2 and 6.1.14.4.3, and tables 6.1.14.4.1(a) and (b). 

5
 Florida Building Code sections 508.1, 508.2, 508.3 and 508.4.  

6
 Separations are categorized as 3-hour fire resistance-rated, 2-hour fire resistance-rated, or 1-hour fire resistance-rated. 

7
 In no case may the rating be reduced to less than 1 hour.  



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 1122   Page 3 

 

FFPC Classification of Agricultural Buildings 

Inspection of agricultural buildings and surrounding property are classified using occupancies 

defined in the FFPC. Generally, these classifications will be business, storage, or industrial 

depending on the specific operation conducted within the structure or property; however, other 

occupancy sections may be applicable. 

 

Exemptions in Chapter 633 

Chapter 633 provides for the following current exemptions: 

 A condominium, cooperative, or multifamily residential building that is less than four stories 

in height and has an exterior corridor providing a means of egress is exempt from installing a 

manual fire alarm system as required in s. 9.6 of the most recent edition of the Life Safety 

Code adopted in the Florida Fire Prevention Code.
8
 

 Provisions of ch. 633, F.S., do not apply to owners of property who are building or 

improving farm outbuildings.
9
 This means that structures such as barns need not be 

constructed to the fire code nor are they subject to fine by fire marshals or inspectors. 

 

Agricultural Property Classification 

For property to be classified as agricultural land, it must be used “primarily for bona fide 

agricultural purposes.”
10

 “Agricultural purposes” include, but are not limited to: horticulture; 

floriculture; viticulture; forestry; dairy; livestock; poultry; bee; pisciculture, when the land is 

used principally for the production of tropical fish; aquaculture; sod farming; and all forms of 

farm products and farm production.
11

  

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

The bill amends s. 633.0215, F.S., to require that a fire official enforce certain wall fire-rating 

occupancy separations as defined in the Florida Building Code. The ratings apply to one- and 

two-story structures that are less than 10,000 square feet whose occupancy is defined as business 

or mercantile. 

 

The bill also exempts specified structures used in farming and ranching operations from the 

Florida Fire Prevention Code. To be exempt, the structure must be located on property classified 

for ad valorem purposes as agricultural, is part of a farming and ranching operation, employs 

fewer than 35 full-time equivalent employees, and is not used by the public for direct sales or as 

an educational outreach facility.  

 

This exemption does not include structures used for residential or assembly operations. 

 

The bill provides an effective date of July 1, 2013. 

                                                 
8
 Section 633.0215, F.S. 

9
 Section 633.557, F.S. Owners acting as their own contractors when building or improving farm buildings are exempt from 

the construction contracting provisions in s. 489.103(7)(a), F.S.. 
10

 Section 193.461(3)(b), F.S. 
11

 Section 193.461(5), F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 1122   Page 4 

 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

Not applicable. The bill does not appear to require counties or municipalities to spend 

funds or take action requiring the expenditure of funds; reduce the authority that counties 

or municipalities have to raise revenues in the aggregate; or reduce the percentage of state 

tax shared with counties or municipalities. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

The provisions of the bill could result in an indeterminate increase in insurance rates for 

commercial building owners and tenants in multiuse buildings and for farmers and 

ranchers whose buildings are being exempted from the FFPC.
12

 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

The provisions of the bill could result in an indeterminate fiscal impact to local 

governments based upon individual community density and the staffing and equipment 

needs of fire departments.
13

 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

Occupancy Separation 

While the FFPC and the Building Code contain similar occupancy classification and separation 

language, the Department of Financial Services advises in a bill analysis
14

 that the codes differ 

on the separation requirements between a business and mercantile occupancy. The FFPC 

                                                 
12

 See Florida Department of Financial Services, Analysis of SB 1122 (Mar. 14, 2013) and e-mail from Elizabeth Boyd, 

Deputy Legislative Affairs Director, Office of Chief Financial Officer, to John Toman, Legislative Analyst, Senate 

Community Affairs (April 17, 2013) (on file with Senate Committee on Community Affairs). 
13

 Id. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 1122   Page 5 

 

requires a two-hour fire rated wall or partition between these use groups. This is more restrictive 

than the Florida Building Code. Generally, the two codes agree on the other occupancy 

separation requirements. 

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
 (Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS/CS/CS by Rules on April 17, 2013: 

Revises the bill’s Florida Fire Prevention Code exemption to apply to farming or 

ranching structures and restricts occupancy in these structures to fewer than 35 persons. 

 

CS/CS by Governmental Oversight and Accountability on April 9, 2013: 

The CS/CS removes a provision in the bill that allows local fire authorities to decrease 

fire flow requirements in rural areas. The CS/CS also clarifies the farming and ranching 

structure exemption from the Florida Fire Prevention Code, and modifies the exemption 

by applying the exemption to operations employing fewer than 35 full-time equivalent 

workers, instead of 25 full-time equivalent workers.  

 

CS by Community Affairs on April 2, 2013: 

 Revises specifications related to the decrease of fire flow requirements. 

 Changes wall fire-rating enforcement provisions for certain structure occupancy 

separations. 

 Modifies conditions that trigger an exemption from the Florida Fire Prevention Code 

for farming or ranching structures. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 

                                                                                                                                                                         
14

 Id. 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 1122 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì764182,Î764182 

 

Page 1 of 2 

4/16/2013 9:49:38 AM 595-04350A-13 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

04/17/2013 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Rules (Montford) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment  1 

 2 

Delete lines 21 - 30 3 

and insert: 4 

(b) A structure, located on property that is classified for 5 

ad valorem purposes as agricultural, which is part of a farming 6 

or ranching operation, in which the occupancy is limited to no 7 

more than 35 persons, and which is not used by the public for 8 

direct sales or as an educational outreach facility, is exempt 9 

from the Florida Fire Prevention Code, including the national 10 

codes and Life Safety Code incorporated by reference. This 11 

paragraph does not include structures used for residential or 12 

assembly occupancies, as defined in the Florida Fire Prevention 13 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 1122 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì764182,Î764182 

 

Page 2 of 2 

4/16/2013 9:49:38 AM 595-04350A-13 

Code. 14 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 1122 

 

 

 

By the Committees on Governmental Oversight and Accountability; 

and Community Affairs; and Senators Simpson and Dean 

 

 

 

585-04016-13 20131122c2 

Page 1 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to the Florida Fire Prevention Code; 2 

amending s. 633.0215, F.S.; requiring fire officials 3 

to enforce Florida Building Code provisions for 4 

occupancy separation for certain structures with 5 

certain occupancies; exempting certain farming and 6 

ranching structures from the code; providing an 7 

effective date. 8 

 9 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 10 

 11 

Section 1. Subsection (16) is added to section 633.0215, 12 

Florida Statutes, to read: 13 

633.0215 Florida Fire Prevention Code.— 14 

(16)(a) For one-story or two-story structures that are less 15 

than 10,000 square feet, whose occupancy is defined in the 16 

Florida Building Code and the Florida Fire Prevention Code as 17 

business or mercantile, a fire official shall enforce the wall 18 

fire-rating provisions for occupancy separation as defined in 19 

the Florida Building Code. 20 

(b) A structure, located on property that is classified for 21 

ad valorem purposes as agricultural, which is part of a farming 22 

and ranching operation, which employs fewer than 35 full-time 23 

equivalent workers, and which is not used by the public for 24 

direct sales or as an educational outreach facility, is exempt 25 

from the Florida Fire Prevention Code, including the national 26 

codes and Life Safety Code incorporated by reference. This 27 

paragraph does not include structures used for residential or 28 

assembly occupancies, as defined in the Florida Fire Prevention 29 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 1122 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

585-04016-13 20131122c2 

Page 2 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Code. 30 

Section 2. This act shall take effect July 1, 2013. 31 



(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Topic Bill Number

Name Amendment Barcode

Address                                             0

City State Zip

Speaking: .~For F--] Against [] Information

Representing" g ~*~ j~ ~~ ~~.

Appearing at request of Chair: [~ Yes ,~o

Phone

E-mail

(if applicable)

Lobbyist registered with Legislature:,~es [] No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage pubfic testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting, s-001 (10/20/11 )



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Rules  

 

BILL:  CS/SB 824 

INTRODUCER:  Governmental Oversight and Accountability Committee and Senator Garcia 

SUBJECT:  Public Records/Forensic Behavioral Health Evaluation 

DATE:  April 12, 2013 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Clodfelter  Cannon  CJ  Favorable 

2. Naf  McVaney  GO  Fav/CS 

3. Clodfelter  Phelps  RC  Favorable 

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... X Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

CS/SB 824 makes forensic behavioral health evaluations filed with the court pursuant to ch. 916, 

F.S., confidential and exempt from public records disclosure requirements. 

 

The bill provides a statement of public necessity for the exemption as required by the Florida 

Constitution.  

 

Because the bill creates new public records exemptions, the bill requires a two-thirds vote of 

each house of the Legislature for passage. 

 

This bill creates section 916.1065 of the Florida Statutes. 

II. Present Situation: 

Public Records Laws 

The Florida Constitution provides every person the right to inspect or copy any public record 

made or received in connection with the official business of any public body, officer, or 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/SB 824   Page 2 

 

employee of the state, or of persons acting on their behalf.
1
 The records of the legislative, 

executive, and judicial branches are specifically included.
2
  

 

The Florida Statutes also specify conditions under which public access must be provided to 

government records. The Public Records Act
3
 guarantees every person’s right to inspect and 

copy any state or local government public record
4
 at any reasonable time, under reasonable 

conditions, and under supervision by the custodian of the public record.
5
  

 

Only the Legislature may create an exemption to public records requirements.
6
 Such an 

exemption must be created by general law and must specifically state the public necessity 

justifying the exemption.
7
 Further, the exemption must be no broader than necessary to 

accomplish the stated purpose of the law. A bill enacting an exemption may not contain other 

substantive provisions
8
 and must pass by a two-thirds vote of the members present and voting in 

each house of the Legislature.
9
 

 

The Open Government Sunset Review Act (the Act) prescribes a legislative review process for 

newly created or substantially amended public records or open meetings exemptions.
10

 It 

requires the automatic repeal of such exemption on October 2nd of the fifth year after creation or 

substantial amendment, unless the Legislature reenacts the exemption.
11

 The Act provides that a 

public records or open meetings exemption may be created or maintained only if it serves an 

identifiable public purpose and is no broader than is necessary to meet such public purpose.
12

 

                                                 
1
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(a). 

2
 Id. 

3
 Chapter 119, F.S. 

4
 Section 119.011(12), F.S., defines “public records” to mean “all documents, papers, letters, maps, books, tapes, 

photographs, films, sound recordings, data processing software, or other material, regardless of the physical form, 

characteristics, or means of transmission, made or received pursuant to law or ordinance or in connection with the transaction 

of official business by any agency.” Section 119.011(2), F.S., defines “agency” to mean as “any state, county, district, 

authority, or municipal officer, department, division, board, bureau, commission, or other separate unit of government created 

or established by law including, for the purposes of this chapter, the Commission on Ethics, the Public Service Commission, 

and the Office of Public Counsel, and any other public or private agency, person, partnership, corporation, or business entity 

acting on behalf of any public agency.” The Public Records Act does not apply to legislative or judicial records (see Locke v. 

Hawkes, 595 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1992)). 
5
 Section 119.07(1)(a), F.S. 

6
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). There is a difference between records the Legislature designates as exempt from public records 

requirements and those the Legislature designates confidential and exempt. A record classified as exempt from public 

disclosure may be disclosed under certain circumstances (see WFTV, Inc. v. The School Board of Seminole, 874 So.2d 48 

(Fla. 5th DCA 2004), review denied 892 So.2d 1015 (Fla. 2004); City of Riviera Beach v. Barfield, 642 So.2d 1135 (Fla. 4th 

DCA 2004); and Williams v. City of Minneola, 575 So.2d 687 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). If the Legislature designates a record as 

confidential and exempt from public disclosure, such record may not be released, by the custodian of public records, to 

anyone other than the persons or entities specifically designated in the statutory exemption (see Attorney General Opinion 

85-62, August 1, 1985). 
7
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). 

8
 The bill may, however, contain multiple exemptions that relate to one subject. 

9
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). 

10
 Section 119.15, F.S. An exemption is substantially amended if the amendment expands the scope of the exemption to 

include more records or information or to include meetings as well as records (s. 119.15(4)(b), F.S.). The requirements of the 

Act do not apply to an exemption that is required by federal law or that applies solely to the Legislature or the State Court 

System (s. 119.15(2), F.S.). 
11

 Section 119.15(3), F.S. 
12

 Section 119.15(6)(b), F.S. 



BILL: CS/SB 824   Page 3 

 

Forensic Mental Health
13

 

Forensic Services 

Chapter 916, F.S., addresses the treatment and adjudication of individuals who have been 

charged with felonies and found incompetent to proceed to trial due to mental illness, mental 

retardation, or autism, or who are acquitted by reason of insanity. 

 

Department of Children and Family Services 

Part II of ch. 916, F.S., relates to forensic services for persons who are mentally ill and describes 

the criteria and procedures for the examination, involuntary commitment, and adjudication of 

persons who are incompetent to proceed to trial due to mental illness or who have been 

adjudicated not guilty by reason of insanity. Persons committed under ch. 916, F.S., are 

committed to the custody of the Department of Children and Family Services (DCF). 

 

Section 916.12(3), F.S., authorizes the court to appoint experts to evaluate a criminal defendant’s 

mental condition. In determining whether a defendant is competent to proceed, the examining 

expert must provide a report to the court regarding the defendant’s capacity to appreciate the 

charges or allegations against him, appreciate the range and nature of possible penalties, 

understand the adversarial nature of the legal process, consult with counsel, behave appropriately 

in court, and testify relevantly. A defendant must be evaluated by at least two experts prior to 

being involuntarily committed.
14

 A defendant charged with a felony who is found incompetent to 

proceed may be involuntarily committed if the court finds by clear and convincing evidence: 

(1) that the defendant is mentally ill; (2) all available, least restrictive alternatives are inadequate; 

and (3) there is a substantial probability that the mental illness will respond to treatment and that 

the defendant will be restored to competency.
15

 

 

DCF provides mental health assessment, evaluation, and treatment of individuals who are 

committed following adjudication as incompetent to proceed or not guilty by reason of insanity. 

These individuals are charged with a felony offense and must be admitted to a treatment facility 

within 15 days of the department’s receipt of the commitment packet from the court.
16

 

 

Agency for Persons with Disabilities 

The Agency for Persons with Disabilities (APD) provides forensic services to defendants 

charged with a felony who have been found incompetent to proceed due to retardation or autism. 

Defendants with retardation or autism must be evaluated by at least one expert with expertise in 

evaluating persons with retardation or autism in order to evaluate the mental condition of the 

defendant.
17

 A defendant is considered incompetent to proceed if the expert finds that the 

defendant: 

 

 Meets the definition of retardation or autism; 

                                                 
13

 Much of the information included in this portion of the analysis is from the Interim Report by the Senate Committee on 

Children, Families, and Elder Affairs, Forensic Hospital Diversion Pilot Program (Oct. 2010). The report is available at 

http://www.flsenate.gov/Committees/InterimReports/2011/2011-106cf.pdf (last visited March 12, 2013). 
14

 s. 916.12(2), F.S. 
15

 s. 916.13(1), F.S. See also, s. 916.302, F.S. 
16

 See s. 916.107(1)(a), F.S. 
17

 s. 916.301, F.S. 



BILL: CS/SB 824   Page 4 

 

 Does not have the sufficient present ability to consult with his or her attorney with a 

reasonable degree of rational understanding; and 

 Has no rational and factual understanding of the proceedings.
18

 

 

If the expert finds that the defendant is incompetent to proceed due to the defendant’s retardation 

or autism, the expert must prepare a report for the court recommending training for the defendant 

in order to attain competency.
19

 Individuals charged with a felony and found incompetent to 

proceed due to retardation or autism are committed to APD for appropriate training.
20

 In certain 

circumstances, the court may order the conditional release of a defendant found incompetent to 

proceed due to retardation or autism based on an approved plan for providing community-based 

training.
21

 

 

Restoration of Competency 

Competency restoration is designed to help defendants meaningfully participate in their own 

defense. If the court determines that the defendant is a danger to himself or others, it may 

involuntarily commit the defendant to a secure forensic facility.
22

 If the court finds that the 

defendant does not pose a risk to public safety, it may place the defendant on conditional release 

to receive competency restoration training in the community 
23

 

 

A defendant who is committed or placed on conditional release pursuant to ch. 916, F.S., is 

returned to court periodically for a review and report on his or her condition.
24

 Generally, a 

review is conducted: 

 

 No later than 6 months after the date of admission; 

 At the end of any extended period of commitment; 

 At any time upon the facility administrator’s communication to the court that the defendant 

no longer meets commitment criteria; and 

 Upon counsel’s Motion for Review having been granted. 

 

Once a defendant is determined to have regained his or her competence to proceed, the court is 

notified and a hearing is set for the judge to determine the defendant’s competency.
25

 If the court 

finds the defendant to be competent, the criminal proceeding resumes. If, however, the court 

finds the defendant incompetent to proceed, the defendant is returned to a forensic facility or 

community restoration on conditional release until competency is restored.
26

 

 

Confidentiality of Forensic Behavioral Health Evaluations 

                                                 
18

 s. 916.3012, F.S. 
19

 s. 916.3012(4), F.S. 
20

 s. 916.302, F.S. 
21

 s. 916.304, F.S. 
22

 s. 916.13, F.S. 
23

 s. 916.17, F.S. 
24

 ss. 916.13(2), 916.15(3) and 916.302(2)(a), F.S. See also s. 985.19(4)(e), (5) and (6), F.S., related to the court’s jurisdiction 

and reporting requirements in juvenile cases. 
25

 Rule 3.212, Fla.R.Crim.P. 
26

 Id. 



BILL: CS/SB 824   Page 5 

 

According to the Office of the State Courts Administrator, most forensic behavioral health 

evaluations filed with the court are neither confidential nor exempt under existing law or court 

rules.
27

  

 

A court may order records to be made confidential on a case-by-case basis; however, only the 

Legislature may create a new general public records exemption for judicial records.
28

 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

The bill creates s. 916.1065, F.S., to make forensic behavioral health evaluations filed with the 

court pursuant to ch. 916, F.S., confidential and exempt from public records disclosure 

requirements. The term “forensic behavioral health evaluation” is defined in the bill as meaning: 

 

[A]ny record, including supporting documentation, derived from a competency, 

substance abuse, psychosexual, psychological, psychiatric, psychosocial, 

cognitive impairment, sanity, or other mental health evaluation of an individual.
29

 

 

The bill provides the following statement of public necessity for the exemptions as required by 

the Florida Constitution: 

 

The Legislature finds that it is a public necessity that forensic behavioral health 

evaluations filed with the court pursuant to chapter 916, Florida Statutes, be 

confidential and exempt from disclosure under s. 24(a), Art. I of the State 

Constitution. The personal health of an individual and the treatment he or she 

receives is an intensely private matter. An individual’s forensic behavioral health 

evaluation should not be made public merely because it is filed with the court. 

Protecting forensic behavioral health evaluations is necessary to consistently 

protect the health care privacy rights of all persons. Making these evaluations 

confidential and exempt will protect information of a sensitive personal nature, 

the release of which would cause unwarranted damage to the reputation of an 

individual. Further, the knowledge that sensitive personal information is subject to 

disclosure could have a chilling effect on mental health experts who conduct the 

evaluations for use by the court. Therefore, making these evaluations confidential 

and exempt allows courts to effectively and efficiently make decisions relating to 

the competency of individuals who interact with the state courts system.  

 

The bill specifies that the exemptions stand repealed October 2, 2018, pursuant to the Open 

Government Sunset Review Act, unless reviewed and saved from repeal through reenactment by 

the Legislature. 

 

The bill takes effect upon becoming a law. 

                                                 
27

 Senate Bill 824 Judicial Impact Statement, Office of the State Courts Administrator, March 15, 2013 (on file with the 

Senate Governmental Oversight and Accountability Committee). 
28

 In re Amendments to Florida Rule of Judicial Administration 2.420, 68 So.3d 228 (Fla. 2011). 
29

 The types of records protected by the bill are already afforded confidentiality pursuant to s. 916.107(8), F.S., if they 

become part of a clinical record. In such cases, release of the records is governed by the provisions of that subsection. 



BILL: CS/SB 824   Page 6 

 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

Not applicable. This bill does not appear to affect county or municipal governments. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

Vote Requirement 

 

Article I, s. 24(c), of the Florida Constitution requires a two-thirds vote of the members 

present and voting in each house of the Legislature for passage of a newly-created public 

records exemption. Because the bill creates new public records exemptions, the bill 

requires a two-thirds vote of each house of the Legislature for passage. 

 

Public Necessity Statement 

 

Article I, s. 24(c), of the Florida Constitution requires a public necessity statement for a 

newly created public records exemption. Because this bill creates new public records 

exemptions, it includes a public necessity statement. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

None. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

None. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

 

None. 



BILL: CS/SB 824   Page 7 

 

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS by Governmental Oversight and Accountability on April 9, 2013: 

The CS: 

 Removes references to s. 119.07(1), F.S., and to the Open Government Sunset 

Review Act, as judicial records are not subject to those provisions. 

 Removes a reference to release of protected records that become part of a clinical 

record in certain circumstances, as that is already governed by current law. 

 Clarifies the public necessity statement. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 824 

 

 

 

By the Committee on Governmental Oversight and Accountability; 

and Senator Garcia 

 

 

 

585-04019-13 2013824c1 

Page 1 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to public records; creating s. 2 

916.1065, F.S.; creating an exemption from public 3 

records requirements for a forensic behavioral health 4 

evaluation filed with a court; providing a definition 5 

for the term “forensic behavioral health evaluation”; 6 

providing a statement of public necessity, 7 

applicability, and construction; providing an 8 

effective date. 9 

 10 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 11 

 12 

Section 1. Section 916.1065, Florida Statutes, is created 13 

to read: 14 

916.1065 Confidentiality of forensic behavioral health 15 

evaluations: 16 

(1) A forensic behavioral health evaluation filed with the  17 

court under this chapter is confidential and exempt from s. 18 

24(a), Art. I of the State Constitution. 19 

(2) As used in this section, the term “forensic behavioral 20 

health evaluation” means any record, including supporting 21 

documentation, derived from a competency, substance abuse, 22 

psychosexual, psychological, psychiatric, psychosocial, 23 

cognitive impairment, sanity, or other mental health evaluation 24 

of an individual. 25 

Section 2. The Legislature finds that it is a public 26 

necessity that forensic behavioral health evaluations filed with 27 

the court pursuant to chapter 916, Florida Statutes, be 28 

confidential and exempt from disclosure under s. 24(a), Art. I 29 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 824 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

585-04019-13 2013824c1 

Page 2 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

of the State Constitution. The personal health of an individual 30 

and the treatment he or she receives is an intensely private 31 

matter. An individual’s forensic behavioral health evaluation 32 

should not be made public merely because it is filed with the 33 

court. Protecting forensic behavioral health evaluations is 34 

necessary to consistently protect the health care privacy rights 35 

of all persons. Making these evaluations confidential and exempt 36 

will protect information of a sensitive personal nature, the 37 

release of which would cause unwarranted damage to the 38 

reputation of an individual. Further, the knowledge that 39 

sensitive personal information is subject to disclosure could 40 

have a chilling effect on mental health experts who conduct the 41 

evaluations for use by the court. Therefore, making these 42 

evaluations confidential and exempt allows courts to effectively 43 

and efficiently make decisions relating to the competency of 44 

individuals who interact with the state courts system. 45 

Section 3. This act shall take effect upon becoming a law. 46 



 

 

SENATOR RENE GARCIA 
38th District 

THE FLORIDA SENATE 
 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-1100 
 

 
COMMITTEES: 
Communications, Energy, and Public Utilities, Vice 
Chair 
Appropriations Subcommittee on Criminal and          
Civil Justice 
Appropriations Subcommittee on Health and Human 
Services 
Transportation 
Health Policy 
Agriculture 
Transportation 
 
JOINT COMMITTEE: 
Joint Committee on Administrative Procedures 
 

 

 
 REPLY TO: 
   2100 Coral Way, Suite 505, Miami, Florida 33145  (305) 643-7200 
   312 Senate Office Building, 404 South Monroe Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1100  (850) 487-5040 
 

Senate’s Website:  www.flsenate.gov 
 
 

 DON GAETZ GARRETT RICHTER 
 President of the Senate President Pro Tempore 
 

 

March 4, 2013 
 
 
The Honorable John Thrasher 
Chair, Rules Committee 
 405 Senate Office Building 

404 S. Monroe Street 
Tallahassee, FL 32399-1100 
 
 
Dear Chairman Thrasher: 
 
 

This letter should serve as a request to have my bill SB 824 Public Records/Forensic 

Behavioral Health Evaluation heard at the next possible committee meeting. If there is 

any other information needed please do not hesitate to contact me. Thank you. 

 
 
Sincerely, 

 
 
 
 
 

State Senator René García 
District 38 
 
RG:dm 

 
 
 
CC: John Phelps, Staff Director 
 



SENATOR RENE GARCIA
38th District

THE FLORIDA SENATE
Tallahassee, Florida 32399=1100

COMMITTEES:
Communications, Energy, and Public Utilities, Vice
Chair
Appropriations Subcommittee on Criminal and
Civil Justice
Appropriations Subcommittee on Health and Human
Services
Transportation
Health Policy
Agriculture
Transportation

JOINT COMMITTEE:
Joint Committee on Administrative Procedures

April 17, 2013

The Honorable John Thrasher
Chair, Rules Committee
402 Knott Building
404 S. Monroe Street
Tallahassee, FL 32399-1100

RECEIVED
APR 1 ’7 2013

~NATE
RULES COMMITTEE

Dear Chairman Thrasher:

Due to a scheduling conflict, I will not be able to present my two bills SB 824 Public

Records/Forensic Behavioral Health Evaluation and SB 1014 Public Records/

Participants in Treatment-Based Druq Court Pro.qrams, at your committee meeting

Monday afternoon. I ask that you allow a member of my staff David Marin to present the

bills on my behalf. If there is any other information needed please do not hesitate to

contact me. Thank you.

Sincerely,

State Senator Ren6 Garcia
District 38
RG:dm

CC: John Phelps, Staff Director

REPLY TO:
¢’1 2100 Coral Way, Suite 505, Miami, Florida 33145 (305) 643-7200
[] 312 Senate Office Building, 404 South Monroe Street, Tailahassee, Florida 32399-1 "i00 (850) 487-5040

Senate’s Website: www.flsenate.gov

DON GAETZ GARRETT RICHTER
President of the Senate President Pro Tempore



~H~ ~’~O~DA ~A~

(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date

Topic
~_ -

Name ’~ ~- \

Job Title -’~L-q’J~

Address ~~OO ~o ~-~
Street

ci~

Speaking: ~ For ~ Against

Representing

State Zip

[---] Information

Appearing at request of Chair: [~ Yes~ No

Bill Number
(if’applicable)

Amendment Barcode
(if applicable)

Phone ~o.~

Lobbyist registered with Legislatur’~e:~ Yes [---] No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage pubfic testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to fimit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting, s-001 (10/20/11 )



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Rules  

 

BILL:  CS/SB 1014 

INTRODUCER:  Governmental Oversight and Accountability Committee and Senator Garcia 

SUBJECT:  Public Records/Participants in Treatment-based Drug Court Programs 

DATE:  April 12, 2013 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Shankle  Cibula  JU  Favorable 

2. Naf  McVaney  GO  Fav/CS 

3. Shankle  Phelps  RC  Favorable 

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... X Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

CS/SB 1014 creates a public records exemption for information relating to a participant or a 

person considered for participation in a treatment-based drug court program which is contained 

in the following records, reports, and evaluations: 

 Records relating to initial screenings for participants in the program. 

 Records relating to substance abuse screenings. 

 Behavioral health evaluations. 

 Subsequent treatment status reports. 

 

The bill provides that the exemption is subject to legislative review and repeal under the Open 

Government Sunset Review Act. The bill also contains a statement of public necessity as 

required by the Florida Constitution. 

 

Because this bill creates a public records exemption, it requires a two-thirds vote of the members 

present and voting in each house of the Legislature for passage. 

 

This bill substantially amends section 397.334, Florida Statutes. 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/SB 1014   Page 2 

 

II. Present Situation: 

Public Records Laws 

The Florida Constitution provides every person the right to inspect or copy any public record 

made or received in connection with the official business of any public body, officer, or 

employee of the state, or of persons acting on their behalf.
1
 The records of the legislative, 

executive, and judicial branches are specifically included.
2
  

 

The Florida Statutes also specify conditions under which public access must be provided to 

government records. The Public Records Act
3
 guarantees every person’s right to inspect and 

copy any state or local government public record
4
 at any reasonable time, under reasonable 

conditions, and under supervision by the custodian of the public record.
5
  

 

Only the Legislature may create an exemption to public records requirements.
6
 Such an 

exemption must be created by general law and must specifically state the public necessity 

justifying the exemption.
7
 Further, the exemption must be no broader than necessary to 

accomplish the stated purpose of the law. A bill enacting an exemption may not contain other 

substantive provisions
8
 and must pass by a two-thirds vote of the members present and voting in 

each house of the Legislature.
9
 

 

The Open Government Sunset Review Act (the Act) prescribes a legislative review process for 

newly created or substantially amended public records or open meetings exemptions.
10

 It 

                                                 
1
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(a). 

2
 Id. 

3
 Chapter 119, F.S. 

4
 Section 119.011(12), F.S., defines “public records” to mean “all documents, papers, letters, maps, books, tapes, 

photographs, films, sound recordings, data processing software, or other material, regardless of the physical form, 

characteristics, or means of transmission, made or received pursuant to law or ordinance or in connection with the transaction 

of official business by any agency.” Section 119.011(2), F.S., defines “agency” to mean as “any state, county, district, 

authority, or municipal officer, department, division, board, bureau, commission, or other separate unit of government created 

or established by law including, for the purposes of this chapter, the Commission on Ethics, the Public Service Commission, 

and the Office of Public Counsel, and any other public or private agency, person, partnership, corporation, or business entity 

acting on behalf of any public agency.” The Public Records Act does not apply to legislative or judicial records (see Locke v. 

Hawkes, 595 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1992)). 
5
 Section 119.07(1)(a), F.S. 

6
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). There is a difference between records the Legislature designates as exempt from public records 

requirements and those the Legislature designates confidential and exempt. A record classified as exempt from public 

disclosure may be disclosed under certain circumstances (see WFTV, Inc. v. The School Board of Seminole, 874 So.2d 48 

(Fla. 5th DCA 2004), review denied 892 So.2d 1015 (Fla. 2004); City of Riviera Beach v. Barfield, 642 So.2d 1135 (Fla. 4th 

DCA 2004); and Williams v. City of Minneola, 575 So.2d 687 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). If the Legislature designates a record as 

confidential and exempt from public disclosure, such record may not be released, by the custodian of public records, to 

anyone other than the persons or entities specifically designated in the statutory exemption (see Attorney General Opinion 

85-62, August 1, 1985). 
7
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). 

8
 The bill may, however, contain multiple exemptions that relate to one subject. 

9
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). 

10
 Section 119.15, F.S. An exemption is substantially amended if the amendment expands the scope of the exemption to 

include more records or information or to include meetings as well as records (s. 119.15(4)(b), F.S.). The requirements of the 

Act do not apply to an exemption that is required by federal law or that applies solely to the Legislature or the State Court 

System (s. 119.15(2), F.S.). 



BILL: CS/SB 1014   Page 3 

 

requires the automatic repeal of such exemption on October 2nd of the fifth year after creation or 

substantial amendment, unless the Legislature reenacts the exemption.
11

 The Act provides that a 

public records or open meetings exemption may be created or maintained only if it serves an 

identifiable public purpose and is no broader than is necessary to meet such public purpose.
12

 

 

Treatment-Based Drug Court Programs 

Section 397.334, F.S., allows counties to fund a treatment-based drug court program (program) 

under which persons in the justice system identified as having a substance abuse problem can 

receive individually tailored treatment.
13

 Such programs may include pretrial intervention 

programs, treatment-based drug court programs, post-adjudicatory programs, and review of the 

status of compliance or noncompliance of sentenced offenders through a treatment based drug 

court program.
14

  

 

Entry into a treatment-based drug court program must be voluntary, and written consent of the 

individual is necessary for a court to order him or her into a program.
15

 As part of a program, a 

person may be required to receive substance abuse screenings and continual monitoring and 

evaluations.
16

 Records of the screenings and evaluations may be reviewed by court officials as 

part of a process of determining the individual’s compliance with the treatment-based drug court 

program. 

 

Confidentiality of Treatment-based Drug Court Program Records 

There is no existing public records exemption for records relating to participation in a treatment-

based drug court program. A court may order records to be made confidential on a case-by-case 

basis; however, only the Legislature may create a new general public records exemption for 

judicial records.
17

 

 

However, federal law restricts disclosure of information that: 

 Would identify a person has applied for or been given diagnosis or treatment for alcohol or 

drug abuse at a federally assisted program and includes any individual who, after arrest on a 

criminal charge, is identified as an alcohol or drug abuser in order to determine that 

individual’s eligibility to participate in a treatment program; and 

 Is drug abuse or alcohol abuse information obtained by a federally assisted drug abuse or 

alcohol abuse program for the purpose of treating alcohol or drug abuse, making a diagnosis 

for that treatment, or making a referral for that treatment.
18

 

 

An alcohol abuse or drug abuse program is considered to be federally assisted if it is: 

 Conducted in whole or in part by any department or agency of the United States; 

                                                 
11

 Section 119.15(3), F.S. 
12

 Section 119.15(6)(b), F.S. 
13

 Section 397.334(1), F.S. 
14

 Section 397.334(5), F.S. 
15

 Section 397.334(2), F.S. 
16

 Section 397.334(4), F.S. 
17

 In re Amendments to Florida Rule of Judicial Administration 2.420, 68 So.3d 228 (Fla. 2011). 
18

 See 42 C.F.R. 2. 



BILL: CS/SB 1014   Page 4 

 

 Carried out under a license or other authorization granted by any department or agency of the 

United States; 

 Supported by funds provided by any department or agency of the United States; or 

 Assisted by the Internal Revenue Service of the Department of the Treasury through the 

allowance of income tax deductions for contributions to the program or through the granting 

of tax exempt status to the program.
19

 

 

Federal law, therefore, may afford some level of protection to certain state court records relating 

to participation in treatment-based drug court program. 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

The bill provides that information relating to a participant or a person considered for 

participation in a treatment-based drug court program which is contained in the following 

records, reports, and evaluations is confidential and exempt from public records disclosure 

requirements: 

 Records relating to initial screenings for participation in the program. 

 Records relating to substance abuse screenings. 

 Behavioral health evaluations. 

 Subsequent treatment status reports. 

 

The bill provides that the public records exemption is subject to legislative review and repeal 

under the Open Government Sunset Review Act and as such, stands repealed October 2, 2018, 

unless reviewed and saved from repeal by reenactment of the Legislature. 

 

The bill also contains a statement of public necessity as required by the Florida Constitution.  

 

The bill takes effect upon becoming a law. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

Not applicable. This bill does not appear to require counties or municipalities to spend 

funds or take action requiring the expenditure of funds, reduce the authority that counties 

or municipalities have to raise revenues in the aggregate, or reduce the percentage of state 

tax shared with counties or municipalities. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

Vote Requirement 

Article I, s. 24(c) of the Florida Constitution requires a newly created or expanded public 

records or open meetings exemption to pass by a two-thirds vote of the members present 

and voting in each house. This bill creates a new public records exemption; therefore, a 

two-thirds vote is required. 

 

                                                 
19

 Id. 



BILL: CS/SB 1014   Page 5 

 

Public Necessity Statement 

Article I, s. 24(c) of the Florida Constitution requires a bill creating or expanding a public 

records or open meetings exemption to contain a public necessity statement. This bill 

creates a new public records exemption; therefore, this bill includes a public necessity 

statement. 

 

Single Subject Requirement 

Article I, s. 24(c) of the Florida Constitution requires a bill creating or expanding a public 

records or open meetings exemption to contain no other substantive provisions. Because 

this bill creates a public records exemption, it does not contain other substantive 

provisions. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

None. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

None. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS by Governmental Oversight and Accountability on April 9, 2013: 

The CS: 

 Restructures the public records exemption. 

 Clarifies that the public records exemption applies to both participants in treatment-

based drug court programs and persons considered for participation in such programs. 

 Clarifies the public necessity statement. 



BILL: CS/SB 1014   Page 6 

 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1014 

 

 

 

By the Committee on Governmental Oversight and Accountability; 

and Senator Garcia 

 

 

 

585-04020-13 20131014c1 

Page 1 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to public records; amending s. 2 

397.334, F.S.; exempting from public records 3 

requirements information from the initial screenings 4 

for participation in a treatment-based drug court 5 

program, substance abuse screenings, behavioral health 6 

evaluations, and subsequent treatment status reports 7 

regarding a participant or a person considered for 8 

participation in a treatment-based drug court program; 9 

providing for future repeal and legislative review of 10 

the exemption under the Open Government Sunset Review 11 

Act; providing a statement of public necessity; 12 

providing an effective date. 13 

 14 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 15 

 16 

Section 1. Subsection (10) is added to section 397.334, 17 

Florida Statutes, to read: 18 

397.334 Treatment-based drug court programs.— 19 

(10)(a) Information relating to a participant or a person 20 

considered for participation in a treatment-based drug court 21 

program which is contained in the following records, reports, 22 

and evaluations is confidential and exempt from s. 119.07(1) and 23 

s. 24(a), Art. I, of the State Constitution: 24 

1. Records relating to initial screenings for participation 25 

in the program. 26 

2. Records relating to substance abuse screenings. 27 

3. Behavioral health evaluations. 28 

4. Subsequent treatment status reports. 29 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1014 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

585-04020-13 20131014c1 

Page 2 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(b) This subsection is subject to the Open Government 30 

Sunset Review Act in accordance with s. 119.15 and shall stand 31 

repealed on October 2, 2018, unless reviewed and saved from 32 

repeal through reenactment by the Legislature. 33 

Section 2. The Legislature finds that it is a public 34 

necessity that information relating to a participant or person 35 

considered for participation in a treatment-based drug court 36 

program under s. 397.334, Florida Statutes, which is contained 37 

in certain records, reports, and evaluations, be made 38 

confidential and exempt from s. 119.07(1), Florida Statutes, and 39 

s. 24(a), Art. I of the State Constitution. Protecting 40 

information contained in records relating to initial screenings 41 

for participation in a treatment-based drug court program, 42 

records relating to substance abuse screenings, behavioral 43 

health evaluations, and subsequent treatment status reports is 44 

necessary to protect the privacy rights of participants or 45 

individuals considered for participation in treatment-based drug 46 

court programs. Accordingly, the Legislature finds that the 47 

chilling effect to an individual who is seeking treatment for 48 

his or her substance abuse which would result from the release 49 

of this information substantially outweighs any public benefit 50 

derived from disclosure to the public. Making this information 51 

confidential and exempt will protect information that is of a 52 

sensitive, personal nature; thus, the release of this 53 

information would cause unwarranted damage to the reputation of 54 

an individual. Furthermore, making this information confidential 55 

and exempt will encourage individuals to participate in drug 56 

court programs, and thereby promote the effective and efficient 57 

administration of treatment-based drug court programs. 58 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1014 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

585-04020-13 20131014c1 

Page 3 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Section 3. This act shall take effect upon becoming a law. 59 



 

 

SENATOR RENE GARCIA 
38th District 

THE FLORIDA SENATE 
 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-1100 
 

 
COMMITTEES: 
Communications, Energy, and Public Utilities, Vice 
Chair 
Appropriations Subcommittee on Criminal and          
Civil Justice 
Appropriations Subcommittee on Health and Human 
Services 
Transportation 
Health Policy 
Agriculture 
Transportation 
 
JOINT COMMITTEE: 
Joint Committee on Administrative Procedures 
 

 

 
 REPLY TO: 
   2100 Coral Way, Suite 505, Miami, Florida 33145  (305) 643-7200 
   312 Senate Office Building, 404 South Monroe Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1100  (850) 487-5040 
 

Senate’s Website:  www.flsenate.gov 
 
 

 DON GAETZ GARRETT RICHTER 
 President of the Senate President Pro Tempore 
 

 

April 10, 2013 
 
 
The Honorable John Thrasher 
Chair, Rules Committee 
401 Capitol Building 

404 S. Monroe Street 
Tallahassee, FL 32399-1100 
 
 
Dear Chairman Ring: 
 
 

This letter should serve as a request to have my bill SB 1014 Public Records/ 

Participants in Treatment-based Drug Court Programs heard at the next possible 

committee meeting. If there is any other information needed please do not hesitate to 

contact me. Thank you. 

 
 
Sincerely, 

 
 
 
 
 

State Senator René García 
District 38 
 
RG:dm 

 
 
 
CC: John Phelps, Staff Director 



 

April 10, 2013 

Page 2 

 

 



SENATOR RENE GARCIA
38th District

THE FLORIDA SENATE
Tallahassee, Florida 32399=1100

COMMITTEES:
Communications, Energy, and Public Utilities, Vice
Chair
Appropriations Subcommittee on Criminal and
Civil Justice
Appropriations Subcommittee on Health and Human
Services
Transportation
Health Policy
Agriculture
Transportation

JOINT COMMITTEE:
Joint Committee on Administrative Procedures

April 17, 2013

The Honorable John Thrasher
Chair, Rules Committee
402 Knott Building
404 S. Monroe Street
Tallahassee, FL 32399-1100

RECEIVED
APR 1 ’7 2013

~NATE
RULES COMMITTEE

Dear Chairman Thrasher:

Due to a scheduling conflict, I will not be able to present my two bills SB 824 Public

Records/Forensic Behavioral Health Evaluation and SB 1014 Public Records/

Participants in Treatment-Based Druq Court Pro.qrams, at your committee meeting

Monday afternoon. I ask that you allow a member of my staff David Marin to present the

bills on my behalf. If there is any other information needed please do not hesitate to

contact me. Thank you.

Sincerely,

State Senator Ren6 Garcia
District 38
RG:dm

CC: John Phelps, Staff Director

REPLY TO:
¢’1 2100 Coral Way, Suite 505, Miami, Florida 33145 (305) 643-7200
[] 312 Senate Office Building, 404 South Monroe Street, Tailahassee, Florida 32399-1 "i00 (850) 487-5040

Senate’s Website: www.flsenate.gov

DON GAETZ GARRETT RICHTER
President of the Senate President Pro Tempore



(D~live~ BOTH ~o~ie~ of thi~ fo~ to th~ ~ena~o~ or $~nate ~ro~es~ional Staff ~ondu~ting th~ m~ting)

Meeting Date

Topic

Name ~ t" ~

Job Title

Address
Street

Cit2 State z~

Speaking:’~-~ For [] Against [--] Information

Representing ~-"~’@ "- Co ~rx J’-~ f~

Appearing at request of Chair: [] Yes’]~ No

Bill Number

Amendment Barcode
(if applicable)

Lobbyist registered with Legislature’S." "~ Yes [---] No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage pubfic testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting, s-ool (lO/2O/11)



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Rules 

 

BILL:  SB 986 

INTRODUCER:  Senator Soto 

SUBJECT:  Requirements for Driver Licenses 

DATE:  April 12, 2013 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Eichin  Eichin  TR  Favorable 

2. Brown  Cibula  JU  Favorable 

3. Eichin  Phelps  RC  Favorable 

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

I. Summary: 

SB 986 amends s. 322.08(2)(c), F.S., to include a notice of an approved application for Deferred 

Action for Childhood Arrivals as one of the documents acceptable for proving identity when 

applying for a driver license. 

 

This bill substantially amends s. 322.08, Florida Statutes. 

 

The bill reenacts the following sections of the Florida Statutes:  322.17(3), 322.18(2)(d), 

322.18(4)(c), and 322.19(4). 

II. Present Situation: 

Proof of Identity Requirements for Driver License Application 

Section 322.08, F.S., provides requirements for the issuance of a driver license, one of which is  

proof of an applicant’s identity. Paragraph (c) of subsection (2) of s. 322.08, F.S., lists the 

documents that an applicant may use to prove his or her identity. An applicant may prove 

identity by producing one of the following: 

 

1. A driver license issued by another jurisdiction that requires substantially similar proof of 

identity; 

2. A certified copy of a United States (U.S.) birth certificate; 

3. A valid U.S. passport; 

4.  A naturalization certificate issued by the U.S. Department of Homeland Security (DHS); 

5. A valid alien registration receipt card (commonly known as a “green card”); 

REVISED:         



BILL: SB 986   Page 2 

 

6. A Consular Report of Birth Abroad from the U.S. Department of State; 

7. An unexpired employment authorization card issued by the U.S. Department of 

Homeland Security (DHS); or  

8. Proof of nonimmigrant classification provided by the U.S. DHS in the form of at least 

one of the following: 

a. A notice of hearing from an immigration court scheduling a hearing on any 

proceeding; 

b. A notice from the Board of Immigration Appeals acknowledging pendency of an 

appeal; 

c. A notice of approval of an application for adjustment of status issued by the U.S. 

Bureau of Citizenship and Immigration Status (USCIS); 

d. An official document issued by the USCIS confirming a petition for asylum or 

refugee status; 

e.  A notice of action issued by the USCIS transferring any pending matter to this 

state; 

f. An order of an immigration judge or officer authorizing the person to live and 

work in the U.S., such as for asylum; 

g. Evidence that an application is pending for adjustment of status to that of an alien 

lawfully admitted for permanent residence or conditional permanent resident 

status in the U.S., if a visa number is available having a current priority date for 

processing by the USCIS; and 

h. An unexpired foreign passport with an unexpired U.S. Visa attached, 

accompanied by an approved I-94, documenting the most recent U.S. entry. 

 

Deferred Action for Childhood Arrivals (DACA) 

On June 15, 2012, the DHS announced that it would extend temporary safety from deportation 

along with work authorization to certain individuals who had come to the U.S. as children.
1
 The 

Deferred Action for Childhood Arrivals policy offers “deferred action,” to this population on the 

basis that the DHS considers them a low priority for immigration enforcement. The DHS 

reserves the right to revoke deferred action at any time. Deferred action does not provide lawful 

immigration status or a path to a green card or citizenship.
2
 

 

An individual may request consideration of deferred action for childhood arrivals if he or she: 

 

 Was younger than 31 years old as of June 15, 2012; 

 Came to the United States before turning 16 years old; 

 Has continuously resided in the U.S. since June 15, 2007, up to the date of the application for 

deferred action; 

                                                 
1
 Koh, Jennifer Lee, Waiving Due Process (Goodbye); Stipulated Orders of Removal and the Crisis in Immigration 

Adjudication, 91 N. C. L. Rev. 475, FN 348 (Jan. 2013).  
2
 USCIS, Consideration of Deferred Action for Childhood Arrivals Process, available at 

http://www.uscis.gov/portal/site/uscis/menuitem.eb1d4c2a3e5b9ac89243c6a7543f6d1a/?vgnextoid=f2ef2f19470f7310VgnV

CM100000082ca60aRCRD&vgnextchannel=f2ef2f19470f7310VgnVCM100000082ca60aRCRD (last visited March 28, 

2013).  

 



BILL: SB 986   Page 3 

 

 Was physically present in the U.S. on June 15, 2012, and at the time of making their request 

for consideration of deferred action with USCIS; 

 Entered without inspection before June 15, 2012, or lawful immigration status expired as of 

June 15, 2012; 

 Is currently in school, graduated or obtained a certificate of completion from high school, 

obtained a general education development (GED) certificate, or is an honorably discharged 

veteran of the Coast Guard or Armed Forces of the United States; and 

 Has not been convicted of a felony, significant misdemeanor, three or more other 

misdemeanors, and does not otherwise pose a public safety or security threat.
3
 

 

Requests for deferred action are authorized only for immigrants who are 15 years old or older, 

unless they are currently in removal proceedings or have a final order of removal or voluntary 

departure, in which case they may apply if they are under age 15. 

 

Deferred action is granted for a 2-year period, and recipients may request renewal. According to 

DHS, individuals are eligible for future renewals of deferred action as long as they were under 

the age of 31 on June 15, 2012. 

 

According to the DHSMV, persons who have been approved for DACA are currently not 

considered eligible for a driver license based on the approved application alone. Rather, once a 

person is approved for deferred action, they become eligible for an employment eligibility card. 

Once the person receives the employment authorization card, DHSMV will issue a driver license 

or state identification card. 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

The bill amends s. 322.08(2)(c), F.S., to include a notice of an approved application for Deferred 

Action for Childhood Arrivals as an acceptable form of identification when applying for a driver 

license. According to the DHSMV, the majority of those approved for deferred action status also 

receive an employment authorization card from DHS, which is itself acceptable proof of 

identification for driver license applicants. Therefore, the impact of this bill is negligible since 

this population of people already has a legal path to a driver license. 

 

The bill takes effect July 1, 2013. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

                                                 
3
Id.  



BILL: SB 986   Page 4 

 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

None. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

None. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

None. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2013 SB 986 

 

 

 

By Senator Soto 

 

 

 

 

14-01440-13 2013986__ 

Page 1 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to requirements for driver licenses; 2 

amending s. 322.08, F.S.; including notice of the 3 

approval of an application for Deferred Action for 4 

Childhood Arrivals status issued by the United States 5 

Citizenship and Immigration Services as valid proof of 6 

identity for purposes of applying for a driver 7 

license; reenacting ss. 322.17(3), 322.18(2)(d) and 8 

(4)(c), and 322.19(4), F.S., relating to conditions 9 

and limitations with respect to obtaining a duplicate 10 

or replacement instruction permit or driver license, 11 

expiration of and renewal of a driver license, and 12 

change of name or address on a driver license for 13 

licensees who establish their identity in a specified 14 

manner, to incorporate the amendments made by the act 15 

to s. 322.08, F.S., in references thereto; providing 16 

an effective date. 17 

 18 

WHEREAS, over the past 3 years, the Obama administration 19 

has undertaken an unprecedented effort to transform the 20 

immigration enforcement system into one that focuses on public 21 

safety, border security, and the integrity of the immigration 22 

system, and 23 

WHEREAS, as the United States Department of Homeland 24 

Security continues to focus its enforcement resources on the 25 

removal of individuals who pose a danger to national security or 26 

a risk to public safety, including individuals convicted of 27 

crimes with particular emphasis on violent criminals, felons, 28 

and repeat offenders, the United States Department of Homeland 29 

Florida Senate - 2013 SB 986 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

14-01440-13 2013986__ 

Page 2 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Security intends to exercise prosecutorial discretion as 30 

appropriate to ensure that enforcement resources are not 31 

expended on low priority cases, such as individuals who came to 32 

the United States as children and meet other key guidelines, and 33 

WHEREAS, individuals who demonstrate that they meet 34 

specified guidelines established by the department may request 35 

consideration under the Deferred Action for Childhood Arrivals 36 

program for a period of 2 years, subject to renewal, and may be 37 

eligible for employment authorization, and 38 

WHEREAS, an individual may request consideration under the 39 

Deferred Action for Childhood Arrivals program if he or she was 40 

under the age of 31 as of June 15, 2012; came to the United 41 

States before reaching his or her 16th birthday; has 42 

continuously resided in the United States since June 15, 2007; 43 

was physically present in the United States on June 15, 2012, 44 

and at the time of making his or her request for consideration 45 

of deferred action with the United States Citizenship and 46 

Immigration Services; entered the United States without 47 

inspection before June 15, 2012, or experienced expiration of 48 

his or her lawful immigration status as of June 15, 2012; is 49 

currently in school, has graduated or obtained a certificate of 50 

completion from high school, has obtained a general education 51 

development (GED) certificate, or is an honorably discharged 52 

veteran of the Coast Guard or Armed Forces of the United States; 53 

and has not been convicted of a felony, significant misdemeanor, 54 

three or more other misdemeanors, and does not otherwise pose a 55 

threat to national security or public safety, NOW, THEREFORE, 56 

 57 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 58 



Florida Senate - 2013 SB 986 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

14-01440-13 2013986__ 

Page 3 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

 59 

Section 1. Paragraph (c) of subsection (2) of section 60 

322.08, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 61 

322.08 Application for license; requirements for license 62 

and identification card forms.— 63 

(2) Each such application shall include the following 64 

information regarding the applicant: 65 

(c) Proof of identity satisfactory to the department. Such 66 

proof must include one of the following documents issued to the 67 

applicant: 68 

1. A driver license record or identification card record 69 

from another jurisdiction that required the applicant to submit 70 

a document for identification which is substantially similar to 71 

a document required under subparagraph 2., subparagraph 3., 72 

subparagraph 4., subparagraph 5., subparagraph 6., subparagraph 73 

7., or subparagraph 8.; 74 

2. A certified copy of a United States birth certificate; 75 

3. A valid, unexpired United States passport; 76 

4. A naturalization certificate issued by the United States 77 

Department of Homeland Security; 78 

5. A valid, unexpired alien registration receipt card 79 

(green card); 80 

6. A Consular Report of Birth Abroad provided by the United 81 

States Department of State; 82 

7. An unexpired employment authorization card issued by the 83 

United States Department of Homeland Security; or 84 

8. Proof of nonimmigrant classification provided by the 85 

United States Department of Homeland Security, for an original 86 

driver license. In order to prove nonimmigrant classification, 87 

Florida Senate - 2013 SB 986 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

14-01440-13 2013986__ 

Page 4 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

an applicant must provide at least one of the following 88 

documents. In addition, the department may require applicants to 89 

produce United States Department of Homeland Security documents 90 

for the sole purpose of establishing the maintenance of, or 91 

efforts to maintain, continuous lawful presence: 92 

a. A notice of hearing from an immigration court scheduling 93 

a hearing on any proceeding. 94 

b. A notice from the Board of Immigration Appeals 95 

acknowledging pendency of an appeal. 96 

c. A notice of the approval of an application for 97 

adjustment of status issued by the United States Bureau of 98 

Citizenship and Immigration Services. 99 

d. An official documentation confirming the filing of a 100 

petition for asylum or refugee status or any other relief issued 101 

by the United States Bureau of Citizenship and Immigration 102 

Services. 103 

e. A notice of action transferring any pending matter from 104 

another jurisdiction to this state issued by the United States 105 

Bureau of Citizenship and Immigration Services. 106 

f. An order of an immigration judge or immigration officer 107 

granting relief that authorizes the alien to live and work in 108 

the United States, including, but not limited to, asylum. 109 

g. Evidence that an application is pending for adjustment 110 

of status to that of an alien lawfully admitted for permanent 111 

residence in the United States or conditional permanent resident 112 

status in the United States, if a visa number is available 113 

having a current priority date for processing by the United 114 

States Bureau of Citizenship and Immigration Services. 115 

h. On or after January 1, 2010, an unexpired foreign 116 



Florida Senate - 2013 SB 986 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

14-01440-13 2013986__ 

Page 5 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

passport with an unexpired United States Visa affixed, 117 

accompanied by an approved I-94, documenting the most recent 118 

admittance into the United States. 119 

i. A notice of the approval of an application for Deferred 120 

Action for Childhood Arrivals status issued by the United States 121 

Citizenship and Immigration Services. 122 

 123 

A driver license or temporary permit issued based on documents 124 

required in subparagraph 7. or subparagraph 8. is valid for a 125 

period not to exceed the expiration date of the document 126 

presented or 1 year. 127 

Section 2. For the purpose of incorporating the amendment 128 

made by this act to section 322.08, Florida Statutes, in 129 

references thereto, subsection (3) of section 322.17, Florida 130 

Statutes, is reenacted to read: 131 

322.17 Replacement licenses and permits.— 132 

(3) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this chapter, 133 

if a licensee establishes his or her identity for a driver’s 134 

license using an identification document authorized under s. 135 

322.08(2)(c)7. or 8., the licensee may not obtain a duplicate or 136 

replacement instruction permit or driver’s license except in 137 

person and upon submission of an identification document 138 

authorized under s. 322.08(2)(c)7. or 8. 139 

Section 3. For the purpose of incorporating the amendment 140 

made by this act to section 322.08, Florida Statutes, in 141 

references thereto, paragraph (d) of subsection (2) and 142 

paragraph (c) of subsection (4) of section 322.18, Florida 143 

Statutes, are reenacted to read: 144 

322.18 Original applications, licenses, and renewals; 145 

Florida Senate - 2013 SB 986 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

14-01440-13 2013986__ 

Page 6 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

expiration of licenses; delinquent licenses.— 146 

(2) Each applicant who is entitled to the issuance of a 147 

driver’s license, as provided in this section, shall be issued a 148 

driver’s license, as follows: 149 

(d) Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, if 150 

an applicant establishes his or her identity for a driver’s 151 

license using a document authorized in s. 322.08(2)(c)7. or 8., 152 

the driver’s license shall expire 1 year after the date of 153 

issuance or upon the expiration date cited on the United States 154 

Department of Homeland Security documents, whichever date first 155 

occurs. 156 

(4) 157 

(c) Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, if 158 

a licensee establishes his or her identity for a driver’s 159 

license using an identification document authorized under s. 160 

322.08(2)(c)7. or 8., the licensee may not renew the driver’s 161 

license except in person and upon submission of an 162 

identification document authorized under s. 322.08(2)(c)7. or 8. 163 

A driver’s license renewed under this paragraph expires 1 year 164 

after the date of issuance or upon the expiration date cited on 165 

the United States Department of Homeland Security documents, 166 

whichever date first occurs. 167 

Section 4. For the purpose of incorporating the amendment 168 

made by this act to section 322.08, Florida Statutes, in 169 

references thereto, subsection (4) of section 322.19, Florida 170 

Statutes, is reenacted to read: 171 

322.19 Change of address or name.— 172 

(4) Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, if 173 

a licensee established his or her identity for a driver’s 174 



Florida Senate - 2013 SB 986 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

14-01440-13 2013986__ 

Page 7 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

license using an identification document authorized under s. 175 

322.08(2)(c)7. or 8., the licensee may not change his or her 176 

name or address except in person and upon submission of an 177 

identification document authorized under s. 322.08(2)(c)7. or 8. 178 

Section 5. This act shall take effect July 1, 2013. 179 



4-17=13
Meeting Date

~H~ ~LORIDA SENAT~:

(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Pro~essional Staff conducting the ~eeting)

Topic Requirements for driver licenses

Name Paul Henry

Job Title

Bill Number

Amendment Barcode

SB 986
(if applicable)

(tf applicable)

Address PO Box 698
Street
Monticello

C~ty

Speaking: [~] ~or Against

FL 32345
State Zip

r=-I Information

Phone 850.629.9550

E-mail realid@liberty2010.org

Representing

Appearing at request of Chair: [~Yes I-~ No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: r-] Yes 12] No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage pubfic testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting, s-ool (1 o/2o/11)



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Rules 

 

BILL:  CS/CS/SB 1210 

INTRODUCER:  Children, Families, and Elder Affairs Committee; Judiciary Committee; and Senator 

Soto 

SUBJECT:  Family Law 

DATE:  April 12, 2013 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Brown  Cibula  JU  Fav/CS 

2. Peterson  Hendon  CF  Fav/CS 

3. Brown  Phelps  RC  Favorable 

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... X Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

CS/CS/SB 1210 revises the circumstances in which a court may deviate from or approve a 

request to deviate from the minimum amount of support required under child support guidelines. 

This bill authorizes a court to deviate from the child support guidelines based on a child’s 

visitation with a parent as provided in a court-ordered time-sharing schedule or the particular 

time-sharing arrangement exercised by agreement of the parents. 

 

This bill authorizes courts to take judicial notice in family cases of any court record in Florida, or 

of any court in a state, jurisdiction, or territory of the United States, when imminent danger is 

alleged, which precludes the opportunity to provide notice. If judicial notice is taken, the court 

must file proper notice of the matters judicially noticed within 2 business days. These provisions 

relate to family cases in which domestic violence is an issue. 

 

The bill will have an indeterminate fiscal impact on the state court system and has an effective 

date of July 1, 2013. 

 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1210   Page 2 

 

This bill substantially amends the following sections of the Florida Statutes:   61.30, 90.204, 

741.30, 784.046, and 784.0485. 

II. Present Situation: 

Child Support Guidelines 

Child support guidelines are contained in s. 61.30(6), F.S., for the use of the court in determining 

child support. Guidelines take into account the combined monthly net income of the parents and 

the number of minor children of parties involved in a child support proceeding. The guidelines 

establish the minimum amount of support. These amounts may be increased for additional 

obligations, such as child care and health insurance costs of the children.
1
 The court may also 

depart from the child support guidelines based on factors for deviation identified in law.
2
 These 

are: 

 

 Extraordinary medical, psychological, educational, or dental expenses. 

 Independent income of a child or children. 

 Documented financial support of a parent. 

 Seasonal variation in income. 

 The age of the child. 

 Special needs. 

 Total available assets of the obligee, obligor, and the child. 

 The impact of federal tax treatment. 

 An application of the child support guidelines schedule that requires a parent to pay another 

person more than 55 percent of his or her gross income for a current child support obligation. 

 The parenting plan, such as where a child spends a significant amount of time, but less than 

20 percent of overnight stays with a parent, or the refusal of a parent to participate in a 

child’s activities. 

 Any other adjustment needed to further equity for the parties.
3
 

 

The First District Court of Appeal reviewed an administrative support order which provided for a 

deviation from child support guidelines.
4
 The administrative support order based its decision on 

one of the statutory factors for deviation from the guidelines. This factor allows deviation where 

a child spends less than 20 percent of overnight stays with a parent based on a parenting plan. 

The parents in the case, however, did not have a court-ordered parenting plan. The parents were 

never married to each other. However, a formal parenting plan would have been required as part 

of a divorce proceeding. Instead, they “decided visitation among themselves.”
5
 In reversing the 

administrative order, the court indicated: 

 

a parenting plan is defined in section 61.046(14) as a court-approved parenting plan 

with a time-sharing arrangement than can be created through mediation and later 

                                                 
1
 Sections 61.30(7) and (8), F.S. 

2
 Section 61.30(11)(a), F.S. 

3
 Section 61.30(11)(a)1. through 11., F.S. 

4
 Dept. of Rev. v. Daly, 74 So. 3d 165, 166 (Fla. 1st DCA 2011).  

5
 Id. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1210   Page 3 

 

approved by a court, or approved by a court where the parties cannot agree. Thus, the 

plain language of the statute prohibits a trial court from deviating from the guidelines 

based on a verbal visitation agreement even where equity compels the deviation.
6
 
7
 

 

A court is also required to adjust the allocation of the burden of a child support award on the 

parents if a child spends a substantial amount of time with each parent.
8
 A child spends a 

substantial amount of time with a parent if a parent exercises time-sharing at least 20 percent of 

the overnights of the year.
9
 

 

Child Support and the Department of Revenue 

The Department of Revenue (the Department), in its capacity as a Title IV-D agency, is 

responsible for enforcing obligations for child support.
10

 These responsibilities include providing 

“services relating to the establishment of paternity or the establishment, modification, or 

enforcement of child support obligations.”
11

 

 

Judicial Notice 

Florida’s evidence code allows the court to take judicial notice of various matters.
12

 These 

include: 

 

 Acts and resolutions of Congress and the Florida Legislature. 

 Decisional, constitutional, and public statutory law of every of other state, territory, and 

jurisdiction of the U.S. 

 Contents of the Federal Register. 

 Records of any court of this state or of any court of record of the U.S. or any other U.S. state, 

territory, or jurisdiction. 

 Rules of court of this state, the U.S., or any other U.S. state, territory, or jurisdiction.
13

 

 

Temporary Injunction Hearings 

Florida law prohibits the admission of evidence other than verified pleadings or affidavits at ex 

parte hearings for temporary injunctions.
14

 These injunctions relate to underlying allegations of 

domestic violence; repeat violence, sexual violence, or dating violence; and stalking. Evidence 

                                                 
6
 Id. at 168.  

7
 The parent’s informal parenting agreement may have been an adequate basis for a court to deviate from the child support 

guidelines before s. 61.30, F.S., was amended in 2008. In 2008, the Legislature through s. 16, ch. 2008-61, L.O.F., replaced 

references to “shared parental arrangement” with “parenting plan.” 
8
 Section 61.30(11)(b), F.S. 

9
 Section 61.30(11)(b)8. F.S. 

10
 Section 409.25995, identifies the Department of Revenue (department) as the state Title IV-D agency. Pursuant to s. 

409.2563(1)(f), F.S., a Title IV-D case is defined as a case or proceeding in which the department provides child support 

services within the scope of Title IV-D of the Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. ss. 651 et. seq.) 
11

 42 U.S.C.A. §654 (4)(A).  
12

 Judicial notice is defined as “A court's acceptance, for purposes of convenience and without requiring a party's proof, of a 

well-known and indisputable fact.” BLACK’S LAW DICTIONARY (9th ed. 2009). 
13

 Section 90.202, F.S. 
14

 Sections 741.30(5)(b), 784.046(6)(b), and 784.0485, F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1210   Page 4 

 

other than verified pleadings or affidavits may be admitted, however, if adequate notice and an 

opportunity to be present is provided to the respondent. 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

This bill revises the circumstances in which a court may deviate from or approve a request to 

deviate from the minimum amount of support required under child support guidelines. This bill 

authorizes a court to deviate from the child support guidelines based on a child’s visitation with a 

parent as provided in a court-ordered time-sharing schedule or the particular time-sharing 

arrangement exercised by agreement of the parents. 

 

This bill authorizes courts to take judicial notice in family cases of any court record in Florida, or 

of any court in a state, jurisdiction, or territory of the United States, when imminent danger is 

alleged, which precludes an opportunity to provide advance notice to the parties. If judicial 

notice is taken, the court must file proper notice of the matters judicially noticed within 2 

business days. These provisions relate to family cases in which domestic violence is an issue. 

Family law cases include: 

 

dissolution of marriage, annulment, support unconnected with dissolution of 

marriage, paternity, child support, Uniform Interstate Family Support Act, custodial 

care of and access to children, proceedings for temporary or concurrent custody of 

minor children by extended family, adoption, name change, declaratory judgment 

actions related to premarital, marital, or postmarital agreements, civil domestic, repeat 

violence, dating violence, and sexual violence injunctions, juvenile dependency, 

termination of parental rights, juvenile delinquency, emancipation of a minor, 

CINS/FINS, truancy, and modification and enforcement of orders entered in these 

cases.
15

 

 

This bill also creates an exception to the current limits placed on admissibility of evidence at ex 

parte temporary injunction hearing. These hearings relate to temporary injunctions sought for 

domestic violence; repeat violence, sexual violence, or dating violence; and stalking. This bill 

will allow judicial notice to be taken of records other than verified pleadings or affidavits, 

without providing a respondent advance notice and an opportunity to be present. 

 

The bill takes effect July 1, 2013. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

                                                 
15

 Rule 2.545(d)(2.), Rules of Jud. Admin. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1210   Page 5 

 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

None. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

The Office of State Courts Administrator anticipates a fiscal impact resulting from the 

bill in the following respects: 

 

 The bill includes amendments to ch. 61, F.S., that will impact the workload of the 

judiciary with regard to administrative child support cases that are heard in the circuit 

court and family law cases in which the parties are pro se litigants. However, the 

extent of the impact is unquantifiable at this time. 

 The new provision amending 90.204, F.S., will affect court workload to the extent 

that when it is invoked, the court will be required to file notice in the pending case of 

the matters judicially noticed. However, fiscal impact is indeterminate. 

 

The Department of Children and Families does not expect a fiscal impact. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS/CS by Children, Families, and Elder Affairs on April 8, 2013: 

 The CS made a technical correction in section 1 changing the term “particular time-

sharing schedule exercised by agreement of the parties” to “particular time-sharing 

arrangement exercised by agreement of the parties” and adding an additional 

reference to the term. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1210   Page 6 

 

 The CS removed section 3 of the bill, which limited the Department’s authority in 

child support and paternity determination proceedings, and removed sections 7-9, 

which contained conforming cross-references. 

 

CS by Judiciary on April 1, 2013: 

The committee substitute amends s. 409.2564, F.S., to limit the situations in which a 

parent is eligible for assistance from the Department in determining paternity, 

establishing a child support obligation, or enforcing or modifying a support obligation.  

 

A parent is only eligible for assistance from the Department if: 

 

 The parent or a child is receiving public assistance; or 

 The custodial parent or the parent entitled to receive support has requested assistance 

from the department and has applied for services under Title IV-D of the Social 

Security Act. 

The committee substitute prohibits the Department from providing assistance to a parent 

who has retained private counsel, unless the parent, the other parent, or the children are 

receiving public assistance. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 1210 

 

 

 

By the Committees on Children, Families, and Elder Affairs; and 

Judiciary; and Senator Soto 

 

 

 

586-03887-13 20131210c2 

Page 1 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to family law; amending s. 61.30, 2 

F.S.; providing for consideration of time-sharing 3 

schedules or time-sharing arrangements as a factor in 4 

the adjustment of awards of child support; amending s. 5 

90.204, F.S.; authorizing judges in family cases to 6 

take judicial notice of certain court records without 7 

prior notice to the parties when imminent danger to 8 

persons or property has been alleged and it is 9 

impractical to give prior notice; providing for a 10 

deferred opportunity to present evidence; requiring a 11 

notice of such judicial notice having been taken to be 12 

filed within a specified period; providing that the 13 

term “family cases” has the same meaning as provided 14 

in the Rules of Judicial Administration; amending ss. 15 

741.30, 784.046, and 784.0485, F.S.; creating an 16 

exception to a prohibition against using evidence 17 

other than the verified pleading or affidavit in an ex 18 

parte hearing for a temporary injunction for 19 

protection against domestic violence, repeat violence, 20 

sexual violence, dating violence, or stalking; 21 

providing an effective date. 22 

 23 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 24 

 25 

Section 1. Subsection (11) of section 61.30, Florida 26 

Statutes, is amended to read: 27 

61.30 Child support guidelines; retroactive child support.— 28 

(11)(a) The court may adjust the total minimum child 29 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 1210 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

586-03887-13 20131210c2 

Page 2 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

support award, or either or both parents’ share of the total 30 

minimum child support award, based upon the following deviation 31 

factors: 32 

1. Extraordinary medical, psychological, educational, or 33 

dental expenses. 34 

2. Independent income of the child, not to include moneys 35 

received by a child from supplemental security income. 36 

3. The payment of support for a parent which has been 37 

regularly paid and for which there is a demonstrated need. 38 

4. Seasonal variations in one or both parents’ incomes or 39 

expenses. 40 

5. The age of the child, taking into account the greater 41 

needs of older children. 42 

6. Special needs, such as costs that may be associated with 43 

the disability of a child, that have traditionally been met 44 

within the family budget even though fulfilling those needs will 45 

cause the support to exceed the presumptive amount established 46 

by the guidelines. 47 

7. Total available assets of the obligee, obligor, and the 48 

child. 49 

8. The impact of the Internal Revenue Service Child & 50 

Dependent Care Tax Credit, Earned Income Tax Credit, and 51 

dependency exemption and waiver of that exemption. The court may 52 

order a parent to execute a waiver of the Internal Revenue 53 

Service dependency exemption if the paying parent is current in 54 

support payments. 55 

9. An application of the child support guidelines schedule 56 

that requires a person to pay another person more than 55 57 

percent of his or her gross income for a child support 58 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 1210 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

586-03887-13 20131210c2 

Page 3 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

obligation for current support resulting from a single support 59 

order. 60 

10. The particular parenting plan, a court-ordered time-61 

sharing schedule, or a time-sharing arrangement exercised by 62 

agreement of the parties, such as where the child spends a 63 

significant amount of time, but less than 20 percent of the 64 

overnights, with one parent, thereby reducing the financial 65 

expenditures incurred by the other parent; or the refusal of a 66 

parent to become involved in the activities of the child. 67 

11. Any other adjustment that is needed to achieve an 68 

equitable result which may include, but not be limited to, a 69 

reasonable and necessary existing expense or debt. Such expense 70 

or debt may include, but is not limited to, a reasonable and 71 

necessary expense or debt that the parties jointly incurred 72 

during the marriage. 73 

(b) Whenever a particular parenting plan, a court-ordered 74 

time-sharing schedule, or a time-sharing arrangement exercised 75 

by agreement of the parties provides that each child spend a 76 

substantial amount of time with each parent, the court shall 77 

adjust any award of child support, as follows: 78 

1. In accordance with subsections (9) and (10), calculate 79 

the amount of support obligation apportioned to each parent 80 

without including day care and health insurance costs in the 81 

calculation and multiply the amount by 1.5. 82 

2. Calculate the percentage of overnight stays the child 83 

spends with each parent. 84 

3. Multiply each parent’s support obligation as calculated 85 

in subparagraph 1. by the percentage of the other parent’s 86 

overnight stays with the child as calculated in subparagraph 2. 87 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 1210 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

586-03887-13 20131210c2 

Page 4 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

4. The difference between the amounts calculated in 88 

subparagraph 3. shall be the monetary transfer necessary between 89 

the parents for the care of the child, subject to an adjustment 90 

for day care and health insurance expenses. 91 

5. Pursuant to subsections (7) and (8), calculate the net 92 

amounts owed by each parent for the expenses incurred for day 93 

care and health insurance coverage for the child. 94 

6. Adjust the support obligation owed by each parent 95 

pursuant to subparagraph 4. by crediting or debiting the amount 96 

calculated in subparagraph 5. This amount represents the child 97 

support which must be exchanged between the parents. 98 

7. The court may deviate from the child support amount 99 

calculated pursuant to subparagraph 6. based upon the deviation 100 

factors in paragraph (a), as well as the obligee parent’s low 101 

income and ability to maintain the basic necessities of the home 102 

for the child, the likelihood that either parent will actually 103 

exercise the time-sharing schedule set forth in the parenting 104 

plan, a court-ordered time-sharing schedule, or a particular 105 

time-sharing arrangement exercised by agreement of the parties 106 

granted by the court, and whether all of the children are 107 

exercising the same time-sharing schedule. 108 

8. For purposes of adjusting any award of child support 109 

under this paragraph, “substantial amount of time” means that a 110 

parent exercises time-sharing at least 20 percent of the 111 

overnights of the year. 112 

(c) A parent’s failure to regularly exercise the time-113 

sharing schedule set forth in the parenting plan, a court-114 

ordered or agreed time-sharing schedule, or a particular time-115 

sharing arrangement exercised by agreement of the parties not 116 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 1210 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

586-03887-13 20131210c2 

Page 5 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

caused by the other parent which resulted in the adjustment of 117 

the amount of child support pursuant to subparagraph (a)10. or 118 

paragraph (b) shall be deemed a substantial change of 119 

circumstances for purposes of modifying the child support award. 120 

A modification pursuant to this paragraph is retroactive to the 121 

date the noncustodial parent first failed to regularly exercise 122 

the court-ordered or agreed time-sharing schedule. 123 

Section 2. Subsection (4) is added to section 90.204, 124 

Florida Statutes, to read: 125 

90.204 Determination of propriety of judicial notice and 126 

nature of matter noticed.— 127 

(4) In family cases, the court may take judicial notice of 128 

any matter described in s. 90.202(6) when imminent danger to 129 

persons or property has been alleged and it is impractical to 130 

give prior notice to the parties of the intent to take judicial 131 

notice. Opportunity to present evidence relevant to the 132 

propriety of taking judicial notice under subsection (1) may be 133 

deferred until after judicial action has been taken. If judicial 134 

notice is taken under this subsection, the court shall, within 2 135 

business days, file a notice in the pending case of the matters 136 

judicially noticed. For purposes of this subsection, the term 137 

“family cases” has the same meaning as provided in the Rules of 138 

Judicial Administration. 139 

Section 3. Paragraph (b) of subsection (5) of section 140 

741.30, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 141 

741.30 Domestic violence; injunction; powers and duties of 142 

court and clerk; petition; notice and hearing; temporary 143 

injunction; issuance of injunction; statewide verification 144 

system; enforcement; public records exemption.— 145 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 1210 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

586-03887-13 20131210c2 

Page 6 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(5) 146 

(b) Except as provided in s. 90.204, in a hearing ex parte 147 

for the purpose of obtaining such ex parte temporary injunction, 148 

no evidence other than verified pleadings or affidavits shall be 149 

used as evidence, unless the respondent appears at the hearing 150 

or has received reasonable notice of the hearing. A denial of a 151 

petition for an ex parte injunction shall be by written order 152 

noting the legal grounds for denial. When the only ground for 153 

denial is no appearance of an immediate and present danger of 154 

domestic violence, the court shall set a full hearing on the 155 

petition for injunction with notice at the earliest possible 156 

time. Nothing herein affects a petitioner’s right to promptly 157 

amend any petition, or otherwise be heard in person on any 158 

petition consistent with the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure. 159 

Section 4. Paragraph (b) of subsection (6) of section 160 

784.046, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 161 

784.046 Action by victim of repeat violence, sexual 162 

violence, or dating violence for protective injunction; dating 163 

violence investigations, notice to victims, and reporting; 164 

pretrial release violations; public records exemption.— 165 

(6) 166 

(b) Except as provided in s. 90.204, in a hearing ex parte 167 

for the purpose of obtaining such temporary injunction, no 168 

evidence other than the verified pleading or affidavit shall be 169 

used as evidence, unless the respondent appears at the hearing 170 

or has received reasonable notice of the hearing. 171 

Section 5. Paragraph (b) of subsection (5) of section 172 

784.0485, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 173 

784.0485 Stalking; injunction; powers and duties of court 174 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 1210 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

586-03887-13 20131210c2 

Page 7 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

and clerk; petition; notice and hearing; temporary injunction; 175 

issuance of injunction; statewide verification system; 176 

enforcement.— 177 

(5) 178 

(b) Except as provided in s. 90.204, in a hearing ex parte 179 

for the purpose of obtaining such ex parte temporary injunction, 180 

evidence other than verified pleadings or affidavits may not be 181 

used as evidence, unless the respondent appears at the hearing 182 

or has received reasonable notice of the hearing. A denial of a 183 

petition for an ex parte injunction shall be by written order 184 

noting the legal grounds for denial. If the only ground for 185 

denial is no appearance of an immediate and present danger of 186 

stalking, the court shall set a full hearing on the petition for 187 

injunction with notice at the earliest possible time. This 188 

paragraph does not affect a petitioner’s right to promptly amend 189 

any petition, or otherwise be heard in person on any petition 190 

consistent with the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure. 191 

Section 6. This act shall take effect July 1, 2013. 192 



(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Lobbyist registered with Legislatu~ Yes [---] No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage pubfic testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to fimit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-O01 (10/20/11 )



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Rules  

 

BILL:  CS/CS/CS/SB 1734 

INTRODUCER:  Rules Committee; Governmental Oversight and Accountability Committee; Criminal 

Justice Committee; and Senator Flores 

SUBJECT:  Public Records Exemption/Expunged Criminal History Records of Human Trafficking 

Victims 

DATE:  April 17, 2013 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Dugger  Cannon  CJ  Fav/CS 

2. Naf  McVaney  GO  Fav/CS 

3. Dugger  Phelps  RC  Fav/CS 

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... X Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

CS/CS/CS/SB 1734, which is linked to the passage of SB 1644, creates a public record 

exemption for a criminal history record of a victim of human trafficking that is ordered 

expunged. Specifically, such record retained by the Florida Department of Law Enforcement 

(FDLE) is confidential and exempt from public record requirements, except that the record must 

be made available to criminal justice agencies for their respective criminal justice purposes; 

otherwise, it cannot be disclosed to any person or entity except upon order of a court of 

competent jurisdiction. 

 

The bill provides for repeal of the exemption on October 2, 2018, pursuant to the Open 

Government Sunset Review Act, unless reviewed and reenacted by the Legislature. It also 

provides a statement of public necessity as required by the Florida Constitution. 

 

This bill creates a new public record exemption; therefore, it requires a two-thirds vote of the 

members present and voting in each house of the Legislature for final passage. 

 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 1734   Page 2 

 

This bill substantially amends a currently nonexistent section of the Florida Statutes that is 

created by the linked bill, SB 1644. 

II. Present Situation: 

Public Records Laws 

The Florida Constitution provides every person the right to inspect or copy any public record 

made or received in connection with the official business of any public body, officer, or 

employee of the state, or of persons acting on their behalf.
1
 The records of the legislative, 

executive, and judicial branches are specifically included.
2
 

 

The Florida Statutes also specify conditions under which public access must be provided to 

government records. The Public Records Act
3
 guarantees every person’s right to inspect and 

copy any state or local government public record
4
 at any reasonable time, under reasonable 

conditions, and under supervision by the custodian of the public record.
5
 

 

Only the Legislature may create an exemption to public records requirements.
6
 Such an 

exemption must be created by general law and must specifically state the public necessity 

justifying the exemption.
7
 Further, the exemption must be no broader than necessary to 

accomplish the stated purpose of the law. A bill enacting an exemption may not contain other 

substantive provisions
8
 and must pass by a two-thirds vote of the members present and voting in 

each house of the Legislature.
9
 

 

                                                 
1
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(a). 

2
 Id. 

3
 Chapter 119, F.S. 

4
 Section 119.011(12), F.S., defines “public records” to mean “all documents, papers, letters, maps, books, tapes, 

photographs, films, sound recordings, data processing software, or other material, regardless of the physical form, 

characteristics, or means of transmission, made or received pursuant to law or ordinance or in connection with the transaction 

of official business by any agency.” Section 119.011(2), F.S., defines “agency” to mean “any state, county, district, authority, 

or municipal officer, department, division, board, bureau, commission, or other separate unit of government created or 

established by law including, for the purposes of this chapter, the Commission on Ethics, the Public Service Commission, and 

the Office of Public Counsel, and any other public or private agency, person, partnership, corporation, or business entity 

acting on behalf of any public agency.” The Public Records Act does not apply to legislative or judicial records (see Locke v. 

Hawkes, 595 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1992)). 
5
 Section 119.07(1)(a), F.S. 

6
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). There is a difference between records the Legislature designates as exempt from public records 

requirements and those the Legislature designates confidential and exempt. A record classified as exempt from public 

disclosure may be disclosed under certain circumstances (see WFTV, Inc. v. The School Board of Seminole, 874 So.2d 48 

(Fla. 5th DCA 2004), review denied 892 So.2d 1015 (Fla. 2004); City of Riviera Beach v. Barfield, 642 So.2d 1135 (Fla. 4th 

DCA 2004); and Williams v. City of Minneola, 575 So.2d 687 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). If the Legislature designates a record as 

confidential and exempt from public disclosure, such record may not be released, by the custodian of public records, to 

anyone other than the persons or entities specifically designated in the statutory exemption (see Attorney General Opinion 

85-62, August 1, 1985). 
7
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). 

8
 The bill may, however, contain multiple exemptions that relate to one subject. 

9
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 1734   Page 3 

 

The Open Government Sunset Review Act
10

 requires a newly created or expanded public records 

exemption to be repealed on October 2 of the fifth year after enactment, unless reviewed and 

reenacted by the Legislature.
11

 It further provides that a public records exemption may be created 

or maintained only if it serves an identifiable public purpose and is no broader than is necessary 

to meet the public purpose it serves.
12

 

 

Public Record Exemption for Expunged Criminal History Records 

A criminal history record of a minor or an adult that is ordered expunged must be physically 

destroyed by any criminal justice agency having custody of such record, except that the FDLE 

must retain criminal history records in all cases.
13

 Current law provides that a criminal history 

record ordered expunged that is retained by FDLE is confidential and exempt
 
from public 

records requirements, and is not available to any person or entity except upon order of the court 

with jurisdiction.
14

 

 

In addition, information relating to the existence of an expunged criminal history record is 

confidential and exempt from public record requirements, except that FDLE must disclose the 

existence of such record to specified entities for their respective licensing, access authorization, 

and employment purposes as well as to criminal justice agencies for their respective criminal 

justice purposes.
15

 Disclosure of the existence of such record to unauthorized persons is a first 

degree misdemeanor.
16

 
 

SB 1644 (linked to this bill) 

SB 1644 creates s. 943.0583, F.S., entitled “human trafficking victim expunction.” The bill 

authorizes a victim of human trafficking to petition the court for the expunction of any 

conviction for an offense, except an offense listed in s. 775.084(1)(b)1., F.S.,
17

 committed while 

he or she was a victim of human trafficking, which offense was committed as a part of the 

human trafficking scheme of which he or she was a victim, or at the direction of an operator of 

the scheme. The bill defines “victim of human trafficking” to mean a person subjected to 

coercion for the purpose of being used in human trafficking, a child under 18 years of age 

subjected to human trafficking, or an individual subjected to human trafficking as defined by 

federal law. 

                                                 
10

 Section 119.15, F.S. 
11

 Section 119.15(3), F.S. 
12

 Section 119.15(5)(b), F.S. 
13

 Section 943.0585(4), F.S. 
14

 Id. 
15

 Section 943.0585(4)(c), F.S. 
16

 Id. A first degree misdemeanor is punishable by serving up to one year in county jail and/or paying a fine not exceeding 

$1,000. Sections 775.082 and 775.083, F.S. 
17

 The offenses listed in s. 775.084(1)(b)1., F.S, are arson; sexual battery; robbery; kidnapping; aggravated child abuse; 

aggravated abuse of an elderly person or disabled adult; aggravated assault with a deadly weapon; murder; manslaughter; 

aggravated manslaughter or an elderly person or disabled adult; aggravated manslaughter of a child; unlawful throwing, 

placing, or discharging of a destructive device or bomb; armed burglary; aggravated battery; or aggravated stalking. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 1734   Page 4 

 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

The bill, which is linked to the passage of SB 1644, creates a public record exemption for a 

criminal history record of a victim of human trafficking that is ordered expunged. Specifically, 

such record retained by FDLE is confidential and exempt from public record requirements, 

except that the record must be made available to criminal justice agencies for their respective 

criminal justice purposes; otherwise, it cannot be disclosed to any person or entity except upon 

order of a court of competent jurisdiction.  

 

A criminal justice agency may retain a notation indicating compliance with an order to expunge. 

 

The bill also provides the following statement of public necessity as required by the Florida 

Constitution:
18

 

 

The Legislature finds that it is a public necessity that a criminal history record ordered 

expunged under s. 943.0583, Florida Statutes, that is retained by the Department of Law 

Enforcement be made confidential and exempt from s. 119.07(1), Florida Statutes, and 

s. 24(a), Art. I of the State Constitution. Persons who are victims of human trafficking 

and who have been convicted of crimes committed at the behest of their traffickers are 

themselves victims of crimes. Such victims face barriers to employment and other life 

opportunities as long as these criminal convictions remain on record and accessible to 

potential employers and others. It is necessary that these records be made confidential in 

order for human trafficking victims to have the chance to rebuild their lives and reenter 

society. 

 

Finally, the bill provides for repeal of the exemption on October 2, 2018, unless reviewed and 

saved from repeal by the Legislature. 

 

The bill will take effect on the same date that SB 1644 or similar legislation takes effect, if such 

legislation is adopted in the same legislative session or an extension thereof and becomes law. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

Not applicable. The bill does not appear to require counties or municipalities to take an 

action requiring the expenditure of funds, reduce the authority that counties or 

municipalities have to raise revenue in the aggregate, or reduce the percentage of state tax 

shared with counties or municipalities. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

Vote Requirement  

Article I, s. 24(c) of the Florida Constitution requires a two-thirds vote of the members 

present and voting for final passage of a newly created or expanded public record or 

                                                 
18

 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 1734   Page 5 

 

public meeting exemption. The bill creates a public record exemption; thus, it requires a 

two-thirds vote for final passage. 

 

Public Necessity Statement  

Article I, s. 24(c) of the Florida Constitution requires a public necessity statement for a 

newly created or expanded public record or public meeting exemption. The bill creates a 

public record exemption; thus, it includes a public necessity statement. 

 

Breadth of Exemption  

Article I, s. 24(c) of the Florida Constitution requires a newly created public record or 

public meeting exemption to be no broader than necessary to accomplish the stated 

purpose of the law. The bill creates a public record exemption limited to expunged 

criminal records of victims of human trafficking. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

None. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

According to the FDLE, there is no fiscal impact as a result of this bill.
19

 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

It appears that a notation the bill authorizes a criminal justice agency to retain indicating 

compliance with an order to expunge may be confidential and exempt from public records 

requirements in accordance with s. 984.0585(4)(c), F.S. Because this bill does not republish the 

existing public records exemption along with the exemption created by the bill, however, it is 

unclear whether the current public records exemption would apply to such a notation. If not, the 

next annual adoption and reenactment of the Florida Statutes would provide sufficient legislative 

intent for s. 984.0585(4)(c), F.S., to apply to a notation retained by a criminal justice agency that 

indicates compliance with an order to expunge a human trafficking victim’s criminal history. 

                                                 
19

 FDLE Legislative Analysis for SB 1734, dated March 14, 2013, on file with the Senate Criminal Justice Committee. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 1734   Page 6 

 

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS/CS/CS by Rules on April 17, 2013: 

Provides that these expunged records must be made available to criminal justice agencies 

for their respective criminal justice purposes. 

 

CS/CS by Governmental Oversight and Accountability on April 9, 2013: 

The CS/CS clarifies the public necessity statement. 

 

CS by Criminal Justice on April 1, 2013: 

Deletes the provision making information related to the existence of an expunged 

criminal history record that is provided under paragraph (8) (b) confidential and exempt. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 1734 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì143288GÎ143288 

 

Page 1 of 2 

4/16/2013 1:03:56 PM 595-04408-13 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

04/17/2013 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Rules (Negron) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete line 19 3 

and insert: 4 

Constitution, except that the record shall be made available to 5 

criminal justice agencies for their respective criminal justice 6 

purposes. Otherwise, such record shall not be disclosed to any 7 

person or entity 8 

 9 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 10 

And the title is amended as follows: 11 

Delete line 6 12 

and insert: 13 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 1734 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì143288GÎ143288 

 

Page 2 of 2 

4/16/2013 1:03:56 PM 595-04408-13 

943.0583, F.S.; providing an exception; providing for 14 

future legislative 15 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 1734 

 

 

 

By the Committees on Governmental Oversight and Accountability; 

and Criminal Justice; and Senator Flores 

 

 

 

585-04021-13 20131734c2 

Page 1 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to public records; amending s. 2 

943.0583, F.S.; providing an exemption from public 3 

records requirements for criminal history records of 4 

victims of human trafficking expunged under s. 5 

943.0583, F.S.; providing for future legislative 6 

review and repeal of the exemption under the Open 7 

Government Sunset Review Act; providing a statement of 8 

public necessity; providing an effective date. 9 

 10 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 11 

 12 

Section 1. Subsection (9) of section 943.0583, Florida 13 

Statutes, is created to read: 14 

943.0583 Human trafficking victim expunction.— 15 

(9)(a) A criminal history record ordered expunged under 16 

this section that is retained by the department is confidential 17 

and exempt from s. 119.07(1) and s. 24(a), Art. I of the State 18 

Constitution and shall not be disclosed to any person or entity 19 

except upon order of a court of competent jurisdiction. A 20 

criminal justice agency may retain a notation indicating 21 

compliance with an order to expunge. 22 

(b) This subsection is subject to the Open Government 23 

Sunset Review Act in accordance with s. 119.15 and shall stand 24 

repealed on October 2, 2018, unless reviewed and saved from 25 

repeal through reenactment by the Legislature. 26 

Section 2. The Legislature finds that it is a public 27 

necessity that a criminal history record ordered expunged under 28 

s. 943.0583, Florida Statutes, that is retained by the 29 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 1734 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

585-04021-13 20131734c2 

Page 2 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Department of Law Enforcement be made confidential and exempt 30 

from s. 119.07(1), Florida Statutes, and s. 24(a), Art. I of the 31 

State Constitution. Persons who are victims of human trafficking 32 

and who have been convicted of crimes committed at the behest of 33 

their traffickers are themselves victims of crimes. Such victims 34 

face barriers to employment and other life opportunities as long 35 

as these criminal convictions remain on record and accessible to 36 

potential employers and others. It is necessary that these 37 

records be made confidential in order for human trafficking 38 

victims to have the chance to rebuild their lives and reenter 39 

society. 40 

Section 3. This act shall take effect on the same date that 41 

SB 1644 or similar legislation takes effect, if such legislation 42 

is adopted in the same legislative session or an extension 43 

thereof and becomes law. 44 

Section 4. This act shall take effect July 1, 2013. 45 



 

The Florida Senate 

Committee Agenda Request 

 

File signed original with committee office  S-020 (03/2004) 

To: Senator John Thrasher, Chair 

 Committee on Rules  

Subject: Committee Agenda Request 

Date: April 9, 2013 

 

 

I respectfully request that Senate Bill #1734, relating to Public Records/Victims of Human 

Trafficking, be placed on the: 

 

  committee agenda at your earliest possible convenience. 

 

  next committee agenda. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Senator Anitere Flores 

Florida Senate, District 37 

 



(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Topic

Name

Job Title

Bill Number

Amendment Barcode
(if applicable)

(if applicable)

Address
Street

City State

Speaking: ..~F~o~’ ~Against [~lnformation

Representing t~;’:~ (~

Appearing at request of Chair: E~ Yes ~~

z~

Phone

E-mail

Lobbyist registered with Legislature:.~s [~] No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting, s-001 (10/20/11)



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Rules  

 

BILL:  SB 1424 

INTRODUCER:  Senator Evers 

SUBJECT:  Public Records/Personal Identifying Information/Payment of Tolls 

DATE:  April 12, 2013 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Price  Eichin  TR  Favorable 

2. Naf  McVaney  GO  Favorable 

3. Price  Phelps  RC  Favorable 

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

I. Summary: 

SB 1424 expands an existing public records exemption for personal identifying information held 

by the Department of Transportation, a county, or an expressway authority for the purpose of 

using a credit card, charge card, or check for the prepayment of electronic toll facilities charges. 

Specifically, this bill removes references to specific payment types and instead provides that the 

exemption applies to personal identifying information of drivers who use toll facilities in the 

state that is held by the Department of Transportation, a county, or an expressway authority for 

the purpose of paying, prepaying, or collecting tolls and associated charges. 

 

The bill provides that the expanded exemption is subject to the Open Government Sunset Review 

Act and will repeal on October 2, 2018, unless reviewed and reenacted by the Legislature. It also 

provides a statement of public necessity as required by the Florida Constitution. 

 

This bill amends section 338.155 of the Florida Statutes. 

II. Present Situation: 

Public Records Laws 

The Florida Constitution provides every person the right to inspect or copy any public record 

made or received in connection with the official business of any public body, officer, or 

REVISED:         



BILL: SB 1424   Page 2 

 

employee of the state, or of persons acting on their behalf.
1
 The records of the legislative, 

executive, and judicial branches are specifically included.
2
  

 

The Florida Statutes also specify conditions under which public access must be provided to 

government records. The Public Records Act
3
 guarantees every person’s right to inspect and 

copy any state or local government public record
4
 at any reasonable time, under reasonable 

conditions, and under supervision by the custodian of the public record.
5
  

 

Only the Legislature may create an exemption to public records requirements.
6
 Such an 

exemption must be created by general law and must specifically state the public necessity 

justifying the exemption.
7
 Further, the exemption must be no broader than necessary to 

accomplish the stated purpose of the law. A bill enacting an exemption may not contain other 

substantive provisions
8
 and must pass by a two-thirds vote of the members present and voting in 

each house of the Legislature.
9
 

 

The Open Government Sunset Review Act (the Act) prescribes a legislative review process for 

newly created or substantially amended public records or open meetings exemptions.
10

 It 

requires the automatic repeal of such exemption on October 2nd of the fifth year after creation or 

substantial amendment, unless the Legislature reenacts the exemption.
11

 The Act provides that a 

public records or open meetings exemption may be created or maintained only if it serves an 

identifiable public purpose and is no broader than is necessary to meet such public purpose.
12

 

                                                 
1
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(a). 

2
 Id. 

3
 Chapter 119, F.S. 

4
 Section 119.011(12), F.S., defines “public records” to mean “all documents, papers, letters, maps, books, tapes, 

photographs, films, sound recordings, data processing software, or other material, regardless of the physical form, 

characteristics, or means of transmission, made or received pursuant to law or ordinance or in connection with the transaction 

of official business by any agency.” Section 119.011(2), F.S., defines “agency” to mean as “any state, county, district, 

authority, or municipal officer, department, division, board, bureau, commission, or other separate unit of government created 

or established by law including, for the purposes of this chapter, the Commission on Ethics, the Public Service Commission, 

and the Office of Public Counsel, and any other public or private agency, person, partnership, corporation, or business entity 

acting on behalf of any public agency.” The Public Records Act does not apply to legislative or judicial records (see Locke v. 

Hawkes, 595 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1992)). 
5
 Section 119.07(1)(a), F.S. 

6
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). There is a difference between records the Legislature designates as exempt from public records 

requirements and those the Legislature designates confidential and exempt. A record classified as exempt from public 

disclosure may be disclosed under certain circumstances (see WFTV, Inc. v. The School Board of Seminole, 874 So.2d 48 

(Fla. 5th DCA 2004), review denied 892 So.2d 1015 (Fla. 2004); City of Riviera Beach v. Barfield, 642 So.2d 1135 (Fla. 4th 

DCA 2004); and Williams v. City of Minneola, 575 So.2d 687 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). If the Legislature designates a record as 

confidential and exempt from public disclosure, such record may not be released, by the custodian of public records, to 

anyone other than the persons or entities specifically designated in the statutory exemption (see Attorney General Opinion 

85-62, August 1, 1985). 
7
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). 

8
 The bill may, however, contain multiple exemptions that relate to one subject. 

9
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). 

10
 Section 119.15, F.S. An exemption is substantially amended if the amendment expands the scope of the exemption to 

include more records or information or to include meetings as well as records (s. 119.15(4)(b), F.S.). The requirements of the 

Act do not apply to an exemption that is required by federal law or that applies solely to the Legislature or the State Court 

System (s. 119.15(2), F.S.). 
11

 Section 119.15(3), F.S. 
12

 Section 119.15(6)(b), F.S. 



BILL: SB 1424   Page 3 

 

 

Electronic Toll Payment 

Subject to limited exemptions, current law prohibits persons from using any toll facility without 

payment.
13

 The Department of Transportation (DOT) is authorized to adopt rules relating to the 

payment, collection, and enforcement of tolls, including, but not limited to, rules for the 

implementation of video or other image billing and variable pricing.
14

 DOT has implemented 

two programs (SunPass and Toll-By-Plate) for electronic toll collections. 

 

SunPass
15

 is an electronic system of toll collection accepted on all Florida toll roads and nearly 

all toll bridges. SunPass utilizes a prepaid account system and electronic devices called 

transponders that attach to the inside of a car's windshield. When a car equipped with SunPass 

goes through a tolling location, the transponder sends a signal and the toll is deducted from the 

customer’s prepaid account. SunPass account information includes the license plate number, 

address, and credit card information.
16

 

 

The Toll-By-Plate
17

 program, established by DOT in 2010, is an image based system of toll 

collection available on the Homestead Extension of Florida's Turnpike, from Florida City to 

Miramar in Miami-Dade County. Toll-By-Plate takes a photo of a license plate as a vehicle 

travels through a Turnpike tolling location and mails a monthly bill for the tolls, including an 

administrative charge, to the registered owner of the vehicle. Accounts can be set up as pre-paid 

or post-paid.
18

 Accounts may require name, address, email, driver’s license number, day time 

phone number, and credit and debit card numbers.
19

 

 

Public Records Exemption: Electronic Payment of Tolls 

Section 338.155(6), F.S., provides that personal identifying information provided to, acquired by, 

or in the possession of DOT, a county, or an expressway authority for the purpose of using a 

credit card, charge card, or check for the prepayment of electronic toll facilities charges is 

exempt
20

 from public records requirements. This provision was first adopted in 1996.
21

  

                                                 
13

 See s. 338.155(1), F.S. The exemptions generally include toll employees on official state business, state military personnel 

on official military business, persons authorizing resolution for bonds to finance the facility, persons using the toll facility as 

a required detour route, law enforcement officers or persons operating a fire or rescue vehicle when on official business, 

funeral processions of law enforcement officers killed in the line of duty, and handicapped persons. 
14

 Section 338.155(1), F.S. 
15

 Rule 14-15.0081, F.A.C. 
16

 Information on SunPass is available at, http://www.floridasturnpike.com/all-electronictolling/SunPass.cfm (last visited 

March 12, 2013). 
17

 Rule 14-100.005, F.A.C. 
18

 Information on toll-by-plate is available at, http://www.floridasturnpike.com/all-electronictolling/TOLL-BY-PLATE.cfm 

(Last visited March 12, 2013). 
19

 Information on toll-by-plate accounts can be found at, 

https://www.tollbyplate.com/displaySelectCustomerTypeRegisterAccountNewAccount (Last visited March 12, 2013). 
20

 There is a difference between records the Legislature designates as exempt from public record requirements and those the 

Legislature deems confidential and exempt. A record classified as exempt from public disclosure may be disclosed under 

certain circumstances. See WFTV, Inc. v. The School Board of Seminole, 874 So.2d 48, 53 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004), review 

denied 892 So.2d 1015 (Fla. 2004); City of Riviera Beach v. Barfield, 642 So.2d 1135 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994); Williams v. City 

of Minneola, 575 So.2d 687 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). If the Legislature designates a record as confidential and exempt from 



BILL: SB 1424   Page 4 

 

 

Recently, DOT has expanded its use of electronic toll collection with the Toll-By-Plate video 

billing. As a consequence, the current public records exemption does not protect personal 

identifying information related to the post-payment of electronic toll facilities by Toll-By-Plate 

customers. 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

The bill amends s. 338.155(6), F.S., to expand the existing public records exemption for personal 

identifying information held by the Department of Transportation, a county, or an expressway 

authority for the purpose of using a credit card, charge card, or check for the prepayment of 

electronic toll facilities charges. Specifically, this bill removes references to specific payment 

types and instead provides that the exemption applies to personal identifying information of 

drivers who use toll facilities in the state that is held by the Department of Transportation, a 

county, or an expressway authority for the purpose of paying, prepaying, or collecting tolls and 

associated charges. This would include personal identifying information of Toll-By-Plate 

customers.  

 

The bill provides for repeal of the exemption pursuant to the Open Government Sunset Review 

Act on October 2, 2018, unless reviewed and reenacted by the Legislature. It also provides a 

statement of public necessity as required by the Florida Constitution. 

 

The bill’s effective date is July 1, 2013. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

Not applicable. This bill does not appear to require counties or municipalities to spend 

funds or take action requiring the expenditures of funds, reduce the authority that 

counties or municipalities have to raise revenues in the aggregate, or reduce the 

percentage of state tax shared with counties or municipalities. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

Vote Requirement 

 

Section 24(c), Art. I of the Florida Constitution requires a two-thirds vote of the members 

present and voting in each house of the Legislature for passage of a newly created or 

expanded public records or public meetings exemption. Because this bill expands a 

public necessity statement, it requires a two-thirds vote for passage. 

 

Public Necessity Statement 

 

                                                                                                                                                                         
public disclosure, such record may not be released, by the custodian of public records, to anyone other than the persons or 

entities specifically designated in the statutory exemption. See Attorney General Opinion 85-62 (August 1, 1985). 
21

 Chapter 96-178, L.O.F.; codified as s. 338.155(6), F.S. 



BILL: SB 1424   Page 5 

 

Section 24(c), Art. I of the Florida Constitution requires a public necessity statement for a 

newly created or expanded public records or public meetings exemption. Because this bill 

expands a new public records exemption, it includes a public necessity statement. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

None. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

This bill could create a minimal fiscal impact on state and local agencies with staff 

responsible for complying with public records requests as staff could require training 

related to the expansion of the public records exemption. In addition, agencies could 

incur costs associated with redaction of the protected information prior to releasing a 

record. The costs would be absorbed, however, as they are part of the day-to-day 

responsibilities of an agency. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

Retroactive Application 

The Supreme Court of Florida ruled that a public record exemption is not to be applied 

retroactively unless the legislation clearly expresses intent that such exemption is to be applied 

retroactively.
22

 The bill does not contain a provision requiring retroactive application. Therefore, 

the public records exemption would apply prospectively, but the Toll-By-Plate program began in 

2010.
23

 

 

Applicability of Exemption to “Drivers” 

The expanded public records exemption applies to drivers who use toll facilities in this state. 

However, the driver of a vehicle may not necessarily be the person to whom a Toll-by-Plate 

                                                 
22

 Memorial Hospital-West Volusia, Inc. v. News-Journal Corporation, 729 So.2d. 373 (Fla. 2001). 
23

 Information received from the Florida Department of Transportation, March 13, 2013 (email on file with the 

Transportation and Highway Safety Subcommittee). 



BILL: SB 1424   Page 6 

 

account is registered. Therefore, the Legislature may wish to consider removing reference to 

“drivers” in the expanded exemption. 

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

None. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2013 SB 1424 

 

 

 

By Senator Evers 

 

 

 

 

2-01584-13 20131424__ 

Page 1 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to public records; amending s. 2 

338.155, F.S.; clarifying provisions; providing that 3 

personal identifying information about individuals 4 

related to the payment of tolls, which is held by the 5 

Department of Transportation and certain other 6 

entities, is exempt from public records requirements; 7 

providing for future legislative review and repeal of 8 

the exemption under the Open Government Sunset Review 9 

Act; providing legislative findings and a statement of 10 

public necessity; providing an effective date. 11 

 12 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 13 

 14 

Section 1. Subsection (6) of section 338.155, Florida 15 

Statutes, is amended to read: 16 

338.155 Payment of toll on toll facilities required; 17 

exemptions.— 18 

(6)(a) Personal identifying information of drivers who use 19 

toll facilities in this state which is held by provided to, 20 

acquired by, or in the possession of the Department of 21 

Transportation, a county, or an expressway authority for the 22 

purpose of paying, prepaying, or collecting tolls and associated 23 

administrative charges using a credit card, charge card, or 24 

check for the prepayment of electronic toll facilities charges 25 

to the department, a county, or an expressway authority is 26 

exempt from s. 119.07(1) and s. 24(a), Art. I of the State 27 

Constitution. 28 

(b) This subsection is subject to the Open Government 29 

Florida Senate - 2013 SB 1424 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2-01584-13 20131424__ 

Page 2 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Sunset Review Act in accordance with s. 119.15 and shall stand 30 

repealed on October 2, 2018, unless reviewed and saved from 31 

repeal through reenactment by the Legislature. 32 

Section 2. The Legislature finds that it is a public 33 

necessity to exempt from s. 119.07(1) and s. 24(a), Art. I of 34 

the State Constitution personal identifying information about 35 

individuals which is held by the Department of Transportation, a 36 

county, or an expressway authority in connection with the 37 

payment, prepayment, or collection of tolls. The exemption puts 38 

individuals who pay with the TOLL-BY-PLATE system on equal 39 

footing with those who prepay with a check, charge card, credit 40 

card or pay cash at the toll booth. The exemption also protects 41 

the public by exempting information about an individual’s use of 42 

the toll road system. The exemption promotes the use of the 43 

electronic toll collection system, which is a more efficient and 44 

effective collection system for tolls because the use of the 45 

TOLL-BY-PLATE system or prepaying with a check, charge card, or 46 

credit card saves an individual time in passing through toll 47 

facilities, compared to those who pay cash, and costs less to 48 

administer. The exemption also protects the privacy of 49 

individuals and promotes the right to be free from unreasonable 50 

government intrusion by prohibiting the public disclosure of 51 

private information about an individual’s finances and location. 52 

Section 3. This act shall take effect July 1, 2013. 53 



SENATOR GREG EVERS
2nd District

THE FLORIDA SENATE
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1100 COMMITTEES:

Criminal Justice, Chair
Transportation, Vice Chair
Budget - Subcommittee on Criminal and Civil Justice

Appropriations
Budget - Subcommittee on Transportation, Tourism,

and Economic Development Appropriations
Communications, Energy, and Public Utilities
Reapportionment
Rules - Subcommittee on Ethics and Elections

April 17, 2013

Senator John Thrasher, Chair
Committee Rules
402 Senate Office Building
404 South Monroe Street
Tallahassee, FL 32399

Chairman Bradley,

SB 1424, pertaining to Public Records/Personal Identifying Information!Departm~---~__. ....
Transportation is on your agenda today. I respectfully request my legislative ai~(,~lViolly Caddei~)
be permitted to present the bill in my place. I appreciate your favorable conside~g~vi~a~pon~ris----
request.

Sincerely,

Greg Evers

Cc: John Phelps, Staff Director

REPLY TO:
[] 598 North Ferdon Boulevard, Crestview, Florida 32536 (850) 689-0556
[] 5224 Willing Street, Milton, Florida 32570 (850) 983-5550
CI 24 North Tarragona, Pensacola, Florida 32502 (850) 595-0213
[] 308 Senate Office Building, 404 South Monroe Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1100 (850) 487-5000

Senate’s Website: www, flsenate.gov

MIKE HARIDOPOLOS MICHAEL S. "MIKE" BENNETT
President of the Senate President Pro Tempore



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Rules  

 

BILL:  CS/CS/SB 490 

INTRODUCER:  Regulated Industries Committee, Judiciary Committee, and Senator Stargel 

SUBJECT:  Landlords and Tenants 

DATE:  April 12, 2013 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Munroe  Cibula  JU  Fav/CS 

2. Oxamendi  Imhof  RI  Fav/CS 

3. Munroe  Phelps  RC  Favorable 

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... X Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

CS/CS/SB 490 makes numerous changes to the Florida Residential Landlord and Tenant Act. 

Specifically, the bill makes the following changes: 

 

 Authorizes the eviction procedures under the Act, instead of foreclosure procedures, to apply 

to a person who occupies a dwelling pursuant to a lease-purchase agreement in some 

circumstances. 

 Provides that the right of a prevailing party to attorney fees for enforcing a rental agreement 

may not be waived in the rental agreement. 

 Provides that the right to the statutorily required notices before a landlord or tenant may 

terminate a lease may not be waived in the lease. 

 Provides that attorney fees may not be awarded in a claim for personal injury damages based 

on a breach of duty to maintain the rental premises. 

 Revises the notice that a landlord must provide a tenant which describes how advance rent 

and security deposits will be held and used by the landlord or returned to the tenant. 

 Allows landlords to withdraw advance rents without notice to tenants. 

 Creates a rebuttable presumption that a new owner of a rental property receives the security 

deposits paid by a tenant to the previous owner, but limit’s the presumption to 1-months rent. 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/CS/SB 490   Page 2 

 

 Lessens the duty of landlords of single-family homes and duplexes to maintain screens on 

windows. A landlord must ensure that screens are installed in reasonable condition at the 

beginning of the tenancy and repaired once annually thereafter. 

 Provides that a right or duty enforced by civil action under the Florida Landlord and Tenant 

Act does not preclude prosecution for a criminal offense related to a lease or leased property. 

 Eliminates a landlord’s obligation to make certain disclosures regarding fire safety to tenants. 

 Provides that upon the re-occurrence within 12 months after the initial notice of tenant 

actions constituting noncompliance under a lease, the landlord is not required to provide an 

additional notice before initiating an eviction action. 

 Provides that a lease must require a landlord to give advance notice of the intent to nonrenew 

the lease if the lease requires a tenant to give advance notice to a landlord of the intent to 

vacate the premises at the end of the lease. 

 Revises procedures for restoration of possession of a rental property to a landlord to provide 

that Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays do not stay the applicable notice period. 

 Specifies additional grounds for which a landlord may not retaliate against a tenant. 

 

The bill conforms statutory cross-references and makes other editorial changes. 

 

This bill creates one undesignated section of Florida law. 

 

This bill substantially amends the following sections of the Florida Statutes:  83.42, 83.48, 83.49, 

83.50, 83.51, 83.54, 83.56, 83.575, 83.58, 83.59, 83.60, 83.62, 83.63, and 83.64. 

II. Present Situation: 

Applicability of the Florida Residential Landlord and Tenant Act 

Part II, ch. 83, F.S., known as the “Florida Residential Landlord and Tenant Act,” governs the 

relationship between landlords and tenants under a residential rental agreement.
1
 

 

The Act does not apply to: 

 

 Residency or detention in a facility, whether public or private, when residence or 

detention is incidental to the provision of medical, geriatric, educational, counseling, 

religious, or similar services.
2
 

 Occupancy under a contract of sale of a dwelling unit or property of which it is a part.
3
 

 Transient occupancy in a hotel, condominium, motel, roominghouse, or similar public 

lodging, or transient occupancy in a mobile home park.
4
 

 Occupancy by a holder of a proprietary lease in a cooperative apartment.
5
 

 Occupancy by an owner of a condominium unit.
6
 

 

                                                 
1
 Section 83.41, F.S., provides that part II, chapter 83, F.S., applies to the rental of a dwelling unit. 

2
 Section 83.42(1), F.S. 

3
 Section 83.42(2), F.S. 

4
 Section 83.42(3), F.S. 

5
 Section 83.42(4), F.S. 

6
 Section 83.42(5), F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 490   Page 3 

 

Attorney Fees 

Under s. 83.48, F.S., in any civil action brought to enforce the provisions of a rental agreement 

or the Florida Residential Landlord and Tenant Act, the party in whose favor a judgment or 

decree has been rendered may recover reasonable costs, including attorney fees from the 

prevailing party. In an interpretation of s. 83.48, F.S., by the Third District Court of Appeal, the 

court held that the statute did not allow for the award of attorney fees in an action for damages 

for personal injuries resulting from a landlord’s failure to maintain the rental premises.
7
 

 

Advance Rent Payments 

Section 83.49, F.S., specifies requirements for the landlord’s duty to a tenant for deposit money 

or advance rent. “[T]he purpose of [s. 83.49(3)(a), F.S.,] is to assure tenants that their security 

deposits will be returned expeditiously or they will be promptly notified otherwise.”
8
 

Section 83.49(3)(a), F.S., states: 

 

[u]pon the vacating of the premises for termination of the lease, if the landlord 

does not intend to impose a claim on the security deposit, the landlord shall have 

15 days to return the security deposit together with interest if otherwise required, 

or the landlord shall have 30 days to give the tenant written notice by certified 

mail to the tenant’s last known mailing address of his or her intention to impose a 

claim on the deposit and the reason for imposing the claim. The notice shall 

contain a statement in substantially the following form: 

 

This is a notice of my intention to impose a claim for damages in the amount of 

___  upon your security deposit, due to ___. It is sent to you as required by 

s. 83.49 (3), Florida Statutes. You are hereby notified that you must object in 

writing to this deduction from your security deposit within 15 days from the time 

you receive this notice or I will be authorized to deduct my claim from your 

security deposit. Your objection must be sent to   (landlord’s address). 

 

If the landlord fails to give the required notice within the 30-day period, he or she 

forfeits the right to impose a claim upon the security deposit. 

 

Section 83.49(3)(b), F.S., provides that: 

 

[u]nless the tenant objects to the imposition of the landlord’s claim or the amount 

thereof within 15 days after receipt of the landlord’s notice of intention to impose 

a claim, the landlord may then deduct the amount of his or her claim and shall 

remit the balance of the deposit to the tenant within 30 days after the date of the 

notice of intention to impose a claim for damages. 

 

Disclosure of Fire Protection 

The landlord or the landlord’s authorized representative, upon completion of construction of a 

building exceeding three stories in height and containing dwelling units, must disclose to the 

                                                 
7
 Gilbert v. Jabour, 527 So. 2d 951 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988). 

8
 See Durene v. Alcime, 448 So. 2d 1208, 1210 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984). 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 490   Page 4 

 

tenants initially moving into the building the availability or lack of availability of fire 

protection.
9
 

 

Landlord’s Obligation to Maintain Premises 

At all times during a tenancy, the landlord must comply with the requirements of applicable 

building, housing, and health codes.
10

 Where there are no applicable building, housing, or health 

codes, the landlord must maintain the roofs, windows, screens, doors, floors, steps, porches, 

exterior walls, foundations, and all other structural components in good repair and the plumbing 

in reasonable working condition.
11

 

 

Unless otherwise agreed in writing, in addition to the requirements described above, the landlord 

of a dwelling unit other than a single-family home or duplex shall, at all times during the 

tenancy, make reasonable provisions for: 

 

1. The extermination of rats, mice, roaches, ants, wood-destroying 

organisms, and bedbugs. When vacation of the premises is required for 

such extermination, the landlord shall not be liable for damages but shall 

abate the rent. The tenant shall be required to temporarily vacate the 

premises for a period of time not to exceed 4 days, on 7 days’ written 

notice, if necessary, for extermination pursuant to this subparagraph. 

2. Locks and keys. 

3. The clean and safe condition of common areas. 

4. Garbage removal and outside receptacles therefor. 

5. Functioning facilities for heat during winter, running water, and hot 

water.
12

 

 

Unless otherwise agreed in writing, at the commencement of the tenancy of a single-family home 

or duplex, the landlord shall install working smoke detection devices.
13

 

 

Enforcement of Rights and Duties under the Landlord and Tenant Act 

Any right or duty declared in the Florida Residential Landlord and Tenant Act is enforceable by 

civil action.
14

 

 

Termination of Rental Agreement - Noncompliance 

Section 83.56, F.S., establishes the circumstances under which the tenant or landlord may 

terminate a rental agreement. A tenant may be subject to eviction for monetary default or non-

monetary default. Section 83.56, F.S., recognizes two different categories of non-monetary 

default: noncurable default and curable default. 

 

Regarding noncurable defaults, s. 83.56(2)(a), F.S., provides: 

 

                                                 
9
 Section 83.50(2), F.S. 

10
 Section 83.51(1)(a), F.S. 

11
 Section 83.51(1)(b), F.S. 

12
 Section 83.51(2)(a), F.S. 

13
 Section 83.51(2)(b), F.S. 

14
 Section 83.54, F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 490   Page 5 

 

If such noncompliance is of a nature that the tenant should not be given an 

opportunity to cure it or if the noncompliance constitutes a subsequent or 

continuing noncompliance within 12 months of a written warning by the landlord 

of a similar violation, deliver a written notice to the tenant specifying the 

noncompliance and the landlord’s intent to terminate the rental agreement by 

reason thereof. Examples of noncompliance which are of a nature that the tenant 

should not be given an opportunity to cure include, but are not limited to, 

destruction, damage, or misuse of the landlord’s or other tenants’ property by 

intentional act or a subsequent or continued unreasonable disturbance. In such 

event, the landlord may terminate the rental agreement, and the tenant shall have 

7 days from the date that the notice is delivered to vacate the premises. (Emphasis 

supplied)
15

 

 

Regarding curable default, s. 83.56(2)(b), F.S., provides: 

 

If such noncompliance is of a nature that the tenant should be given an 

opportunity to cure it, deliver a written notice to the tenant specifying the 

noncompliance, including a notice that, if the noncompliance is not corrected 

within 7 days from the date the written notice is delivered, the landlord shall 

terminate the rental agreement by reason thereof. Examples of such 

noncompliance include, but are not limited to, activities in contravention of the 

lease or this act such as having or permitting unauthorized pets, guests, or 

vehicles; parking in an unauthorized manner or permitting such parking; or failing 

to keep the premises clean and sanitary.
16

 

 

Termination of Rental Agreement - Waiver of Rent 

If the tenant fails to pay rent when due and the default continues for 3 days, excluding Saturday, 

Sunday, and legal holidays, after delivery of written demand by the landlord for payment of rent 

or possession of the premises, the landlord may terminate the rental agreement.
17

 

 

If the landlord accepts rent with actual knowledge of a noncompliance by the tenant or accepts 

performance by the tenant of any other provision of the rental agreement that is at variance with 

its provisions, the landlord waives his or her right to terminate the rental agreement or to bring a 

civil action for a specific noncompliance.
18

 The landlord does not waive his or her right to 

terminate the rental agreement or to bring a civil action for any subsequent or continuing 

noncompliance. If a landlord accepts a partial payment of rent from a tenant with full knowledge 

that the payment is not for the full amount, the landlord waives the right to terminate the rental 

agreement or to bring a civil action.
19

 

 

Termination of a Tenancy with a Specific Duration 

A rental agreement with a specific duration may contain a provision requiring the tenant to notify 

                                                 
15

 Section 83.56(2)(a), F.S. 
16

 Section 83.56(2)(b), F.S. 
17

 Section 83.56(3), F.S. 
18

 Section 83.56(5), F.S. 
19

 See In re Sorrento’s I, Inc., 195 B.R. 502, 504 (Bankruptcy. M.D. Fla. 1996). 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 490   Page 6 

 

the landlord before vacating the premises at the end of the rental agreement.
20

 Such a provision 

may not require more than 60 days’ notice before vacating the premises.
21

 A rental agreement 

having a specific duration may also provide that if a tenant fails to give the required notice 

before vacating the premises at the end of the rental agreement, the tenant may be liable for 

liquidated damages as specified in the rental agreement. To do so, the landlord must provide 

written notice to the tenant specifying his or her obligations under the notification provision 

contained in the lease and the date the rental agreement is terminated. The landlord must provide 

the written notice within 15 days before the start of the notification period contained in the lease 

and the written notice must list all fees, penalties, and other charges applicable to the tenant. 

 

Restoration of Possession to Landlord Upon Eviction 

In an action for possession, if the judgment is entered in the landlord’s favor, the clerk must issue 

a writ to the sheriff commanding him or her to put the landlord in possession after 24 hours’ 

notice is conspicuously posted on the premises.
22

 

 

Retaliatory Conduct 

Section 83.64, F.S., prohibits a landlord from discriminatorily increasing a tenant’s rent or 

decrease services to a tenant, or to bring or threaten to bring an action for possession or other 

civil action, primarily because the landlord is retaliating against the tenant. The tenant may raise 

the defense of retaliatory conduct if the tenant acts in good faith. 

 

Rental Units or Parcels in Condominiums, Cooperatives, and Homeowners’ Associations 

If a unit or parcel is occupied by a tenant and the unit or parcel owner is delinquent in paying any 

monetary obligation due to the association, the association may demand that the tenant pay to the 

association the subsequent rental payments and continue to make such payments until all 

monetary obligations of the unit owner related to the unit have been paid in full to the 

association.
23

 The tenant must pay the monetary obligations to the association until the 

association releases the tenant or the tenant discontinues the tenancy in the unit or parcel. 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

Applicability of the Florida Residential Landlord and Tenant Act 

The bill amends s. 83.42(2), F.S., to make the Florida Residential Landlord Tenant Act 

applicable to lease purchase agreements for residential properties if the buyer has not paid at 

least one month’s rent and paid a deposit of at least 5 percent of the purchase price of the 

property or at least 12 month’s rent. 

 

Attorney Fees 

The bill amends s. 83.48, F.S., to provide that a right to attorney fees may not be waived in a 

lease agreement. In addition, the bill provides that attorney fees may not be awarded in a claim 

for personal injury damages based on a breach of the landlord’s duty to maintain the premises. 

The limitation on the award of attorney fees in a personal injury action that is based on the 

                                                 
20

 Section 83.575(1), F.S. 
21

 Id. 
22

 Section 83.62, F.S. 
23

 Sections 718.116(11)(a) and (b), 719.108(10)(a) and (b), and 720.3085(8)(a) and (b), F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 490   Page 7 

 

failure of a landlord to maintain the leased premises appears to codify the interpretation of 

s. 83.56, F.S., by the Third District Court of Appeal in Gilbert v. Jabour.
24

 

 

Advance Rent Payments/Nonrefundable Deposits 

The bill amends s. 83.49(2), F.S., to eliminate the requirement for a landlord to give tenants a 

copy of the law relating to security deposits and replaces it with another disclosure which, in 

part, states: 

 

Your lease requires payment of certain deposits. The landlord may transfer 

advance rents to the landlord’s account as they are due and without notice. When 

you move out, you must give the landlord your new address so that the landlord 

can send you notices regarding your deposit. The landlord must mail you notice, 

within 30 days after you move out, of the landlord’s intent to impose a claim 

against the deposit. If you do not reply to the landlord stating your objection to the 

claim within 15 days after receipt of the landlord’s notice, the landlord will collect 

the claim and must mail you the remaining deposit, if any.  

 

The notice also provides, in part:  

 

If you timely object, the landlord must hold the deposit, and either you or the 

landlord will have to file a lawsuit so that the court can resolve the dispute. 

 

The bill allows the landlord or the landlord’s agent to withdraw advance rents from the deposit 

account without notice and as the rents become due to the landlord.  

 

The bill creates an unnumbered section of the Florida Statutes to provide that changes to the 

required disclosure regarding security deposits in this bill are conditional for leases entered into 

on or before December 31, 2013. The landlord may elect to give the notice required under the 

current disclosure or the disclosure required under the bill. On or after January 1, 2014, the 

notice of the disclosure regarding security deposits as required by this bill will be required for all 

leases. 

 

Transfer of Deposits to New Owner or Manager (Owner’s Agent) 

The bill amends s. 83.49(7), F.S., to provide a rebuttable presumption that the previous owner or 

manager of the property has transferred any deposit to the new owner. However, this 

presumption is limited to 1 month’s rent.
25

 

 

Disclosure of Fire Protection 

The bill eliminates a disclosure requirement in s. 83.50(2), F.S., for landlords regarding the 

availability or lack of availability of fire protection in certain new construction. Current law 

requires the landlord or the landlord’s authorized representative, upon completion of construction 

of a building exceeding three stories in height and containing dwelling units, to disclose to the 

                                                 
24

 Gilbert v. Jabour, supra note 7. 
25

 The amount could be at variance with the amount actually received from the previous owner or agent. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 490   Page 8 

 

tenants initially moving into the building the availability or lack of availability of fire 

protection.
26

 

 

Maintenance of Screens on Windows 

The bill amends s. 83.51(1)(b), F.S., to require that landlords, at the commencement of the 

tenancy, must ensure that screens are installed in a reasonable condition. The landlord must 

repair damage to the screens at least once annually, when necessary, until the termination of the 

rental agreement.  

 

Enforcement of Rights and Duties under the Landlord and Tenant Act 

Under current law, any right or duty declared in the Florida Residential Landlord and Tenant Act 

is enforceable by civil action.
27

The bill amends s. 53.54, F.S., to provide that a right or duty 

enforced by civil action under the Florida Residential Landlord and Tenant Act does not preclude 

prosecution for a criminal offense related to the lease or leased property. 

 

Termination of Rental Agreement- Noncompliance 

In the event a notice of noncompliance has been previously delivered to a tenant giving the 

tenant an opportunity to cure a curable lease violation, the bill amends s. 83.56(2)(b), F.S., to 

provide that upon re-occurrence of a violation within 12 months after the initial notice of the 

noncompliance, the landlord is not required to provide an additional notice before instituting an 

eviction action.  

 

Termination of Rental Agreement- Rent Waiver 

The bill amends s. 83.56(4), F.S., to provide that the right to the statutorily required notices 

before a landlord or tenant may terminate a lease may not be waived in the lease. The bill 

provides that a landlord does not waive the right to terminate a rental agreement or to bring a 

civil action for noncompliance by accepting partial rent. 

 

The bill amends s. 83.56(5)(c), F.S., to revise the calculation of the time period within which a 

landlord with a tenant who receives rent subsidies waives the right to enforce a rental agreement 

if action is not timely instituted within 45 days of a noncompliance. Under the bill, a landlord 

must enforce the rental agreement within 45 days after obtaining actual knowledge of a 

noncompliance. 

 

Termination of a Tenancy with a Specific Duration 

The bill amends s. 83.575( 1), F.S., to provide that, if a rental agreement has a requirement for a 

tenant to provide notice within a specified period to the landlord regarding nonrenewal, the rental 

agreement must also provide a reciprocal requirement for the landlord to notify the tenant within 

the same specified period of an intent not to renew. However, a rental agreement may not require 

more than 60 days’ notice from either the tenant or the landlord. 

 

Landlord’s Action for Rent or Possession 

The bill amends s. 83.60(1), F.S., to provide that, before an action for possession based on 

                                                 
26

 Section 83.50(2), F.S. 
27

 Section 83.54, F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 490   Page 9 

 

nonpayment of rent or seeking recovery of unpaid rent may be dismissed by a court, the court 

may allow the landlord
28

 an opportunity to cure a deficiency in a notice or pleadings.  

 

The bill amends s. 83.60(2), F.S., to require a tenant in any action for possession of a dwelling 

unit by the landlord, if the tenant interposes any defense other than payment, including the 

defense of a defective 3-day notice, to pay the accrued rent under dispute into a court registry 

during the pendency of the proceeding. 

 

Restoration of Possession to Landlord 

The bill amends the requirement in s. 83.62(1), F.S., for the posting of an eviction notice on 

rental property at least 24 hours before a sheriff may restore possession of the property to the 

landlord. The bill revises procedures for the restoration of possession of a rental unit to a 

landlord to provide that weekends and legal holidays do not stay the 24-hour notice period. 

 

Retaliatory Conduct 

The bill amends s. 83.64, F.S., to specify the following two additional grounds for which a 

landlord may not retaliate against a tenant: 

 

 The tenant has paid the rent to a condominium, cooperative, or homeowners’ association 

after demand from the association. 

 The tenant has exercised his or her rights under local, state, or federal fair housing laws. 

 

Effective Date 

The bill provides an effective date of July 1, 2013. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

                                                 
28

 Under ss. 83.60, F.S., a tenant may raise various defenses in opposition to a landlord’s action for possession or nonpayment 

of rent. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 490   Page 10 

 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

The bill may make evictions or actions for possession of a residential dwelling unit faster 

and less costly in some circumstances. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

None. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

The amendment to s. 83.54, F.S., provides that “[a] right or duty enforced by civil action under 

this section does not preclude prosecution for a criminal offense relating to a lease or leased 

property.” (emphasis added). The reference to “this section” should be changed to “this part.” 

VII. Related Issues: 

None.  

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS/CS by Regulated Industries Committee on April 9, 2013: 

The Committee Substitute (CS) deletes the requirement in s. 83.56(2)(b), F.S., that the 

complaint in the eviction action must specify the date, time, place, and specific facts of 

the alleged subsequent non-compliance so as to allow the tenant to be aware of the 

allegations and to prepare a defense. 

 

The CS does not amend s. 83.60(1), F.S., to provide the landlord an opportunity to 

correct a minor procedural deficiency in a notice or in the pleadings before the dismissal 

of an action based on nonpayment of rent. Instead, the CS amends this provision to 

provide that the court may allow the landlord an opportunity to cure a deficiency in a 

notice or pleadings before the dismissal of the action. 

 

CS by Judiciary on April 1, 2013: 
The committee substitute (CS) makes the following changes: 

 

 Requires the landlord, at the beginning of the tenancy, to ensure that window screens 

are installed in a reasonable condition. The landlord must repair damage once 

annually until the termination of the rental agreement. 

 Provides that the Landlord Tenant Act does not preclude prosecution for a criminal 

offense related to the lease or leased property. 

 Requires an eviction complaint which is based on a reoccurring noncompliance with a 

lease to contain specific information so that the tenant is aware of the allegations and 

may prepare a defense. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 490   Page 11 

 

 Authorizes a court to allow a landlord to correct a minor procedural deficiency in a 

notice or pleading in an action by the landlord for possession of a dwelling. 

 

The CS deletes the provision in original bill that requires a court to give a mobile home 

owner the opportunity to cure deficiencies in a notice or pleading in an action by the 

mobile home owner for possession of a dwelling. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 490 

 

 

 

By the Committees on Regulated Industries; and Judiciary; and 

Senator Stargel 

 

 

 

580-04038A-13 2013490c2 

Page 1 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to landlords and tenants; amending s. 2 

83.42, F.S.; revising exclusions from applicability of 3 

the Florida Residential Landlord and Tenant Act; 4 

amending s. 83.48, F.S.; providing that the right to 5 

attorney fees may not be waived in a lease agreement; 6 

providing that attorney fees may not be awarded in a 7 

claim for personal injury damages based on a breach of 8 

duty of premises maintenance; amending s. 83.49, F.S.; 9 

revising and providing landlord disclosure 10 

requirements with respect to security deposits and 11 

advance rent; providing requirements for the 12 

disbursement of advance rents; providing a limited 13 

rebuttable presumption of receipt of security 14 

deposits; providing for applicability of changes made 15 

by the act to certain disclosure requirements; 16 

amending s. 83.50, F.S.; removing certain landlord 17 

disclosure requirements relating to fire protection; 18 

amending s. 83.51, F.S.; revising a landlord’s 19 

obligation to maintain a premises with respect to 20 

screens; amending s. 83.54, F.S.; providing that 21 

enforcement of a right or duty under the Florida 22 

Residential Landlord and Tenant Act by civil action 23 

does not preclude prosecution of a criminal offense; 24 

amending s. 83.56, F.S.; revising procedures for the 25 

termination of a rental agreement by a landlord; 26 

revising notice procedures; providing that a landlord 27 

does not waive the right to terminate the rental 28 

agreement or to bring a civil action for noncompliance 29 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 490 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

580-04038A-13 2013490c2 

Page 2 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

by accepting partial rent, subject to certain notice; 30 

providing that the period to institute an action 31 

before an exemption involving rent subsidies is waived 32 

begins upon actual knowledge; amending s. 83.575, 33 

F.S.; revising requirements for the termination of a 34 

tenancy having a specific duration to provide for 35 

reciprocal notice provisions in rental agreements; 36 

amending ss. 83.58 and 83.59, F.S.; conforming cross-37 

references; amending s. 83.60, F.S.; providing that a 38 

landlord must be given an opportunity to cure a 39 

deficiency in any notice or pleadings before dismissal 40 

of an eviction action; making technical changes; 41 

amending s. 83.62, F.S.; revising procedures for the 42 

restoration of possession to a landlord to provide 43 

that weekends and holidays do not stay the applicable 44 

notice period; amending s. 83.63, F.S.; conforming a 45 

cross-reference; amending s. 83.64, F.S.; providing 46 

examples of conduct for which the landlord may not 47 

retaliate; providing an effective date. 48 

 49 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 50 

 51 

Section 1. Subsection (2) of section 83.42, Florida 52 

Statutes, is amended to read: 53 

83.42 Exclusions from application of part.—This part does 54 

not apply to: 55 

(2) Occupancy under a contract of sale of a dwelling unit 56 

or the property of which it is a part in which the buyer has 57 

paid at least 12 months’ rent or in which the buyer has paid at 58 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 490 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

580-04038A-13 2013490c2 

Page 3 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

least 1 month’s rent and a deposit of at least 5 percent of the 59 

purchase price of the property. 60 

Section 2. Section 83.48, Florida Statutes, is amended to 61 

read: 62 

83.48 Attorney Attorney’s fees.—In any civil action brought 63 

to enforce the provisions of the rental agreement or this part, 64 

the party in whose favor a judgment or decree has been rendered 65 

may recover reasonable attorney fees and court costs, including 66 

attorney’s fees, from the nonprevailing party. The right to 67 

attorney fees in this section may not be waived in a lease 68 

agreement. However, attorney fees may not be awarded under this 69 

section in a claim for personal injury damages based on a breach 70 

of duty under s. 83.51. 71 

Section 3. Subsections (2), (3), and (7) of section 83.49, 72 

Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 73 

83.49 Deposit money or advance rent; duty of landlord and 74 

tenant.— 75 

(2) The landlord shall, in the lease agreement or within 30 76 

days after of receipt of advance rent or a security deposit, 77 

give written notice to notify the tenant which includes 78 

disclosure of in writing of the manner in which the landlord is 79 

holding the advance rent or security deposit and the rate of 80 

interest, if any, which the tenant is to receive and the time of 81 

interest payments to the tenant. Such written notice shall: 82 

(a) Be given in person or by mail to the tenant. 83 

(b) State the name and address of the depository where the 84 

advance rent or security deposit is being held, whether the 85 

advance rent or security deposit is being held in a separate 86 

account for the benefit of the tenant or is commingled with 87 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 490 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

580-04038A-13 2013490c2 

Page 4 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

other funds of the landlord, and, if commingled, whether such 88 

funds are deposited in an interest-bearing account in a Florida 89 

banking institution. 90 

(c) Include a copy of the provisions of subsection (3). 91 

Subsequent to providing such written notice, if the landlord 92 

changes the manner or location in which he or she is holding the 93 

advance rent or security deposit, he or she must shall notify 94 

the tenant within 30 days after of the change as provided in 95 

paragraphs (a)-(d). The landlord is not required to give new or 96 

additional notice solely because the depository has merged with 97 

another financial institution, changed its name, or transferred 98 

ownership to a different financial institution according to the 99 

provisions herein set forth. This subsection does not apply to 100 

any landlord who rents fewer than five individual dwelling 101 

units. Failure to give provide this notice is shall not be a 102 

defense to the payment of rent when due. The written notice 103 

must: 104 

(a) Be given in person or by mail to the tenant. 105 

(b) State the name and address of the depository where the 106 

advance rent or security deposit is being held or state that the 107 

landlord has posted a surety bond as provided by law. 108 

(c) State whether the tenant is entitled to interest on the 109 

deposit. 110 

(d) Contain the following disclosure: 111 

 112 

YOUR LEASE REQUIRES PAYMENT OF CERTAIN DEPOSITS. THE 113 

LANDLORD MAY TRANSFER ADVANCE RENTS TO THE LANDLORD’S 114 

ACCOUNT AS THEY ARE DUE AND WITHOUT NOTICE. WHEN YOU 115 

MOVE OUT, YOU MUST GIVE THE LANDLORD YOUR NEW ADDRESS 116 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 490 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

580-04038A-13 2013490c2 

Page 5 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

SO THAT THE LANDLORD CAN SEND YOU NOTICES REGARDING 117 

YOUR DEPOSIT. THE LANDLORD MUST MAIL YOU NOTICE, 118 

WITHIN 30 DAYS AFTER YOU MOVE OUT, OF THE LANDLORD’S 119 

INTENT TO IMPOSE A CLAIM AGAINST THE DEPOSIT. IF YOU 120 

DO NOT REPLY TO THE LANDLORD STATING YOUR OBJECTION TO 121 

THE CLAIM WITHIN 15 DAYS AFTER RECEIPT OF THE 122 

LANDLORD’S NOTICE, THE LANDLORD WILL COLLECT THE CLAIM 123 

AND MUST MAIL YOU THE REMAINING DEPOSIT, IF ANY. 124 

 125 

IF THE LANDLORD FAILS TO TIMELY MAIL YOU NOTICE, THE 126 

LANDLORD MUST RETURN THE DEPOSIT BUT MAY LATER FILE A 127 

LAWSUIT AGAINST YOU FOR DAMAGES. IF YOU FAIL TO TIMELY 128 

OBJECT TO A CLAIM, THE LANDLORD MAY COLLECT FROM THE 129 

DEPOSIT, BUT YOU MAY LATER FILE A LAWSUIT CLAIMING A 130 

REFUND. 131 

 132 

YOU SHOULD ATTEMPT TO INFORMALLY RESOLVE ANY DISPUTE 133 

BEFORE FILING A LAWSUIT. GENERALLY, THE PARTY IN WHOSE 134 

FAVOR A JUDGMENT IS RENDERED WILL BE AWARDED COSTS AND 135 

ATTORNEY FEES PAYABLE BY THE LOSING PARTY. 136 

 137 

THIS DISCLOSURE IS BASIC. PLEASE REFER TO PART II OF 138 

CHAPTER 83, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO DETERMINE YOUR LEGAL 139 

RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS. 140 

 141 

(3) The landlord or the landlord’s agent may disburse 142 

advance rents from the deposit account to the landlord’s benefit 143 

when the advance rental period commences and without notice to 144 

the tenant. For all other deposits: 145 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 490 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

580-04038A-13 2013490c2 

Page 6 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(a) Upon the vacating of the premises for termination of 146 

the lease, if the landlord does not intend to impose a claim on 147 

the security deposit, the landlord shall have 15 days to return 148 

the security deposit together with interest if otherwise 149 

required, or the landlord shall have 30 days to give the tenant 150 

written notice by certified mail to the tenant’s last known 151 

mailing address of his or her intention to impose a claim on the 152 

deposit and the reason for imposing the claim. The notice shall 153 

contain a statement in substantially the following form: 154 

 155 

This is a notice of my intention to impose a claim for 156 

damages in the amount of .... upon your security deposit, due to 157 

..... It is sent to you as required by s. 83.49(3), Florida 158 

Statutes. You are hereby notified that you must object in 159 

writing to this deduction from your security deposit within 15 160 

days from the time you receive this notice or I will be 161 

authorized to deduct my claim from your security deposit. Your 162 

objection must be sent to ... (landlord’s address).... 163 

 164 

If the landlord fails to give the required notice within the 30-165 

day period, he or she forfeits the right to impose a claim upon 166 

the security deposit and may not seek a setoff against the 167 

deposit but may file an action for damages after return of the 168 

deposit. 169 

(b) Unless the tenant objects to the imposition of the 170 

landlord’s claim or the amount thereof within 15 days after 171 

receipt of the landlord’s notice of intention to impose a claim, 172 

the landlord may then deduct the amount of his or her claim and 173 

shall remit the balance of the deposit to the tenant within 30 174 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 490 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

580-04038A-13 2013490c2 

Page 7 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

days after the date of the notice of intention to impose a claim 175 

for damages. The failure of the tenant to make a timely 176 

objection does not waive any rights of the tenant to seek 177 

damages in a separate action. 178 

(c) If either party institutes an action in a court of 179 

competent jurisdiction to adjudicate the party’s right to the 180 

security deposit, the prevailing party is entitled to receive 181 

his or her court costs plus a reasonable fee for his or her 182 

attorney. The court shall advance the cause on the calendar. 183 

(d) Compliance with this section by an individual or 184 

business entity authorized to conduct business in this state, 185 

including Florida-licensed real estate brokers and sales 186 

associates, constitutes shall constitute compliance with all 187 

other relevant Florida Statutes pertaining to security deposits 188 

held pursuant to a rental agreement or other landlord-tenant 189 

relationship. Enforcement personnel shall look solely to this 190 

section to determine compliance. This section prevails over any 191 

conflicting provisions in chapter 475 and in other sections of 192 

the Florida Statutes, and shall operate to permit licensed real 193 

estate brokers to disburse security deposits and deposit money 194 

without having to comply with the notice and settlement 195 

procedures contained in s. 475.25(1)(d). 196 

(7) Upon the sale or transfer of title of the rental 197 

property from one owner to another, or upon a change in the 198 

designated rental agent, any and all security deposits or 199 

advance rents being held for the benefit of the tenants shall be 200 

transferred to the new owner or agent, together with any earned 201 

interest and with an accurate accounting showing the amounts to 202 

be credited to each tenant account. Upon the transfer of such 203 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 490 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

580-04038A-13 2013490c2 

Page 8 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

funds and records to the new owner or agent as stated herein, 204 

and upon transmittal of a written receipt therefor, the 205 

transferor is shall be free from the obligation imposed in 206 

subsection (1) to hold such moneys on behalf of the tenant. 207 

There is a rebuttable presumption that any new owner or agent 208 

received the security deposit from the previous owner or agent; 209 

however, this presumption is limited to 1 month’s rent. This 210 

subsection does not However, nothing herein shall excuse the 211 

landlord or agent for a violation of other the provisions of 212 

this section while in possession of such deposits. 213 

Section 4. The Legislature recognizes that landlords may 214 

have stocks of preprinted lease forms that comply with the 215 

notice requirements of current law. Accordingly, for leases 216 

entered into on or before December 31, 2013, a landlord may give 217 

notice that contains the disclosure required in the changes made 218 

by this act to s. 83.49, Florida Statutes, or the former notice 219 

required in s. 83.49, Florida Statutes 2012. In any event, the 220 

disclosure required by this act is only required for all leases 221 

entered into under this part on or after January 1, 2014. 222 

Section 5. Section 83.50, Florida Statutes, is amended to 223 

read: 224 

83.50 Disclosure of landlord’s address.— 225 

(1) In addition to any other disclosure required by law, 226 

the landlord, or a person authorized to enter into a rental 227 

agreement on the landlord’s behalf, shall disclose in writing to 228 

the tenant, at or before the commencement of the tenancy, the 229 

name and address of the landlord or a person authorized to 230 

receive notices and demands in the landlord’s behalf. The person 231 

so authorized to receive notices and demands retains authority 232 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 490 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

580-04038A-13 2013490c2 

Page 9 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

until the tenant is notified otherwise. All notices of such 233 

names and addresses or changes thereto shall be delivered to the 234 

tenant’s residence or, if specified in writing by the tenant, to 235 

any other address. 236 

(2) The landlord or the landlord’s authorized 237 

representative, upon completion of construction of a building 238 

exceeding three stories in height and containing dwelling units, 239 

shall disclose to the tenants initially moving into the building 240 

the availability or lack of availability of fire protection. 241 

Section 6. Subsection (1) and paragraph (a) of subsection 242 

(2) of section 83.51, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 243 

83.51 Landlord’s obligation to maintain premises.— 244 

(1) The landlord at all times during the tenancy shall: 245 

(a) Comply with the requirements of applicable building, 246 

housing, and health codes; or 247 

(b) Where there are no applicable building, housing, or 248 

health codes, maintain the roofs, windows, screens, doors, 249 

floors, steps, porches, exterior walls, foundations, and all 250 

other structural components in good repair and capable of 251 

resisting normal forces and loads and the plumbing in reasonable 252 

working condition. The landlord, at commencement of the tenancy, 253 

must ensure that screens are installed in a reasonable 254 

condition. Thereafter, the landlord must repair damage to 255 

screens once annually, when necessary, until termination of the 256 

rental agreement. However, 257 

 258 

The landlord is shall not be required to maintain a mobile home 259 

or other structure owned by the tenant. The landlord’s 260 

obligations under this subsection may be altered or modified in 261 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 490 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

580-04038A-13 2013490c2 

Page 10 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

writing with respect to a single-family home or duplex. 262 

(2)(a) Unless otherwise agreed in writing, in addition to 263 

the requirements of subsection (1), the landlord of a dwelling 264 

unit other than a single-family home or duplex shall, at all 265 

times during the tenancy, make reasonable provisions for: 266 

1. The extermination of rats, mice, roaches, ants, wood-267 

destroying organisms, and bedbugs. When vacation of the premises 268 

is required for such extermination, the landlord is shall not be 269 

liable for damages but shall abate the rent. The tenant must 270 

shall be required to temporarily vacate the premises for a 271 

period of time not to exceed 4 days, on 7 days’ written notice, 272 

if necessary, for extermination pursuant to this subparagraph. 273 

2. Locks and keys. 274 

3. The clean and safe condition of common areas. 275 

4. Garbage removal and outside receptacles therefor. 276 

5. Functioning facilities for heat during winter, running 277 

water, and hot water. 278 

Section 7. Section 83.54, Florida Statutes, is amended to 279 

read: 280 

83.54 Enforcement of rights and duties; civil action; 281 

criminal offenses.—Any right or duty declared in this part is 282 

enforceable by civil action. A right or duty enforced by civil 283 

action under this section does not preclude prosecution for a 284 

criminal offense related to the lease or leased property. 285 

Section 8. Subsections (2) through (5) of section 83.56, 286 

Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 287 

83.56 Termination of rental agreement.— 288 

(2) If the tenant materially fails to comply with s. 83.52 289 

or material provisions of the rental agreement, other than a 290 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 490 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

580-04038A-13 2013490c2 

Page 11 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

failure to pay rent, or reasonable rules or regulations, the 291 

landlord may: 292 

(a) If such noncompliance is of a nature that the tenant 293 

should not be given an opportunity to cure it or if the 294 

noncompliance constitutes a subsequent or continuing 295 

noncompliance within 12 months of a written warning by the 296 

landlord of a similar violation, deliver a written notice to the 297 

tenant specifying the noncompliance and the landlord’s intent to 298 

terminate the rental agreement by reason thereof. Examples of 299 

noncompliance which are of a nature that the tenant should not 300 

be given an opportunity to cure include, but are not limited to, 301 

destruction, damage, or misuse of the landlord’s or other 302 

tenants’ property by intentional act or a subsequent or 303 

continued unreasonable disturbance. In such event, the landlord 304 

may terminate the rental agreement, and the tenant shall have 7 305 

days from the date that the notice is delivered to vacate the 306 

premises. The notice shall be adequate if it is in substantially 307 

the following form: 308 

 309 

You are advised that your lease is terminated effective 310 

immediately. You shall have 7 days from the delivery of this 311 

letter to vacate the premises. This action is taken because 312 

...(cite the noncompliance).... 313 

 314 

(b) If such noncompliance is of a nature that the tenant 315 

should be given an opportunity to cure it, deliver a written 316 

notice to the tenant specifying the noncompliance, including a 317 

notice that, if the noncompliance is not corrected within 7 days 318 

from the date that the written notice is delivered, the landlord 319 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 490 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

580-04038A-13 2013490c2 

Page 12 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

shall terminate the rental agreement by reason thereof. Examples 320 

of such noncompliance include, but are not limited to, 321 

activities in contravention of the lease or this part act such 322 

as having or permitting unauthorized pets, guests, or vehicles; 323 

parking in an unauthorized manner or permitting such parking; or 324 

failing to keep the premises clean and sanitary. If such 325 

noncompliance recurs within 12 months after notice, an eviction 326 

action may commence without delivering a subsequent notice 327 

pursuant to paragraph (a) or this paragraph. The notice shall be 328 

adequate if it is in substantially the following form: 329 

 330 

You are hereby notified that ...(cite the 331 

noncompliance).... Demand is hereby made that you remedy the 332 

noncompliance within 7 days of receipt of this notice or your 333 

lease shall be deemed terminated and you shall vacate the 334 

premises upon such termination. If this same conduct or conduct 335 

of a similar nature is repeated within 12 months, your tenancy 336 

is subject to termination without further warning and without 337 

your being given an opportunity to cure the noncompliance. 338 

 339 

(3) If the tenant fails to pay rent when due and the 340 

default continues for 3 days, excluding Saturday, Sunday, and 341 

legal holidays, after delivery of written demand by the landlord 342 

for payment of the rent or possession of the premises, the 343 

landlord may terminate the rental agreement. Legal holidays for 344 

the purpose of this section shall be court-observed holidays 345 

only. The 3-day notice shall contain a statement in 346 

substantially the following form: 347 

 348 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 490 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

580-04038A-13 2013490c2 

Page 13 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

You are hereby notified that you are indebted to me in the 349 

sum of .... dollars for the rent and use of the premises 350 

...(address of leased premises, including county)..., Florida, 351 

now occupied by you and that I demand payment of the rent or 352 

possession of the premises within 3 days (excluding Saturday, 353 

Sunday, and legal holidays) from the date of delivery of this 354 

notice, to wit: on or before the .... day of ...., ...(year).... 355 

 356 

...(landlord’s name, address and phone number)... 357 

 358 

(4) The delivery of the written notices required by 359 

subsections (1), (2), and (3) shall be by mailing or delivery of 360 

a true copy thereof or, if the tenant is absent from the 361 

premises, by leaving a copy thereof at the residence. The notice 362 

requirements of subsections (1), (2), and (3) may not be waived 363 

in the lease. 364 

(5)(a) If the landlord accepts rent with actual knowledge 365 

of a noncompliance by the tenant or accepts performance by the 366 

tenant of any other provision of the rental agreement that is at 367 

variance with its provisions, or if the tenant pays rent with 368 

actual knowledge of a noncompliance by the landlord or accepts 369 

performance by the landlord of any other provision of the rental 370 

agreement that is at variance with its provisions, the landlord 371 

or tenant waives his or her right to terminate the rental 372 

agreement or to bring a civil action for that noncompliance, but 373 

not for any subsequent or continuing noncompliance. However, a 374 

landlord does not waive the right to terminate the rental 375 

agreement or to bring a civil action for that noncompliance by 376 

accepting partial rent for the period. 377 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 490 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

580-04038A-13 2013490c2 

Page 14 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(b) Any tenant who wishes to defend against an action by 378 

the landlord for possession of the unit for noncompliance of the 379 

rental agreement or of relevant statutes must shall comply with 380 

the provisions in s. 83.60(2). The court may not set a date for 381 

mediation or trial unless the provisions of s. 83.60(2) have 382 

been met, but must shall enter a default judgment for removal of 383 

the tenant with a writ of possession to issue immediately if the 384 

tenant fails to comply with s. 83.60(2). 385 

(c) This subsection does not apply to that portion of rent 386 

subsidies received from a local, state, or national government 387 

or an agency of local, state, or national government; however, 388 

waiver will occur if an action has not been instituted within 45 389 

days after the landlord obtains actual knowledge of the 390 

noncompliance. 391 

Section 9. Subsection (1) of section 83.575, Florida 392 

Statutes, is amended to read: 393 

83.575 Termination of tenancy with specific duration.— 394 

(1) A rental agreement with a specific duration may contain 395 

a provision requiring the tenant to notify the landlord within a 396 

specified period before vacating the premises at the end of the 397 

rental agreement, if such provision requires the landlord to 398 

notify the tenant within such notice period if the rental 399 

agreement will not be renewed; however, a rental agreement may 400 

not require more than 60 days’ notice from either the tenant or 401 

the landlord before vacating the premises. 402 

Section 10. Section 83.58, Florida Statutes, is amended to 403 

read: 404 

83.58 Remedies; tenant holding over.—If the tenant holds 405 

over and continues in possession of the dwelling unit or any 406 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 490 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

580-04038A-13 2013490c2 

Page 15 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

part thereof after the expiration of the rental agreement 407 

without the permission of the landlord, the landlord may recover 408 

possession of the dwelling unit in the manner provided for in s. 409 

83.59 [F.S. 1973]. The landlord may also recover double the 410 

amount of rent due on the dwelling unit, or any part thereof, 411 

for the period during which the tenant refuses to surrender 412 

possession. 413 

Section 11. Subsection (2) of section 83.59, Florida 414 

Statutes, is amended to read: 415 

83.59 Right of action for possession.— 416 

(2) A landlord, the landlord’s attorney, or the landlord’s 417 

agent, applying for the removal of a tenant, shall file in the 418 

county court of the county where the premises are situated a 419 

complaint describing the dwelling unit and stating the facts 420 

that authorize its recovery. A landlord’s agent is not permitted 421 

to take any action other than the initial filing of the 422 

complaint, unless the landlord’s agent is an attorney. The 423 

landlord is entitled to the summary procedure provided in s. 424 

51.011 [F.S. 1971], and the court shall advance the cause on the 425 

calendar. 426 

Section 12. Section 83.60, Florida Statutes, is amended to 427 

read: 428 

83.60 Defenses to action for rent or possession; 429 

procedure.— 430 

(1)(a) In an action by the landlord for possession of a 431 

dwelling unit based upon nonpayment of rent or in an action by 432 

the landlord under s. 83.55 seeking to recover unpaid rent, the 433 

tenant may defend upon the ground of a material noncompliance 434 

with s. 83.51(1) [F.S. 1973], or may raise any other defense, 435 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 490 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

580-04038A-13 2013490c2 

Page 16 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

whether legal or equitable, that he or she may have, including 436 

the defense of retaliatory conduct in accordance with s. 83.64. 437 

The landlord must be given an opportunity to cure a deficiency 438 

in a notice or in the pleadings before dismissal of the action. 439 

(b) The defense of a material noncompliance with s. 440 

83.51(1) [F.S. 1973] may be raised by the tenant if 7 days have 441 

elapsed after the delivery of written notice by the tenant to 442 

the landlord, specifying the noncompliance and indicating the 443 

intention of the tenant not to pay rent by reason thereof. Such 444 

notice by the tenant may be given to the landlord, the 445 

landlord’s representative as designated pursuant to s. 83.50(1), 446 

a resident manager, or the person or entity who collects the 447 

rent on behalf of the landlord. A material noncompliance with s. 448 

83.51(1) [F.S. 1973] by the landlord is a complete defense to an 449 

action for possession based upon nonpayment of rent, and, upon 450 

hearing, the court or the jury, as the case may be, shall 451 

determine the amount, if any, by which the rent is to be reduced 452 

to reflect the diminution in value of the dwelling unit during 453 

the period of noncompliance with s. 83.51(1) [F.S. 1973]. After 454 

consideration of all other relevant issues, the court shall 455 

enter appropriate judgment. 456 

(2) In an action by the landlord for possession of a 457 

dwelling unit, if the tenant interposes any defense other than 458 

payment, including, but not limited to, the defense of a 459 

defective 3-day notice, the tenant shall pay into the registry 460 

of the court the accrued rent as alleged in the complaint or as 461 

determined by the court and the rent that which accrues during 462 

the pendency of the proceeding, when due. The clerk shall notify 463 

the tenant of such requirement in the summons. Failure of the 464 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 490 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

580-04038A-13 2013490c2 

Page 17 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

tenant to pay the rent into the registry of the court or to file 465 

a motion to determine the amount of rent to be paid into the 466 

registry within 5 days, excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and legal 467 

holidays, after the date of service of process constitutes an 468 

absolute waiver of the tenant’s defenses other than payment, and 469 

the landlord is entitled to an immediate default judgment for 470 

removal of the tenant with a writ of possession to issue without 471 

further notice or hearing thereon. If In the event a motion to 472 

determine rent is filed, documentation in support of the 473 

allegation that the rent as alleged in the complaint is in error 474 

is required. Public housing tenants or tenants receiving rent 475 

subsidies are shall be required to deposit only that portion of 476 

the full rent for which they are the tenant is responsible 477 

pursuant to the federal, state, or local program in which they 478 

are participating. 479 

Section 13. Subsection (1) of section 83.62, Florida 480 

Statutes, is amended to read: 481 

83.62 Restoration of possession to landlord.— 482 

(1) In an action for possession, after entry of judgment in 483 

favor of the landlord, the clerk shall issue a writ to the 484 

sheriff describing the premises and commanding the sheriff to 485 

put the landlord in possession after 24 hours’ notice 486 

conspicuously posted on the premises. Saturdays, Sundays, and 487 

legal holidays do not stay the 24-hour notice period. 488 

Section 14. Section 83.63, Florida Statutes, is amended to 489 

read: 490 

83.63 Casualty damage.—If the premises are damaged or 491 

destroyed other than by the wrongful or negligent acts of the 492 

tenant so that the enjoyment of the premises is substantially 493 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 490 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

580-04038A-13 2013490c2 

Page 18 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

impaired, the tenant may terminate the rental agreement and 494 

immediately vacate the premises. The tenant may vacate the part 495 

of the premises rendered unusable by the casualty, in which case 496 

the tenant’s liability for rent shall be reduced by the fair 497 

rental value of that part of the premises damaged or destroyed. 498 

If the rental agreement is terminated, the landlord shall comply 499 

with s. 83.49(3) [F.S. 1973]. 500 

Section 15. Subsection (1) of section 83.64, Florida 501 

Statutes, is amended to read: 502 

83.64 Retaliatory conduct.— 503 

(1) It is unlawful for a landlord to discriminatorily 504 

increase a tenant’s rent or decrease services to a tenant, or to 505 

bring or threaten to bring an action for possession or other 506 

civil action, primarily because the landlord is retaliating 507 

against the tenant. In order for the tenant to raise the defense 508 

of retaliatory conduct, the tenant must have acted in good 509 

faith. Examples of conduct for which the landlord may not 510 

retaliate include, but are not limited to, situations where: 511 

(a) The tenant has complained to a governmental agency 512 

charged with responsibility for enforcement of a building, 513 

housing, or health code of a suspected violation applicable to 514 

the premises; 515 

(b) The tenant has organized, encouraged, or participated 516 

in a tenants’ organization; 517 

(c) The tenant has complained to the landlord pursuant to 518 

s. 83.56(1); or 519 

(d) The tenant is a servicemember who has terminated a 520 

rental agreement pursuant to s. 83.682; 521 

(e) The tenant has paid rent to a condominium, cooperative, 522 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 490 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

580-04038A-13 2013490c2 

Page 19 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

or homeowners’ association after demand from the association in 523 

order to pay the landlord’s obligation to the association; or 524 

(f) The tenant has exercised his or her rights under local, 525 

state, or federal fair housing laws. 526 

Section 16. This act shall take effect July 1, 2013. 527 



(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Topic

Name

Job Title

Address

Bill Number

Stre~ ~

City

Speaking: [~ For

Representing    ~’ ~"

Appearing at request of Chair: [---] Yes ~

Amendment Barcode
(if applicable)

State

(ifapplicablO

~Against ~-~ Information

Lobbyist registered with Legislature: ~-~ Yes [~ No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting, s-001 (10/20/11)



Topic

Name

Job Title

tg Date

~
([~eliver BOTN copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Pro[essional Staff conducting the meeting)

Bill Number    ~ ~ (/9 (~
(if applicable)

Amendment Barcode ~
(if applicable)

Address
Street

City

Speaking:    D For [~gainst

Phone

Representing

Appearing at request of Chair: [] Yes

E-mail
State Zip

D Information

Lobbyist registered with Legislature:~-[~Yes [---] No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speakto be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to fimit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting, s-001 (10/20/11)



Name

Job Title

Address
Street

Speaking:    [~] For    ~nst

Representing ~~

A~eadn~ at request of Chair: ~ Yes ~

State Zip

I---] Information

Bill Number

Amendment Barcode
(if applicable)

(if applicable)

Lobbyist registered with Legislature: I~ Yes ~

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting, s-ool (10/20/11 )



THE FLORIDA ~=NAT~

(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Topic

Name

Job Title

Address

Speaking:    [~] For    [~’ Against

Representing ~ O \ ~

Appearing at request of Chair: [--] Yes [~ No

Bill Number
(if applicable)

Amendment Barcode
(if applicable)

Information

Lobbyist registered with Legislature: [] Yes~o

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage pubfic testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting, s-ool (lO/2O/1



TH~ FLORIDA ~NATE

(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Date

Topic

Name

Job Title

Address

Bill Number
(if applicable)

Amendment Barcode
(if applicable)

Speaking:    ~-] For    ~Against

Representing

State Zip

Information

Appearing at request of Chair: [~] Yes I~No
Lobbyist registered with Legislature: [--] Yesz[~ No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage pubfic testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the pubfic record for this meeting, s-ool (10/20/11 )



Meeting Date

L
Name

Job Title

Address

THI~ FLORIDA

APPEARANCE RI COIRI#
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Street

City ..// State Zip

Speaking: ~ For ~Against ~ Information

Representing ~ ~

Appearing at request of Chair: [] Yes [~o

Bill Number O ~r (} 0

Amendment Barcode
(if applicable)

(if applicable)

Phone

E-mail

Lobbyist registered with Legislature: I---] Yes.~ No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting, s-ool (10/20/11)



Meeting Date

(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Topic

Name

Job Title

Address [ (.4~ (~2 ~--o~ ,~L~ (~

Speaking:    [~ For i~Against

State Zip

[~ Information

Representing

Bill Number
(if applicable)

Amendment Barcode
(if applicable)

Appearing at request of Chair: E~ Yes ~No
Lobbyist registered with Legislature: ~] Yes [~No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage pubfic testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting, s-001 (10/20/11)



(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date

Topic

Name

Job Title

Address

Bill Number

Amendment Barcode

Speaking:    ~or

(if applicable)

[---] Against [-~ Information

(if applicable)

Representing ~ t OY’f’~-~ ~ ~{+¢~1~/~ ~4

Appearing at request of Chair: [~] Yes ~1% Lobbyist registered with Legislature: ~ [---] No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to fimit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting, s-ool (lO/2O/11)



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Rules 

 

BILL: CS/SB 536 

INTRODUCER: Health Policy Committee and Senator Detert 

SUBJECT:  Physical Therapy 

DATE:  April 12, 2013 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. McElheney  Stovall  HP  Fav/CS 

2. Matiyow  Burgess  BI  Favorable 

3. McElheney  Phelps  RC  Favorable 

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... X Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

CS/SB 536 amends the definition of the practice of physical therapy by adding an advanced 

registered nurse practitioner (ARNP) to the practitioners who may authorize a physical therapist 

to implement a plan of treatment provided for a patient.  

 

This bill substantially amends the following section of the Florida Statutes: 486.021. 

II. Present Situation: 

Physical Therapy Practice 

Physical therapy includes assessment of the function of the musculoskeletal or neuromuscular 

system, including range of motion of a joint, motor power, postural attitudes, biomechanical 

function, locomotion, or functional abilities and the treatment or rehabilitation of any disability, 

injury, disease, or other health condition of human beings. A variety of aids may be used in 

treatment or rehabilitation, including air, electricity, exercise, massage, acupuncture under 

certain conditions, radiant energy, ultrasound, water, and various apparatus and equipment.
1
 

                                                 
1
 See s. 486.021(10) and (11), F.S. 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/SB 536   Page 2 

 

 

Physical therapists are licensed under ch. 486, F.S., the Physical Therapy Practice Act (the Act). 

A physical therapist is a person who is licensed and who practices physical therapy in 

accordance with the provisions of the Act. The Board of Physical Therapy Practice (Board) 

established within the Department of Health is responsible for implementing and administering 

the Act. 

 

Currently, a physical therapist may implement a plan of treatment for a patient for up to 21 days 

for a condition not previously assessed by a practitioner of record. A practitioner of record may 

be a chiropractor, podiatrist, dentist, or a practitioner licensed under the medical practice act or 

osteopathic medical practice act. If treatment is needed beyond 21 days, the plan must be 

reviewed and signed by a practitioner of record. 

 

A physical therapist is required to refer a patient to or consult with a practitioner of record if a 

patient’s condition is found to be outside the scope of physical therapy. In addition, a physical 

therapist may not implement a plan of treatment for a patient who is currently being treated in a 

facility licensed pursuant to chapter 395 (hospital).
2
 

 

Current statutes do not specifically authorize a physical therapist to implement a plan of 

treatment (accept a referral) provided by an ARNP, although it is within the ARNP’s scope of 

practice to order physical therapy pursuant to a standing protocol with the supervising physician. 

Since 1998, at least three Declaratory Statements have been received and addressed by the Board 

relating to the ability of physical therapists to accept referrals from an ARNP or from a physician 

assistant. In two of the instances, the Board indicated that physical therapists could accept 

referrals from an ARNP as well as a physician assistant. In the third and most recent statement, 

the Board indicated that s. 486.021, F.S., did not provide for accepting referrals from an ARNP.
3
 

 

Advanced Registered Nurse Practitioners (ARNP) 

An ARNP is defined in s. 464.003, F.S., to be any person licensed in this state to practice 

professional nursing and certified in advanced or specialized nursing practice, including certified 

registered nurse anesthetists, certified nurse midwives, and nurse practitioners. An ARNP may 

perform acts of nursing diagnosis and nursing treatment of alterations of the health status. An 

ARNP may also perform acts of medical diagnosis and treatment, prescription, and operation 

which are identified and approved by a joint committee appointed by the Board.
4
 

 

An ARNP may perform the following functions within the framework of an established protocol 

with a supervising physician which is filed with the Board: 

 

 Monitor and alter drug therapies. 

 Initiate appropriate therapies for certain conditions. 

 Perform additional functions as determined by rule. 

                                                 
2
 See Department of Health Bill Analysis for SB 536 (dated January 24, 2013) on file with the Senate Health Policy 

Committee. 
3
 Supra, fn 1 

4
 s. 464.003(2), F.S. 



BILL: CS/SB 536   Page 3 

 

 Order diagnostic tests, physical therapy, and occupational therapy.
5
  

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

Section 486.021, F.S., authorizes a physical therapist to implement a plan of treatment ordered 

by an ARNP as well as a practitioner of record. 

 

The CS does not expand the scope of practice of an ARNP. It also does not designate an ARNP 

as a practitioner of record for purposes of referrals that a physical therapist must make if a 

patient’s condition is found to be outside the scope of physical therapy or when physical therapy 

treatment for a patient is required beyond 21 days for a condition not previously assessed by a 

practitioner of record. 

 

The CS restructures the definition of “practice of physical therapy” for clarity and makes other 

grammatical improvements. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

Physical therapists will be able to implement plans of treatment ordered by an ARNP. 

This will facilitate delivery of health care services in a more cost effective manner. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

None. 

                                                 
5
 See s. 464.012(3), F.S. 



BILL: CS/SB 536   Page 4 

 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

An ARNP is not added to the definition of practitioner of record, which perpetuates the 

limitation on an ARNP’s otherwise lawful scope of practice with respect to ordering physical 

therapy.  

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS by Health Policy on March 7, 2013: 

The CS reinstates the authority for a physical therapist to implement a plan of treatment 

after his or her own assessment and authorizes a physical therapist to implement a plan of 

treatment issued by an ARNP. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 536 

 

 

 

By the Committee on Health Policy; and Senator Detert 

 

 

 

 

588-02016-13 2013536c1 

Page 1 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to physical therapy; amending s. 2 

486.021, F.S.; authorizing physical therapists to 3 

implement physical therapy treatment plans of a 4 

specified duration which are provided by advanced 5 

registered nurse practitioners; providing an effective 6 

date. 7 

 8 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 9 

 10 

Section 1. Subsection (11) of section 486.021, Florida 11 

Statutes, is amended to read: 12 

486.021 Definitions.—In this chapter, unless the context 13 

otherwise requires, the term: 14 

(11) “Practice of physical therapy” means the performance 15 

of physical therapy assessments and the treatment of any 16 

disability, injury, disease, or other health condition of human 17 

beings, or the prevention of such disability, injury, disease, 18 

or other condition of health, and rehabilitation as related 19 

thereto by the use of the physical, chemical, and other 20 

properties of air; electricity; exercise; massage; the 21 

performance of acupuncture only upon compliance with the 22 

criteria set forth by the Board of Medicine, when no penetration 23 

of the skin occurs; the use of radiant energy, including 24 

ultraviolet, visible, and infrared rays; ultrasound; water; the 25 

use of apparatus and equipment in the application of the 26 

foregoing or related thereto; the performance of tests of 27 

neuromuscular functions as an aid to the diagnosis or treatment 28 

of any human condition; or the performance of electromyography 29 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 536 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

588-02016-13 2013536c1 

Page 2 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

as an aid to the diagnosis of any human condition only upon 30 

compliance with the criteria set forth by the Board of Medicine. 31 

(a) A physical therapist may implement a plan of treatment 32 

developed by the physical therapist for a patient or provided 33 

for a patient by a practitioner of record or by an advanced 34 

registered nurse practitioner licensed under s. 464.012. The 35 

physical therapist shall refer the patient to or consult with a 36 

health care practitioner of record licensed under chapter 458, 37 

chapter 459, chapter 460, chapter 461, or chapter 466, if the 38 

patient’s condition is found to be outside the scope of physical 39 

therapy. If physical therapy treatment for a patient is required 40 

beyond 21 days for a condition not previously assessed by a 41 

practitioner of record, the physical therapist shall obtain a 42 

practitioner of record who will review and sign the plan. For 43 

purposes of this paragraph, a health care practitioner licensed 44 

under chapter 458, chapter 459, chapter 460, chapter 461, or 45 

chapter 466 and engaged in active practice is eligible to serve 46 

as a practitioner of record. 47 

(b) The use of roentgen rays and radium for diagnostic and 48 

therapeutic purposes and the use of electricity for surgical 49 

purposes, including cauterization, are not authorized under the 50 

term “physical therapy” for purposes of as used in this chapter. 51 

(c) The practice of physical therapy as defined in this 52 

chapter does not authorize a physical therapy practitioner to 53 

practice chiropractic medicine as defined in chapter 460, 54 

including specific spinal manipulation. For the performance of 55 

specific chiropractic spinal manipulation, a physical therapist 56 

shall refer the patient to a health care practitioner licensed 57 

under chapter 460. 58 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 536 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

588-02016-13 2013536c1 

Page 3 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(d) Nothing in This subsection does not authorize 59 

authorizes a physical therapist to implement a plan of treatment 60 

for a patient currently being treated in a facility licensed 61 

pursuant to chapter 395. 62 

Section 2. This act shall take effect July 1, 2013. 63 



 

The Florida Senate 

Committee Agenda Request 

 

File signed original with committee office  S-020 (03/2004) 

To: Senator John Thrasher, Chair 

 Committee on Rules  

Subject: Committee Agenda Request 

Date: April 9, 2013 

 

 

I respectfully request that Senate Bill #536, relating to Physical Therapy, be placed on the: 

 

  committee agenda at your earliest possible convenience. 

 

  next committee agenda. 

 

  

 
Senator Nancy C. Detert 

Florida Senate, District 28 

 



(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Topic

Address
Street

City State Zip

Speaking:    ~For [~ Against [---] Information

Representing

Bill Number ~

Amendment Barcode
(if applicable)

(if applicable)

Phone

E-mail

Appearing at request of Chair: [~ Yes No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: E~es [~ No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time nfa] not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting, s-ool (1 o/2o/11 )



Meeting Date

(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Topic

Name

Job Title

Address

Bill Number
(if applicable)

Amendment Barcode
(if applicable)

Speaking:    [~For [~ Against [~ Information

Representing

Appearing at request of Chair: [--] Yes [---’--~No ! Lobbyist registered with Legislature: J~!_J Yes No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public te~tYmony, tim~may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to tim# their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting, s-001 (10/20/11)



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Rules  

 

BILL:  CS/CS/SB 1016 

INTRODUCER: Judiciary Committee; Health Policy Committee; and Senator Hays 

SUBJECT:  Sovereign Immunity for Dentists and Dental Hygienist 

DATE:  April 12, 2013 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. McElheney  Stovall  HP  Fav/CS 

2. Munroe  Cibula  JU  Fav/CS 

3. McElheney  Phelps  RC  Favorable 

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... X Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

CS/CS/SB 1016 prohibits an insurer, health maintenance organization (HMO), or prepaid limited 

health service organization from contracting with a licensed dentist to provide services to an 

insured or subscriber at a specified fee unless such services are “covered services” under the 

applicable contract. The bill prohibits an insurer, HMO, or prepaid limited health services 

organization from requiring that a contracted dentist participate in a discount medical plan. The 

bill also prohibits an insurer from requiring that a contracted health care provider accept the 

terms of other practitioner contracts with a prepaid limited health service organization that is 

under common management and control with the contracting insurer. 

 

The bill also authorizes a dentist, who is a government contracted health care provider under the 

Access to Health Care Act, to allow a patient, or a parent or guardian of a patient to voluntarily 

contribute a fee to cover costs of dental laboratory work. The contribution may not exceed the 

actual cost of the laboratory fee. When the voluntary contribution is accepted from the patient for 

dental laboratory fees, it is not considered compensation for services so that sovereign immunity 

protection is not lost. 

 

This bill creates one undesignated section of law. 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1016   Page 2 

 

 

This bill substantially amends the following sections of the Florida Statutes:  627.6474, 636.035, 

641.315, and 766.1115. 

 

II. Present Situation: 

Prohibition Against “All Products” Clauses in Health Care Provider Contracts 

Section 627.6474, F.S., prohibits a health insurer from requiring that a contracted health care 

practitioner accept the terms of other practitioner contracts (including Medicare and Medicaid 

practitioner contracts) with the insurer or with another insurer, HMO, preferred provider 

organization, or exclusive provider organization that is under common management and control 

with the contracting insurer. The statute exempts practitioners in group practices who must 

accept the contract terms negotiated by the group. These contractual provisions are referred to as 

“all products” clauses. Before being prohibited by the 2001 Legislature, these clauses typically 

required the health care provider, as a condition of participating in any of the health plan 

products, to participate in all of the health plan’s current or future health plan products. The 2001 

Legislature outlawed “all products” clauses after concerns were raised by physicians that the 

clauses: 

 

 May force providers to render services at below market rates; 

 Harm consumers through suppressed market competition; 

 May require physicians to accept future contracts with unknown and unpredictable business 

risk; and 

 May unfairly keep competing health plans out of the marketplace. 

 

Prepaid Limited Health Service Organizations Contracts 

Prepaid limited health service organizations (PLHSO) provide limited health services to 

enrollees through an exclusive panel of providers in exchange for a prepayment, and are 

authorized in ch. 636, F.S. Limited health services are ambulance services, dental care services, 

vision care services, mental health services, substance abuse services, chiropractic services, 

podiatric care services, and pharmaceutical services.
1
 Provider arrangements for prepaid limited 

health service organizations are authorized in s. 636.035, F.S., and must comply with the 

requirements in that section. 

 

Health Maintenance Organization Provider Contracts 

An HMO is an organization that provides a wide range of health care services, including 

emergency care, inpatient hospital care, physician care, ambulatory diagnostic treatment and 

preventive health care pursuant to contractual arrangements with preferred providers in, a 

designated service area.
2
 Traditionally, an HMO member must use the HMO’s network of health 

care providers in order for the HMO to make payment of benefits. The use of a health care 

provider outside the HMO’s network generally results in the HMO limiting or denying the 

                                                 
1
 Section 636.003(5), F.S. 

2
 Section 641.19(12), F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1016   Page 3 

 

payment of benefits for the out-of-network services rendered to the member. Section 641.315, 

F.S., specifies requirements for the HMO provider contracts with providers of health care 

services. 

 

Discount Medical Plan Organizations 

Discount medical plan organizations (DMPOs)
3
 offer a variety of health care services to 

consumers at a discounted rate. These plans are not health insurance and therefore do not pay for 

services on behalf of members. Instead, the plans offer members access to specific health care 

products and services at a discounted fee. These health products and services may include, but 

are not limited to, dental services, emergency services, mental health services, vision care, 

chiropractic services, and hearing care. Generally, a DMPO has a contract with a provider 

network under which the individual providers render the medical services at a discount. 

 

The DMPOs are regulated by the Office of Insurance Regulation (OIR) under part II of ch. 636, 

F.S. That statute establishes licensure requirements, annual reporting, minimum capital 

requirements, authority for examinations and investigations, marketing restrictions, prohibited 

activities, and criminal penalties, among other regulations. 

 

Before transacting business in Florida, a DMPO must be incorporated and possess a license as a 

DMPO.
4
 As a condition of licensure, each DMPO must maintain a net worth requirement of 

$150,000.
5
 All charges to members of such plans must be filed with OIR and any charge to 

members greater than $30 per month or $360 per year must be approved by OIR before the 

charges can be used by the plan.
6
 All forms used by the organization must be filed with and 

approved by OIR. 

 

Access to Health Care Act 

Section 766.1115, F.S., is entitled “The Access to Health Care Act” (the Act). The Act was 

enacted in 1992 to encourage health care providers to provide care to low-income persons.
7
 This 

section extends sovereign immunity to health care providers who execute a contract with a 

governmental contractor and who provide volunteer, uncompensated health care services to low-

income individuals as an agent of the state. These health care providers are considered agents of 

the state under s. 768.28(9), F.S., for purposes of extending sovereign immunity while acting 

within the scope of duties required under the Act. 

 

Health care providers under the Act include:
8
 

 

 A birth center licensed under ch. 383, F.S.
9
 

                                                 
3
 Section 636.202(2), F.S. 

4
 Section 636.204, F.S. 

5
 Section 636.220, F.S. 

6
 Section 636.216(1), F.S. 

7
 Low-income persons are defined in the Act as a person who is Medicaid-eligible, a person who is without health insurance 

and whose family income does not exceed 200 percent of the federal poverty level, or any eligible client of the Department of 

Health who voluntarily chooses to participate in a program offered or approved by the department. 
8
 Section 766.1115(3)(d), F.S. 

9
 Section 766.1115(3)(d)1., F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1016   Page 4 

 

 An ambulatory surgical center licensed under ch. 395, F.S.
10

 

 A hospital licensed under ch. 395, F.S.
11

 

 A physician or physician assistant licensed under ch. 458, F.S.
12

 

 An osteopathic physician or osteopathic physician assistant licensed under ch. 459, F.S.
13

 

 A chiropractic physician licensed under ch. 460, F.S.
14

 

 A podiatric physician licensed under ch. 461, F.S.
15

 

 A registered nurse, nurse midwife, licensed practical nurse, or advanced registered nurse 

practitioner licensed or registered under part I of ch. 464, F.S., or any facility which employs 

nurses licensed or registered under part I of ch. 464, F.S., to supply all or part of the care 

delivered under this section.
16

 

 A dentist or dental hygienist licensed under ch. 466, F.S.
17

 

 A midwife licensed under ch. 467, F.S.
18

 

 A health maintenance organization certificated under part I of ch. 641, F.S.
19

 

 A health care professional association and its employees or a corporate medical group and its 

employees.
20

 

 Any other medical facility the primary purpose of which is to deliver human medical 

diagnostic services or which delivers nonsurgical human medical treatment, and which 

includes an office maintained by a provider.
21

 

 A free clinic that delivers only medical diagnostic services or nonsurgical medical treatment 

free of charge to all low-income recipients.
22

 

 Any other health care professional, practitioner, provider, or facility under contract with a 

governmental contractor, including a student enrolled in an accredited program that prepares 

the student for licensure as any one of the professionals listed in 

subparagraphs 766.1115(3)(d)4-9, F.S.
23

 

 Any nonprofit corporation qualified as exempt from federal income taxation under s. 501(a) 

of the Internal Revenue Code, and described in s. 501(c) of the Internal Revenue Code, 

which delivers health care services provided by the listed licensed professionals, any 

federally funded community health center, and any volunteer corporation or volunteer health 

care provider that delivers health care services. 

 

                                                 
10

 Section 766.1115(3)(d)2., F.S. 
11

 Section 766.1115(3)(d)3., F.S. 
12

 Section 766.1115(3)(d)4., F.S. 
13

 Section 766.1115(3)(d)5., F.S. 
14

 Section 766.1115(3)(d)6., F.S. 
15

 Section 766.1115(3)(d)7., F.S. 
16

 Section 766.1115(3)(d)8., F.S. 
17

 Section 766.1115(3)(d)9., F.S. 
18

 Section 766.1115(3)(d)10., F.S. 
19

 Section 766.1115(3)(d)11., F.S. 
20

 Section 766.1115(3)(d)12., F.S. 
21

 Section 766.1115(3)(d)13., F.S. 
22

 Section 766.1115(3)(d)14., F.S. 
23

 Section 766.1115(3)(d)15., F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1016   Page 5 

 

A governmental contractor is defined in the Act as the Department of Health (DOH or 

department), a county health department, a special taxing district with health care 

responsibilities, or a hospital owned and operated by a governmental entity.
24

 

 

The definition of contract under the Act provides that the contract must be for volunteer, 

uncompensated services. For services to qualify as volunteer, uncompensated services the health 

care provider must receive no compensation from the governmental contractor for any services 

provided under the contract and must not bill or accept compensation from the recipient, or any 

public or private third-party payor, for the specific services provided to the low-income 

recipients covered by the contract.
25

 

 

The Act further specifies contract requirements. The contract must provide that: 

 

 The governmental contractor retains the right of dismissal or termination of any health care 

provider delivering services under the contract. 

 The governmental contractor has access to the patient records of any health care provider 

delivering services under the contract. 

 The health care provider must report adverse incidents and information on treatment 

outcomes. 

 The governmental contractor must make patient selection and initial referrals. 

 The health care provider must accept all referred patients; however, the contract may specify 

limits on the number of patients to be referred. 

 Patient care, including any follow-up or hospital care is subject to approval by the 

governmental contractor. 

 The health care provider is subject to supervision and regular inspection by the governmental 

contractor. 

 

The governmental contractor must provide written notice to each patient, or the patient’s legal 

representative, receipt of which must be acknowledged in writing, that the provider is covered 

under s. 768.28, F.S., for purposes of actions related to medical negligence. 

 

The individual accepting services through this contracted provider must not have medical or 

dental care coverage for the illness, injury, or condition in which medical or dental care is 

sought.
26

 The services not covered under this program include experimental procedures and 

clinically unproven procedures. The governmental contractor shall determine whether or not a 

procedure is covered. 

 

The health care provider may not subcontract for the provision of services under this chapter.
27

 

 

Currently, s. 766.1115, F.S., is interpreted differently across the state. In certain parts of the state 

one medical director interprets this law to mean that as long as there is transparency and clear 

proof that the volunteer provider is providing services, without receiving personal compensation, 

                                                 
24

 Section 766.1115(3)(c), F.S. 
25

 Section 766.1115(3)(a), F.S. 
26

 Rule 64I-2.002, F.A.C. 
27

 Id. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1016   Page 6 

 

then the patient can pay a nominal amount per visit to assist in covering laboratory fees. In other 

parts of the state, a medical director suggests that if any monetary amount is accepted then 

sovereign immunity is lost. Patients sometimes offer to pay a nominal contribution to cover some 

of the cost of laboratory fees that the provider incurs to pay outside providers for items such as 

dentures for the patient. In many areas, the dentist is paying the cost of these fees from his or her 

own resources.
28

 

 

Sovereign Immunity 

The term “sovereign immunity” originally referred to the English common law concept that the 

government may not be sued because “the King can do no wrong.” Sovereign immunity bars 

lawsuits against the state or its political subdivisions for the torts of officers, employees, or 

agents of such governments unless the immunity is expressly waived. 

 

Article X, s. 13, of the Florida Constitution recognizes the concept of sovereign immunity and 

gives the Legislature the right to waive such immunity in part or in full by general law. 

Section 768.28, F.S., contains the limited waiver of sovereign immunity applicable to the state. 

 

Under this statute, officers, employees, and agents of the state will not be held personally liable 

in tort or named as a party defendant in any action for any injury or damage suffered as a result 

of any act, event, or omission of action in the scope of her or his employment or function, unless 

such officer, employee, or agent acted in bad faith or with malicious purpose or in a manner 

exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property. 

 

Instead, the state steps in as the party litigant and defends against the claim. Subsection (5) limits 

the recovery of any one person to $200,000 for one incidence and limits all recovery related to 

one incidence to a total of $300,000. The sovereign immunity recovery caps do not prevent a 

plaintiff from obtaining a judgment in excess of the caps, but the plaintiff cannot recover the 

excess damages without action by the Legislature.
29

 

 

Whether sovereign immunity applies turns on the degree of control of the agent of the state 

retained by the state.
30

 In Stoll v. Noel, the Florida Supreme Court explained that independent 

contractor physicians may be agents of the state for purposes of sovereign immunity: 

 

One who contracts on behalf of another and subject to the other’s control except with 

respect to his physical conduct is an agent and also independent contractor.31 

 

The court examined the employment contract between the physicians and the state to determine 

whether the state’s right to control was sufficient to create an agency relationship and held that it 

did.
32

 The court explained: 

 

                                                 
28

 Staff of Committee on Health Policy’s discussion with representatives from the Florida Dental Association on March 8, 

2013. 
29

 Section 768.28(5), F.S. 
30

 Stoll v. Noel, 694 So. 2d 701, 703(Fla. 1997). 
31

 Id. (quoting The Restatement of Agency). 
32

 Stoll v. Noel, 694 So. 2d 701 at 703. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1016   Page 7 

 

Whether the [Children’s Medical Services(CMS)] physician consultants are agents of the 

state turns on the degree of control retained or exercised by CMS. This Court has held 

that the right to control depends upon the terms of the employment contract. National 

Sur. Corp. v. Windham, 74 So. 2d 549, 550 (Fla. 1954) (“The [principal’s] right to control 

depends upon the terms of the contract of employment…”) The CMS requires each 

consultant, as a condition of participating in the CMS program, to agree to abide by the 

terms published in its HRS
33

 Manual and CMS Consultants Guide which contain CMS 

policies and rules governing its relationship with the consultants. The Consultant’s Guide 

states that all services provided to CMS patients must be authorized in advance by the 

clinic medical director. The language of the HRS Manual ascribes to CMS responsibility 

to supervise and direct the medical care of all CMS patients and supervisory authority 

over all personnel. The manual also grants to the CMS medical director absolute 

authority over payment for treatments proposed by consultants. The HRS Manual and the 

Consultant’s Guide demonstrate that CMS has final authority over all care and treatment 

provided to CMS patients, and it can refuse to allow a physician consultant’s 

recommended course of treatment of any CMS patient for either medical or budgetary 

reasons. 

 

Our conclusion is buttressed by HRS’s acknowledgement that the manual creates an 

agency relationship between CMS and its physician consultants, and despite its potential 

liability in this case, HRS has acknowledged full financial responsibility for the 

physicians’ actions. HRS’s interpretation of its manual is entitled to judicial deference 

and great weight.
34

 

 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

Inclusion of PLHSOs in Prohibition Against “All Products” Health Care Provider 

Contracts  

Under current law, a health insurer cannot require that a contracted health care practitioner 

accept the terms of other practitioner contracts (including Medicare and Medicaid practitioner 

contracts) with the insurer or with an insurer, HMO, preferred provider organization, or 

exclusive provider organization that is under common management and control with the 

contracting insurer. The bill adds to that list by prohibiting the insurer from requiring that a 

contracted health care provider accept the terms of other practitioner contracts with a PLHSO 

that is under common management and control with the contracting insurer. 

 

Dentist Provider Contracts: Prohibition Against Specifying Fees for Non-Covered Services 

The bill prohibits insurers, HMOs, and PLHSOs from executing a contract with a licensed dentist 

which requires the dentist to provide services to an insured or subscriber at a specified fee unless 

such services are “covered services” under the applicable contract. “Covered services” are 

defined as those services that are listed as a benefit that the subscriber is entitled to receive under 

                                                 
33

 Florida Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services. 
34

 Stoll v. Noel, 694 So. 2d 701, 703(Fla. 1997). 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1016   Page 8 

 

the contract. This will prevent contracts between dentists and insurers, HMOs, or PLHSOs from 

containing provisions that subject non-covered services to negotiated payment rates. 

 

The bill also prohibits insurers, HMOs, and PLHSOs from providing merely de minimis 

reimbursement or coverage to avoid the requirements of the bill. The bill requires that fees for 

covered services must be set in good faith and cannot be nominal. 

 

The bill prohibits insurers, HMOs, and PLHSOs from requiring that a contracted dentist 

participate in a DMPO. 

 

The bill also addresses the criminal penalty specified in s. 624.15, F.S.,
35,36

 by limiting the 

exemption from the criminal penalty currently contained in s. 627.6474, F.S., to subsection (1) of 

s. 627.6474, F.S. The provisions of subsection (2) of s. 627.6474, F.S., as created by the bill, are 

not specifically exempted from the criminal penalty. This leaves the current law exemption in 

place for the amended statutory provisions to which it currently applies, without applying the 

exemption to the bill’s new provisions in subsection (2). 

 

Access to Health Care Act 

The bill authorizes a dentist, who is a government contracted health care provider under the 

Access to Health Care Act, to allow a patient, or a parent or guardian of a patient to voluntarily 

contribute a fee to cover costs of dental laboratory work. The contribution may not exceed the 

actual cost of the laboratory fee. When the voluntary contribution is accepted from the patient for 

dental laboratory fees it is not considered compensation for services so that sovereign immunity 

protection is not lost. 

 

The bill provides an effective date of July 1, 2013, and the provisions in the bill apply to 

contracts entered into or renewed on or after that date. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

                                                 
35

 Section 624.15, F.S., provides that, unless a greater specific penalty is provided by another provision of the Insurance Code 

or other applicable law or rule of the state, each willful violation of the Insurance Code is a misdemeanor of the second 

degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083, F.S., and that each instance of such violation shall be considered a 

separate offense. 
36

 Section 775.082, F.S., provides that a person convicted of a misdemeanor of the second degree may be sentenced to a term 

of imprisonment not exceeding 60 days. Section 775.083, F.S., provides that a person convicted of a misdemeanor of the 

second degree may be sentenced to pay a fine not exceeding $500 plus court costs. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1016   Page 9 

 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

Insurance 

 

The bill may have a negative fiscal impact on health insurer, HMO, and PLHSO 

policyholders and subscribers who may pay higher costs for dental care if the Legislature 

prohibits these entities from contracting with dentists to provide services that are not 

covered at a negotiated fee. 

 

Access to Health Care Act 

 

The fiscal impact of the bill’s provisions relating to a patient’s voluntary contribution of a 

fee to cover costs of dental laboratory work is expected to be minimal since many areas 

in the state already allow voluntary contributions.
37

 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

Insurance  

 

According to the Office of Insurance Regulation writing on a similar 2011 Senate bill,
38

 

implementing the provisions of this bill relating to insurance plans will have no fiscal 

impact on the office. There also should be no direct impact on the costs that the state 

incurs for the state employees’ Preferred Provider Organization, (PPO) or the HMO 

Plans. However, members of the state dental coverage plans could be affected if dentists 

have the ability to bill and charge amounts above contracted rates when members are 

financially responsible for the service in question. 

 

Access to Health Care Act 

 

Additional documentation and billing may be required to avoid the appearance that 

voluntary contributions are compensation to the practitioner. It could be unclear whether 

the activities of the dentist’s staff to coordinate lab services may be characterized as paid 

work to the extent a fee or partial fee was provided for these services. This can be 

                                                 
37

 See Department of Health Bill Analysis for SB 1016 (dated March 11, 2013) on file with the Senate Health Policy 

Committee and notes from telephone call with staff on March 12, 2013. 
38

 SB 546 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1016   Page 10 

 

problematic if the dentist is volunteering through a professional association. Mistakes 

could result in litigation on the issue of compensation to the health care provider.
39

 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None 

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS/CS by Judiciary on April 9, 2013: 

The committee substitute makes the following changes to the underlying committee 

substitute to prohibit: 

 An insurer, health maintenance organization (HMO), or prepaid limited health service 

organization from contracting with a licensed dentist to provide services to an insured 

or subscriber at a specified fee unless such services are “covered services” under the 

applicable contract. 

 An insurer, HMO, or prepaid limited health services organization from requiring that 

a contracted dentist participate in a discount medical plan. 

 An insurer from requiring that a contracted health care provider accept the terms of 

other practitioner contracts with a prepaid limited health service organization that is 

under common management and control with the contracting insurer. 

 

CS by Health Policy on March 14, 2013: 
The CS removes the definition for the term “uncompensated services.” The CS authorizes 

a dentist, who is a government contracted health care provider, to allow a patient, parent, 

or guardian to voluntarily contribute a fee to cover costs of dental laboratory work. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 

                                                 
39

 See Department of Health Bill Analysis for SB 1016(dated March 11, 2013) on file with the Senate Health Policy 

Committee. 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 1016 

 

 

 

By the Committees on Judiciary; and Health Policy; and Senator 

Hays 

 

 

 

590-03867-13 20131016c2 

Page 1 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to dentistry; amending s. 627.6474, 2 

F.S.; prohibiting a contract between a health insurer 3 

and a dentist from requiring the dentist to provide 4 

services at a fee set by the insurer under certain 5 

circumstances; providing that covered services are 6 

those services listed as a benefit that the insured is 7 

entitled to receive under a contract; prohibiting an 8 

insurer from providing merely de minimis reimbursement 9 

or coverage; requiring that fees for covered services 10 

be set in good faith and not be nominal; prohibiting a 11 

health insurer from requiring as a condition of a 12 

contract that a dentist participate in a discount 13 

medical plan; amending s. 636.035, F.S.; prohibiting a 14 

contract between a prepaid limited health service 15 

organization and a dentist from requiring the dentist 16 

to provide services at a fee set by the organization 17 

under certain circumstances; providing that covered 18 

services are those services listed as a benefit that a 19 

subscriber of a prepaid limited health service 20 

organization is entitled to receive under a contract; 21 

prohibiting a prepaid limited health service 22 

organization from providing merely de minimis 23 

reimbursement or coverage; requiring that fees for 24 

covered services be set in good faith and not be 25 

nominal; prohibiting the prepaid limited health 26 

service organization from requiring as a condition of 27 

a contract that a dentist participate in a discount 28 

medical plan; amending s. 641.315, F.S.; prohibiting a 29 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 1016 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-03867-13 20131016c2 

Page 2 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

contract between a health maintenance organization and 30 

a dentist from requiring the dentist to provide 31 

services at a fee set by the organization under 32 

certain circumstances; providing that covered services 33 

are those services listed as a benefit that a 34 

subscriber of a health maintenance organization is 35 

entitled to receive under a contract; prohibiting a 36 

health maintenance organization from providing merely 37 

de minimis reimbursement or coverage; requiring that 38 

fees for covered services be set in good faith and not 39 

be nominal; prohibiting the health maintenance 40 

organization from requiring as a condition of a 41 

contract that a dentist participate in a discount 42 

medical plan; providing for application of the act; 43 

amending s. 766.1115, F.S.; revising a definition; 44 

requiring a contract with a governmental contractor 45 

for health care services to include a provision for a 46 

health care provider licensed under ch. 466, F.S., as 47 

an agent of the governmental contractor, to allow a 48 

patient or a parent or guardian of the patient to 49 

voluntarily contribute a fee to cover costs of dental 50 

laboratory work related to the services provided to 51 

the patient without forfeiting sovereign immunity; 52 

prohibiting the contribution from exceeding the actual 53 

amount of the dental laboratory charges; providing 54 

that the contribution complies with the requirements 55 

of s. 766.1115, F.S.; providing for applicability; 56 

providing an effective date. 57 

 58 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 1016 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-03867-13 20131016c2 

Page 3 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 59 

 60 

Section 1. Section 627.6474, Florida Statutes, is amended 61 

to read: 62 

627.6474 Provider contracts.— 63 

(1) A health insurer may shall not require a contracted 64 

health care practitioner as defined in s. 456.001(4) to accept 65 

the terms of other health care practitioner contracts with the 66 

insurer or any other insurer, or health maintenance 67 

organization, under common management and control with the 68 

insurer, including Medicare and Medicaid practitioner contracts 69 

and those authorized by s. 627.6471, s. 627.6472, s. 636.035, or 70 

s. 641.315, except for a practitioner in a group practice as 71 

defined in s. 456.053 who must accept the terms of a contract 72 

negotiated for the practitioner by the group, as a condition of 73 

continuation or renewal of the contract. Any contract provision 74 

that violates this section is void. A violation of this 75 

subsection section is not subject to the criminal penalty 76 

specified in s. 624.15. 77 

(2)(a) A contract between a health insurer and a dentist 78 

licensed under chapter 466 for the provision of services to an 79 

insured may not contain any provision that requires the dentist 80 

to provide services to the insured under such contract at a fee 81 

set by the health insurer unless such services are covered 82 

services under the applicable contract. 83 

(b) Covered services are those services that are listed as 84 

a benefit that the insured is entitled to receive under the 85 

contract. An insurer may not provide merely de minimis 86 

reimbursement or coverage in order to avoid the requirements of 87 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 1016 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-03867-13 20131016c2 

Page 4 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

this section. Fees for covered services shall be set in good 88 

faith and must not be nominal. 89 

(c) A health insurer may not require as a condition of the 90 

contract that the dentist participate in a discount medical plan 91 

under part II of chapter 636. 92 

Section 2. Subsection (13) is added to section 636.035, 93 

Florida Statutes, to read: 94 

636.035 Provider arrangements.— 95 

(13)(a) A contract between a prepaid limited health service 96 

organization and a dentist licensed under chapter 466 for the 97 

provision of services to a subscriber of the prepaid limited 98 

health service organization may not contain any provision that 99 

requires the dentist to provide services to the subscriber of 100 

the prepaid limited health service organization at a fee set by 101 

the prepaid limited health service organization unless such 102 

services are covered services under the applicable contract. 103 

(b) Covered services are those services that are listed as 104 

a benefit that the subscriber is entitled to receive under the 105 

contract. A prepaid limited health service organization may not 106 

provide merely de minimis reimbursement or coverage in order to 107 

avoid the requirements of this section. Fees for covered 108 

services shall be set in good faith and must not be nominal. 109 

(c) A prepaid limited health service organization may not 110 

require as a condition of the contract that the dentist 111 

participate in a discount medical plan under part II of this 112 

chapter. 113 

Section 3. Subsection (11) is added to section 641.315, 114 

Florida Statutes, to read: 115 

641.315 Provider contracts.— 116 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 1016 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-03867-13 20131016c2 

Page 5 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(11)(a) A contract between a health maintenance 117 

organization and a dentist licensed under chapter 466 for the 118 

provision of services to a subscriber of the health maintenance 119 

organization may not contain any provision that requires the 120 

dentist to provide services to the subscriber of the health 121 

maintenance organization at a fee set by the health maintenance 122 

organization unless such services are covered services under the 123 

applicable contract. 124 

(b) Covered services are those services that are listed as 125 

a benefit that the subscriber is entitled to receive under the 126 

contract. A health maintenance organization may not provide 127 

merely de minimis reimbursement or coverage in order to avoid 128 

the requirements of this section. Fees for covered services 129 

shall be set in good faith and must not be nominal. 130 

(c) A health maintenance organization may not require as a 131 

condition of the contract that the dentist participate in a 132 

discount medical plan under part II of chapter 636. 133 

Section 4. Paragraph (a) of subsection (3) of section 134 

766.1115, Florida Statutes, is amended, and paragraph (h) is 135 

added to subsection (4) of that section, to read: 136 

766.1115 Health care providers; creation of agency 137 

relationship with governmental contractors.— 138 

(3) DEFINITIONS.—As used in this section, the term: 139 

(a) “Contract” means an agreement executed in compliance 140 

with this section between a health care provider and a 141 

governmental contractor which allows. This contract shall allow 142 

the health care provider to deliver health care services to low-143 

income recipients as an agent of the governmental contractor. 144 

The contract must be for volunteer, uncompensated services. For 145 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 1016 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-03867-13 20131016c2 

Page 6 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

services to qualify as volunteer, uncompensated services under 146 

this section, the health care provider must receive no 147 

compensation from the governmental contractor for any services 148 

provided under the contract and must not bill or accept 149 

compensation from the recipient, or a any public or private 150 

third-party payor, for the specific services provided to the 151 

low-income recipients covered by the contract. 152 

(4) CONTRACT REQUIREMENTS.—A health care provider that 153 

executes a contract with a governmental contractor to deliver 154 

health care services on or after April 17, 1992, as an agent of 155 

the governmental contractor is an agent for purposes of s. 156 

768.28(9), while acting within the scope of duties under the 157 

contract, if the contract complies with the requirements of this 158 

section and regardless of whether the individual treated is 159 

later found to be ineligible. A health care provider under 160 

contract with the state may not be named as a defendant in any 161 

action arising out of medical care or treatment provided on or 162 

after April 17, 1992, under contracts entered into under this 163 

section. The contract must provide that: 164 

(h) As an agent of the governmental contractor for purposes 165 

of s. 768.28(9), while acting within the scope of duties under 166 

the contract, a health care provider licensed under chapter 466 167 

may allow a patient or a parent or guardian of the patient to 168 

voluntarily contribute a fee to cover costs of dental laboratory 169 

work related to the services provided to the patient. This 170 

contribution may not exceed the actual cost of the dental 171 

laboratory charges and is deemed in compliance with this 172 

section. 173 

 174 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 1016 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-03867-13 20131016c2 

Page 7 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A governmental contractor that is also a health care provider is 175 

not required to enter into a contract under this section with 176 

respect to the health care services delivered by its employees. 177 

Section 5. The amendments to ss. 627.6474, 636.035, and 178 

641.315, Florida Statutes, apply to contracts entered into or 179 

renewed on or after July 1, 2013. 180 

Section 6. This act shall take effect July 1, 2013. 181 



The Florida Senate

Committee Agenda Request

To: Senator John Thrasher, Chair
Committee on Rules

CC: Jolm B. Phelps, Staff Director
Tamra Lyon, Administrative Assistant

RECEIVED
APR o 1 2013

SENATE
RULES COMMffTEE

Subject: Committee Agenda Request

Date: March 29, 2013

I respectfully request that Senate Bill #1016, relating to Sovereign Immunity for Dentists and
Dental Hygienists, be placed on the:

committee agenda at your earliest possible convenience.

next committee agenda.

Senator Alan Hays
Florida Senate, District 11
320 Senate Office Building
(850) 487-5011

File signed original with committee office s-020 (03/2004)



,~ieefing Date

Topic

Name

Job Title

Address

Speaking:

Street

City

Bill Number I01 ~

Amendment Barcode

Phone

~Z. 5 ~X.%d)] E-mail
State Zip

[~] Against ~-I Information

(if applicable)

(if applicable)

Representing

Appearing at request of Chair: r--] Yes ~ Lobbyist registered with Legislature: ~s r--] No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting, s-0ol (10/20/11 )



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Rules  

 

BILL:  CS/CS/CS/SB 580 

INTRODUCER:  Rules Committee, Community Affairs Committee; Regulated Industries Committee; and 

Senator Hays 

SUBJECT:  Homeowners’ Associations 

DATE:  April 17, 2013 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Oxamendi  Imhof  RI  Fav/CS 

2. Oxamendi  Yeatman  CA  Fav/CS 

3. Oxamendi  Phelps  RC  Fav/CS 

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... X Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

CS/CS/CS/SB 580 revises requirements for the governance of homeowners’ associations. The 

bill provides additional grounds for disciplining licensed community association managers for 

failing to comply with the governing statutes for condominium, cooperative, and homeowners’ 

associations. Regarding the homeowner’s access to official records of the association, the bill: 

 

 Requires that the official records must be maintained for seven years and maintained 

within 45 miles of the community or within the same county; 

 Permits associations to maintain the records electronically; 

 Permits members to photograph records using a camera or other electronic device at no 

charge; 

 Permits associations to charge copying costs and personnel costs required to retrieve and 

copy records that exceed one half hour, but the cost may not exceed $20 per hour, except 

that personnel costs may not be charged for requests that result in 25 or fewer pages; and 

 Decreases the cost of copies provided on the association’s photocopier from 50 cents per 

page to 25 cents per page.  

 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 580   Page 2 

 

The bill requires homeowners’ associations to report specified information to the Division of 

Florida Condominiums, Timeshares, and Mobile Homes within the Department of Business and 

Professional Regulation. It requires the department to establish an Internet-based registration 

system and to submit an annual report to the Governor and, the President of the Senate, and the 

Speaker of the House of Representatives. This reporting requirement would expire on July 1, 

2016, unless reenacted by the Legislature. 

 

The bill provides that associations do not have to allow nominations at the meeting where the 

election is to be held if it permits nominations in advance of the meeting. It also provides that an 

election is not required unless more candidates are nominated than board vacancies exist.   

 

The bill limits the liability of associations for assessments that came due before the association 

acquired title through a foreclosure. 

 

Regarding the officers and directors of homeowners’ associations, the bill requires: 

 

 Newly elected directors to certify that they have read, and will uphold, the governing 

documents; 

 Contracts with interested directors to be disclosed and approved by a two-thirds vote of 

the board, and permits the contract to be cancelled by a vote of the members; 

 The removal of officers and directors who solicit or accept things of value from anyone 

providing or offering to provide services to the association, with exceptions; 

 The removal of officers or directors charged with theft or embezzlement of association 

funds; and 

 Associations to maintain insurance or fidelity bonding. 

 

Regarding developer control of homeowners’ associations, the bill provides: 

 

 Additional events that trigger control of the association by the non-developer members, 

including when the developer has failed to complete the amenities and infrastructure, has 

filed chapter 7 bankruptcy, has lost title through foreclosure, or when a receiver has been 

appointed;  

 Entitles homeowners to elect at least one member to the board when 25 percent of the 

parcels are conveyed to non-developer members; and 

 Prohibits certain clauses in the governing documents that permit the developer to make 

unilateral changes to the governing documents. 

 

The bill provides an effective date of July 1, 2013. 

 

This bill substantially amends the following sections of the Florida Statutes: 468.436, 720.303, 

720.3033, 720.306, 720.307, 720.3075, and 720.3085. 

II. Present Situation: 

Homeowners’ Associations  

Florida law provides statutory recognition to corporations that operate residential communities in 

this state and procedures for operating homeowners’ associations, and protects the rights of 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 580   Page 3 

 

association members without unduly impairing the ability of such associations to perform their 

functions.
1
 

 

A “homeowners’ association” is defined as a: 

 

Florida corporation responsible for the operation of a community or a mobile 

home subdivision in which the voting membership is made up of parcel owners or 

their agents, or a combination thereof, in which membership is a mandatory 

condition of parcel ownership, and which is authorized to impose assessments 

that, if unpaid, may become a lien on the parcel.
2
  

 

Homeowners’ associations are also governed by ch. 607, F.S., relating to for-profit corporations, 

or by ch. 617, F.S., relating to not-for-profit corporations.
3
 

 

Section 720.301(4), F.S., defines the terms "declaration of covenants," or "declaration," to mean: 

 

a recorded written instrument in the nature of covenants running with the land 

which subjects the land comprising the community to the jurisdiction and control 

of an association or associations in which the owners of the parcels, or their 

association representatives, must be members.  

 

Section 720.301(8), F.S., defines the term “member" to mean “a member of an association, and 

may include, but is not limited to, a parcel owner or an association representing parcel owners or 

a combination thereof.”  

 

Section 720.301(10), F.S., defines the term "parcel owner" to mean the record owner of legal 

title to a parcel.  

 

Section 720.301(11), F.S., defines the term "voting interest" to mean “the voting rights 

distributed to the members of the homeowners' association, pursuant to the governing 

documents.” 

 

Homeowners’ associations are administered by a board of directors whose members are elected.
4
 

The powers and duties of homeowners’ associations include the powers and duties provided in 

ch. 720, F.S., and in the governing documents of the association, which include recorded 

declaration of covenants, bylaws, articles of incorporation, and duly adopted amendments to 

these documents.
5
 The officers and members of a homeowners’ association have a fiduciary 

relationship to the members who are served by the association.
6
 

 

                                                 
1
 See s. 720.302(1), F.S. 

2
 Section 720.301(9), F.S. 

3
 Section 720.302(5), F.S. 

4
 See ss. 720.303 and 720.307, F.S. 

5
 See ss. 720.301 and 720.303, F.S. 

6
 Section 720.303(1), F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 580   Page 4 

 

State Regulation of Homeowners’ Associations 

Unlike condominium and cooperative associations,
7
 which are regulated by the Division of 

Florida Condominiums, Timeshares, and Mobile Homes (division) within the Department of 

Business and Professional Regulation (department), homeowners’ associations are not regulated 

by a state agency.  

 

Section 720.302(2), F.S., expresses the legislative intent regarding the regulation of 

homeowners’ associations: 

 

The Legislature recognizes that it is not in the best interest of homeowners’ 

associations or the individual association members thereof to create or impose a 

bureau or other agency of state government to regulate the affairs of homeowners’ 

associations. However, in accordance with s. 720.311, the Legislature finds that 

homeowners’ associations and their individual members will benefit from an 

expedited alternative process for resolution of election and recall disputes and 

presuit mediation of other disputes involving covenant enforcement and 

authorizes the department to hear, administer, and determine these disputes as 

more fully set forth in this chapter. Further, the Legislature recognizes that certain 

contract rights have been created for the benefit of homeowners’ associations and 

members thereof before the effective date of this act and that ss. 720.301-720.407 

are not intended to impair such contract rights, including, but not limited to, the 

rights of the developer to complete the community as initially contemplated. 

 

The number of homeowners’ associations or persons living in homeowners’ associations in 

Florida is unknown. Although homeowners’ associations are required to file articles of 

incorporation with the Division of Corporations (division) in the Department of State, the 

division cannot identify corporations that are homeowners’ associations under ch. 720, F.S.
8
 

 

Division of Florida Condominiums, Timeshares, and Mobile Homes 

The division is afforded complete jurisdiction to investigate complaints and enforce compliance 

with ch. 718, F.S., and ch. 719, F.S., with respect to condominium and cooperative  associations 

that are still under developer control.
9
 The division also has the authority to investigate 

complaints against developers involving improper turnover or failure to turnover, pursuant to 

s. 718.301, F.S. After control of the condominium is transferred from the developer to the unit 

owners, the division’s jurisdiction is limited to investigating complaints related to financial 

issues, elections, and unit owner access to association records pursuant to s. 718.111(12), F.S.
10

 

 

As part of the division’s authority to investigate complaints, s. 718.501(1), F.S., for 

condominium and s. 719.501(1)(c), F.S., for cooperatives, authorize the division to subpoena 

witnesses, take sworn statements from witnesses, issue cease and desist orders, and impose civil 

penalties (fines) against developers and associations.  

                                                 
7
 See chs. 718 and 719, F.S., respectively. 

8
 Homeowners’ Association Task Force, Final Report of the Homeowners’ Association Task Force, February 2004, page 5. A 

copy of the report is available on the internet at http://www.ccfj.net/DBPRTFfinalreport.pdf (last visited March 28, 2013). 
9
 Section 718.501(1), F.S., and s. 719.501(1), F.S., respectively. 

10
 Section 718.501(1), F.S. See Peter M. Dunbar, The Condominium Concept: A Practical Guide for Officers, Owners, 

Realtors, Attorneys, and Directors of Florida Condominiums, 12 ed. (2010-2011) s. 14.2. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 580   Page 5 

 

 

In regards to homeowners’ associations, the division’s authority is limited to arbitration of recall 

election disputes.
11

  

 

Community Association Management 

Community association mangers are regulated and licensed pursuant to part VIII of ch. 468, F.S. 

To be licensed, a community association manager must satisfactory complete an examination for 

licensure. 

 

Section 468.431(2), F.S., defines “community association management” to mean: 

 

any of the following practices requiring substantial specialized knowledge, 

judgment, and managerial skill when done for remuneration and when the 

association or associations served contain more than 10 units or have an annual 

budget or budgets in excess of $100,000: controlling or disbursing funds of a 

community association, preparing budgets or other financial documents for a 

community association, assisting in the noticing or conduct of community 

association meetings, and coordinating maintenance for the residential 

development and other day-to-day services involved with the operation of a 

community association.  

 

A license is not required for persons who perform clerical or ministerial functions under the 

direct supervision and control of a licensed manager or who only perform the maintenance of a 

community association and do not assist in any of the management services.
12

 

 

Inspection and Copying of Homeowners' Association Records 

Section 720.303(4), F.S., requires homeowners’ associations to maintain the official records of 

the association. Section 720.303(5), F.S., requires that a homeowners’ association permit 

members to inspect and copy its official records within 10 days of a written request for access. 

The official records must be maintained within the state and must be open to inspection and 

available for photocopying by members or their authorized agents at reasonable times and places 

within 10 business days after receipt of a written request for access.  

 

If the association has a photocopy machine available where the records are maintained, it must 

provide parcel owners with copies on request during the inspection if the entire request is limited 

to no more than 25 pages. The association may impose fees to cover the cost of providing copies 

of the official records, including, without limitation, the cost of copying. The association may 

also charge any reasonable costs involving personnel fees and charges at an hourly rate to cover 

the association’s or vendors administrative costs. 

 

Any failure by the association to comply with a request in a timely fashion creates a rebuttable 

presumption that the association willfully failed to do so, and entitles the requesting party to 

actual damages, or a minimum fine of $50 per calendar day, for up to 10 calendar days, 

commencing on the eleventh business day.  

                                                 
11

 See s. 720.303(10)(d), F.S. 
12

 Section 468.431(2), F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 580   Page 6 

 

 

Reserves for Capital Expenditures and Deferred Maintenance 

Reserve accounts are separate portion of the association’s budget in which funds are set aside for 

capital expenditures and deferred maintenance. Reserves are used to fund expenses that do not 

occur on a regular basis, such as repaving roads.
13

 Associations are required to have reserve 

accounts if they were initially established by the developer or if the membership has 

affirmatively elected to provide for reserves by a majority of the total voting interests of the 

association at a duly called meeting of the membership or by the written consent.
14

 Associations 

may terminate and remove from the budget reserve accounts upon the approval of a majority of 

the total voting interests of the association.
15

 Current law does not specify that the budget must 

designate the components for which the reserve accounts may be used.  

 

Post-Election Certification of Directors 

Chapter 720, F.S. does not provide for the post-election certification of directors of the 

homeowners’ association as is required for members of a condominium association’s board.  

 

Section 718.112(2)(d)4.b., F.S., outlines a post-election certification requirement for newly 

elected condominium board members. Within 90 days after being elected or appointed, a new 

board member must certify that he or she: 

 

 Has read the declaration of condominium for all condominiums operated by the 

association and the association’s articles of incorporation, bylaws, and current written 

policies; 

 Will work to uphold such documents and policies to the best of his or her ability; and 

 Will faithfully discharge his or her fiduciary responsibility to the association’s members. 

 

As an alternative to a written certification, the newly elected or appointed director may submit a 

certificate of satisfactory completion of the educational curriculum within one year before the 

election or 90 days after the election or appointment.
16

 The curriculum must be administered by a 

condominium education provider approved by the division.
17

 A certification is valid and does not 

have to be resubmitted as long as the director continuously serves on the board. 

 

A board member is suspended from service on the board until he or she files the written 

certification or submits a certificate of completion of the educational curriculum.
18

 If a 

suspension occurs, the board may temporarily fill the vacancy during the period of suspension. 

The secretary of the association must keep the written certification or educational certificate for 

inspection by the members for five years after a director’s election or appointment.
19

 The validity 

                                                 
13

 See Peter M. Dunbar and Charles F.S. Dudley, The Law of Florida Homeowners’ Associations, 9
th

 ed. (2012-2013) s. 5.3. 
14

 Section 720.303(6)(d),F.S.  
15

 Section 720.303(6)(b), F.S. 
16

 Id. The department’s Internet site provides a listing of approved educational providers. See Division of Florida 

Condominiums, Timeshares, and Mobile Homes, Approved Education Providers, available at 

http://www.myfloridalicense.com/dbpr/lsc/condominiums/ApprovedEducationProviders.html (Last visited March 28, 2013). 
17

 Section 718.112(2)(d)3.b., F.S. 
18

 Id. 
19

 Id. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 580   Page 7 

 

of any action by the condominium board is not affected by the association’s failure to have the 

certification on file.
20

 

 

Director Conflicts of Interest 

Section 617.0832, F.S., provides for the process for the disclosure and approval of conflicts of 

interest related to contracts between the board of a not-for-profit corporation and a member or 

members of the board. Section 617.0832(1), F.S., provides that such a contract is not void or 

voidable, if: 

 

 The relationship is disclosed to the board or committee that approves, or ratifies the 

contract or transaction by a vote or consent that does not count the interested director or 

directors; 

 The fact of such relationship or interest is disclosed or known to the members of the 

board or committee entitled to vote on such contract or transaction, if any, and they 

authorize, approve, or ratify it by vote or written consent; or 

 The contract or transaction is fair and reasonable as to the corporation at the time it is 

authorized by the board, a committee, or the members. 

 

Sections 617.0832(2) and (3), F.S., require an affirmative vote of a majority of the directors on 

the board of directors, or on the committee, who have no relationship or interest in the 

transaction or contract. The contract or transaction may not be approved or ratified by a single 

director.  

 

A quorum is present for the purpose of taking action if a majority of the directors who have no 

relationship or interest in the transaction vote to authorize, approve, or ratify the transaction.  

 

The presence of, or a vote cast by, a director having a relationship or interest in the transaction 

does not invalidate the approval or ratification if the transaction is otherwise authorized, 

approved, or ratified as provided in s. 617.0832(1), F.S.  

 

Amendments to the Governing Documents 

The process for amending the governing documents of a homeowners’ associations is determined 

by the association’s articles of incorporation and its bylaws. Unless the governing documents 

provide otherwise, the governing documents may be amended by an affirmative vote of two-

thirds of the voting interests.
21

 An amendment may materially and adversely alter the 

proportionate voting interest appurtenant to a parcel or increase the proportion or percentage by 

which a parcel shares in the common expenses of the association if the record parcel owner and 

all record owners of liens on the parcels join in the execution of the amendment or the governing 

documents as originally recorded, or chs. 617 or 720, F.S., permit such an amendment.
22

 

 

A developer may reserve the power in the declaration of covenants to amend or modify the 

restrictions in the governing documents. However, the developer must exercise that power in a 

                                                 
20

 Id. 
21

 Section 720.306(1)(b), F.S. 
22

 Section 720.306(1)(c), F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 580   Page 8 

 

reasonable manner so as not to destroy the general plan of development.
23

 An amendment is 

unenforceable if it alters the “relationship of lot owners to each other and the right of individual 

control over one’s own property.”
24

 The consent of the owners is required to amend the 

governing documents in a manner that would prejudice the rights of parcel owners to use and 

enjoy the benefits of the common property.
25

 The ability of the developer and the association to 

change the community scheme is also limited by the association’s articles of incorporation and 

its bylaws.
26

 

 

Elections 

Section 720.306(9), F.S., provides the process for elections to the board. Section 720.306(9)(a), 

F.S., requires that elections of directors must be conducted according to the procedures set forth 

in the governing documents of the association. It provides that all members are eligible to serve 

on the board. A member may nominate himself or herself as a candidate for the board at a 

meeting where the election is to be held or, if the election process allows voting by absentee 

ballot, in advance of the balloting.  

 

Representatives for homeowners’ associations have advised that many associations require, in 

their governing documents, that nominations for a seat on the board must be made before the 

meeting at which the election will be conducted. This gives the association the ability to produce 

ballots for the election. However, s. 720.306(9)(a), F.S., requires that that associations must still 

allow nominations from the floor, even if the election process allows nominations in advance of 

the balloting. 

 

Transition of Association Control  

Section 720.307, F.S., provides the situations in which the parcel owners other than the 

developer are entitled to elect at least a majority of the members of the board of directors: 

 

 Three months after 90 percent of the parcels that will be operated ultimately by the 

association have been conveyed to purchasers; or  

 When such other percentage of the parcels has been conveyed to members, or such 

other date or event has occurred, as is set forth in the governing documents in order 

to comply with the requirements of any governmentally chartered entity with regard 

to the mortgage financing of parcels. 

 

Builders, contractors, or others who purchase a parcel for the purpose of constructing 

improvements on the parcel for resale are not considered members other than the developer.
27

 

 

In contrast, s. 718.301(1), F.S., provides the following circumstances that require transition of 

control of the condominium association from the developer to the non-developer unit owners: 

 

 Three years after 50 percent of the units that will be operated ultimately by the 

association have been conveyed to purchasers;  

                                                 
23

 Klinow v. Island Court at Boca west Property Owners’ Ass’n, Inc., 64 So. 3d 177 (Fla. 4
th

 D.C.A. 2011). 
24

 Id. at 180. 
25

 Blue Reef Holding Corp., Inc. v. Coyne, 645 So. 2d 1053 (Fla. 4
th

 D.C.A. 1994). 
26

 S&T Anchorage, Inc. v. Lewis, 575 So. 2d 696 (Fla. 3
rd

 D.C.A. 1991). 
27

 Section 720.307(1), F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 580   Page 9 

 

 Three months after 90 percent of the units that will be operated ultimately by the 

association have been conveyed to purchasers;  

 When all the units that will be operated ultimately by the association have been 

completed, some of them have been conveyed to purchasers, and none of the others 

are being offered for sale by the developer in the ordinary course of business;  

 When some of the units have been conveyed to purchasers and none of the others are 

being constructed or offered for sale by the developer in the ordinary course of 

business;  

 When the developer files a petition seeking protection in bankruptcy;  

 When a receiver for the developer is appointed by a circuit court and is not 

discharged within 30 days after such appointment, unless the court determines within 

30 days after appointment of the receiver that transfer of control would be detrimental 

to the association or its members; or  

 Seven years after recordation of the declaration of condominium with some 

conditions. 

 

Liability for Unpaid Assessments 

Section 720.3085(2)(b), F.S., provides that a parcel owner is jointly and severally liable with the 

previous parcel owner of all unpaid assessments that came due up to the time of transfer of title. 

The present parcel owner may recover any amounts paid by the present parcel owners from the 

previous owner. Section 718.116(1), F.S., provides a substantively similar liability for unpaid 

assessments for present and previous condominium unit owners. In Aventura Management, 

L.L.C., v. Piaggia Ocean Condominium Association, Inc.,
28

 the Third District Court of Appeal 

held that a condominium association that had acquired title to a unit through foreclosure, was a 

previous owner for purposes of liability under s. 718.116(1), F.S. Consequently, the present 

owner of the unit, who had acquired the title from the association, was not liable for the unpaid 

assessments for time before the association acquired title. 

 

Assessment Increases in a Developer-Controlled Association 

Section 720.315, F.S., provides that, before turnover, the board of directors controlled by the 

developer may not levy a special assessment unless a majority of the parcel owners other than 

the developer have approved the special assessment by a majority vote at a duly called special 

meeting of the membership at which a quorum is present. Chapter 720, F.S., does not provide a 

similar limitation for increases of regular assessments.  

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

Community Association Managers 

The bill amends s. 468.436(2)(b), F.S., to authorize the division to discipline community 

association managers for violating any provision of chs. 718, 719, and 720, F.S., during the 

course of performing community association management under a contract with a community 

association as defined in s. 468.431(1), F.S.
29

 

                                                 
28

 Aventura Management, L.L.C., v. Piaggia Ocean Condominium Association, Inc., 105 So. 3d 637 (Fla. 3
rd

 D.C.A. 2013). 
29

 Section 468.431(1), F.S., defines “community association” to mean: 

a residential homeowners’ association in which membership is a condition of ownership of a unit in a 

planned unit development, or of a lot for a home or a mobile home, or of a townhouse, villa, condominium, 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 580   Page 10 

 

 

Official Records 

The bill amends s. 720.303(5), F.S., to require homeowners’ associations to maintain official 

records seven years. It requires that the records must be maintained within 45 miles of the 

community or within the same county. It also permits associations the option of making records 

available electronically via the Internet or by allowing the records to be viewed on a computer 

screen and printed upon request.  

 

The bill amends s. 720.303(5), F.S., to require homeowners’ associations to permit members or 

their authorized representatives to photograph records using portable devices, tablets, portable 

scanners, and other devices capable of taking photographs. The member cannot be charged for 

taking the photograph.  

 

The bill deletes the provision in s. 720.303(5)(c), F.S., that permits the association to impose fees 

to cover the cost of providing copies of the official records, including, without limitation, the 

cost of copying. It permits the association to charge copying costs and personnel costs required 

to retrieve and copy records that exceed one half hour may not exceed $20 per hour.  

 

The bill prohibits associations from charging personnel costs for records requests that result in 25 

or fewer pages. 

 

It also decreases the cost of copies provided on the association’s photocopier from 50 cents per 

page to 25 cents per page. 

 

The bill deletes the provision that permits the association to charge any reasonable costs 

involving personnel fees and charges at an hourly rate to cover the association’s or vendors 

administrative costs. The bill deletes the provision that permits the association to charge for the 

actual cost using community association management personnel to make copies of official 

records. Instead, it permits the association to use an outside duplicating service to make copies of 

official records, and to charge the actual cost of copying as supported by an invoice. 

 

Reserves for Capital Expenditures and Deferred Maintenance 

The bill amends s. 720.303(6)(d), F.S., to require that, if reserve accounts are established by the 

developer, a homeowners’ association’s budget must designate the components for which the 

reserve accounts may be used. This provision does not require that the association establish or 

maintain a reserve account. 

 

Reporting Requirement 

The bill creates s. 720.303(13), F.S., to require community association managers, or the 

association if there is no manager, to report the following information to the division: 

 

 The legal name of the association. 

 The Federal Employee Identification Number of the association. 

 The mailing and physical addresses of the association. 

                                                                                                                                                                         
cooperative, or other residential unit which is part of a residential development scheme and which is 

authorized to impose a fee which may become a lien on the parcel. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 580   Page 11 

 

 The number of parcels. 

 The total amount of revenues and expenses from the annual budget of the association. 

 

For associations in which the developer retains control, the following additional information is 

required: 

 

 The legal name of the developer. 

 The mailing address of the developer. 

 The number of parcels the developer owns as of the date of reporting. 

 

The bill creates a continuing obligation on each association to report until the required 

information is submitted. An association would be required to submit the required information 

only once.  

 

The bill requires the department to establish and implement an Internet-based registration system 

by December 1, 2013 for associations to use for reporting the required information. 

 

The bill requires the department to submit a report, on or before December 1, 2013, to the 

Governor, the President of the Senate, and the Speaker of the House of Representatives 

providing the homeowner association data reported as required by the bill. 

 

The bill authorizes the division to adopt rules pursuant to ss. 120.536(1) and 120.54, F.S., to 

implement this reporting requirement. 

 

The reporting requirement in s. 720.303(13), F.S., would expire on July 1, 2016, unless reenacted 

by the Legislature.  

 

Post-Election Certification of Directors 

The bill creates s. 720.3033(1), F.S., to require the post-election certification of homeowners’ 

association directors. These provisions are similar to the post-election certification requirement 

for members of a condominium association board in s. 718.112(2)(d)4.b., F.S.  

 

The bill requires that newly elected directors must certify in writing, within 90 days, that they 

have read the association’s governing documents and policies, that they will work to uphold the 

documents and policies, and that they will faithfully discharge their fiduciary responsibility to 

the associations’ members. A director who fails to comply with the certification requirement is 

suspended from the board until he or she complies. The association must maintain a copy of the 

certification for 5 years after the director’s election.  

 

Contracts with Members of the Board 

The bill creates s. 720.3033(2), F.S., to provide that homeowners’ association contracts with an 

officer or director or a corporation, firm or association that is not an affiliated homeowners’ 

association in which a director has a financial interest, must: 

 

 Comply with conflict of interest procedures outlined in s. 617.0832, F.S.; 

 Comply with disclosure requirements outlined in s. 617.0832, F.S.; 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 580   Page 12 

 

 Be approved by a two-thirds vote of the directors present; and  

 Be disclosed at the next regular or special meeting of the members. 

 

If any member makes a motion at the next regular or special meeting of the members, the 

contract may be canceled by a majority vote of the members present.
30

 If the contract is canceled, 

the association is only liable for the reasonable value of goods and service previously provided 

and is not liable for any fee or damages connected to the cancellation. 

 

Prohibited Solicitations by Board Members 

The bill creates s. 720.3033(3), F.S., to provide that officers, directors and managers may not 

solicit or accept anything of value from any person providing or offering to provide goods or 

services to the association. The bill requires that the board immediately remove from office any 

officer or director upon a finding by the board that the officer or director has violated this 

subsection. 

 

The bill provides an exception from the prohibition for accepting food to be consumed at a 

business meeting with a value of less than $25 per individual or services or items in connection 

to trade fairs or education programs. 

 

Removal of Board Members for Crimes 

The bill creates s. 720.3033(4), F.S., to provide that the board immediately remove from office 

any officer or director who is charged with felony theft or embezzlement involving association 

funds. If the charges are resolved without a finding of guilt or without acceptance of a plea of 

guilt or nolo contendere, the director or officer shall be reinstated for any remainder of his or her 

term of office. It is not clear whether a director must be removed from office if the criminal case 

is resolved without an adjudication of guilt. 

 

Insurance or Fiduciary Bond Requirement 

The bill creates s. 720.3033(5), F.S., to require homeowners’ associations to maintain insurance 

or fidelity bonding for anyone who controls or disburses association funds, which includes 

persons authorized to sign check on behalf of the association, and the president, secretary, and 

treasurer of the association. The association would bear the cost of the bond or insurance. 

 

Amendment of Homeowner Association Documents 

The bill creates s. 720.306(1)(d), F.S., to provide the legislative findings that the procurement of 

consent or joinder to amendments that do not materially affect the rights or interests of 

mortgagees is unreasonable and a substantial burden on homeowners’ and associations. The bill 

provides that there is a compelling state interest in enabling homeowners’ association members 

to approve amendments. This provision will facilitate attempts by homeowners to amend their 

documents without the approval of all mortgagees when a change to the association documents 

does not adversely affect the mortgagee’s rights or interests. 

 

                                                 
30

 Section 720.306(1)(a), F.S., provides that a quorum at a meeting of the members is 30 percent of the total voting interests, 

unless a lower number is provided in the bylaws. Decisions that require a vote of the members must be made by the 

concurrence of at least a majority of the voting interests present, in person or by proxy, at a meeting at which a quorum has 

been attained, unless otherwise provided in ch. 720, F.S., or in the articles of incorporation or bylaws. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 580   Page 13 

 

The bill limits the enforceability of any mortgage or any provision or amendment to declarations, 

articles of incorporation, or bylaws of a homeowners’ association recorded on or after July 1, 

2013, or amendments thereto, that require the consent or joinder of some or all mortgagees of 

units or any other portion of the association property for those mortgages. Any such provisions 

or amendments recorded prior to July 2013, will remain enforceable. As to provisions or 

amendments created after July 1, 2013, the bill provides that provisions requiring consent or 

joinder are enforceable only if the provisions adversely affect the priority of the mortgagee’s lien 

or the mortgagee’s right to foreclose its lien or that otherwise materially affects the rights and 

interests of the mortgagees. 

 

The bill provides a process for obtaining addresses of mortgagees and contacting them to obtain 

their consent or joinder. The association may rely upon the public records to identify the holders 

of outstanding mortgages. It may also rely on the address in the original recorded mortgage 

document unless there is a different address in a recorded assignment or modification of the 

mortgage. 

 

Failure of any mortgagee to respond to a request for the consent or joinder to a proposed 

amendment within 60 days after the date that a request is sent to the mortgagee is deemed to 

have consented to the amendment. 

 

For any amendments that require mortgage consent after July 1, 2013, the consent must be 

evidenced by an affidavit of the association recorded in the public records of the county in which 

the declaration is recorded. 

 

An amendment may be voidable by any mortgagee who was entitled to notice and an opportunity 

to consent. An action to void an amendment is subject to a 5 year statute of limitations from the 

date of discovery or the date or recordation. This provision applies to all mortgages, regardless of 

the date of recordation of the mortgage. 

 

There are comparable provisions for the amendment of condominium documents in 

s. 718.110(11), F.S.  

 

Elections 

The bill amends s. 720.306(9)(a), F.S., to provide that the association does not have to allow 

nomination at the meeting where the election is to be held if it permits members to nominate 

themselves in advance of the meeting. 

 

The bill also provides that an election is not required unless more candidates are nominated than 

board vacancies exist. 

 

Transition of Association Control  

The bill amends s. 720.307(1), F.S., to provide the following additional events which would 

entitle the non-developer parcel owners to elect the majority of the members of the board: 

 

 When the developer has abandoned or deserted his or her responsibility to maintain and 

complete the amenities or infrastructure disclosed in the governing documents. There is a 

rebuttable presumption that the developer has abandoned and deserted the property if the 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 580   Page 14 

 

developer has unpaid assessments or guaranteed amounts under s. 720.308, F.S., for a 

period of more than two years; 

 When the developer files a petition seeking protection in bankruptcy under chapter 7 of 

the United States Bankruptcy Code; 

 When the developer loses title to the property either through a foreclosure action or the 

transfer of a deed in lieu of foreclosure, unless the successor owner has accepted an 

assignment of developer rights and responsibilities first arising after the date of such 

assignment; and 

 When a receiver for the developer is appointed by a circuit court and is not discharged 

within 30 days after such appointment, unless the court determines within 30 days after 

appointment of the receiver that transfer of control would be detrimental to the 

association or its members. 

 

The bill also amends s. 720.307(2), F.S., to provide that non-developer parcel owners are entitled 

to elect at least one member of the board of directors once 25 percent of the parcels in all phases 

of the community have been conveyed to members. 

 

Prohibited Clauses 

The bill amends s. 720.3075, F.S., to prohibit the developer from making the following unilateral 

changes to the governing documents before the association is controlled by nondeveloper 

members: 

 

 Unreasonably modifying the original plan of development; 

 Radically change the community scheme; or  

 Prejudice the rights of the existing nondeveloper members to use and enjoy the benefits 

of the common property. 

 

The bill provides that a developer’s a amendment to the governing documents shall not be 

deemed to unreasonably modify the original plan of development, radically change the 

community scheme, or prejudice the rights of the existing nondeveloper members to use and 

enjoy the benefits of the common property unless: 

 

 The developer did not reserve in the original governing documents the authority to make 

such amendments, and  

 The amendment is arbitrary, capricious or in bad faith, destroys the general plan of 

development, or materially shifts economic burdens from the developer to the existing 

nondeveloper members. 

 

Assessments 

The bill amends s. 720.3085(2)(b), F.S., to provide that, for purposes of the liability of the 

previous parcel owner for unpaid assessments, the association is not considered a previous 

owner. An association that acquires title to a parcel through foreclosure, or by a deed in lieu of 

foreclosure, would not be liable for unpaid assessments that came due before the association 

acquired the title to the parcel. The bill would limit the liability of the present parcel owner to 

any assessments that came due before the association acquired title.  

 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 580   Page 15 

 

Effective Date 

The bill would take effect on July 1, 2013. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

D. Other Constitutional Issues: 

The bill would impose several requirements on the governance and administration of 

homeowners’ associations. The bill may affect existing homeowners’ associations 

governing documents. The governing documents of homeowners’ associations are 

generally considered to be contracts.
31

 To the extent that the provisions of this bill may be 

applied retroactively, provisions of the bill may prompt concerns regarding the 

unconstitutional impairment of contract. 

 

Article I, Section 10 of the United States Constitution prohibits state legislatures from 

enacting laws impairing the obligation of contracts. As early as 1880, the federal courts 

recognized that the contract clause does not override the police power of the states to 

establish regulations to promote the health, safety, and morals of the community.
32

 The 

severity of the impairment is a key issue when evaluating whether a state law impairs a 

contract.
33

 In Exxon Corp. v Eagerton, 462 U.S. 176 (1983), the Supreme Court 

suggested it would uphold legislation that imposes a generally applicable rule of conduct 

designed to advance a broad societal interest that only incidentally disrupts existing 

contractual relationships. 

 

Article I, s. 10 of the Florida Constitution also prohibits the state from enacting laws 

impairing the obligation of contracts. While Florida courts have historically strictly 

applied this restriction, they have exempted laws when they find there is an overriding 

public necessity for the state to exercise its police powers.
34

 This exception extends to 

laws that are reasonable and necessary to serve and important public purpose,
35

 to include 

                                                 
31

 See Venetian Isles Homeowners’ Assoc., Inc., v. Albrecht, 823 So.2d 813 (Fla. 2
nd

 D.C.A. 2002) and Cudjoe Gardens 

Property Owners Assoc., Inc. v. Patne, 779 So.2d 598 (Fla. 3
rd

 D.C.A. 2001). 
32

 Stone v. Mississippi, 101 U.S. 814 (1880). 
33

 General Motors Corp. v. Romein, 503 U.S. 181 (1992). 
34

 Park Benziger & Co. v Southern Wine & Spirits, Inc., 391 So2d 681 (Fla. 1980). 
35

 Yellow Cab Co. v. Dade County, 412 So2d 395 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982), petition den. 424 So2d 764 (Fla. 1982). 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 580   Page 16 

 

protecting the public’s health, safety or welfare.
36

 For a statute to offend the 

constitutional prohibition against impairment of contract, the statute must have the effect 

of changing substantive rights of the parties to an existing contract. Any retroactive 

application of a statute affecting substantive contractual rights would be constitutionally 

suspect.
37

 

 

Historically, both the state and federal courts have attempted to find a rational and 

defensible compromise between individual rights and public welfare when laws are 

enacted that may impair existing contracts.
38

 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

The bill requires homeowners’ associations to maintain insurance or fidelity bonding for 

anyone who controls or disburses association funds, which includes persons authorized to 

sign checks on behalf of the association, and the president, secretary, and treasurer of the 

association. The association would bear the cost for the bond or insurance. According to 

information provided by representatives for homeowners’ associations, the cost of the 

insurance coverage is dependent on the number of persons with access to the 

association’s funds, the amount of the coverage, and the type of coverage desired. The 

annual insurance premium for an association with five or fewer persons handling funds 

and with $10,000 coverage for employee theft and crime, $10,000 for premises and in-

transit coverage,
39

 and $10,000 coverage for forgery and computer and wire fraud would 

be approximately $309. The same insurance coverage, but with limits of $1,000,000, 

would require an annual insurance premium of approximately $2,346. 

 

The bill requires homeowners’ associations to annually report to the division information 

about the association. Associations may incur costs related to gathering and reporting the 

information. 

                                                 
36

 Khoury v Carvel Homes South, Inc., 403 So2d 1043 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981), petition den. 412 So2d 467 (Fla. 1981). 
37

 Tri-Properties, Inc. v. Moonspinner Condominium Association, Inc., 447 So.2d 965 (Fla. 1
st
 DCA 1984). 

38
 Pomponio v Claridge of Pompano Condominium, Inc., 378 So2d 774 (Fla. 1979). 

39
 In-transit coverage includes coverage for the direct loss of money or securities directly caused by theft, disappearance, 

damage or destruction while in transit outside the insured’s premises and in the care and custody of a messenger or armored 

vehicle company, e.g., this could cover theft of the association’s funds from a delivery truck or messenger at a location other 

than the community’s property. Premises coverage is coverage for the direct loss of money or securities located inside the 

premises directly caused by a theft, robbery, or burglary, e.g., this could cover the theft of funds from the association’s office 

by a burglar. See https://www.travelers.com/business-insurance/management-professional-liability/private-non-

profit/crime/documents/59690.pdf (Last visited April 5, 2013). 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 580   Page 17 

 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

The bill requires the department to establish and implement an Internet-based registration 

system by December 1, 2013 for associations to use for reporting the information that the 

bill requires that they annually report to the division. It also requires the department to 

submit a report, on or before December 1, 2013 and then annually thereafter, to the 

Governor, the President of the Senate, and the Speaker of the House of Representatives 

providing the homeowner association data reported as required by the bill. The reporting 

requirement is repealed on July 1, 2016, unless reenacted by the Legislature. The division 

may incur indeterminate expenses to comply with these requirements; however the 

department can absorb these costs within existing resources. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None.  

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS/CS/CS by Rules Committee on April 17, 2013: 

The committee substitute (CS) differs from CS/CS/SB 580 as follows: 

 The CS does not amend s. 468.436(2)(b), F.S., to authorize the division to 

discipline community association managers for failure to report to the division as 

required in s. 720.303(13), F.S., as provided in the bill. It amends s. 

468.436(2)(b)7., F.S., to cross-reference the definition of “community 

association” in s. 468.431(1), F.S. 

 The CS deletes the requirement in s. 720.303(13), F.S., that the report to the 

division must be submitted annually. It provides that the reporting requirement in 

this subsection creates a continuing obligation on each association to report until 

the required information is submitted. It also authorizes the division instead of the 

department to adopt rules.  

 The CS amends s. 720.3033(2), F.S., to clarify that an association in which the 

officer or director has a financial interest is an association that is not an affiliated 

homeowners’ association. 

 The CS does not create s. 720.306(1)(d), F.S., to provide for the amending of the 

governing documents of the association without the procurement of mortgagee 

consent. 

 The CS amends s. 720.306(9)(a), F.S., to reference nominations in advance of the 

meeting instead of in advance of the balloting. 

 The CS deletes the provision in s. 720.307(1)(c), F.S., that non-developer parcel 

owners are entitled to elect the majority of the members of the board two years 

after the developer has ceased construction or ceased to offer parcels for sale in 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 580   Page 18 

 

the ordinary course of business. It provides that the amenities and infrastructure 

are as “described in the governing documents” instead of the “advertised” 

amenities and infrastructure. It deletes the presumption that the developer has 

abandoned or deserted the property if the developer has not engaged in the 

construction or sale of properties.  

 The CS amends s. 720.307(1)(c), F.S., to provide that the successor developer has 

accepted an assignment of developer rights and responsibilities first arising after 

the date of the assignment from a developer who lost title through foreclosure. 

 The CS amends s. 720.307(2), F.S., to increases from 15 percent to 25 percent the 

percentage of parcels in all phases of the community that must have been 

conveyed to non-developer parcel owners in order to allow the non-developer 

members to elect at least one member of the board of directors. 

 The CS deletes s. 720.307(3), which provides that non-developer parcel owners 

are entitled to elect at least two members of the board of directors once 50 percent 

of the parcels in all phases of the community have been conveyed to members. 

 The CS amends s. 720.3075(5), F.S., to provide that that a developer’s 

amendment to the governing documents shall not be deemed to unreasonably 

modify the original plan of development, radically change the community 

scheme, or prejudice the rights of the existing nondeveloper members to use and 

enjoy the benefits of the common property unless the developer did not reserve 

the authority in the original governing documents to make such amendments, and 

the amendment is arbitrary, capricious or in bad faith, destroys the general plan of 

development, or materially shifts economic burdens from the developer to the 

existing nondeveloper members. 

 The CS does not amend s. 720.315, F.S., to limit the ability of developer-

controlled associations to increase assessments and require that any assessment 

that is 5 percent greater than the assessments for the preceding fiscal year must be 

approved by a majority of the non-developer members.  

 

CS/CS by Community Affairs Committee on April 9, 2013: 

The committee substitute differs from CS/SB 580 as follows: 

 

 Amends s. 468.436(2)(b), F.S., to authorize the division to discipline community 

association managers for violating chs. 718 and 719, F.S. 

 Amends s. 720.303(5)(c), F.S., to prohibit associations from charging personnel 

costs for records requests that result in 25 or fewer pages. 

 Does not amend s. 720.303(6)(b), F.S., to require that an association’s budget 

must designate the components for which the reserve accounts may be used. 

Instead, it amends s. 720.303(6)(d), F.S., to provide that, if reserve accounts are 

established by the developer, the budget must designate the components for which 

the reserve accounts may be used. 

 Creates s. 720.306(1)(d), F.S., to provide for the amending of the governing 

documents of the association without the procurement of mortgagee consent. 

 Amends s. 720.307(1)(f), F.S., to provide that the non-developer parcel owners 

would not have the right to control of the association when the developer has lost 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 580   Page 19 

 

title to the property if a successor owner has accepted an assignment of developer 

rights and responsibilities. 

 Creates s. 720.3075, F.S., to prohibit the inclusion or enforcement of specified 

clauses in the governing documents that permit the developer to make changes to 

the governing documents.  

 Does not amend s. 720.308, F.S., to provide that assessments levied pursuant to 

the annual budget may not be increased, or special assessments levied, without the 

approval of the majority of non-developer voting interests unless the budget 

specifically describes and justifies the reason or reasons for the increase or special 

assessment. 

 Amends s. 720.3085(2)(b), F.S., to provide that, for purposes of the liability of the 

previous parcel owner for unpaid assessments, the association is not considered a 

previous owner, and to limit the liability of the present parcel owner to any 

assessments that came due before the association acquired title. 

 Amends s. 720.315, F.S., to limit the ability of developer-controlled associations 

to increase assessments. 

 

CS by Regulated Industries Committee on April 2, 2013: 

The committee substitute (CS) differs from SB 580 as follows: 

 The CS amends s. 468.436(2)(b), F.S., to provide two additional grounds for the 

discipline of community association managers.  

 The CS amends s. 720.303(5), F.S., to require homeowners’ associations to 

maintain official records for seven years, and within 45 miles of the community or 

within the same county. It also permits associations the option of making records 

available electronically via the Internet or by allowing the records to be viewed on 

a computer screen and printed upon request. The CS amends s. 720.303(5)(c), 

F.S., that permits the association to impose fees to cover the cost of providing 

copies of the official records, including the cost of copying. It permits the 

association to charge copying costs and personnel costs required to retrieve and 

copy records that exceed one half hour, but the cost may not exceed $20 per hour. 

It decreases the cost of copies provided on the association’s photocopier from 50 

cents per page to 25 cents per page. It permits the association to use an outside 

duplicating service to make copies of official records, and permits the association 

to charge the actual cost of copying as supported by an invoice. 

 The CS amends s. 720.303(5), F.S., to include portable devices, tablets, portable 

scanners, and other devices capable of taking photographs among the type of 

devices that homeowners’ associations must permit their member to use to make 

copies of official records. It permits authorized representatives of the member to 

make the photographic copies.  

 The CS amends s. 720.303(6), F.S., to require that a homeowners’ association’s 

budget must designate the components for which the reserve accounts may be 

used.  

 The CS creates s. 720.303(13), F.S., to provide an annual reporting requirement 

for community association managers, associations, and developers in developer-

controlled associations. It also requires the department to establish and implement 

an Internet-based registration system and requires the department to submit an 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 580   Page 20 

 

annual report to the Governor and, the President of the Senate, and the Speaker of 

the House of Representatives. It authorizes the department to adopt rules to 

implement this reporting requirement. It also provides that reporting requirement 

in s. 720.303(13), F.S., would expire on July 1, 2016, unless reenacted by the 

Legislature.  

 The CS does not provide in s. 720.3033(1), F.S., that the post-election 

certification requirement may be satisfied by submission of a certificate of 

satisfactory completion of the educational curriculum approved by the Division of 

Florida Condominiums, Timeshares, and Mobile Homes. It also does not provide 

that failure to have the written certification or education certificate on file does 

not affect the validity of any board action. 

 In s. 720.3033(3), F.S., the CS does not provide that managers must be removed 

from office if they violate the prohibition in this subsection. Regarding the officer 

or director’s removal from office, the CS specifies that the board must 

immediately remove them from office upon a finding by the board that any officer 

or director has violated the prohibition in this subsection.  

 The CS amends s. 720.306(9), F.S., to revise requirements for elections in 

homeowners’ associations by providing that the association does not have to 

allow nominations at the meeting where the election is to be held if it permits 

members to nominate themselves in advance of the balloting. It also provides that 

an election is not required unless more candidates are nominated than board 

vacancies exist. 

 The CS amends s. 720.307(1), F.S., to provide additional events which would 

entitle the non-developer parcel owners to elect the majority of the members of 

the board. 

 The CS amends s. 720.307(2), F.S., to provide that non-developer parcel owners 

are entitled to elect at least one member of the board of directors once 15 percent 

of the parcels in all phases of the community have been conveyed to members. 

 The CS amends s. 720.307(3), F.S., to provide that non-developer parcel owners 

are entitled to elect at least two member of the board of directors once 50 percent 

of the parcels in all phases of the community have been conveyed to members. 

 The CS amend s. 720.308, F.S., to limit increases in assessments and the levying 

of special assessments in developer-controlled associations. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì1251764Î125176 

 

Page 1 of 17 

4/17/2013 8:49:56 AM RI.RC.04297 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: WD 

04/17/2013 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Rules (Richter) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete everything after the enacting clause 3 

and insert: 4 

Section 1. Paragraph (b) of subsection (2) of section 5 

468.436, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 6 

468.436 Disciplinary proceedings.— 7 

(2) The following acts constitute grounds for which the 8 

disciplinary actions in subsection (4) may be taken: 9 

(b)1. Violation of any provision of this part. 10 

2. Violation of any lawful order or rule rendered or 11 

adopted by the department or the council. 12 

3. Being convicted of or pleading nolo contendere to a 13 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì1251764Î125176 

 

Page 2 of 17 

4/17/2013 8:49:56 AM RI.RC.04297 

felony in any court in the United States. 14 

4. Obtaining a license or certification or any other order, 15 

ruling, or authorization by means of fraud, misrepresentation, 16 

or concealment of material facts. 17 

5. Committing acts of gross misconduct or gross negligence 18 

in connection with the profession. 19 

6. Contracting, on behalf of an association, with any 20 

entity in which the licensee has a financial interest that is 21 

not disclosed. 22 

7. Violating any provision of chapters 718, 719, or 720 23 

during the course of performing community association management 24 

services pursuant to a contract with a community association as 25 

defined in s. 468.431(1). 26 

Section 2. Subsection (5) and paragraph (d) of subsection 27 

(6) of section 720.303, Florida Statutes, are amended, and 28 

subsection (13) is added to that section, to read: 29 

720.303 Association powers and duties; meetings of board; 30 

official records; budgets; financial reporting; association 31 

funds; recalls.— 32 

(5) INSPECTION AND COPYING OF RECORDS.—The official records 33 

shall be maintained within the state for at least 7 years and 34 

shall be made available to a parcel owner for inspection or 35 

photocopying within 45 miles of the community or within the 36 

county in which the association is located within 10 business 37 

days after receipt by the board or its designee of a written 38 

request must be open to inspection and available for 39 

photocopying by members or their authorized agents at reasonable 40 

times and places within 10 business days after receipt of a 41 

written request for access. This subsection may be complied with 42 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì1251764Î125176 

 

Page 3 of 17 

4/17/2013 8:49:56 AM RI.RC.04297 

by having a copy of the official records available for 43 

inspection or copying in the community or, at the option of the 44 

association, by making the records available to a parcel owner 45 

electronically via the Internet or by allowing the records to be 46 

viewed in electronic format on a computer screen and printed 47 

upon request. If the association has a photocopy machine 48 

available where the records are maintained, it must provide 49 

parcel owners with copies on request during the inspection if 50 

the entire request is limited to no more than 25 pages. An 51 

association shall allow a member or his or her authorized 52 

representative to use a portable device, including a smartphone, 53 

tablet, portable scanner, or any other technology capable of 54 

scanning or taking photographs, to make an electronic copy of 55 

the official records in lieu of providing the member or his or 56 

her authorized representative with a copy of such records. The 57 

association may not charge a fee to a member or his or her 58 

authorized representative for such use of a portable device. 59 

(a) The failure of an association to provide access to the 60 

records within 10 business days after receipt of a written 61 

request submitted by certified mail, return receipt requested, 62 

creates a rebuttable presumption that the association willfully 63 

failed to comply with this subsection. 64 

(b) A member who is denied access to official records is 65 

entitled to the actual damages or minimum damages for the 66 

association’s willful failure to comply with this subsection. 67 

The minimum damages are to be $50 per calendar day up to 10 68 

days, the calculation to begin on the 11th business day after 69 

receipt of the written request. 70 

(c) The association may adopt reasonable written rules 71 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì1251764Î125176 

 

Page 4 of 17 

4/17/2013 8:49:56 AM RI.RC.04297 

governing the frequency, time, location, notice, records to be 72 

inspected, and manner of inspections, but may not require a 73 

parcel owner to demonstrate any proper purpose for the 74 

inspection, state any reason for the inspection, or limit a 75 

parcel owner’s right to inspect records to less than one 8-hour 76 

business day per month. The association may impose fees to cover 77 

the costs of providing copies of the official records, 78 

including, without limitation, the costs of copying and the 79 

costs required for personnel to retrieve and copy the records if 80 

the time spent retrieving and copying the records exceeds one-81 

half hour and if the personnel costs do not exceed $20 per hour. 82 

No personnel costs may be charged for records requests that 83 

result in 25 or fewer pages. The association may charge up to 25 84 

50 cents per page for copies made on the association’s 85 

photocopier. If the association does not have a photocopy 86 

machine available where the records are kept, or if the records 87 

requested to be copied exceed 25 pages in length, the 88 

association may have copies made by an outside duplicating 89 

service vendor or association management company personnel and 90 

may charge the actual cost of copying, as supported by the 91 

vendor invoice including any reasonable costs involving 92 

personnel fees and charges at an hourly rate for vendor or 93 

employee time to cover administrative costs to the vendor or 94 

association. The association shall maintain an adequate number 95 

of copies of the recorded governing documents, to ensure their 96 

availability to members and prospective members. Notwithstanding 97 

this paragraph, the following records are not accessible to 98 

members or parcel owners: 99 

1. Any record protected by the lawyer-client privilege as 100 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì1251764Î125176 

 

Page 5 of 17 

4/17/2013 8:49:56 AM RI.RC.04297 

described in s. 90.502 and any record protected by the work-101 

product privilege, including, but not limited to, a record 102 

prepared by an association attorney or prepared at the 103 

attorney’s express direction which reflects a mental impression, 104 

conclusion, litigation strategy, or legal theory of the attorney 105 

or the association and which was prepared exclusively for civil 106 

or criminal litigation or for adversarial administrative 107 

proceedings or which was prepared in anticipation of such 108 

litigation or proceedings until the conclusion of the litigation 109 

or proceedings. 110 

2. Information obtained by an association in connection 111 

with the approval of the lease, sale, or other transfer of a 112 

parcel. 113 

3. Personnel records of the association’s employees, 114 

including, but not limited to, disciplinary, payroll, health, 115 

and insurance records. For purposes of this subparagraph, the 116 

term “personnel records” does not include written employment 117 

agreements with an association employee or budgetary or 118 

financial records that indicate the compensation paid to an 119 

association employee. 120 

4. Medical records of parcel owners or community residents. 121 

5. Social security numbers, driver’s license numbers, 122 

credit card numbers, electronic mailing addresses, telephone 123 

numbers, facsimile numbers, emergency contact information, any 124 

addresses for a parcel owner other than as provided for 125 

association notice requirements, and other personal identifying 126 

information of any person, excluding the person’s name, parcel 127 

designation, mailing address, and property address. However, an 128 

owner may consent in writing to the disclosure of protected 129 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì1251764Î125176 

 

Page 6 of 17 

4/17/2013 8:49:56 AM RI.RC.04297 

information described in this subparagraph. The association is 130 

not liable for the disclosure of information that is protected 131 

under this subparagraph if the information is included in an 132 

official record of the association and is voluntarily provided 133 

by an owner and not requested by the association. 134 

6. Any electronic security measure that is used by the 135 

association to safeguard data, including passwords. 136 

7. The software and operating system used by the 137 

association which allows the manipulation of data, even if the 138 

owner owns a copy of the same software used by the association. 139 

The data is part of the official records of the association. 140 

(d) The association or its authorized agent is not required 141 

to provide a prospective purchaser or lienholder with 142 

information about the residential subdivision or the association 143 

other than information or documents required by this chapter to 144 

be made available or disclosed. The association or its 145 

authorized agent may charge a reasonable fee to the prospective 146 

purchaser or lienholder or the current parcel owner or member 147 

for providing good faith responses to requests for information 148 

by or on behalf of a prospective purchaser or lienholder, other 149 

than that required by law, if the fee does not exceed $150 plus 150 

the reasonable cost of photocopying and any attorney’s fees 151 

incurred by the association in connection with the response. 152 

(6) BUDGETS.— 153 

(d) An association is deemed to have provided for reserve 154 

accounts if reserve accounts have been initially established by 155 

the developer or if the membership of the association 156 

affirmatively elects to provide for reserves. If reserve 157 

accounts are established by the developer, the budget must 158 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì1251764Î125176 

 

Page 7 of 17 

4/17/2013 8:49:56 AM RI.RC.04297 

designate the components for which the reserve accounts may be 159 

used. If reserve accounts are not initially provided by the 160 

developer, the membership of the association may elect to do so 161 

upon the affirmative approval of a majority of the total voting 162 

interests of the association. Such approval may be obtained by 163 

vote of the members at a duly called meeting of the membership 164 

or by the written consent of a majority of the total voting 165 

interests of the association. The approval action of the 166 

membership must state that reserve accounts shall be provided 167 

for in the budget and must designate the components for which 168 

the reserve accounts are to be established. Upon approval by the 169 

membership, the board of directors shall include the required 170 

reserve accounts in the budget in the next fiscal year following 171 

the approval and each year thereafter. Once established as 172 

provided in this subsection, the reserve accounts must be funded 173 

or maintained or have their funding waived in the manner 174 

provided in paragraph (f). 175 

(13) REPORTING REQUIREMENT.—The community association 176 

manager or management firm, or the association when there is no 177 

community association manager or management firm, shall report 178 

to the division by November 22, 2013, in a manner and form 179 

prescribed by the division. 180 

(a) The report shall include the association’s: 181 

1. Legal name. 182 

2. Federal employer identification number. 183 

3. Mailing and physical addresses. 184 

4. Total number of parcels. 185 

5. Total amount of revenues and expenses from the 186 

association’s annual budget. 187 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì1251764Î125176 

 

Page 8 of 17 

4/17/2013 8:49:56 AM RI.RC.04297 

(b) For associations in which control of the association 188 

has not been transitioned to nondeveloper members, as set forth 189 

in s. 720.307, the report shall also include the developer’s: 190 

1. Legal name. 191 

2. Mailing address. 192 

3. Total number of parcels owned on the date of reporting. 193 

(c) The reporting requirement provided in this subsection 194 

shall be a continuing obligation on each association until the 195 

required information is reported to the division. 196 

(d) By October 1, 2013, the department shall establish and 197 

implement a registration system through an Internet website that 198 

provides for the reporting requirements of paragraphs (a) and 199 

(b). 200 

(e) On or before December 1, 2013, and annually thereafter 201 

by December 1, the department shall submit a report to the 202 

Governor, the President of the Senate, and the Speaker of the 203 

House of Representatives providing the homeowner association 204 

data reported pursuant to this subsection. 205 

(f) The division may adopt rules pursuant to ss. 120.536(1) 206 

and 120.54 to implement the provisions of this subsection. 207 

(g) This subsection shall expire on July 1, 2016, unless 208 

reenacted by the Legislature. 209 

Section 3. Section 720.3033, Florida Statutes, is created 210 

to read: 211 

720.3033 Officers and directors.— 212 

(1)(a) Within 90 days after being elected or appointed to 213 

the board, each director shall certify in writing to the 214 

secretary of the association that he or she has read the 215 

association’s declaration of covenants, articles of 216 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì1251764Î125176 

 

Page 9 of 17 

4/17/2013 8:49:56 AM RI.RC.04297 

incorporation, bylaws, and current written rules and policies; 217 

that he or she will work to uphold such documents and policies 218 

to the best of his or her ability; and that he or she will 219 

faithfully discharge his or her fiduciary responsibility to the 220 

association’s members. Within 90 days after being elected or 221 

appointed to the board, in lieu of this written certification, 222 

the newly elected or appointed director may submit a certificate 223 

of having satisfactorily completed the educational curriculum 224 

administered by a division-approved education provider within 1 225 

year before or 90 days after the date of election or 226 

appointment. 227 

(b) The written certification or educational certificate is 228 

valid for the uninterrupted tenure of the director on the board. 229 

A director who does not timely file the written certification or 230 

educational certificate shall be suspended from the board until 231 

he or she complies with the requirement. The board may 232 

temporarily fill the vacancy during the period of suspension. 233 

(c) The association shall retain each director’s written 234 

certification or educational certificate for inspection by the 235 

members for 5 years after the director’s election. However, the 236 

failure to have the written certification or educational 237 

certificate on file does not affect the validity of any board 238 

action. 239 

(2) If the association enters into a contract or other 240 

transaction with any of its directors or a corporation, firm, 241 

association that is not an affiliated homeowners' association, 242 

or other entity in which an association director is also a 243 

director or officer or is financially interested, the board 244 

must: 245 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì1251764Î125176 

 

Page 10 of 17 

4/17/2013 8:49:56 AM RI.RC.04297 

(a) Comply with the requirements of s. 617.0832. 246 

(b) Enter the disclosures required by s. 617.0832 into the 247 

written minutes of the meeting. 248 

(c) Approve the contract or other transaction by an 249 

affirmative vote of two-thirds of the directors present. 250 

(d) At the next regular or special meeting of the members, 251 

disclose the existence of the contract or other transaction to 252 

the members. Upon motion of any member, the contract or 253 

transaction shall be brought up for a vote and may be canceled 254 

by a majority vote of the members present. If the members cancel 255 

the contract, the association is only liable for the reasonable 256 

value of goods and services provided up to the time of 257 

cancellation and is not liable for any termination fee, 258 

liquidated damages, or other penalty for such cancellation. 259 

(3) An officer, director, or manager may not solicit, offer 260 

to accept, or accept any good or service of value for which 261 

consideration has not been provided for his or her benefit or 262 

for the benefit of a member of his or her immediate family from 263 

any person providing or proposing to provide goods or services 264 

to the association. If the board finds that an officer or 265 

director has violated this subsection, the board shall 266 

immediately remove from office the officer or director. The 267 

vacancy shall be filled according to law until the end of the 268 

period of the end of the director’s term of office. However, an 269 

officer, director, or manager may accept food to be consumed at 270 

a business meeting with a value of less than $25 per individual 271 

or a service or good received in connection with trade fairs or 272 

education programs. 273 

(4) A director or officer charged by information or 274 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì1251764Î125176 

 

Page 11 of 17 

4/17/2013 8:49:56 AM RI.RC.04297 

indictment with a felony theft or embezzlement offense involving 275 

the association’s funds or property is removed from office. The 276 

board shall fill the vacancy according to general law until the 277 

end of the period of the suspension or the end of the director’s 278 

term of office, whichever occurs first. However, if the charges 279 

are resolved without a finding of guilt or without acceptance of 280 

a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, the director or officer 281 

shall be reinstated for any remainder of his or her term of 282 

office. A member who has such criminal charges pending may not 283 

be appointed or elected to a position as a director or officer. 284 

(5) All associations shall maintain insurance or a fidelity 285 

bond for all persons who control or disburse funds of the 286 

association. The insurance policy or fidelity bond must cover 287 

the maximum funds that will be in the custody of the association 288 

or its management agent at any one time. As used in this 289 

subsection, the term “persons who control or disburse funds of 290 

the association” includes, but is not limited to, persons 291 

authorized to sign checks on behalf of the association, and the 292 

president, secretary, and treasurer of the association. The 293 

association shall bear the cost of any insurance or bond. 294 

Section 4. Paragraph (a) of subsection (9) of section 295 

720.306, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 296 

720.306 Meetings of members; voting and election 297 

procedures; amendments.— 298 

(9)(a) ELECTIONS AND BOARD VACANCIES.—Elections of 299 

directors must be conducted in accordance with the procedures 300 

set forth in the governing documents of the association. All 301 

members of the association are eligible to serve on the board of 302 

directors, and a member may nominate himself or herself as a 303 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì1251764Î125176 

 

Page 12 of 17 

4/17/2013 8:49:56 AM RI.RC.04297 

candidate for the board at a meeting where the election is to be 304 

held; provided, however, that or, if the election process allows 305 

candidates to be nominated in advance of the meeting voting by 306 

absentee ballot, in advance of the balloting, the association is 307 

not required to allow nominations at the meeting. An election is 308 

not required unless more candidates are nominated than vacancies 309 

exist. Except as otherwise provided in the governing documents, 310 

boards of directors must be elected by a plurality of the votes 311 

cast by eligible voters. 312 

Section 5. Subsection (1) of section 720.307, Florida 313 

Statutes, is amended, present subsections (2) through (4) are 314 

renumbered as subsections (3) through (5), respectively, and new 315 

subsection (2) is added to that section, to read: 316 

720.307 Transition of association control in a community.—317 

With respect to homeowners’ associations: 318 

(1) Members other than the developer are entitled to elect 319 

at least a majority of the members of the board of directors of 320 

the homeowners’ association when the earlier of the following 321 

events occurs: 322 

(a) Three months after 90 percent of the parcels in all 323 

phases of the community that will ultimately be operated by the 324 

homeowners’ association have been conveyed to members; or 325 

(b) Such other percentage of the parcels has been conveyed 326 

to members, or such other date or event has occurred, as is set 327 

forth in the governing documents in order to comply with the 328 

requirements of any governmentally chartered entity with regard 329 

to the mortgage financing of parcels; 330 

(c) Upon the developer abandoning or deserting its 331 

responsibility to maintain and complete the amenities or 332 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì1251764Î125176 

 

Page 13 of 17 

4/17/2013 8:49:56 AM RI.RC.04297 

infrastructure as disclosed in the governing documents. There is 333 

a rebuttable presumption that the developer has abandoned and 334 

deserted the property if the developer has unpaid assessments or 335 

guaranteed amounts under s. 720.308 for a period of more than 2 336 

years; 337 

(d) Upon the developer filing a petition seeking protection 338 

under chapter 7 of the federal Bankruptcy Code; 339 

(e) Upon the developer losing title to the property through 340 

a foreclosure, or the transfer of a deed in lieu of foreclosure, 341 

unless the successor owner has accepted an assignment of 342 

developer rights and responsibilities first arising after the 343 

date of such assignment; or 344 

(f) Upon a receiver for the developer being appointed by a 345 

circuit court and not being discharged within 30 days after such 346 

appointment, unless the court determines within 30 days after 347 

such appointment that transfer of control would be detrimental 348 

to the association or its members. 349 

 350 

For purposes of this section, the term “members other than 351 

the developer” shall not include builders, contractors, or 352 

others who purchase a parcel for the purpose of constructing 353 

improvements thereon for resale. 354 

(2) Members other than the developer are entitled to elect 355 

at least one member of the board of directors of the homeowners’ 356 

association if 25 percent of the parcels in all phases of the 357 

community which will ultimately be operated by the association 358 

have been conveyed to members. 359 

Section 6. Subsection (5) is added to section 720.3075, 360 

Florida Statutes, to read: 361 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì1251764Î125176 

 

Page 14 of 17 

4/17/2013 8:49:56 AM RI.RC.04297 

720.3075 Prohibited clauses in association documents.— 362 

(5) It is declared that the public policy of this state is 363 

that prior to transition of homeowners’ association control in a 364 

community from the developer to the nondeveloper members, as set 365 

forth in s. 720.307, a developer is prohibited from unilaterally 366 

making amendments to the governing documents which bind members 367 

of the association, which would unreasonably modify the original 368 

plan of development, radically change the community scheme, or 369 

prejudice the rights of the existing nondeveloper members to use 370 

and enjoy the benefits of the common property. An amendment to 371 

the homeowners’ association documents shall not be deemed to 372 

unreasonably modify the original plan of development, radically 373 

change the community scheme, or prejudice the rights of the 374 

existing nondeveloper members to use and enjoy the benefits of 375 

the common property unless the developer’s authority to make 376 

such amendments was not reserved in the original governing 377 

documents, and the amendment is arbitrary, capricious or in bad 378 

faith, destroys the general plan of development, or materially 379 

shifts economic burdens from the developer to the existing 380 

nondeveloper members. 381 

Section 7. Paragraph (b) of subsection (2) of section 382 

720.3085, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 383 

720.3085 Payment for assessments; lien claims.— 384 

(2) 385 

(b) A parcel owner is jointly and severally liable with the 386 

previous parcel owner for all unpaid assessments that came due 387 

up to the time of transfer of title. This liability is without 388 

prejudice to any right the present parcel owner may have to 389 

recover any amounts paid by the present owner from the previous 390 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì1251764Î125176 

 

Page 15 of 17 

4/17/2013 8:49:56 AM RI.RC.04297 

owner. For the purposes of this subsection, the term “previous 391 

owner” shall not include an association that acquires title to a 392 

delinquent property through foreclosure or by deed in lieu of 393 

foreclosure. The present parcel owner’s liability for unpaid 394 

assessments is limited to any unpaid assessments that accrued 395 

before the association acquired title to the delinquent property 396 

through foreclosure or by deed in lieu of foreclosure. 397 

Section 8. This act shall take effect July 1, 2013. 398 

 399 

 400 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 401 

And the title is amended as follows: 402 

Delete everything before the enacting clause 403 

and insert: 404 

A bill to be entitled 405 

An act relating to homeowners’ associations; amending 406 

s. 468.436, F.S.; providing grounds for disciplinary 407 

actions against community association managers; 408 

amending s. 720.303, F.S.; requiring official records 409 

to be maintained within a specified distance of the 410 

association for a specified time; authorizing 411 

associations to maintain such records online; 412 

requiring associations to allow a member to use a 413 

portable device to make an electronic copy of the 414 

official records and prohibiting associations from 415 

charging a fee for such an electronic copy; removing 416 

provisions allowing the association to charge fees for 417 

personnel costs related to records access; requiring 418 

budgets to designate permissible uses of reserve 419 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì1251764Î125176 

 

Page 16 of 17 

4/17/2013 8:49:56 AM RI.RC.04297 

accounts; requiring a community association manager, 420 

or the association in the absence of a community 421 

association manager, to report certain information to 422 

the Division of Florida Condominiums, Timeshares, and 423 

Mobile Homes; providing an expiration date for the 424 

reporting requirements; creating s. 720.3033, F.S.; 425 

requiring association directors to file with the 426 

association secretary written certification that they 427 

have read certain association documents, will uphold 428 

the documents, and will uphold their fiduciary 429 

responsibility to the members; providing for an 430 

educational certificate in lieu of written 431 

certification; providing that such certification is 432 

valid while the director is on the board; providing 433 

penalties for failure to file such certification; 434 

requiring the association secretary to retain such 435 

certification for 5 years; requiring the board to 436 

follow specified procedures relating to contracts or 437 

transactions between the association and certain 438 

entities; providing for disclosure of the contract or 439 

transaction to members; providing for the cancellation 440 

of such contract or transaction under certain 441 

circumstances; prohibiting any association officer, 442 

director, or manager from soliciting or receiving 443 

certain personal benefits from any person providing or 444 

offering to provide goods or services to the 445 

association and providing for removal for knowingly 446 

taking such action; providing an exception; providing 447 

for the removal of any director or officer charged 448 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì1251764Î125176 

 

Page 17 of 17 

4/17/2013 8:49:56 AM RI.RC.04297 

with a felony theft or embezzlement offense involving 449 

association funds or property; providing for the 450 

reinstatement of such person under certain 451 

circumstances; prohibiting a member with pending 452 

criminal charges from certain positions; requiring the 453 

association to maintain insurance or a bond to cover 454 

funds that will be in the custody of the association 455 

or its management agent; providing a definition; 456 

amending s. 720.306, F.S.; revising procedures for the 457 

election of directors; amending s. 720.307, F.S.; 458 

providing additional circumstances for authorizing 459 

members to elect a majority of association board 460 

members; providing circumstances under which members 461 

other than the developer are authorized to elect a 462 

specified number of members to the board of directors; 463 

amending s. 720.3075, F.S.; providing public policy 464 

regarding prohibited clauses in association documents; 465 

providing prohibited clauses in association documents; 466 

amending s. 720.3085, F.S.; defining the term 467 

“previous owner” to exclude certain associations from 468 

provisions relating to the liability of previous 469 

owners of parcels for unpaid assessments; limiting a 470 

present owner’s liability for certain assessments; 471 

providing an effective date. 472 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì4462463Î446246 

 

Page 1 of 17 

4/17/2013 10:41:14 AM RI.RC.04547 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

04/17/2013 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Rules (Richter) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete everything after the enacting clause 3 

and insert: 4 

Section 1. Paragraph (b) of subsection (2) of section 5 

468.436, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 6 

468.436 Disciplinary proceedings.— 7 

(2) The following acts constitute grounds for which the 8 

disciplinary actions in subsection (4) may be taken: 9 

(b)1. Violation of any provision of this part. 10 

2. Violation of any lawful order or rule rendered or 11 

adopted by the department or the council. 12 

3. Being convicted of or pleading nolo contendere to a 13 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì4462463Î446246 

 

Page 2 of 17 

4/17/2013 10:41:14 AM RI.RC.04547 

felony in any court in the United States. 14 

4. Obtaining a license or certification or any other order, 15 

ruling, or authorization by means of fraud, misrepresentation, 16 

or concealment of material facts. 17 

5. Committing acts of gross misconduct or gross negligence 18 

in connection with the profession. 19 

6. Contracting, on behalf of an association, with any 20 

entity in which the licensee has a financial interest that is 21 

not disclosed. 22 

7. Violating any provision of chapters 718, 719, or 720 23 

during the course of performing community association management 24 

services pursuant to a contract with a community association as 25 

defined in s. 468.431(1). 26 

Section 2. Subsection (5) and paragraph (d) of subsection 27 

(6) of section 720.303, Florida Statutes, are amended, and 28 

subsection (13) is added to that section, to read: 29 

720.303 Association powers and duties; meetings of board; 30 

official records; budgets; financial reporting; association 31 

funds; recalls.— 32 

(5) INSPECTION AND COPYING OF RECORDS.—The official records 33 

shall be maintained within the state for at least 7 years and 34 

shall be made available to a parcel owner for inspection or 35 

photocopying within 45 miles of the community or within the 36 

county in which the association is located within 10 business 37 

days after receipt by the board or its designee of a written 38 

request must be open to inspection and available for 39 

photocopying by members or their authorized agents at reasonable 40 

times and places within 10 business days after receipt of a 41 

written request for access. This subsection may be complied with 42 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì4462463Î446246 

 

Page 3 of 17 

4/17/2013 10:41:14 AM RI.RC.04547 

by having a copy of the official records available for 43 

inspection or copying in the community or, at the option of the 44 

association, by making the records available to a parcel owner 45 

electronically via the Internet or by allowing the records to be 46 

viewed in electronic format on a computer screen and printed 47 

upon request. If the association has a photocopy machine 48 

available where the records are maintained, it must provide 49 

parcel owners with copies on request during the inspection if 50 

the entire request is limited to no more than 25 pages. An 51 

association shall allow a member or his or her authorized 52 

representative to use a portable device, including a smartphone, 53 

tablet, portable scanner, or any other technology capable of 54 

scanning or taking photographs, to make an electronic copy of 55 

the official records in lieu of providing the member or his or 56 

her authorized representative with a copy of such records. The 57 

association may not charge a fee to a member or his or her 58 

authorized representative for such use of a portable device. 59 

(a) The failure of an association to provide access to the 60 

records within 10 business days after receipt of a written 61 

request submitted by certified mail, return receipt requested, 62 

creates a rebuttable presumption that the association willfully 63 

failed to comply with this subsection. 64 

(b) A member who is denied access to official records is 65 

entitled to the actual damages or minimum damages for the 66 

association’s willful failure to comply with this subsection. 67 

The minimum damages are to be $50 per calendar day up to 10 68 

days, the calculation to begin on the 11th business day after 69 

receipt of the written request. 70 

(c) The association may adopt reasonable written rules 71 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì4462463Î446246 

 

Page 4 of 17 

4/17/2013 10:41:14 AM RI.RC.04547 

governing the frequency, time, location, notice, records to be 72 

inspected, and manner of inspections, but may not require a 73 

parcel owner to demonstrate any proper purpose for the 74 

inspection, state any reason for the inspection, or limit a 75 

parcel owner’s right to inspect records to less than one 8-hour 76 

business day per month. The association may impose fees to cover 77 

the costs of providing copies of the official records, 78 

including, without limitation, the costs of copying and the 79 

costs required for personnel to retrieve and copy the records if 80 

the time spent retrieving and copying the records exceeds one-81 

half hour and if the personnel costs do not exceed $20 per hour. 82 

No personnel costs may be charged for records requests that 83 

result in 25 or fewer pages. The association may charge up to 25 84 

50 cents per page for copies made on the association’s 85 

photocopier. If the association does not have a photocopy 86 

machine available where the records are kept, or if the records 87 

requested to be copied exceed 25 pages in length, the 88 

association may have copies made by an outside duplicating 89 

service vendor or association management company personnel and 90 

may charge the actual cost of copying, as supported by the 91 

vendor invoice including any reasonable costs involving 92 

personnel fees and charges at an hourly rate for vendor or 93 

employee time to cover administrative costs to the vendor or 94 

association. The association shall maintain an adequate number 95 

of copies of the recorded governing documents, to ensure their 96 

availability to members and prospective members. Notwithstanding 97 

this paragraph, the following records are not accessible to 98 

members or parcel owners: 99 

1. Any record protected by the lawyer-client privilege as 100 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì4462463Î446246 

 

Page 5 of 17 

4/17/2013 10:41:14 AM RI.RC.04547 

described in s. 90.502 and any record protected by the work-101 

product privilege, including, but not limited to, a record 102 

prepared by an association attorney or prepared at the 103 

attorney’s express direction which reflects a mental impression, 104 

conclusion, litigation strategy, or legal theory of the attorney 105 

or the association and which was prepared exclusively for civil 106 

or criminal litigation or for adversarial administrative 107 

proceedings or which was prepared in anticipation of such 108 

litigation or proceedings until the conclusion of the litigation 109 

or proceedings. 110 

2. Information obtained by an association in connection 111 

with the approval of the lease, sale, or other transfer of a 112 

parcel. 113 

3. Personnel records of the association’s employees, 114 

including, but not limited to, disciplinary, payroll, health, 115 

and insurance records. For purposes of this subparagraph, the 116 

term “personnel records” does not include written employment 117 

agreements with an association employee or budgetary or 118 

financial records that indicate the compensation paid to an 119 

association employee. 120 

4. Medical records of parcel owners or community residents. 121 

5. Social security numbers, driver’s license numbers, 122 

credit card numbers, electronic mailing addresses, telephone 123 

numbers, facsimile numbers, emergency contact information, any 124 

addresses for a parcel owner other than as provided for 125 

association notice requirements, and other personal identifying 126 

information of any person, excluding the person’s name, parcel 127 

designation, mailing address, and property address. However, an 128 

owner may consent in writing to the disclosure of protected 129 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì4462463Î446246 

 

Page 6 of 17 

4/17/2013 10:41:14 AM RI.RC.04547 

information described in this subparagraph. The association is 130 

not liable for the disclosure of information that is protected 131 

under this subparagraph if the information is included in an 132 

official record of the association and is voluntarily provided 133 

by an owner and not requested by the association. 134 

6. Any electronic security measure that is used by the 135 

association to safeguard data, including passwords. 136 

7. The software and operating system used by the 137 

association which allows the manipulation of data, even if the 138 

owner owns a copy of the same software used by the association. 139 

The data is part of the official records of the association. 140 

(d) The association or its authorized agent is not required 141 

to provide a prospective purchaser or lienholder with 142 

information about the residential subdivision or the association 143 

other than information or documents required by this chapter to 144 

be made available or disclosed. The association or its 145 

authorized agent may charge a reasonable fee to the prospective 146 

purchaser or lienholder or the current parcel owner or member 147 

for providing good faith responses to requests for information 148 

by or on behalf of a prospective purchaser or lienholder, other 149 

than that required by law, if the fee does not exceed $150 plus 150 

the reasonable cost of photocopying and any attorney’s fees 151 

incurred by the association in connection with the response. 152 

(6) BUDGETS.— 153 

(d) An association is deemed to have provided for reserve 154 

accounts if reserve accounts have been initially established by 155 

the developer or if the membership of the association 156 

affirmatively elects to provide for reserves. If reserve 157 

accounts are established by the developer, the budget must 158 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì4462463Î446246 

 

Page 7 of 17 

4/17/2013 10:41:14 AM RI.RC.04547 

designate the components for which the reserve accounts may be 159 

used. If reserve accounts are not initially provided by the 160 

developer, the membership of the association may elect to do so 161 

upon the affirmative approval of a majority of the total voting 162 

interests of the association. Such approval may be obtained by 163 

vote of the members at a duly called meeting of the membership 164 

or by the written consent of a majority of the total voting 165 

interests of the association. The approval action of the 166 

membership must state that reserve accounts shall be provided 167 

for in the budget and must designate the components for which 168 

the reserve accounts are to be established. Upon approval by the 169 

membership, the board of directors shall include the required 170 

reserve accounts in the budget in the next fiscal year following 171 

the approval and each year thereafter. Once established as 172 

provided in this subsection, the reserve accounts must be funded 173 

or maintained or have their funding waived in the manner 174 

provided in paragraph (f). 175 

(13) REPORTING REQUIREMENT.—The community association 176 

manager or management firm, or the association when there is no 177 

community association manager or management firm, shall report 178 

to the division by November 22, 2013, in a manner and form 179 

prescribed by the division. 180 

(a) The report shall include the association’s: 181 

1. Legal name. 182 

2. Federal employer identification number. 183 

3. Mailing and physical addresses. 184 

4. Total number of parcels. 185 

5. Total amount of revenues and expenses from the 186 

association’s annual budget. 187 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì4462463Î446246 

 

Page 8 of 17 

4/17/2013 10:41:14 AM RI.RC.04547 

(b) For associations in which control of the association 188 

has not been transitioned to nondeveloper members, as set forth 189 

in s. 720.307, the report shall also include the developer’s: 190 

1. Legal name. 191 

2. Mailing address. 192 

3. Total number of parcels owned on the date of reporting. 193 

(c) The reporting requirement provided in this subsection 194 

shall be a continuing obligation on each association until the 195 

required information is reported to the division. 196 

(d) By October 1, 2013, the department shall establish and 197 

implement a registration system through an Internet website that 198 

provides for the reporting requirements of paragraphs (a) and 199 

(b). 200 

(e) On or before December 1, 2013, and annually thereafter 201 

by December 1, the department shall submit a report to the 202 

Governor, the President of the Senate, and the Speaker of the 203 

House of Representatives providing the homeowner association 204 

data reported pursuant to this subsection. 205 

(f) The division may adopt rules pursuant to ss. 120.536(1) 206 

and 120.54 to implement the provisions of this subsection. 207 

(g) This subsection shall expire on July 1, 2016, unless 208 

reenacted by the Legislature. 209 

Section 3. Section 720.3033, Florida Statutes, is created 210 

to read: 211 

720.3033 Officers and directors.— 212 

(1)(a) Within 90 days after being elected or appointed to 213 

the board, each director shall certify in writing to the 214 

secretary of the association that he or she has read the 215 

association’s declaration of covenants, articles of 216 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì4462463Î446246 

 

Page 9 of 17 

4/17/2013 10:41:14 AM RI.RC.04547 

incorporation, bylaws, and current written rules and policies; 217 

that he or she will work to uphold such documents and policies 218 

to the best of his or her ability; and that he or she will 219 

faithfully discharge his or her fiduciary responsibility to the 220 

association’s members. Within 90 days after being elected or 221 

appointed to the board, in lieu of this written certification, 222 

the newly elected or appointed director may submit a certificate 223 

of having satisfactorily completed the educational curriculum 224 

administered by a division-approved education provider within 1 225 

year before or 90 days after the date of election or 226 

appointment. 227 

(b) The written certification or educational certificate is 228 

valid for the uninterrupted tenure of the director on the board. 229 

A director who does not timely file the written certification or 230 

educational certificate shall be suspended from the board until 231 

he or she complies with the requirement. The board may 232 

temporarily fill the vacancy during the period of suspension. 233 

(c) The association shall retain each director’s written 234 

certification or educational certificate for inspection by the 235 

members for 5 years after the director’s election. However, the 236 

failure to have the written certification or educational 237 

certificate on file does not affect the validity of any board 238 

action. 239 

(2) If the association enters into a contract or other 240 

transaction with any of its directors or a corporation, firm, 241 

association that is not an affiliated homeowners' association, 242 

or other entity in which an association director is also a 243 

director or officer or is financially interested, the board 244 

must: 245 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì4462463Î446246 

 

Page 10 of 17 

4/17/2013 10:41:14 AM RI.RC.04547 

(a) Comply with the requirements of s. 617.0832. 246 

(b) Enter the disclosures required by s. 617.0832 into the 247 

written minutes of the meeting. 248 

(c) Approve the contract or other transaction by an 249 

affirmative vote of two-thirds of the directors present. 250 

(d) At the next regular or special meeting of the members, 251 

disclose the existence of the contract or other transaction to 252 

the members. Upon motion of any member, the contract or 253 

transaction shall be brought up for a vote and may be canceled 254 

by a majority vote of the members present. If the members cancel 255 

the contract, the association is only liable for the reasonable 256 

value of goods and services provided up to the time of 257 

cancellation and is not liable for any termination fee, 258 

liquidated damages, or other penalty for such cancellation. 259 

(3) An officer, director, or manager may not solicit, offer 260 

to accept, or accept any good or service of value for which 261 

consideration has not been provided for his or her benefit or 262 

for the benefit of a member of his or her immediate family from 263 

any person providing or proposing to provide goods or services 264 

to the association. If the board finds that an officer or 265 

director has violated this subsection, the board shall 266 

immediately remove from office the officer or director. The 267 

vacancy shall be filled according to law until the end of the 268 

period of the end of the director’s term of office. However, an 269 

officer, director, or manager may accept food to be consumed at 270 

a business meeting with a value of less than $25 per individual 271 

or a service or good received in connection with trade fairs or 272 

education programs. 273 

(4) A director or officer charged by information or 274 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì4462463Î446246 

 

Page 11 of 17 

4/17/2013 10:41:14 AM RI.RC.04547 

indictment with a felony theft or embezzlement offense involving 275 

the association’s funds or property is removed from office. The 276 

board shall fill the vacancy according to general law until the 277 

end of the period of the suspension or the end of the director’s 278 

term of office, whichever occurs first. However, if the charges 279 

are resolved without a finding of guilt or without acceptance of 280 

a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, the director or officer 281 

shall be reinstated for any remainder of his or her term of 282 

office. A member who has such criminal charges pending may not 283 

be appointed or elected to a position as a director or officer. 284 

(5) All associations shall maintain insurance or a fidelity 285 

bond for all persons who control or disburse funds of the 286 

association. The insurance policy or fidelity bond must cover 287 

the maximum funds that will be in the custody of the association 288 

or its management agent at any one time. As used in this 289 

subsection, the term “persons who control or disburse funds of 290 

the association” includes, but is not limited to, persons 291 

authorized to sign checks on behalf of the association, and the 292 

president, secretary, and treasurer of the association. The 293 

association shall bear the cost of any insurance or bond. 294 

Section 4. Paragraph (a) of subsection (9) of section 295 

720.306, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 296 

720.306 Meetings of members; voting and election 297 

procedures; amendments.— 298 

(9)(a) ELECTIONS AND BOARD VACANCIES.—Elections of 299 

directors must be conducted in accordance with the procedures 300 

set forth in the governing documents of the association. All 301 

members of the association are eligible to serve on the board of 302 

directors, and a member may nominate himself or herself as a 303 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì4462463Î446246 

 

Page 12 of 17 

4/17/2013 10:41:14 AM RI.RC.04547 

candidate for the board at a meeting where the election is to be 304 

held; provided, however, that or, if the election process allows 305 

candidates to be nominated in advance of the meeting voting by 306 

absentee ballot, in advance of the balloting, the association is 307 

not required to allow nominations at the meeting. An election is 308 

not required unless more candidates are nominated than vacancies 309 

exist. Except as otherwise provided in the governing documents, 310 

boards of directors must be elected by a plurality of the votes 311 

cast by eligible voters. 312 

Section 5. Subsection (1) of section 720.307, Florida 313 

Statutes, is amended, present subsections (2) through (4) are 314 

renumbered as subsections (3) through (5), respectively, and new 315 

subsection (2) is added to that section, to read: 316 

720.307 Transition of association control in a community.—317 

With respect to homeowners’ associations: 318 

(1) Members other than the developer are entitled to elect 319 

at least a majority of the members of the board of directors of 320 

the homeowners’ association when the earlier of the following 321 

events occurs: 322 

(a) Three months after 90 percent of the parcels in all 323 

phases of the community that will ultimately be operated by the 324 

homeowners’ association have been conveyed to members; or 325 

(b) Such other percentage of the parcels has been conveyed 326 

to members, or such other date or event has occurred, as is set 327 

forth in the governing documents in order to comply with the 328 

requirements of any governmentally chartered entity with regard 329 

to the mortgage financing of parcels; 330 

(c) Upon the developer abandoning or deserting its 331 

responsibility to maintain and complete the amenities or 332 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì4462463Î446246 

 

Page 13 of 17 

4/17/2013 10:41:14 AM RI.RC.04547 

infrastructure as disclosed in the governing documents. There is 333 

a rebuttable presumption that the developer has abandoned and 334 

deserted the property if the developer has unpaid assessments or 335 

guaranteed amounts under s. 720.308 for a period of more than 2 336 

years; 337 

(d) Upon the developer filing a petition seeking protection 338 

under chapter 7 of the federal Bankruptcy Code; 339 

(e) Upon the developer losing title to the property through 340 

a foreclosure, or the transfer of a deed in lieu of foreclosure, 341 

unless the successor owner has accepted an assignment of 342 

developer rights and responsibilities first arising after the 343 

date of such assignment; or 344 

(f) Upon a receiver for the developer being appointed by a 345 

circuit court and not being discharged within 30 days after such 346 

appointment, unless the court determines within 30 days after 347 

such appointment that transfer of control would be detrimental 348 

to the association or its members. 349 

 350 

For purposes of this section, the term “members other than 351 

the developer” shall not include builders, contractors, or 352 

others who purchase a parcel for the purpose of constructing 353 

improvements thereon for resale. 354 

(2) Members other than the developer are entitled to elect 355 

at least one member of the board of directors of the homeowners’ 356 

association if 25 percent of the parcels in all phases of the 357 

community which will ultimately be operated by the association 358 

have been conveyed to members. 359 

Section 6. Subsection (5) is added to section 720.3075, 360 

Florida Statutes, to read: 361 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì4462463Î446246 

 

Page 14 of 17 

4/17/2013 10:41:14 AM RI.RC.04547 

720.3075 Prohibited clauses in association documents.— 362 

(5) It is declared that the public policy of this state is 363 

that prior to transition of homeowners’ association control in a 364 

community from the developer to the nondeveloper members, as set 365 

forth in s. 720.307, a developer is prohibited from unilaterally 366 

making amendments to the governing documents which bind members 367 

of the association, which would unreasonably modify the original 368 

plan of development, radically change the community scheme, or 369 

prejudice the rights of the existing nondeveloper members to use 370 

and enjoy the benefits of the common property. An amendment to 371 

the governing documents shall not be deemed to unreasonably 372 

modify the original plan of development, radically change the 373 

community scheme, or prejudice the rights of the existing 374 

nondeveloper members to use and enjoy the benefits of the common 375 

property unless the developer’s authority to make such 376 

amendments was not reserved in the original governing documents, 377 

and the amendment is arbitrary, capricious or in bad faith, 378 

destroys the general plan of development, or materially shifts 379 

economic burdens from the developer to the existing nondeveloper 380 

members. 381 

Section 7. Paragraph (b) of subsection (2) of section 382 

720.3085, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 383 

720.3085 Payment for assessments; lien claims.— 384 

(2) 385 

(b) A parcel owner is jointly and severally liable with the 386 

previous parcel owner for all unpaid assessments that came due 387 

up to the time of transfer of title. This liability is without 388 

prejudice to any right the present parcel owner may have to 389 

recover any amounts paid by the present owner from the previous 390 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì4462463Î446246 

 

Page 15 of 17 

4/17/2013 10:41:14 AM RI.RC.04547 

owner. For the purposes of this subsection, the term “previous 391 

owner” shall not include an association that acquires title to a 392 

delinquent property through foreclosure or by deed in lieu of 393 

foreclosure. The present parcel owner’s liability for unpaid 394 

assessments is limited to any unpaid assessments that accrued 395 

before the association acquired title to the delinquent property 396 

through foreclosure or by deed in lieu of foreclosure. 397 

Section 8. This act shall take effect July 1, 2013. 398 

 399 

 400 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 401 

And the title is amended as follows: 402 

Delete everything before the enacting clause 403 

and insert: 404 

A bill to be entitled 405 

An act relating to homeowners’ associations; amending 406 

s. 468.436, F.S.; providing grounds for disciplinary 407 

actions against community association managers; 408 

amending s. 720.303, F.S.; requiring official records 409 

to be maintained within a specified distance of the 410 

association for a specified time; authorizing 411 

associations to maintain such records online; 412 

requiring associations to allow a member to use a 413 

portable device to make an electronic copy of the 414 

official records and prohibiting associations from 415 

charging a fee for such an electronic copy; removing 416 

provisions allowing the association to charge fees for 417 

personnel costs related to records access; requiring 418 

budgets to designate permissible uses of reserve 419 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì4462463Î446246 

 

Page 16 of 17 

4/17/2013 10:41:14 AM RI.RC.04547 

accounts; requiring a community association manager, 420 

or the association in the absence of a community 421 

association manager, to report certain information to 422 

the Division of Florida Condominiums, Timeshares, and 423 

Mobile Homes; providing an expiration date for the 424 

reporting requirements; creating s. 720.3033, F.S.; 425 

requiring association directors to file with the 426 

association secretary written certification that they 427 

have read certain association documents, will uphold 428 

the documents, and will uphold their fiduciary 429 

responsibility to the members; providing for an 430 

educational certificate in lieu of written 431 

certification; providing that such certification is 432 

valid while the director is on the board; providing 433 

penalties for failure to file such certification; 434 

requiring the association secretary to retain such 435 

certification for 5 years; requiring the board to 436 

follow specified procedures relating to contracts or 437 

transactions between the association and certain 438 

entities; providing for disclosure of the contract or 439 

transaction to members; providing for the cancellation 440 

of such contract or transaction under certain 441 

circumstances; prohibiting any association officer, 442 

director, or manager from soliciting or receiving 443 

certain personal benefits from any person providing or 444 

offering to provide goods or services to the 445 

association and providing for removal for knowingly 446 

taking such action; providing an exception; providing 447 

for the removal of any director or officer charged 448 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì4462463Î446246 

 

Page 17 of 17 

4/17/2013 10:41:14 AM RI.RC.04547 

with a felony theft or embezzlement offense involving 449 

association funds or property; providing for the 450 

reinstatement of such person under certain 451 

circumstances; prohibiting a member with pending 452 

criminal charges from certain positions; requiring the 453 

association to maintain insurance or a bond to cover 454 

funds that will be in the custody of the association 455 

or its management agent; providing a definition; 456 

amending s. 720.306, F.S.; revising procedures for the 457 

election of directors; amending s. 720.307, F.S.; 458 

providing additional circumstances for authorizing 459 

members to elect a majority of association board 460 

members; providing circumstances under which members 461 

other than the developer are authorized to elect a 462 

specified number of members to the board of directors; 463 

amending s. 720.3075, F.S.; providing public policy 464 

regarding prohibited clauses in association documents; 465 

providing prohibited clauses in association documents; 466 

amending s. 720.3085, F.S.; defining the term 467 

“previous owner” to exclude certain associations from 468 

provisions relating to the liability of previous 469 

owners of parcels for unpaid assessments; limiting a 470 

present owner’s liability for certain assessments; 471 

providing an effective date. 472 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

By the Committees on Community Affairs; and Regulated 

Industries; and Senator Hays 

 

 

 

578-03999-13 2013580c2 

Page 1 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to homeowners’ associations; amending 2 

s. 468.436, F.S.; providing grounds for disciplinary 3 

actions against community association managers; 4 

amending s. 720.303, F.S.; requiring official records 5 

to be maintained within a specified distance of the 6 

association for a specified time; authorizing 7 

associations to maintain such records online; 8 

requiring associations to allow a member to use a 9 

portable device to make an electronic copy of the 10 

official records and prohibiting associations from 11 

charging a fee for such an electronic copy; removing 12 

provisions allowing the association to charge fees for 13 

personnel costs related to records access; requiring 14 

budgets to designate permissible uses of reserve 15 

accounts; requiring a community association manager, 16 

or the association in the absence of a community 17 

association manager, to report certain information to 18 

the Division of Florida Condominiums, Timeshares, and 19 

Mobile Homes; providing an expiration date for the 20 

reporting requirements; creating s. 720.3033, F.S.; 21 

requiring association directors to file with the 22 

association secretary written certification that they 23 

have read certain association documents, will uphold 24 

the documents, and will uphold their fiduciary 25 

responsibility to the members; providing for an 26 

educational certificate in lieu of written 27 

certification; providing that such certification is 28 

valid while the director is on the board; providing 29 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

578-03999-13 2013580c2 

Page 2 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

penalties for failure to file such certification; 30 

requiring the association secretary to retain such 31 

certification for 5 years; requiring the board to 32 

follow specified procedures relating to contracts or 33 

transactions between the association and certain 34 

entities; providing for disclosure of the contract or 35 

transaction to members; providing for the cancellation 36 

of such contract or transaction under certain 37 

circumstances; prohibiting any association officer, 38 

director, or manager from soliciting or receiving 39 

certain personal benefits from any person providing or 40 

offering to provide goods or services to the 41 

association and providing for removal for knowingly 42 

taking such action; providing an exception; providing 43 

for the removal of any director or officer charged 44 

with a felony theft or embezzlement offense involving 45 

association funds or property; providing for the 46 

reinstatement of such person under certain 47 

circumstances; prohibiting a member with pending 48 

criminal charges from certain positions; requiring the 49 

association to maintain insurance or a bond to cover 50 

funds that will be in the custody of the association 51 

or its management agent; providing a definition; 52 

amending s. 720.306, F.S.; revising provisions 53 

relating to the amendment of homeowners’ association 54 

declarations; providing legislative findings and a 55 

finding of compelling state interest; providing 56 

criteria for consent or joinder to an amendment; 57 

requiring notice to mortgagees regarding proposed 58 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

578-03999-13 2013580c2 

Page 3 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

amendments; providing criteria for notification; 59 

providing for voiding certain amendments; revising 60 

procedures for the election of directors; amending s. 61 

720.307, F.S.; providing additional circumstances for 62 

authorizing members to elect a majority of association 63 

board members; providing circumstances under which 64 

members other than the developer are authorized to 65 

elect a specified number of members to the board of 66 

directors; amending s. 720.3075, F.S.; providing 67 

public policy regarding prohibited clauses in 68 

association documents; providing prohibited clauses in 69 

association documents; amending s. 720.3085, F.S.; 70 

defining the term “previous owner” to exclude certain 71 

associations from provisions relating to the liability 72 

of previous owners of parcels for unpaid assessments; 73 

limiting a present owner’s liability for certain 74 

assessments; amending s. 720.315, F.S.; prohibiting 75 

increases in assessments levied pursuant to the annual 76 

budget under certain circumstances; providing an 77 

effective date. 78 

 79 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 80 

 81 

Section 1. Paragraph (b) of subsection (2) of section 82 

468.436, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 83 

468.436 Disciplinary proceedings.— 84 

(2) The following acts constitute grounds for which the 85 

disciplinary actions in subsection (4) may be taken: 86 

(b)1. Violation of any provision of this part. 87 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

578-03999-13 2013580c2 

Page 4 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

2. Violation of any lawful order or rule rendered or 88 

adopted by the department or the council. 89 

3. Being convicted of or pleading nolo contendere to a 90 

felony in any court in the United States. 91 

4. Obtaining a license or certification or any other order, 92 

ruling, or authorization by means of fraud, misrepresentation, 93 

or concealment of material facts. 94 

5. Committing acts of gross misconduct or gross negligence 95 

in connection with the profession. 96 

6. Contracting, on behalf of an association, with any 97 

entity in which the licensee has a financial interest that is 98 

not disclosed. 99 

7. Failing to report to the division as required in s. 100 

720.303(13). 101 

8. Violating any provision of chapters 718, 719, or 720 102 

during the course of performing community association management 103 

services pursuant to a contract with a community association. 104 

Section 2. Subsection (5) and paragraph (d) of subsection 105 

(6) of section 720.303, Florida Statutes, are amended, and 106 

subsection (13) is added to that section, to read: 107 

720.303 Association powers and duties; meetings of board; 108 

official records; budgets; financial reporting; association 109 

funds; recalls.— 110 

(5) INSPECTION AND COPYING OF RECORDS.—The official records 111 

shall be maintained within the state for at least 7 years and 112 

shall be made available to a parcel owner for inspection or 113 

photocopying within 45 miles of the community or within the 114 

county in which the association is located within 10 business 115 

days after receipt by the board or its designee of a written 116 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

578-03999-13 2013580c2 

Page 5 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

request must be open to inspection and available for 117 

photocopying by members or their authorized agents at reasonable 118 

times and places within 10 business days after receipt of a 119 

written request for access. This subsection may be complied with 120 

by having a copy of the official records available for 121 

inspection or copying in the community or, at the option of the 122 

association, by making the records available to a parcel owner 123 

electronically via the Internet or by allowing the records to be 124 

viewed in electronic format on a computer screen and printed 125 

upon request. If the association has a photocopy machine 126 

available where the records are maintained, it must provide 127 

parcel owners with copies on request during the inspection if 128 

the entire request is limited to no more than 25 pages. An 129 

association shall allow a member or his or her authorized 130 

representative to use a portable device, including a smartphone, 131 

tablet, portable scanner, or any other technology capable of 132 

scanning or taking photographs, to make an electronic copy of 133 

the official records in lieu of providing the member or his or 134 

her authorized representative with a copy of such records. The 135 

association may not charge a fee to a member or his or her 136 

authorized representative for such use of a portable device. 137 

(a) The failure of an association to provide access to the 138 

records within 10 business days after receipt of a written 139 

request submitted by certified mail, return receipt requested, 140 

creates a rebuttable presumption that the association willfully 141 

failed to comply with this subsection. 142 

(b) A member who is denied access to official records is 143 

entitled to the actual damages or minimum damages for the 144 

association’s willful failure to comply with this subsection. 145 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

578-03999-13 2013580c2 

Page 6 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

The minimum damages are to be $50 per calendar day up to 10 146 

days, the calculation to begin on the 11th business day after 147 

receipt of the written request. 148 

(c) The association may adopt reasonable written rules 149 

governing the frequency, time, location, notice, records to be 150 

inspected, and manner of inspections, but may not require a 151 

parcel owner to demonstrate any proper purpose for the 152 

inspection, state any reason for the inspection, or limit a 153 

parcel owner’s right to inspect records to less than one 8-hour 154 

business day per month. The association may impose fees to cover 155 

the costs of providing copies of the official records, 156 

including, without limitation, the costs of copying and the 157 

costs required for personnel to retrieve and copy the records if 158 

the time spent retrieving and copying the records exceeds one-159 

half hour and if the personnel costs do not exceed $20 per hour. 160 

No personnel costs may be charged for records requests that 161 

result in 25 or fewer pages. The association may charge up to 25 162 

50 cents per page for copies made on the association’s 163 

photocopier. If the association does not have a photocopy 164 

machine available where the records are kept, or if the records 165 

requested to be copied exceed 25 pages in length, the 166 

association may have copies made by an outside duplicating 167 

service vendor or association management company personnel and 168 

may charge the actual cost of copying, as supported by the 169 

vendor invoice including any reasonable costs involving 170 

personnel fees and charges at an hourly rate for vendor or 171 

employee time to cover administrative costs to the vendor or 172 

association. The association shall maintain an adequate number 173 

of copies of the recorded governing documents, to ensure their 174 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

578-03999-13 2013580c2 

Page 7 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

availability to members and prospective members. Notwithstanding 175 

this paragraph, the following records are not accessible to 176 

members or parcel owners: 177 

1. Any record protected by the lawyer-client privilege as 178 

described in s. 90.502 and any record protected by the work-179 

product privilege, including, but not limited to, a record 180 

prepared by an association attorney or prepared at the 181 

attorney’s express direction which reflects a mental impression, 182 

conclusion, litigation strategy, or legal theory of the attorney 183 

or the association and which was prepared exclusively for civil 184 

or criminal litigation or for adversarial administrative 185 

proceedings or which was prepared in anticipation of such 186 

litigation or proceedings until the conclusion of the litigation 187 

or proceedings. 188 

2. Information obtained by an association in connection 189 

with the approval of the lease, sale, or other transfer of a 190 

parcel. 191 

3. Personnel records of the association’s employees, 192 

including, but not limited to, disciplinary, payroll, health, 193 

and insurance records. For purposes of this subparagraph, the 194 

term “personnel records” does not include written employment 195 

agreements with an association employee or budgetary or 196 

financial records that indicate the compensation paid to an 197 

association employee. 198 

4. Medical records of parcel owners or community residents. 199 

5. Social security numbers, driver’s license numbers, 200 

credit card numbers, electronic mailing addresses, telephone 201 

numbers, facsimile numbers, emergency contact information, any 202 

addresses for a parcel owner other than as provided for 203 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

578-03999-13 2013580c2 

Page 8 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

association notice requirements, and other personal identifying 204 

information of any person, excluding the person’s name, parcel 205 

designation, mailing address, and property address. However, an 206 

owner may consent in writing to the disclosure of protected 207 

information described in this subparagraph. The association is 208 

not liable for the disclosure of information that is protected 209 

under this subparagraph if the information is included in an 210 

official record of the association and is voluntarily provided 211 

by an owner and not requested by the association. 212 

6. Any electronic security measure that is used by the 213 

association to safeguard data, including passwords. 214 

7. The software and operating system used by the 215 

association which allows the manipulation of data, even if the 216 

owner owns a copy of the same software used by the association. 217 

The data is part of the official records of the association. 218 

(d) The association or its authorized agent is not required 219 

to provide a prospective purchaser or lienholder with 220 

information about the residential subdivision or the association 221 

other than information or documents required by this chapter to 222 

be made available or disclosed. The association or its 223 

authorized agent may charge a reasonable fee to the prospective 224 

purchaser or lienholder or the current parcel owner or member 225 

for providing good faith responses to requests for information 226 

by or on behalf of a prospective purchaser or lienholder, other 227 

than that required by law, if the fee does not exceed $150 plus 228 

the reasonable cost of photocopying and any attorney’s fees 229 

incurred by the association in connection with the response. 230 

(6) BUDGETS.— 231 

(d) An association is deemed to have provided for reserve 232 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

578-03999-13 2013580c2 

Page 9 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

accounts if reserve accounts have been initially established by 233 

the developer or if the membership of the association 234 

affirmatively elects to provide for reserves. If reserve 235 

accounts are established by the developer, the budget must 236 

designate the components for which the reserve accounts may be 237 

used. If reserve accounts are not initially provided by the 238 

developer, the membership of the association may elect to do so 239 

upon the affirmative approval of a majority of the total voting 240 

interests of the association. Such approval may be obtained by 241 

vote of the members at a duly called meeting of the membership 242 

or by the written consent of a majority of the total voting 243 

interests of the association. The approval action of the 244 

membership must state that reserve accounts shall be provided 245 

for in the budget and must designate the components for which 246 

the reserve accounts are to be established. Upon approval by the 247 

membership, the board of directors shall include the required 248 

reserve accounts in the budget in the next fiscal year following 249 

the approval and each year thereafter. Once established as 250 

provided in this subsection, the reserve accounts must be funded 251 

or maintained or have their funding waived in the manner 252 

provided in paragraph (f). 253 

(13) REPORTING REQUIREMENT.—The community association 254 

manager, or the association when there is no community 255 

association manager, shall report to the division by November 256 

22, 2013, and annually thereafter, in a manner and form 257 

prescribed by the division. 258 

(a) The report shall include the association’s: 259 

1. Legal name. 260 

2. Federal employer identification number. 261 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

578-03999-13 2013580c2 

Page 10 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

3. Mailing and physical addresses. 262 

4. Total number of parcels. 263 

5. Total amount of revenues and expenses from the 264 

association’s annual budget. 265 

(b) For associations in which control of the association 266 

has not been transitioned to nondeveloper members, as set forth 267 

in s. 720.307, the report shall also include the developer’s: 268 

1. Legal name. 269 

2. Mailing address. 270 

3. Total number of parcels owned on the date of reporting. 271 

(c) By October 1, 2013, the department shall establish and 272 

implement a registration system through an Internet website that 273 

provides for the reporting requirements of paragraphs (a) and 274 

(b). 275 

(d) On or before December 1, 2013, and annually thereafter 276 

by December 1, the department shall submit a report to the 277 

Governor, the President of the Senate, and the Speaker of the 278 

House of Representatives providing the homeowner association 279 

data reported pursuant to this subsection. 280 

(e) The department may adopt rules pursuant to ss. 281 

120.536(1) and 120.54 to implement the provisions of this 282 

subsection. 283 

(f) This subsection shall expire on July 1, 2016, unless 284 

reenacted by the Legislature. 285 

Section 3. Section 720.3033, Florida Statutes, is created 286 

to read: 287 

720.3033 Officers and directors.— 288 

(1)(a) Within 90 days after being elected or appointed to 289 

the board, each director shall certify in writing to the 290 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

578-03999-13 2013580c2 

Page 11 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

secretary of the association that he or she has read the 291 

association’s declaration of covenants, articles of 292 

incorporation, bylaws, and current written rules and policies; 293 

that he or she will work to uphold such documents and policies 294 

to the best of his or her ability; and that he or she will 295 

faithfully discharge his or her fiduciary responsibility to the 296 

association’s members. Within 90 days after being elected or 297 

appointed to the board, in lieu of this written certification, 298 

the newly elected or appointed director may submit a certificate 299 

of having satisfactorily completed the educational curriculum 300 

administered by a division-approved education provider within 1 301 

year before or 90 days after the date of election or 302 

appointment. 303 

(b) The written certification or educational certificate is 304 

valid for the uninterrupted tenure of the director on the board. 305 

A director who does not timely file the written certification or 306 

educational certificate shall be suspended from the board until 307 

he or she complies with the requirement. The board may 308 

temporarily fill the vacancy during the period of suspension. 309 

(c) The association shall retain each director’s written 310 

certification or educational certificate for inspection by the 311 

members for 5 years after the director’s election. However, the 312 

failure to have the written certification or educational 313 

certificate on file does not affect the validity of any board 314 

action. 315 

(2) If the association enters into a contract or other 316 

transaction with any of its directors or a corporation, firm, 317 

association, or other entity in which an association director is 318 

also a director or officer or is financially interested, the 319 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

578-03999-13 2013580c2 

Page 12 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

board must: 320 

(a) Comply with the requirements of s. 617.0832. 321 

(b) Enter the disclosures required by s. 617.0832 into the 322 

written minutes of the meeting. 323 

(c) Approve the contract or other transaction by an 324 

affirmative vote of two-thirds of the directors present. 325 

(d) At the next regular or special meeting of the members, 326 

disclose the existence of the contract or other transaction to 327 

the members. Upon motion of any member, the contract or 328 

transaction shall be brought up for a vote and may be canceled 329 

by a majority vote of the members present. If the members cancel 330 

the contract, the association is only liable for the reasonable 331 

value of goods and services provided up to the time of 332 

cancellation and is not liable for any termination fee, 333 

liquidated damages, or other penalty for such cancellation. 334 

(3) An officer, director, or manager may not solicit, offer 335 

to accept, or accept any good or service of value for which 336 

consideration has not been provided for his or her benefit or 337 

for the benefit of a member of his or her immediate family from 338 

any person providing or proposing to provide goods or services 339 

to the association. If the board finds that an officer or 340 

director has violated this subsection, the board shall 341 

immediately remove from office the officer or director. The 342 

vacancy shall be filled according to law until the end of the 343 

period of the end of the director’s term of office. However, an 344 

officer, director, or manager may accept food to be consumed at 345 

a business meeting with a value of less than $25 per individual 346 

or a service or good received in connection with trade fairs or 347 

education programs. 348 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

578-03999-13 2013580c2 

Page 13 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(4) A director or officer charged by information or 349 

indictment with a felony theft or embezzlement offense involving 350 

the association’s funds or property is removed from office. The 351 

board shall immediately remove such director or officer from 352 

office and shall fill the vacancy according to general law until 353 

the end of the period of the suspension or the end of the 354 

director’s term of office, whichever occurs first. However, if 355 

the charges are resolved without a finding of guilt or without 356 

acceptance of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, the director 357 

or officer shall be reinstated for any remainder of his or her 358 

term of office. A member who has such criminal charges pending 359 

may not be appointed or elected to a position as a director or 360 

officer. 361 

(5) All associations shall maintain insurance or a fidelity 362 

bond for all persons who control or disburse funds of the 363 

association. The insurance policy or fidelity bond must cover 364 

the maximum funds that will be in the custody of the association 365 

or its management agent at any one time. As used in this 366 

subsection, the term “persons who control or disburse funds of 367 

the association” includes, but is not limited to, persons 368 

authorized to sign checks on behalf of the association, and the 369 

president, secretary, and treasurer of the association. The 370 

association shall bear the cost of any insurance or bond. 371 

Section 4. Paragraph (d) is added to subsection (1) and 372 

paragraph (a) of subsection (9) of section 720.306, Florida 373 

Statutes, are amended to read: 374 

720.306 Meetings of members; voting and election 375 

procedures; amendments.— 376 

(1) QUORUM; AMENDMENTS.— 377 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

578-03999-13 2013580c2 

Page 14 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(d) The Legislature finds that the procurement of mortgagee 378 

consent to amendments that do not affect the rights or interests 379 

of mortgagees is an unreasonable and substantial logistical and 380 

financial burden on the parcel owners and that there is a 381 

compelling state interest in enabling the members of an 382 

association to approve amendments to the association’s governing 383 

documents through legal means. Accordingly, and notwithstanding 384 

any provision of this paragraph to the contrary: 385 

1. As to any mortgage recorded on or after July 1, 2013, 386 

any provision in the association’s governing documents that 387 

requires the consent or joinder of some or all mortgagees of 388 

parcels or any other portion of the association’s common areas 389 

to amend the association’s governing documents or for any other 390 

matter is enforceable only as to amendments to the association’s 391 

governing documents that adversely affect the priority of the 392 

mortgagee’s lien or the mortgagee’s rights to foreclose its lien 393 

or that otherwise materially affect the rights and interests of 394 

the mortgagees. 395 

2. As to mortgages recorded before July 1, 2013, any 396 

existing provisions in the association’s governing documents 397 

requiring mortgagee consent are enforceable. 398 

3. In securing consent or joinder, the association is 399 

entitled to rely upon the public records to identify the holders 400 

of outstanding mortgages. The association may use the address 401 

provided in the original recorded mortgage document, unless 402 

there is a different address for the holder of the mortgage in a 403 

recorded assignment or modification of the mortgage, which 404 

recorded assignment or modification must reference the official 405 

records book and page on which the original mortgage was 406 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

578-03999-13 2013580c2 

Page 15 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

recorded. Once the association has identified the recorded 407 

mortgages of record, the association shall, in writing, request 408 

of each parcel owner whose parcel is encumbered by a mortgage of 409 

record any information that the owner has in his or her 410 

possession regarding the name and address of the person to whom 411 

mortgage payments are currently being made. Notice shall be sent 412 

to such person if the address provided in the original recorded 413 

mortgage document is different from the name and address of the 414 

mortgagee or assignee of the mortgage as shown by the public 415 

record. The association is deemed to have complied with this 416 

requirement by making the written request of the parcel owners 417 

required under this subparagraph. Any notices required to be 418 

sent to the mortgagees under this subparagraph shall be sent to 419 

all available addresses provided to the association. 420 

4. Any notice to the mortgagees required under subparagraph 421 

3. may be sent by a method that establishes proof of delivery, 422 

and any mortgagee who fails to respond within 60 days after the 423 

date of mailing is deemed to have consented to the amendment. 424 

5. For those amendments requiring mortgagee consent on or 425 

after July 1, 2013, in the event mortgagee consent is provided 426 

other than by properly recorded joinder, such consent shall be 427 

evidenced by affidavit of the association recorded in the public 428 

records of the county in which the declaration is recorded. 429 

6. Any amendment adopted without the required consent of a 430 

mortgagee is voidable only by a mortgagee who was entitled to 431 

notice and an opportunity to consent. An action to void an 432 

amendment is subject to the statute of limitations beginning 5 433 

years after the date of discovery as to the amendments described 434 

in subparagraph 1. and 5 years after the date of recordation of 435 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

578-03999-13 2013580c2 

Page 16 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

the certificate of amendment for all other amendments. This 436 

subparagraph applies to all mortgages, regardless of the date of 437 

recordation of the mortgage. 438 

(9)(a) ELECTIONS AND BOARD VACANCIES.—Elections of 439 

directors must be conducted in accordance with the procedures 440 

set forth in the governing documents of the association. All 441 

members of the association are eligible to serve on the board of 442 

directors, and a member may nominate himself or herself as a 443 

candidate for the board at a meeting where the election is to be 444 

held; provided, however, that or, if the election process allows 445 

candidates to nominate themselves voting by absentee ballot, in 446 

advance of the balloting, the association is not required to 447 

allow nominations at the meeting. An election is not required 448 

unless more candidates are nominated than vacancies exist. 449 

Except as otherwise provided in the governing documents, boards 450 

of directors must be elected by a plurality of the votes cast by 451 

eligible voters. 452 

Section 5. Subsection (1) of section 720.307, Florida 453 

Statutes, is amended, present subsections (2) through (4) are 454 

renumbered as subsections (4) through (6), respectively, and new 455 

subsections (2) and (3) are added to that section, to read: 456 

720.307 Transition of association control in a community.—457 

With respect to homeowners’ associations: 458 

(1) Members other than the developer are entitled to elect 459 

at least a majority of the members of the board of directors of 460 

the homeowners’ association when the earlier of the following 461 

events occurs: 462 

(a) Three months after 90 percent of the parcels in all 463 

phases of the community that will ultimately be operated by the 464 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

578-03999-13 2013580c2 

Page 17 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

homeowners’ association have been conveyed to members; or 465 

(b) Such other percentage of the parcels has been conveyed 466 

to members, or such other date or event has occurred, as is set 467 

forth in the governing documents in order to comply with the 468 

requirements of any governmentally chartered entity with regard 469 

to the mortgage financing of parcels; 470 

(c) Two years after the developer has ceased construction 471 

or ceased to offer parcels for sale in the ordinary course of 472 

business; 473 

(d) Upon the developer abandoning or deserting its 474 

responsibility to maintain and complete the advertised amenities 475 

or infrastructure. There is a rebuttable presumption that the 476 

developer has abandoned and deserted the property if the 477 

developer has not engaged in construction or sale of properties 478 

or has unpaid assessments or guaranteed amounts under s. 720.308 479 

for a period of more than 2 years; 480 

(e) Upon the developer filing a petition seeking protection 481 

under chapter 7 of the federal Bankruptcy Code; 482 

(f) Upon the developer losing title to the property through 483 

a foreclosure, or the transfer of a deed in lieu of foreclosure, 484 

unless the successor owner has accepted an assignment of 485 

developer rights and responsibilities; or 486 

(g) Upon a receiver for the developer being appointed by a 487 

circuit court and not being discharged within 30 days after such 488 

appointment, unless the court determines within 30 days after 489 

such appointment that transfer of control would be detrimental 490 

to the association or its members. 491 

 492 

For purposes of this section, the term “members other than the 493 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

578-03999-13 2013580c2 

Page 18 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

developer” shall not include builders, contractors, or others 494 

who purchase a parcel for the purpose of constructing 495 

improvements thereon for resale. 496 

(2) Members other than the developer are entitled to elect 497 

at least one member of the board of directors of the homeowners’ 498 

association if 15 percent of the parcels in all phases of the 499 

community which will ultimately be operated by the association 500 

have been conveyed to members. 501 

(3) Members other than the developer are entitled to elect 502 

at least two members of the board of directors of the 503 

homeowners’ association if 50 percent of the parcels in all 504 

phases of the community which will ultimately be operated by the 505 

association have been conveyed to members. 506 

Section 6. Subsection (5) is added to section 720.3075, 507 

Florida Statutes, to read: 508 

720.3075 Prohibited clauses in association documents.— 509 

(5) The public policy described in subsection (1) prohibits 510 

the inclusion or enforcement of clauses that allow a developer 511 

the unilateral ability and right to make changes to the 512 

governing documents prior to transition of homeowners’ 513 

association control in a community from the developer to the 514 

nondeveloper members, as set forth in s. 720.307, that 515 

unreasonably modify the original plan of development, prejudice 516 

the rights of parcel owners to use and enjoy the benefits of the 517 

common property without the consent of the parcels owners, 518 

radically change the community scheme, reduce the size of the 519 

common area, or limit the access of parcel owners to the common 520 

area. 521 

Section 7. Paragraph (b) of subsection (2) of section 522 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

578-03999-13 2013580c2 

Page 19 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

720.3085, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 523 

720.3085 Payment for assessments; lien claims.— 524 

(2) 525 

(b) A parcel owner is jointly and severally liable with the 526 

previous parcel owner for all unpaid assessments that came due 527 

up to the time of transfer of title. This liability is without 528 

prejudice to any right the present parcel owner may have to 529 

recover any amounts paid by the present owner from the previous 530 

owner. For the purposes of this subsection, the term “previous 531 

owner” shall not include an association that acquires title to a 532 

delinquent property through foreclosure or by deed in lieu of 533 

foreclosure. The present parcel owner’s liability for unpaid 534 

assessments is limited to any unpaid assessments that accrued 535 

before the association acquired title to the delinquent property 536 

through foreclosure or by deed in lieu of foreclosure. 537 

Section 8. Section 720.315, Florida Statutes, is amended to 538 

read: 539 

720.315 Passage of special assessments.— 540 

(1) Before turnover, if the board of directors controlled 541 

by the developer proposes a budget which requires assessments 542 

against parcel owners which are 5 percent greater than the 543 

assessments for the preceding fiscal year, the budget must be 544 

approved by a majority of all the members other than the 545 

developer at a duly called special meeting of the membership at 546 

which a quorum is present. For purposes of this section, the 547 

term “members other than the developer” does not include 548 

builders, contractors, or other persons who purchase a parcel 549 

for the purpose of constructing improvements thereon for resale. 550 

(2) Before turnover, the board of directors controlled by 551 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

578-03999-13 2013580c2 

Page 20 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

the developer may not levy a special assessment unless a 552 

majority of the parcel owners other than the developer has 553 

approved the special assessment by a majority vote at a duly 554 

called special meeting of the membership at which a quorum is 555 

present. 556 

Section 9. This act shall take effect July 1, 2013. 557 



 

The Florida Senate 

Committee Agenda Request 

 

File signed original with committee office  S-020 (03/2004) 

 

To: Senator John Thrasher, Chair 

 

Committee on Rules 

 

CC:  John B. Phelps, Staff Director 

        Tamra Lyon, Administrative Assistant 

Subject: Committee Agenda Request 

Date: April 9, 2013 

 

 

I respectfully request that Senate Bill #580, relating to Homeowners’ Associations, be placed on 

the: 

 

 

  committee agenda at your earliest possible convenience. 

 

  next committee agenda. 

 

 

 
Senator Alan Hays 

Florida Senate, District 11 

320 Senate Office Building 

(850) 487-5011 

 



(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Topic                             ~/

Name f! I C~} i~ ~.~ ~I I~ r_~

Job Title

State Zip

[---} Information

Address ~r.l~)et~ ~- C.¢e!/~Jf~/"

City /

Speaking:    [~For [~ Against

Bill Number

Amendment Barcode
(if applicable)

(if applicable)

Phone

E-mail

Representing

Appearing at request of Chair: [---] Yes ~ Lobbyist registered with Legislature: [~Yes ~_~ No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting, s-ool (to/2o/11 )



Meeting Date

Topic

Name

Job Title

(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

’ ~.J’O C4 ~ o~ Bill Number
(if applicable)

Amendment Barcode
(if applicable)

Address  ott
Street

City State Zip

Speaking:

Representing

Appearing at request of Chair: [~ Yes [~o

E-mail

[---] Against [~ Information

Lobbyist registered with Legislature: ~Yes [~ No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage pubfic testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting, s-001 (10/20/11 )



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Rules  

 

BILL:  CS/CS/CS/SB 1160 

INTRODUCER:  Rules Committee; Environmental Preservation and Conservation Committee; Health 

Policy Committee; and Senator Bullard 

SUBJECT:  Onsite Sewage Treatment and Disposal Systems 

DATE:  April 17, 2013 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Looke  Stovall  HP  Fav/CS 

2. Toman  Yeatman  CA  Favorable 

3. Hinton  Uchino  EP  Fav/CS 

4. Looke  Phelps  RC  Fav/CS 

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... X Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

CS/CS/CS/SB 1160 amends s. 381.0065, F.S., to: 

 Authorize inspection reports for engineer-designed onsite sewerage treatment and disposal 

systems (OSTDS) and aerobic treatment units (ATU) to be submitted electronically to the 

Department of Health (DOH); 

 Strike the requirement that the technical review advisory panel assist the DOH in 

development of performance criteria applicable to engineer-designed OSTDS; 

 Clarify that property owners of owner-occupied single-family residences may be approved 

and permitted by the DOH as a maintenance entity for their own engineer-designed OSTDS 

or ATU system upon written certification from the manufacturer that they have received 

training on the proper installation and maintenance of their own engineer-designed OSTDS 

or ATU system; 

 Clarify that maintenance entity service contracts must conspicuously disclose that property 

owners of owner-occupied single-family residences have the right to maintain their own 

engineer-designed OSTDS  or ATU system and are exempt from contractor registration 

requirements for performing construction, maintenance, or repairs on an own engineer-

designed OSTDS  or ATU system, but are subject to all permitting requirements; 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 1160   Page 2 

 

 Provide that a septic tank contractor licensed under ch. 489, part III, F.S., and approved by 

the ATU manufacturer must not be denied access to ATU training and spare parts by the 

manufacturer for maintenance entities; 

 Allow component parts for ATUs to be replaced with parts that meet the manufacturer’s 

specifications but are manufactured by others after the original warranty period for the ATU 

expires; 

 Require Monroe County property owners who are not scheduled to be served by a central 

sewer by December 31, 2015, to comply with certain concentration level standards; 

 Provide that an OSTDS that reduces nitrogen concentrations by at least 70 percent, or if the 

OSTDS system has been tested and certified to reduce nitrogen concentrations by at least 

70 percent, is deemed to be in compliance with current nitrogen standards; 

 Allow Monroe County property owners that have recently installed OSTDS in areas 

scheduled to be served by a central sewer system to continue to use the systems until 2020, 

except if located in special wastewater districts; 

 Allow property owners who have paid connection fees or assessments for connection to a 

central sewer system, in an area scheduled to be served by a central sewer by December 31, 

2015, the option of installing a holding tank with a high water alarm until they are able to 

connect to a central sewer system. 

 

CS/CS/CS/SB 1160 substantially amends s. 381.0065 of the Florida Statutes. 

II. Present Situation: 

The Bureau of Onsite Sewage Programs (Bureau), part of the DOH, develops statewide rules and 

provides training and standardization for county health department employees responsible for 

issuing permits for the installation and repair of OSTDSs within the state.
1
 The Bureau also 

licenses over 700 septic tank contractors and oversees 2.3 million onsite wastewater systems in 

Florida.
 2

 

 

In Florida, septic systems are referred to as OSTDSs. An OSTDS can contain any one of the 

following components: a septic tank; a subsurface drainfield; an ATU; a graywater tank; a 

laundry wastewater tank; a grease interceptor; a pump tank; a waterless, incinerating or organic 

waste-composting toilet; and a sanitary pit privy.
3
 Septic tanks are tanks in the ground that treat 

sewage without the presence of oxygen. Sewage flows from a home or business through a pipe 

into the first chamber, where solids settle out. The liquid then flows into the second chamber 

where anaerobic bacteria, which do not require oxygen, in the sewage break down the organic 

matter, allowing cleaner water to flow out of the second chamber into a drainfield.
4
 Engineers 

                                                 
1
 The DOH does not permit the use of onsite sewage treatment and disposal systems where the estimated domestic sewage 

flow from the establishment is over 10,000 gallons per day (gpd) or the commercial sewage flow is over 5,000 gpd; where 

there is a likelihood that the system will receive toxic, hazardous or industrial wastes; where a sewer system is available; or 

of any system or flow from the establishment is currently regulated by the DEP. The DEP issues the permits for systems that 

discharge more than 10,000 gpd. 
2
 DOH, Division of Disease Control and Health Protection, About Us, http://www.myfloridaeh.com/about/index.html (last 

visited Apr. 6, 2013). 
3
 See Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) Wastewater: Septic Systems, 

http://www.dep.state.fl.us/water/wastewater/dom/septic.htm (last visited Apr. 6, 2013). 
4
 EPA, Primer for Municipal Wastewater Treatment Systems, 2004, p. 22, available at 

http://water.epa.gov/aboutow/owm/upload/2005_08_19_primer.pdf (last visited Apr. 6, 2013). 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 1160   Page 3 

 

licensed in Florida may specially design OSTDS to meet the needs of individual property 

owners. Engineer-designed OSTDS plans are subject to review by the local county health 

department and must be certified by the engineer as complying with all requirements pertaining 

to such system.
5
   

 

Aerobic Treatment Units 

ATUs are similar to septic tanks, except that air is introduced and mixed with the wastewater 

inside the tank.
6
 Aerobic bacteria, which require oxygen, consume the organic matter in the 

sewage.
7
 The effluent discharge from an aerobic system is typically released through a drainfield 

or may be disinfected and discharged directly into surface water.
8
 

 

ATUs require the removal and disposal of solids that accumulate in the tank. Therefore, routine 

maintenance is necessary for them to function properly. The National Sanitation Foundation 

requires ATU manufacturers to provide an initial two-year warranty with two inspections per 

year.
9
 According to the DOH analysis, there are 11,600 ATUs in operation in Florida, 8,770 of 

which are in four counties: Brevard, Charlotte, Franklin, and Monroe.
10

 

 

Pursuant to s. 381.0065, F.S., and Rule 64E-6.012, F.A.C., owners of ATUs are required to enter 

into a maintenance entity service agreement with a maintenance entity that is permitted by the 

DOH. That agreement must initially be for a period of at least two years and subsequent 

maintenance agreement renewals must be for at least one-year periods for the life of the system. 

The maintenance entity must obtain a system operating permit from the DOH for each ATU 

under service contract. The maintenance entity, which sets the fee for service contracts, must 

inspect each ATU at least twice each year and report quarterly to the DOH the number of ATUs 

inspected and serviced. 

 

Furthermore, maintenance entities are required to provide documentation that they have been 

trained by the ATU manufacturer, which sets the maintenance requirements, and have access to 

required manuals and spare parts. Maintenance entities are also required to be registered as either 

state-licensed septic tank contractors or state-licensed plumbers. 

 

Homeowners are exempt from the requirement that a person may not contract to construct, 

modify, alter, repair, service, abandon, or maintain any portion of an OSTDS without being 

registered under part III of ch. 489, F.S.,
11

 but the homeowner must be permitted as a 

maintenance entity by the DOH and be trained and certified by the manufacturer. The annual 

maintenance entity permit fee is $25. 

 

                                                 
5
 Rules 64E-6.003 and 6.004, F.A.C. 

6
 Id. 

7
 Id. 

8
 Id. 

9
 The National Sanitation Foundation is an “independent, not-for-profit organization that provides standards development, 

product certification, auditing, education, and risk management for public health and the environment.” See 

http://www.nsf.org/business/about_NSF/ (last visited Apr. 6, 2013). 
10

 DOH, Senate Bill 1160 Analysis (Feb. 27, 2013) (on file with the Senate Committee on Environmental Preservation and 

Conservation). 
11

 Section 381.0065(4), F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 1160   Page 4 

 

Florida Keys Area of Critical State Concern 

In 1972, the Legislature adopted the Environmental Land and Water Management Act, which 

provided the basis for the state to designate an Area of Critical State Concern. To be designated, 

an area must contain, or have a significant impact upon, environmental or natural resources of 

regional or statewide importance where uncontrolled private or public development would cause 

substantial deterioration of such resources.
12

 

 

In 1979, Monroe County, including its municipalities and the Florida Keys, was designated as an 

Area of Critical State Concern pursuant to the “Florida Keys Area Protection Act.”
13

 The 

legislative intent was to establish a land use management system for the Florida Keys that would: 

 Protect the natural environment and improve the near shore water quality; 

 Support a diverse economic base that promotes balanced growth in accordance with the 

capacity of public facilities; 

 Promote public land acquisition and ensure that the population of the Florida Keys can be 

safely evacuated; 

 Provide affordable housing in close proximity to places of employment; and 

 Protect property rights and promote coordination among governmental agencies that have 

permitting jurisdiction. 

 

In 1996, Rule 28-20, F.A.C., was adopted. The rule contained a Work Program that, when 

complete, would improve water quality and better protect habitats for threatened and endangered 

species, and resolve other challenges. Of particular concern was the declining water quality of 

the near shore environment due to a lack of central sewer facilities, the loss of habitat for state 

and federally listed endangered species, public safety in the event of hurricanes, and a deficit of 

affordable housing.
14

 

 

Concerns about water quality resulted in legislative action. Chapter 2010-205, Laws of Florida, 

required that by December 2015 all sewage disposal in the Florida Keys must be upgraded to 

meet advanced wastewater treatment standards that reduce the amount of nitrogen, phosphorus, 

biological oxygen demand and total suspended solids.
15

 As a result, when the construction of the 

central sewage system is concluded, approximately 23,000 septic tanks will be eliminated.
16

 The 

bond financing in the Save our Everglades Program, approved by the Legislature in 2012, and 

the extension of the Monroe County Infrastructure Sales Tax will provide the foundation to 

complete the central sewer by 2015. 

 

Nitrogen Reduction 

In 2008 the Legislature directed the DOH to conduct a six-year study to develop passive 

strategies for nitrogen reduction for OSTDS. Regardless of the source, excessive nitrogen has 

negative effects on public health and the environment. The project is in its fourth year and is 

                                                 
12

 Section 380.05(2)(a), F.S. 
13

 Section 380.0552(3), F.S. 
14

 Florida Department of Economic Opportunity, Florida Keys Area of Critical State Concern Annual Report, p. 11, 2012, 

available at www.floridajobs.org/fdcp/dcp/acsc/Files/2012FLKeysReport.pdf (last visited Apr. 6, 2013). 
15

 Section 381.0065(4)(l), F.S. 
16

 See supra note 13.  



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 1160   Page 5 

 

within the original $5.1 million budget. The final phase of the project is from 2013 to 2015. 

Project tasks will be to complete monitoring and other field activities, perform additional testing 

as deemed appropriate by the Legislature, and make final reporting recommendations on onsite 

sewage nitrogen reduction strategies for Florida’s future.
17

 

 

Current law requires OSTDSs to cease discharge by December 31, 2015, or comply with the 

DOH rules and provide the level of treatment that, on a permitted annual average basis, produces 

an effluent that contains no more than the following concentrations:
18

 

 Biochemical Oxygen Demand of 10 mg/l; 

 Suspended Solids of 10 mg/l; 

 Total Nitrogen of 10 mg/l; and 

 Total Phosphorus of 1 mg/l. 

 

Tests performed by the nitrogen reduction study have produced results of reduction in total 

nitrogen of over 95 percent with a final effluent concentration of 2.6 mg/l or less for several of 

the systems.
19

 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

Section 1 of the CS amends s. 381.0065, F.S., to: 

 Subject all OSTDS designed by a professional engineer to DOH regulations, rather than only 

OSTDS designed by a professional engineer for single-family residences; 

 Strike the requirement that the technical review advisory panel assist the DOH in 

development of performance criteria applicable to engineer designed OSTDS; 

 Provide that inspection reports of engineer-designed OSTDS and ATUs may be submitted 

electronically to the DOH; 

 Clarify that property owners of owner-occupied single-family residences may be approved 

and permitted by the DOH as maintenance entities for their own engineer-designed OSTDS 

or their own ATU system under certain conditions; 

 Clarify that engineer-designed OSTDS and ATU maintenance entity service agreements must 

conspicuously disclose that property owners of owner-occupied single-family residences 

have the right to maintain their own systems and are exempt from contractor registration 

requirements, but are subject to all permitting requirements; 

 Require property owners to obtain biennial system operating permits for each engineer-

designed OSTDS instead of the maintenance entity; 

 Require property owners to obtain biennial operating permits for each ATU; 

 Provide that a septic tank contractor licensed under part III of ch. 489, F.S., and approved the 

ATU manufacturer may not be denied access to ATU training and spare parts by the 

manufacturer for maintenance entities; and 

 Allow component parts for ATUs to be replaced with parts that meet the manufacturer’s 

specifications but are manufactured by others after the original warranty period for the ATU 

expires. 

                                                 
17

 See DOH, Status Report on Phase II and Phase III of the Florida Onsite Sewage Nitrogen Reduction Strategies Study, 

Feb. 1, 2013, http://www.myfloridaeh.com/ostds/research/Nitrogen.html (last visited on Apr. 6, 2013).  
18

 Section 381.0065(4)(l), F.S. 
19

 Supra note 16. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 1160   Page 6 

 

 For property owners with OSTDSs in Monroe County, there are several situations that may 

apply, depending on certain factors: 

o If a property owner lives in an area that is scheduled to be served by a central sewer 

system by December 31, 2015: 

o If they have paid connection fees or assessments to connect to a central sewer 

system, they may install a holding tank with a high water alarm to use until they 

connect to the central sewer; 

o They may also keep their existing systems until they connect to the central sewer 

system provided the existing tanks are pumped, inspected and certified as being 

watertight and free of defects in accordance with DOH rule; and 

o They have to cease using their OSTDSs when they are able to connect to the 

central sewer system. 

o If a property owner lives in an area that is not scheduled to be served by a central sewer 

system by December 31, 2015, the property owner must meet DOH effluent standards, 

for: 

o Biochemical Oxygen Demand (CBOD5) of 10 mg/l; 

o Suspended Solids of 10 mg/l; 

o Total nitrogen of 10 mg/l or a reduction in nitrogen of at least 70 percent or a 

system that has been tested and certified to reduce nitrogen concentrations by at 

least 70 percent; and 

o Total phosphorous of 1 mg/l. 

 If a property owner uses an OSTDS that meets the effluent concentration thresholds and was 

installed after July 1, 2010, in unincorporated Monroe County, the property owner is not 

required to connect to a central sewer until December 31, 2020, except if located in special 

wastewater districts. 

 

Section 2 provides an effective date of July 1, 2013. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 1160   Page 7 

 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

CS/SB 1160 may have a positive fiscal impact on owners with engineer-designed OSTDS 

and ATU systems by allowing them to maintain their own systems; however, home-

owners may see an up-front cost for the training necessary to maintain their own systems. 

 

An ATU requires a significant financial commitment to install and operate over the life of 

the system. Connecting to a central sewer system is also a significant investment. For 

residents who have installed an ATU since July 1, 2010, the CS provides assurance that 

they may continue to operate their ATUs until December 31, 2020. 

 

Owners with conventional OSTDSs do not have to meet the heightened effluent standards 

for biological oxygen demand, suspended solids, nitrogen, and phosphorous if they will 

be connected to centralized sewer by December 31, 2015. A property owner will also 

have the option of installing a holding tank with a high water alarm. Savings are 

indeterminate because pumping costs for a holding tank can be high, but it expands the 

options available to property owners. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

The DOH would have to amend Rule 64E-6.012, F.A.C., to comply with the changes in 

the CS. The DOH estimates the cost of notices and meetings will be $5,000, which can be 

absorbed within its existing resources. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS/CS/CS by Rules on April 17, 2013: 

 Specifies that OSTDS installed after July 1, 2010, in unincorporated Monroe County, 

excluding special wastewater districts, are not required to connect to central sewer 

systems until December 31, 2020. 

 Specifies that septic tank contractors approved by ATU manufacturers may not be 

denied access to ATU system training and spare parts. 

 Subjects all OSTDS designed by a professional engineer to DOH regulations, rather 

than only OSTDS designed by a professional engineer for single-family residences; 

 Strikes the requirement that the technical review advisory panel assist the DOH in 

development of performance criteria applicable to engineer designed OSTDS; 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 1160   Page 8 

 

 Provides that inspection reports of engineer-designed OSTDS may be submitted 

electronically to the DOH; 

 Clarifies that property owners of owner-occupied single-family residences may be 

approved and permitted by the DOH as a maintenance entity for their own engineer 

designed OSTDS upon written certification from the manufacturer that they have 

received training on the proper installation and maintenance of engineer-designed 

OSTDS; 

 Clarifies that maintenance entity service contracts must conspicuously disclose that 

property owners of owner-occupied single-family residences have the right to 

maintain their own engineer-designed OSTDS  and are exempt from contractor 

registration requirements for performing construction, maintenance, or repairs on an 

engineer designed OSTDS, but are subject to all permitting requirements; and 

 Requires property owners to obtain biennial system operating permits for each 

engineer designed OSTDS  and the DOH to inspect each engineer-designed OSTDS   

at least annually. 

 

CS/CS by Environmental Preservation and Conservation on April 9, 2013: 

 Removes a provision concerning development orders in the Florida Keys; 

 Adds a provision that a reduction in nitrogen of at least 70 percent from OSTDSs in 

Monroe County is deemed in compliance with DOH rules concerning total nitrogen 

concentrations in OSTDS effluent; and 

 Provides that in areas scheduled to be served by central sewer by December 31, 2015, 

property owners may install a holding tank with a high water alarm until they connect 

to the central sewer if they have paid connection fees or assessments for connection to 

the central sewer. 

 

CS by Health Policy Committee on March 20, 2013: 
The CS substantially amends SB 1160 to: 

 Provide that inspection reports may be submitted electronically to the DOH; 

 Clarify that property owners of an owner-occupied single-family residence may be 

approved and permitted by the DOH as a maintenance entity for their own systems 

upon written certification from the manufacturer that they have received training on 

the proper installation and maintenance of the unit; 

 Clarify that maintenance entities must conspicuously disclose that property owners of 

owner-occupied single-family residences have the right to maintain their own systems 

and are exempt from contractor registration requirements for performing construction, 

maintenance, or repairs on their systems, but are subject to all permitting 

requirements; 

 Provide that a septic tank contractor licensed under part III of ch. 489, F.S., must not 

be denied the access to training and spare parts by the manufacturer for maintenance 

entities; 

 Allow component parts for ATUs to be replaced with parts that meet the 

manufacturer’s specifications but are manufactured by others after the original 

warranty period for the ATU expires; 



BILL: CS/CS/CS/SB 1160   Page 9 

 

 Exclude Monroe County property owners who are scheduled to be served by a central 

sewer by December 31, 2015, from the requirement to comply with certain 

concentration level standards; 

 Provide that a tested and certified OSTDS that reduces nitrogen concentrations by at 

least 70 percent is deemed to be in compliance with current nitrogen standards. 

 Allow Monroe County property owners that have recently installed OSTDSs in areas 

scheduled to be served by central sewer systems to continue to use the systems until 

2020; and 

 Provide for the extension of building permits for property owners within the Florida 

Keys Area of Critical State Concern. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 1160 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì445448DÎ445448 

 

Page 1 of 2 

4/16/2013 5:40:59 PM 595-04471-13 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

04/17/2013 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Rules (Smith) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete lines 197 - 199 3 

and insert: 4 

4. The owner of an aerobic treatment unit system shall 5 

obtain a system operating permit from the department and allow 6 

the department to inspect during reasonable hours each aerobic 7 

treatment unit system at least annually, and such 8 

 9 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 10 

And the title is amended as follows: 11 

Delete line 31 12 

and insert: 13 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 1160 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì445448DÎ445448 

 

Page 2 of 2 

4/16/2013 5:40:59 PM 595-04471-13 

requiring owners of performance-based treatment unit 14 

systems to obtain certain permits; providing an 15 

effective date. 16 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 1160 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì485304ÇÎ485304 

 

Page 1 of 2 

4/16/2013 5:42:45 PM 595-04446-13 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

04/17/2013 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Rules (Smith) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete lines 162 - 189 3 

and insert: 4 

installed after July 1, 2010, in unincorporated Monroe County, 5 

excluding special wastewater districts, which complies with the 6 

standards in subparagraph 2., is not required to connect to a 7 

central sewer system until December 31, 2020. 8 

(u)1. The owner of an aerobic treatment unit system shall 9 

maintain a current maintenance service agreement with an aerobic 10 

treatment unit maintenance entity permitted by the department. 11 

The maintenance entity shall obtain a system operating permit 12 

from the department for each aerobic treatment unit under 13 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 1160 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì485304ÇÎ485304 

 

Page 2 of 2 

4/16/2013 5:42:45 PM 595-04446-13 

service contract. The maintenance entity shall inspect each 14 

aerobic treatment unit system at least twice each year and shall 15 

report quarterly to the department on the number of aerobic 16 

treatment unit systems inspected and serviced. The reports may 17 

be submitted electronically. 18 

2. The department may approve and permit a property owner 19 

of an owner-occupied, single-family residence as a maintenance 20 

entity for the property owner’s own aerobic treatment unit 21 

system if the system manufacturer’s approved representative 22 

certifies in writing that the property owner has received 23 

training on the proper installation and service of the system. 24 

The maintenance entity service agreement must conspicuously 25 

disclose that the property owner has the right to maintain his 26 

or her own system and is exempt from contractor registration 27 

requirements for performing construction, maintenance, or 28 

repairs on the system but is subject to all permitting 29 

requirements. 30 

3. A septic tank contractor licensed under part III of 31 

chapter 489, if approved by the manufacturer, may not be denied 32 

access by the manufacturer to aerobic 33 

 34 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 35 

And the title is amended as follows: 36 

Delete line 8 37 

and insert: 38 

treatment and disposal systems in Monroe County 39 

installed after a 40 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 1160 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9479508Î947950 

 

Page 1 of 5 

4/16/2013 5:41:11 PM 595-04444-13 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

04/17/2013 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Rules (Smith) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with directory and title amendments) 1 

 2 

Between lines 93 and 94 3 

insert: 4 

(j) An onsite sewage treatment and disposal system for a 5 

single-family residence that is designed by a professional 6 

engineer registered in the state and certified by such engineer 7 

as complying with performance criteria adopted by the department 8 

must be approved by the department subject to the following: 9 

1. The performance criteria applicable to engineer-designed 10 

systems must be limited to those necessary to ensure that such 11 

systems do not adversely affect the public health or 12 

significantly degrade the groundwater or surface water. Such 13 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 1160 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9479508Î947950 

 

Page 2 of 5 

4/16/2013 5:41:11 PM 595-04444-13 

performance criteria shall include consideration of the quality 14 

of system effluent, the proposed total sewage flow per acre, 15 

wastewater treatment capabilities of the natural or replaced 16 

soil, water quality classification of the potential surface-17 

water-receiving body, and the structural and maintenance 18 

viability of the system for the treatment of domestic 19 

wastewater. However, performance criteria shall address only the 20 

performance of a system and not a system’s design. 21 

2. The technical review and advisory panel shall assist the 22 

department in the development of performance criteria applicable 23 

to engineer-designed systems. 24 

2.3. A person electing to utilize an engineer-designed 25 

system shall, upon completion of the system design, submit such 26 

design, certified by a registered professional engineer, to the 27 

county health department. The county health department may 28 

utilize an outside consultant to review the engineer-designed 29 

system, with the actual cost of such review to be borne by the 30 

applicant. Within 5 working days after receiving an engineer-31 

designed system permit application, the county health department 32 

shall request additional information if the application is not 33 

complete. Within 15 working days after receiving a complete 34 

application for an engineer-designed system, the county health 35 

department either shall issue the permit or, if it determines 36 

that the system does not comply with the performance criteria, 37 

shall notify the applicant of that determination and refer the 38 

application to the department for a determination as to whether 39 

the system should be approved, disapproved, or approved with 40 

modification. The department engineer’s determination shall 41 

prevail over the action of the county health department. The 42 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 1160 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9479508Î947950 

 

Page 3 of 5 

4/16/2013 5:41:11 PM 595-04444-13 

applicant shall be notified in writing of the department’s 43 

determination and of the applicant’s rights to pursue a variance 44 

or seek review under the provisions of chapter 120. 45 

3.4. The owner of an engineer-designed performance-based 46 

system must maintain a current maintenance service agreement 47 

with a maintenance entity permitted by the department. The 48 

maintenance entity shall obtain a biennial system operating 49 

permit from the department for each system under service 50 

contract. The department shall inspect the system at least 51 

annually, or on such periodic basis as the fee collected 52 

permits, and may collect system-effluent samples if appropriate 53 

to determine compliance with the performance criteria. The fee 54 

for the biennial operating permit shall be collected beginning 55 

with the second year of system operation. The maintenance entity 56 

shall inspect each system at least twice each year and shall 57 

report quarterly to the department on the number of systems 58 

inspected and serviced. The reports may be submitted 59 

electronically. 60 

4. The department may approve and permit a property owner 61 

of an owner-occupied, single-family residence as a maintenance 62 

entity for his or her own performance-based treatment system if 63 

the system manufacturer’s approved representative certifies in 64 

writing that the property owner has received training on the 65 

proper installation and service of the system. The maintenance 66 

service agreement must conspicuously disclose that the property 67 

owner has the right to maintain his or her own system and is 68 

exempt from contractor registration requirements for performing 69 

construction, maintenance, or repairs on the system but is 70 

subject to all permitting requirements. 71 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 1160 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9479508Î947950 

 

Page 4 of 5 

4/16/2013 5:41:11 PM 595-04444-13 

5. The property owner shall obtain a biennial system 72 

operating permit from the department for each system. The 73 

department shall inspect the system at least annually, or on 74 

such periodic basis as the fee collected allows, and may collect 75 

system-effluent samples if appropriate to determine compliance 76 

with the performance criteria. The fee for the biennial 77 

operating permit shall be collected beginning with the second 78 

year of system operation. 79 

6.5. If an engineer-designed system fails to properly 80 

function or fails to meet performance standards, the system 81 

shall be re-engineered, if necessary, to bring the system into 82 

compliance with the provisions of this section. 83 

 84 

====== D I R E C T O R Y  C L A U S E  A M E N D M E N T ====== 85 

And the directory clause is amended as follows: 86 

Delete line 35 87 

and insert: 88 

Section 1. Paragraphs (j), (l), and (u) of subsection (4) 89 

of 90 

 91 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 92 

And the title is amended as follows: 93 

Delete line 3 94 

and insert: 95 

disposal systems; amending s. 381.0065, F.S.; deleting 96 

provisions relating to the development of performance 97 

criteria applicable to engineer-designed systems; 98 

revising requirements for maintenance entity service 99 

agreements for certain engineer-designed systems; 100 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for CS for SB 1160 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì9479508Î947950 

 

Page 5 of 5 

4/16/2013 5:41:11 PM 595-04444-13 

authorizing certain property owners to be approved and 101 

permitted as maintenance entities for performance-102 

based treatment systems under certain conditions; 103 

requiring owners of performance-based treatment unit 104 

systems to obtain certain permits; 105 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 1160 

 

 

 

By the Committees on Environmental Preservation and 

Conservation; and Health Policy; and Senator Bullard 

 

 

 

592-04034-13 20131160c2 

Page 1 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to onsite sewage treatment and 2 

disposal systems; amending s. 381.0065, F.S.; 3 

requiring onsite sewage treatment and disposal systems 4 

to comply with rules of the Department of 5 

Environmental Protection and provide a certain level 6 

of treatment; providing that certain onsite sewage 7 

treatment and disposal systems installed after a 8 

specified date are not required to connect to a sewer 9 

until a specified date; providing for 10 

nonapplicability; deleting a provision that requires a 11 

maintenance entity to obtain a system operating 12 

permit; authorizing the department to approve and 13 

permit a property owner of an owner-occupied, single-14 

family residence as a maintenance entity for the 15 

property owner’s own aerobic treatment unit system 16 

under certain circumstances; requiring the maintenance 17 

entity service agreement to conspicuously disclose 18 

that the property owner has the right to maintain his 19 

or her own system and is exempt from certain 20 

contractor registration requirements; prohibiting a 21 

septic tank contractor from being denied access by the 22 

manufacturer to aerobic treatment unit system training 23 

or spare parts for maintenance entities; providing 24 

that component parts for an aerobic treatment unit 25 

system may be replaced with parts that meet 26 

manufacturer’s specifications; requiring the 27 

maintenance entity to maintain documentation for a 28 

specified period of time and to provide the 29 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 1160 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-04034-13 20131160c2 

Page 2 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

documentation to the department upon request; 30 

providing an effective date. 31 

 32 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 33 

 34 

Section 1. Paragraphs (l) and (u) of subsection (4) of 35 

section 381.0065, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 36 

381.0065 Onsite sewage treatment and disposal systems; 37 

regulation.— 38 

(4) PERMITS; INSTALLATION; AND CONDITIONS.—A person may not 39 

construct, repair, modify, abandon, or operate an onsite sewage 40 

treatment and disposal system without first obtaining a permit 41 

approved by the department. The department may issue permits to 42 

carry out this section, but shall not make the issuance of such 43 

permits contingent upon prior approval by the Department of 44 

Environmental Protection, except that the issuance of a permit 45 

for work seaward of the coastal construction control line 46 

established under s. 161.053 shall be contingent upon receipt of 47 

any required coastal construction control line permit from the 48 

Department of Environmental Protection. A construction permit is 49 

valid for 18 months from the issuance date and may be extended 50 

by the department for one 90-day period under rules adopted by 51 

the department. A repair permit is valid for 90 days from the 52 

date of issuance. An operating permit must be obtained prior to 53 

the use of any aerobic treatment unit or if the establishment 54 

generates commercial waste. Buildings or establishments that use 55 

an aerobic treatment unit or generate commercial waste shall be 56 

inspected by the department at least annually to assure 57 

compliance with the terms of the operating permit. The operating 58 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 1160 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-04034-13 20131160c2 

Page 3 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

permit for a commercial wastewater system is valid for 1 year 59 

from the date of issuance and must be renewed annually. The 60 

operating permit for an aerobic treatment unit is valid for 2 61 

years from the date of issuance and must be renewed every 2 62 

years. If all information pertaining to the siting, location, 63 

and installation conditions or repair of an onsite sewage 64 

treatment and disposal system remains the same, a construction 65 

or repair permit for the onsite sewage treatment and disposal 66 

system may be transferred to another person, if the transferee 67 

files, within 60 days after the transfer of ownership, an 68 

amended application providing all corrected information and 69 

proof of ownership of the property. There is no fee associated 70 

with the processing of this supplemental information. A person 71 

may not contract to construct, modify, alter, repair, service, 72 

abandon, or maintain any portion of an onsite sewage treatment 73 

and disposal system without being registered under part III of 74 

chapter 489. A property owner who personally performs 75 

construction, maintenance, or repairs to a system serving his or 76 

her own owner-occupied single-family residence is exempt from 77 

registration requirements for performing such construction, 78 

maintenance, or repairs on that residence, but is subject to all 79 

permitting requirements. A municipality or political subdivision 80 

of the state may not issue a building or plumbing permit for any 81 

building that requires the use of an onsite sewage treatment and 82 

disposal system unless the owner or builder has received a 83 

construction permit for such system from the department. A 84 

building or structure may not be occupied and a municipality, 85 

political subdivision, or any state or federal agency may not 86 

authorize occupancy until the department approves the final 87 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 1160 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-04034-13 20131160c2 

Page 4 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

installation of the onsite sewage treatment and disposal system. 88 

A municipality or political subdivision of the state may not 89 

approve any change in occupancy or tenancy of a building that 90 

uses an onsite sewage treatment and disposal system until the 91 

department has reviewed the use of the system with the proposed 92 

change, approved the change, and amended the operating permit. 93 

(l) For the Florida Keys, the department shall adopt a 94 

special rule for the construction, installation, modification, 95 

operation, repair, maintenance, and performance of onsite sewage 96 

treatment and disposal systems which considers the unique soil 97 

conditions and water table elevations, densities, and setback 98 

requirements. On lots where a setback distance of 75 feet from 99 

surface waters, saltmarsh, and buttonwood association habitat 100 

areas cannot be met, an injection well, approved and permitted 101 

by the department, may be used for disposal of effluent from 102 

onsite sewage treatment and disposal systems. The following 103 

additional requirements apply to onsite sewage treatment and 104 

disposal systems in Monroe County: 105 

1. The county, each municipality, and those special 106 

districts established for the purpose of the collection, 107 

transmission, treatment, or disposal of sewage shall ensure, in 108 

accordance with the specific schedules adopted by the 109 

Administration Commission under s. 380.0552, the completion of 110 

onsite sewage treatment and disposal system upgrades to meet the 111 

requirements of this paragraph. 112 

2. Onsite sewage treatment and disposal systems must cease 113 

discharge by December 31, 2015, or must comply with department 114 

rules and provide the level of treatment which, on a permitted 115 

annual average basis, produces an effluent that contains no more 116 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 1160 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-04034-13 20131160c2 

Page 5 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

than the following concentrations: 117 

a. Biochemical Oxygen Demand (CBOD5) of 10 mg/l. 118 

b. Suspended Solids of 10 mg/l. 119 

c. Total Nitrogen, expressed as N, of 10 mg/l, or a 120 

reduction in nitrogen of at least at 70 percent. A system that 121 

has been tested and certified to reduce nitrogen concentrations 122 

by at least 70 percent is deemed to be in compliance with this 123 

standard. 124 

d. Total Phosphorus, expressed as P, of 1 mg/l. 125 

 126 

In addition, onsite sewage treatment and disposal systems 127 

discharging to an injection well must provide basic disinfection 128 

as defined by department rule. 129 

3. In areas not scheduled to be served by a central sewer, 130 

onsite sewage treatment and disposal systems must, by December 131 

31, 2015, comply with department rules and provide the level of 132 

treatment described in subparagraph 2. 133 

4.3. On or after July 1, 2010, all new, modified, and 134 

repaired onsite sewage treatment and disposal systems must 135 

provide the level of treatment described in subparagraph 2. 136 

However, In areas scheduled to be served by central sewer by 137 

December 31, 2015, if the property owner has paid a connection 138 

fee or assessment for connection to the central sewer system, 139 

the property owner may install a holding tank with a high water 140 

alarm, or an onsite sewage treatment and disposal system that 141 

meets may be repaired to the following minimum standards: 142 

a. The existing tanks must be pumped and inspected and 143 

certified as being watertight and free of defects in accordance 144 

with department rule; and 145 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 1160 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-04034-13 20131160c2 

Page 6 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

b. A sand-lined drainfield or injection well in accordance 146 

with department rule must be installed. 147 

5.4. Onsite sewage treatment and disposal systems must be 148 

monitored for total nitrogen and total phosphorus concentrations 149 

as required by department rule. 150 

6.5. The department shall enforce proper installation, 151 

operation, and maintenance of onsite sewage treatment and 152 

disposal systems pursuant to this chapter, including ensuring 153 

that the appropriate level of treatment described in sub-154 

subparagraph b. subparagraph 2. is met. 155 

7.6. The authority of a local government, including a 156 

special district, to mandate connection of an onsite sewage 157 

treatment and disposal system is governed by s. 4, chapter 99-158 

395, Laws of Florida. 159 

8. Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the 160 

contrary, an onsite sewage treatment and disposal system 161 

installed after July 1, 2010, which meets the standards in 162 

subparagraph 2., is not required to connect to a sewer until 163 

December 31, 2020. This subparagraph does not apply to chapter 164 

28-19.310, F.A.C. 165 

(u)1. The owner of an aerobic treatment unit system shall 166 

maintain a current maintenance service agreement with an aerobic 167 

treatment unit maintenance entity permitted by the department. 168 

The maintenance entity shall obtain a system operating permit 169 

from the department for each aerobic treatment unit under 170 

service contract. The maintenance entity shall inspect each 171 

aerobic treatment unit system at least twice each year and shall 172 

report quarterly to the department on the number of aerobic 173 

treatment unit systems inspected and serviced. The reports may 174 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for CS for SB 1160 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-04034-13 20131160c2 

Page 7 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

be submitted electronically. 175 

2. The department may approve and permit a property owner 176 

of an owner-occupied, single-family residence as a maintenance 177 

entity for the property owner’s own aerobic treatment unit 178 

system if the system manufacturer’s approved representative 179 

certifies in writing that the property owner has received 180 

training on the proper installation and service of the system. 181 

The maintenance entity service agreement must conspicuously 182 

disclose that the property owner has the right to maintain his 183 

or her own system and is exempt from contractor registration 184 

requirements for performing construction, maintenance, or 185 

repairs on the system. However, the property owner is subject to 186 

all permitting requirements. 187 

3. A manufacturer may not deny a septic tank contractor 188 

licensed under part III of chapter 489 access to aerobic 189 

treatment unit system training or spare parts for maintenance 190 

entities. After the original warranty period, component parts 191 

for an aerobic treatment unit system may be replaced with parts 192 

that meet manufacturer’s specifications but are manufactured by 193 

others. The maintenance entity shall maintain documentation for 194 

a period of 2 years of the substitute part’s equivalency and 195 

shall provide such documentation to the department upon request. 196 

4. The owner of an aerobic treatment unit system shall 197 

allow the department to inspect during reasonable hours each 198 

aerobic treatment unit system at least annually, and such 199 

inspection may include collection and analysis of system-200 

effluent samples for performance criteria established by rule of 201 

the department. 202 

Section 2. This act shall take effect July 1, 2013. 203 



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Rules 

 

BILL:  CS/SB 474  

INTRODUCER:  Committee on Governmental Oversight and Accountability and Committee on Military 

and Veterans Affairs, Space, and Domestic Security 

SUBJECT:  OGSR/Department of Veterans’ Affairs/Direct-support Organization/Donor Information 

DATE:  April 5, 2013 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Ryon  Ryon    ms SPB 7002 as introduced 

2. Naf  McVaney  GO  Fav/CS 

3. Ryon  Phelps  RC  Favorable 

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... X Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

CS/SB 474 is the result of an Open Government Sunset Review performed by the Committee on 

Military Affairs, Space, and Domestic Security. 

 

Current law
1
 provides a public records exemption for personal identifying information of a donor 

or prospective donor to the direct-support organization to the Florida Department of Veterans’ 

Affairs who desires to remain anonymous. It also provides a public meetings exemption for 

portions of meetings of the direct-support organization during which the identity of a donor or 

prospective donor is discussed. The exemptions are subject to review under the Open 

Government Sunset Review Act
2
 and will sunset on October 2, 2013, unless saved from repeal 

through reenactment by the Legislature. 

 

                                                 
1
 Section 252.055(9), F.S. 

2
 Section 119.15, F.S. 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/SB 474   Page 2 

 

The bill reenacts and makes drafting clarifications to the exemptions. The bill does not expand 

the scope of the exemptions; therefore, a two-thirds vote of the members present and voting in 

each house of the Legislature is not required for passage. 

 

The bill amends section 292.055(9) of the Florida Statutes. 

II. Present Situation: 

Public Records and Meeting Requirements 

The State Constitution specifies requirements for public access to government records and 

meetings. It provides every person the right to inspect or copy any public record made or state, or 

received in connection with the official business of any public body, officer, or employee of the 

of persons acting on their behalf.
3
 The records of the legislative, executive, and judicial branches 

are specifically included.
4
 The State Constitution also requires all meetings of any collegial 

public body of the executive branch of state government or of any local government, at which 

official acts are to be taken or at which public business of such body is to be transacted or 

discussed, to be open and noticed to the public.
5
 

 

In addition to the State Constitution, the Florida Statutes specify conditions under which public 

access must be provided to government records and meetings. The Public Records Act
6
 

guarantees every person’s right to inspect and copy any state or local government public record
7
 

at any reasonable time, under reasonable conditions, and under supervision by the custodian of 

the public record.
8
 The Sunshine Law

9
 requires all meetings of any board or commission of any 

state or local agency or authority at which official acts are to be taken to be noticed and open to 

the public.
10

 

 

                                                 
3
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(a). 

4
 Id. 

5
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(b). 

6
 Chapter 119, F.S. 

7
 Section 119.011(12), F.S., defines “public records” to mean “all documents, papers, letters, maps, books, tapes, 

photographs, films, sound recordings, data processing software, or other material, regardless of the physical form, 

characteristics, or means of transmission, made or received pursuant to law or ordinance or in connection with the transaction 

of official business by any agency.” Section 119.011(2), F.S., defines “agency” to mean as “any state, county, district, 

authority, or municipal officer, department, division, board, bureau, commission, or other separate unit of government created 

or established by law including, for the purposes of this chapter, the Commission on Ethics, the Public Service Commission, 

and the Office of Public Counsel, and any other public or private agency, person, partnership, corporation, or business entity 

acting on behalf of any public agency.” The Public Records Act does not apply to legislative or judicial records (see Locke v. 

Hawkes, 595 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1992)). 
8
 Section 119.07(1)(a), F.S. 

9
 Section 286.011, F.S. 

10
 Section 286.011(1)-(2), F.S. The Sunshine Law does not apply to the Legislature; rather, open meetings requirements for 

the Legislature are set out in Art. III, s. 4(e) of the State Constitution. That section requires the rules of procedure of each 

house to provide that: 

 All legislative committee and subcommittee meetings of each house and of joint conference committee meetings 

must be open and noticed to the public; and 

 All prearranged gatherings, between more than two members of the Legislature, or between the Governor, the 

President of the Senate, or the Speaker of the House of Representatives, the purpose of which is to agree upon or to 

take formal legislative action, must be reasonably open to the public. 



BILL: CS/SB 474   Page 3 

 

Only the Legislature may create an exemption to public records or open meetings requirements.
11

 

Such an exemption must be created by general law and must specifically state the public 

necessity justifying the exemption.
12

 Further, the exemption must be no broader than necessary 

to accomplish the stated purpose of the law. A bill enacting an exemption may not contain other 

substantive provisions
13

 and must pass by a two-thirds vote of the members present and voting in 

each house of the Legislature.
14

 

 

Open Government Sunset Review Act 

The Open Government Sunset Review Act (the Act) prescribes a legislative review process for 

newly created or substantially amended public records or open meetings exemptions.
15

 It 

requires the automatic repeal of such exemption on October 2nd of the fifth year after creation or 

substantial amendment, unless the Legislature reenacts the exemption.
16

 

 

The Act provides that a public records or open meetings exemption may be created or 

maintained only if it serves an identifiable public purpose and is no broader than is necessary to 

meet such public purpose.
17

 An exemption serves an identifiable purpose if it meets one of the 

following purposes and the Legislature finds that the purpose of the exemption outweighs open 

government policy and cannot be accomplished without the exemption: 

 It allows the state or its political subdivision to effectively and efficiently administer a 

governmental program, which administration would be significantly impaired without the 

exemption; 

 It protects sensitive personal information that, if released, would be defamatory or would 

jeopardize an individual’s safety; however, only the identity of an individual may be 

exempted under this provision; or 

 It protects trade or business secrets.
18

 

 

The Act also requires specified questions to be considered during the review process.
19

 

                                                 
11

 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). There is a difference between records the Legislature designates as exempt from public 

records requirements and those the Legislature designates confidential and exempt. A record classified as exempt from public 

disclosure may be disclosed under certain circumstances (see WFTV, Inc. v. The School Board of Seminole, 874 So.2d 48 

(Fla. 5th DCA 2004), review denied 892 So.2d 1015 (Fla. 2004); City of Riviera Beach v. Barfield, 642 So.2d 1135 (Fla. 4th 

DCA 2004); and Williams v. City of Minneola, 575 So.2d 687 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). If the Legislature designates a record as 

confidential and exempt from public disclosure, such record may not be released, by the custodian of public records, to 

anyone other than the persons or entities specifically designated in the statutory exemption (see Attorney General Opinion 

85-62, August 1, 1985). 
12

 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). 
13

 The bill may, however, contain multiple exemptions that relate to one subject. 
14

 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). 
15

 Section 119.15, F.S. An exemption is substantially amended if the amendment expands the scope of the exemption to 

include more records or information or to include meetings as well as records (s. 119.15(4)(b), F.S.). The requirements of the 

Act do not apply to an exemption that is required by federal law or that applies solely to the Legislature or the State Court 

System (s. 119.15(2), F.S.). 
16

 Section 119.15(3), F.S. 
17

 Section 119.15(6)(b), F.S. 
18

 Id. 
19

 Section 119.15(6)(a), F.S. The specified questions are: 

 What specific records or meetings are affected by the exemption? 

 Whom does the exemption uniquely affect, as opposed to the general public? 

 What is the identifiable public purpose or goal of the exemption? 



BILL: CS/SB 474   Page 4 

 

 

When reenacting an exemption that will repeal, a public necessity statement and a two-thirds 

vote for passage are required if the exemption is expanded.
20

 A public necessity statement and a 

two-thirds vote for passage are not required if the exemption is reenacted with grammatical or 

stylistic changes that do not expand the exemption, if the exemption is narrowed, or if an 

exception
21

 to the exemption is created. 

 

The Florida Veterans Foundation 

The 2008 Legislature authorized the establishment of a direct-support organization to provide 

assistance, funding, and support for the Florida Department of Veterans’ Affairs (FDVA) in 

carrying out its mission of veterans’ advocacy.
22

 Section 292.055(2), F.S., calls on the direct-

support organization to organize and operate exclusively to: 

 Obtain funds; 

 Request and receive grants, gifts, and bequests of moneys; 

 Acquire, receive, hold, invest, and administer in its own name securities, funds, or property; 

and 

 Make expenditures to or for the benefit of the FDVA, Florida’s veterans, and congressionally 

chartered veterans service organizations that have subdivisions that are incorporated in 

Florida. 

 

The direct-support organization was incorporated as the Florida Veterans Foundation (FVF) in 

June 2008, and is governed by a voluntary board of directors appointed by the executive director 

of the FDVA. 

 

The FVF’s mission is to serve, support, and advocate for Florida veterans to improve their well-

being. To achieve its mission, the FVF has identified the following goals that it aims to further 

with its charitable and educational programs and services: 

 Keeping veterans in their homes safely and comfortably; 

 Increasing a veteran’s access to quality healthcare and benefits; 

 Raising the public’s awareness of psychological and neurological issues facing veterans; 

 Reducing the stigma associated with seeking behavioral health treatment; 

 Decreasing veterans suicide; 

 Increasing veteran employment; 

 Reducing chronic homelessness among veterans; and 

 Providing justice-involved veterans an opportunity to receive treatment vice incarceration.
23

 

 

                                                                                                                                                                         
 Can the information contained in the records or discussed in the meeting be readily obtained by alternative means? 

If so, how? 

 Is the record or meeting protected by another exemption? 

 Are there multiple exemptions for the same type of record or meeting that it would be appropriate to merge? 
20

 An exemption is expanded when it is amended to include more records, information, or meetings or to include meetings as 

well as records, or records as well as meetings. 
21

 An example of an exception to a public records exemption would be allowing an additional agency access to confidential 

and exempt records.  
22

 Chapter 2008-84, L.O.F. 
23

 See Florida Veterans Foundation Who We Are Brochure. 

http://www.floridaveteransfoundation.org/DOCs/Who_We_Are_Brochure.pdf (last visited March 19, 2013). 



BILL: CS/SB 474   Page 5 

 

For the first four years of its existence, the FVF relied upon a combination of state funding and 

charitable donations to carry out its mission. When the 2008 Legislature authorized the 

establishment of the FVF, it also created a short-term state funding source to support the 

organization. The Legislature entitled the FVF to a percentage of the annual revenue collected 

from the sale of the Florida Salutes Veterans license plate.
24

 This allocation of state revenue 

expired on June 30, 2012, and served as a substantial revenue source for the FVF for four 

years.
25

 Moving forward, the FVF will rely solely on charitable donations to carry out its 

functions. 

 

The table below illustrates the annual revenue the FVF received from charitable donations and 

license plate fees since its inception.
26

 

 

Table 1: Florida Veterans Foundation Annual Revenue Sources 

REVENUE 

SOURCE 
FISCAL YEAR TOTAL 

 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12  

Charitable 

Donations 
$108,870 $54,124 $29,327 $205,136 $397,457 

License Plate 

Fees 
$68,052 $63,199 $26,644

27
 $23,325 $181,220 

Total $176,922 $117,323 $55,971 $228,461 $578,677 

 

Current Exemption Under Review 

Under s. 295.055(9), F.S., the following information held by the FVF is confidential and exempt 

from public records requirements:  

 The identity of a donor or prospective donor to the foundation who wishes to remain 

anonymous; and 

 All information identifying such donor or prospective donor.  

 

In addition, portions of meetings of the FVF during which the identity of donors or prospective 

donors is discussed are exempt from public meetings requirements. 

 

The exemptions are scheduled to expire on October 2, 2013, unless saved from repeal by the 

Legislature after a review under the Open Government Sunset Act.
28

 

 

                                                 
24

 For fiscal years 2008-09 and 2009-10, the FVF was entitled to 20 percent of the Florida Salutes Veterans license plate 

revenue (Ch. 2008-84, L.O.F.). For fiscal years 2010-11 and 2011-12, the percentage which FVF was entitled was reduced to 

10 percent of the license plate revenue (Ch. 2010-168, L.O.F.). 
25

 Additionally, s. 320.08058(73), F.S., entitles the FVF to 20 percent of the annual revenues collected from the sale of the 

Veterans of Foreign Wars license plate, following its development. The Veterans of Foreign Wars license plate has not yet 

been developed and FVF representatives anticipate minimal revenues from the sale of the license plate. 
26

 Data in Table 1 obtained from FVF Annual Reports and e-mail correspondence with FVF staff.  
27

 For FY 2011 and FY 2012, the Florida Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles over-distributed license plate 

revenue totaling $29,872 to the FVF. As of Jan 13, 2012, the FVF had returned all of the over distribution. The license plate 

revenue amounts in the table represent the amount required by s. 320.08058(4), F.S., to be distributed to the FVF, not the 

actual amount that was erroneously distributed.  
28

 Section 292.055(9)(c), F.S. 



BILL: CS/SB 474   Page 6 

 

Senate professional staff of the Committee on Military Affairs, Space, and Domestic Security 

conducted a review of the exemptions in s. 292.055(9), F.S., as required by the Open 

Government Sunset Review Act.29 

 

In response to questions posed by Senate professional staff, representatives of the FVF reported 

that as of July 2012:
30

 

 No donors who have contributed to the FVF have requested anonymity; and 

 The FVF has never received a request for personal information of individuals who have 

contributed to the FVF. 

 

According to the FVF, although the FVF has not had the opportunity to utilize the exemptions, 

the exemptions are important to the success of the FVF’s fundraising efforts.
31

 The FVF 

recommends the Legislature reenact the exemptions in order to preserve competitiveness with 

other charitable organizations which have such an exemption.
32

 

 

Representatives of the FVF provided the following circumstances to support reenactment of the 

exemptions:  

 The FVF is now fully reliant upon the solicitation of charitable contributions to carry out its 

mission moving forward due to the recent discontinuation of state license plate revenue 

allocated to the FVF;
33

 

 The FVF plans to enhance donation solicitation practices and find new and creative ways to 

enhance the public’s awareness of the FVF to increase donations;
34

 and 

 As the FVF continues to become more well-known among the public, the veteran 

community, and government leaders, expectations of the FVF’s abilities to provide quality 

services to Florida veterans have and will continue to increase.
35

 

 

Based upon the Open Government Sunset Review of the exemption, professional staff of the 

Committee on Military Affairs, Space, and Domestic Security recommend the Legislature retain 

the exemptions established in s. 252.055(9), F.S. The exemptions for the identity of donors and 

potential donors to the FVF allows the FVF to effectively and efficiently secure charitable 

donations in order to fund the provision of quality services to veterans in Florida. To the extent 

that donors might be dissuaded from contributing to the FVF in the absence of the public records 

exemption, the ability of the FVF to raise funds might be limited.  

                                                 
29

 Section 119.15, F.S. 
30

 Senate Military Affairs, Space, and Domestic Security Committee staff meeting with John Haynes, FVF Chairman, and 

Jim Brodie, FDVA Legislative Affairs Director. July 19, 2012.  
31

 Id. 
32

 Id. 
33

 Id.  
34

 Id. 
35

 Senate Military Affairs, Space, and Domestic Security Committee staff meeting with John Haynes, FVF Chairman, 

Barbara Radford, Executive Assistant to Chairman, and Jim Brodie, Legislative Affairs Director, FDVA. August 20, 2012.  



BILL: CS/SB 474   Page 7 

 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

The bill deletes the Open Government Sunset Review repeal date, thereby continuing the 

exemptions for personal identifying information of donors or prospective donors to the 

Department of Veterans’ Affairs direct-support organization. 

 

The bill also clarifies that the public meetings exemption applies only to those portions of 

meetings at which the identity of a donor or prospective donor who wishes to remain anonymous 

as required by the public records exemption is discussed. 

 

The bill’s effective date is October 1, 2013. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

Not applicable. The bill does not appear to affect county or municipal government. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

The bill reenacts existing public records and meetings exemptions. The bill does not 

expand the scope of the exemptions; therefore, a two-thirds vote of the members present 

and voting in each house of the Legislature is not required for passage. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

None. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

None. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None.  



BILL: CS/SB 474   Page 8 

 

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS by Governmental Oversight and Accountability on March 21, 2013: 

The CS differs from the original bill in that it makes non-substantive drafting 

clarifications to the exemptions under review. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 474 

 

 

 

By the Committees on Governmental Oversight and Accountability; 

and Military and Veterans Affairs, Space, and Domestic Security 

 

 

 

585-02860-13 2013474c1 

Page 1 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to a review under the Open Government 2 

Sunset Review Act; amending s. 292.055, F.S., which 3 

provides an exemption from public records requirements 4 

for any identifying information of a donor or 5 

prospective donor to the direct-support organization 6 

of the Department of Veterans’ Affairs, and an 7 

exemption from public meetings requirements for 8 

portions of meetings at which the identity of a donor 9 

or prospective donor whose identity is confidential 10 

and exempt is discussed; removing superfluous 11 

language; saving the exemptions from repeal under the 12 

Open Government Sunset Review Act; removing the 13 

scheduled repeal of the exemptions; providing an 14 

effective date. 15 

 16 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 17 

 18 

Section 1. Subsection (9) of section 292.055, Florida 19 

Statutes, is amended to read: 20 

292.055 Direct-support organization.— 21 

(9) CONFIDENTIALITY OF DONORS.— 22 

(a) Any information identifying The identity of a donor or 23 

prospective donor to the direct-support organization who desires 24 

to remain anonymous, and all information identifying such donor 25 

or prospective donor, is confidential and exempt from the 26 

provisions of s. 119.07(1) and s. 24(a), Art. I of the State 27 

Constitution. 28 

(b) Portions of meetings of the direct-support organization 29 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 474 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

585-02860-13 2013474c1 

Page 2 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

during which the identity of a donor donors or prospective 30 

donor, whose identity is confidential and exempt pursuant to 31 

paragraph (a), donors is discussed are exempt from the 32 

provisions of s. 286.011 and s. 24(b), Art. I of the State 33 

Constitution. 34 

(c) This subsection is subject to the Open Government 35 

Sunset Review Act in accordance with s. 119.15 and shall stand 36 

repealed on October 2, 2013, unless reviewed and saved from 37 

repeal through reenactment by the Legislature. 38 

Section 2. This act shall take effect October 1, 2013. 39 



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Rules  

 

BILL:  CS/CS/SB 1840 

INTRODUCER:  Rules Committee, Community Affairs Committee, and Military and Veterans Affairs, 

Space and Domestic Security Committee 

SUBJECT:  Development Permits 

DATE:  April 19, 2013 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Spaulding  Ryon    ms SPB 7142 as introduced 

2. Anderson  Yeatman  CA  Fav/CS 

3. Ryon/Spaulding  Phelps  RC  Fav/CS 

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... X Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

CS/CS/SB 1840 requires counties and municipalities to attach disclaimers to development 

permits that include a condition that all other applicable state or federal permits must be obtained 

before the commencement of any development. These changes will ensure Florida is fully 

compliant with the National Flood Insurance Program administered by the Federal Emergency 

Management Agency. 

 

The bill also revises the deadline for the holder of certain permits to notify the authorizing 

agency of automatic extension eligibility and provides for a three year extension of building 

permits for certain property owners within the Florida Keys Area of Critical State Concern in 

unincorporated Monroe County.  

 

The bill expands the authority of counties to lease certain professional sports franchise facilities 

to include ancillary commercial development located on property that is part of or contiguous to 

the professional sports franchise facility. 

 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1840   Page 2 

 

The bill amends several provisions relating to onsite sewage treatment and disposal systems 

(OSTDSs) in Monroe County to: 

 Require Monroe County property owners who are not scheduled to be served by a central 

sewer by December 31, 2015, to comply with certain concentration level standards; 

 Provide that a tested and certified OSTDS that reduces nitrogen concentrations by at least 70 

percent is deemed to be in compliance with current nitrogen standards; 

 Allow Monroe County property owners that have recently installed a OSTDS in areas 

scheduled to be served by central sewer systems to continue to use the systems until 2020; 

and 

 Allow property owners who have paid connection fees or assessments for connection to a 

central sewer system, in an area scheduled to be served by a central sewer by December 31, 

2015, the option of installing a holding tank with a high water alarm until they are able to 

connect to a central sewer system. 

 

The bill substantially amends the following sections of the Florida Statutes: 125.022, 125.35, 

166.033, and 381.0065. The bill also amends subsection (3) of section 24 of chapter 2012-205, 

Laws of Florida. 

II. Present Situation: 

Florida Compliance with National Flood Insurance Program Requirements 

 

The Division of Emergency Management (Division) is administratively housed within the 

Executive Office of the Governor. The Division is a separate budget entity, as provided in the 

General Appropriations Act and must prepare and submit a budget request in accordance with 

chapter 216, Florida Statutes.
1
 The Division is responsible for all professional, technical, and 

administrative support functions necessary to carry out its responsibilities. The Director of the 

Division is appointed by, and serves at the pleasure of, the Governor and is the head of the 

Division for all purposes. The Division is tasked with administering programs to rapidly apply 

all available aid to communities stricken by an emergency and serves as a liaison with federal 

agencies and other public and private agencies.
2
 

 

The State Emergency Management Act
3
 establishes the powers of the Division. It tasks the  

Division with maintaining a comprehensive statewide program of emergency management 

efforts that includes coordinating efforts with the Federal Government, local governments, other 

state agencies, school boards, and private agencies that have a role in emergency management.
4
 

The statewide program of emergency management includes but is not limited to: 

 

 Preparation of a comprehensive statewide emergency management plan;  

 Adopting standards and requirements for county emergency management plans; 

 Assisting political subdivisions in preparing and maintaining emergency management plans; 

                                                 
1 Division of Emergency Management (Executive Office of the Governor), Fiscal Year 2013-14 Base Budget Review, 

http://www.flsenate.gov/UserContent/Topics/IntensiveBudgetReview/ATD/DEMBaseBudget.pdf, last viewed March 29, 

2013. 
2
 Section 14.2016, F.S. 

3
 Section 252.31, F.S. 

4
 Section 252.35(1), F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1840   Page 3 

 

 Ascertaining the requirements for equipment and supplies for use in an emergency;  

 Instituting statewide public awareness programs; 

 Coordinating federal, state, and local emergency management activities in advance of an  

 emergency; and  

 Using and employing the property, services, and resources within the state in accordance 

with the Act.
5
 

 

After a disaster, the Division conducts damage assessment surveys and advises the Governor on 

whether to declare an emergency and seek federal relief funds. The Division maintains a primary 

Emergency Operations Center (EOC) in Tallahassee. The EOC serves as the communications 

and command center for reporting emergencies and coordinating state response activities. The 

Division also operates the State Warning Point, a state emergency communications center staffed 

24 hours each day. The center maintains statewide communications with county emergency 

officials.
6
 

 

National Flood Insurance Program 

 

The National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) was created by Congress in 1968 as a result of 

passage of the National Flood Insurance Act to address economic hardships caused by flood 

disasters. Congress found that it was “…uneconomic for the private insurance industry alone to 

make flood insurance available to those in need of such protection on reasonable terms and 

conditions; but a program of flood insurance with large-scale participation of the Federal 

Government and carried out to the maximum extent practicable by the private insurance industry 

is feasible.”
7
 In response, NFIP was created as a voluntary program that provided affordable 

flood insurance for people that lived in communities that adopted floodplain management 

regulations that meet or exceed federal standards.
8
 In most instances, homeowners buy flood 

policies from an insurance agent but in the event of a flood disaster the insurance company does 

not pay the claim, the Federal Government does. NFIP provides coverage up to $250,000 for the 

home and $100,000 for personal possessions for private dwellings
9
 and up to $500,000 for 

buildings and $500,000 for property and belongings for commercial properties.
10

 

 

 There are 459 Florida communities actively participating in NFIP; 

 More than 2 million flood insurance policies; and 

 More than $471 billion in flood coverage in the state.
11

 

 

In March 2012, FEMA expressed concern that HB 503 (2012) was inconsistent with federal 

law
12

 that requires communities to review proposed developments to ensure they have received 

                                                 
5
 Section 252.35, F.S. 

6
 Florida Division of Emergency Management, Florida Disaster, http://floridadisaster.org/about_the_division.htm, last viewed 

March 28, 2013. 
7
 42 U.S.C. § 4001(b)(1,2). 

8
 42 U.S.C. §§ 4012(c), 4022; 44 C.F.R. §§ 60.1, 60.2. 

9
 Department of Homeland Security, FEMA, Reducing Damage from Localized Flooding: A Guide for Communities, p. 11-2, 

http://www.fema.gov/pdf/fima/FEMA511-12-Chapter11.pdf, last viewed March 28, 2013. 
10

 Id 
11

 Id at 1. 
12

 44 C.F.R. § 60.3(a)(2), Id at 1. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1840   Page 4 

 

necessary permits pursuant to federal and state law. This requirement ensures that coordination 

occurs between levels of government on projects impacting flood plains and that all necessary 

permits have been secured before commencement of construction. FEMA warned that if HB 503 

was implemented, Florida communities would be subject to challenge and face legal 

impediments as they tried to comply with NFIP requirements. If communities could not meet the 

requirements of NFIP, they could be subject to suspension from the program that would include 

the following consequences: 

 

 No selling or renewing of flood insurance policies within a community that is not in 

compliance with NFIP requirements; 

 Federal agencies would be prohibited from issuing grants, loans, or guarantees for the 

acquisition or construction of structures located in a Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA);
13

 

 Lending institutions may require private flood insurance for high-risk properties at 

significantly higher cost to the homeowner, assuming private insurance is even available in 

that area; and 

 If a flood disaster occurs in a suspended community, many types of federal disaster 

assistance would not be available.
14

 

 

Permit Extensions 

 

A permit extension was provided by the 2011 Florida Legislature, “in recognition of 2011 real 

estate market conditions,” extending “any building permit, and any permit issued by the 

Department of Environmental Protection or by a water management district pursuant to part IV 

of chapter 373, Florida Statutes, which has an expiration date from January 1, 2012, through 

January 1, 2014,” and also “any local government-issued development order or building 

permit” (including certificates of levels of service), for a period of 2 years after its previously 

scheduled date of expiration.
15

 This extension is in addition to any existing permit extension, but 

cannot exceed four years total.
16

 To get this extension, the holder of such a permit or other 

authorization must have notified the authorizing agency in writing by December 31, 2011.
17

 

 

The 2012 Florida Legislature revised the deadline for the holder of certain permits to notify the 

authorizing agency of automatic extension eligibility. The new deadline was December 31, 

2012.
18

  

 

County Authority to Lease a Professional Sports Franchise 

 

Section 125.35, F.S., authorizes the board of county commissioners to sell and convey any real 

or personal property, and to lease real property, belonging to the county, under certain 

circumstances. Additionally, the board of county commissioners is expressly authorized to “lease 

                                                 
13

 This restriction applies to assistance from the Federal Housing Administration, the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, 

and the Small Business Administration, among other Federal agencies. 
14

 Id at 1. 
15

 Section 79, ch. 2011-39, L.O.F. (HB 7207). 
16

 Id. 
17

 Id. 
18

 Section 24, ch. 2012-205, L.O.F (HB 503). 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1840   Page 5 

 

a professional sports franchise facility financed by revenues received pursuant to s. 125.0104 or 

s. 212.20.”  

 

Onsite Sewage Treatment and Disposal Systems 

 

The Bureau of Onsite Sewage Programs (Bureau), part of the Department of Health (DOH), 

develops statewide rules and provides training and standardization for county health department 

employees responsible for issuing permits for the installation and repair of onsite sewage 

treatment and disposal systems (OSTDSs) within the state.
19

 The Bureau also licenses over 700 

septic tank contractors and oversees 2.3 million onsite wastewater systems in Florida.
20

 

 

In Florida, septic systems are referred to as OSTDSs. An OSTDS can contain any one of the 

following components: a septic tank; a subsurface drainfield; an aerobic treatment unit; a 

graywater tank; a laundry wastewater tank; a grease interceptor; a pump tank; a waterless, 

incinerating or organic waste-composting toilet; and a sanitary pit privy.
21

 Septic tanks are tanks 

in the ground that treat sewage without the presence of oxygen. Sewage flows from a home or 

business through a pipe into the first chamber, where solids settle out. The liquid then flows into 

the second chamber where anaerobic bacteria, which do not require oxygen, in the sewage break 

down the organic matter, allowing cleaner water to flow out of the second chamber into a 

drainfield.
22

 

 

Florida Keys Area of Critical State Concern 

 

In 1972, the Legislature adopted the Environmental Land and Water Management Act, which 

provided the basis for the state to designate an Area of Critical State Concern. To be designated, 

an area must contain, or have a significant impact upon, environmental or natural resources of 

regional or statewide importance where uncontrolled private or public development would cause 

substantial deterioration of such resources.
23

 

 

In 1979, Monroe County, including its municipalities and the Florida Keys, was designated as an 

Area of Critical State Concern pursuant to the “Florida Keys Area Protection Act.”
24

 The 

legislative intent was to establish a land use management system for the Florida Keys that would: 

 Protect the natural environment and improve the near shore water quality; 

 Support a diverse economic base that promotes balanced growth in accordance with the 

capacity of public facilities; 

                                                 
19

 The DOH does not permit the use of onsite sewage treatment and disposal systems where the estimated domestic sewage 

flow from the establishment is over 10,000 gallons per day (gpd) or the commercial sewage flow is over 5,000 gpd; where 

there is a likelihood that the system will receive toxic, hazardous or industrial wastes; where a sewer system is available; or 

of any system or flow from the establishment is currently regulated by the DEP. The DEP issues the permits for systems that 

discharge more than 10,000 gpd. 
20

 DOH, Division of Disease Control and Health Protection, About Us, http://www.myfloridaeh.com/about/index.html (last 

visited Apr. 6, 2013). 
21

 See Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) Wastewater: Septic Systems, 

http://www.dep.state.fl.us/water/wastewater/dom/septic.htm (last visited Apr. 6, 2013). 
22

 EPA, Primer for Municipal Wastewater Treatment Systems, 2004, p. 22, available at 

http://water.epa.gov/aboutow/owm/upload/2005_08_19_primer.pdf (last visited Apr. 6, 2013). 
23

 Section 380.05(2)(a), F.S. 
24

 Section 380.0552(3), F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1840   Page 6 

 

 Promote public land acquisition and ensure that the population of the Florida Keys can be 

safely evacuated; 

 Provide affordable housing in close proximity to places of employment; and 

 Protect property rights and promote coordination among governmental agencies that have 

permitting jurisdiction. 

 

In 1996, Rule 28-20, F.A.C., was adopted. The rule contained a Work Program that, when 

complete, would improve water quality and better protect habitats for threatened and endangered 

species, and resolve other challenges. Of particular concern was the declining water quality of 

the near shore environment due to a lack of central sewer facilities, the loss of habitat for state 

and federally listed endangered species, public safety in the event of hurricanes, and a deficit of 

affordable housing.
25

 

 

Concerns about water quality resulted in legislative action. Chapter 2010-205, Laws of Florida, 

required that by December 2015 all sewage disposal in the Florida Keys must be upgraded to 

meet advanced wastewater treatment standards that reduce the amount of nitrogen, phosphorus, 

biological oxygen demand and total suspended solids.
26

 As a result, when the construction of the 

central sewage system is concluded, approximately 23,000 septic tanks will be eliminated.
27

 The 

bond financing in the Save our Everglades Program, approved by the Legislature in 2012, and 

the extension of the Monroe County Infrastructure Sales Tax will provide the foundation to 

complete the central sewer by 2015. 

 

Nitrogen Reduction 

 

In 2008 the Legislature directed the DOH to conduct a six-year study to develop passive 

strategies for nitrogen reduction for OSTDSs. Regardless of the source, excessive nitrogen has 

negative effects on public health and the environment. The project is in its fourth year and is 

within the original $5.1 million budget. The final phase of the project is from 2013 to 2015. 

Project tasks will be to complete monitoring and other field activities, perform additional testing 

as deemed appropriate by the Legislature, and make final reporting recommendations on onsite 

sewage nitrogen reduction strategies for Florida’s future.
28

 

 

Current law requires OSTDSs to cease discharge by December 31, 2015, or comply with the 

DOH rules and provide the level of treatment that, on a permitted annual average basis, produces 

an effluent that contains no more than the following concentrations:
29

 

 Biochemical Oxygen Demand of 10 mg/l; 

 Suspended Solids of 10 mg/l; 

 Total Nitrogen of 10 mg/l; and 

 Total Phosphorus of 1 mg/l. 

 

                                                 
25

 Florida Department of Economic Opportunity, Florida Keys Area of Critical State Concern Annual Report, p. 11, 2012, 

available at www.floridajobs.org/fdcp/dcp/acsc/Files/2012FLKeysReport.pdf (last visited Apr. 6, 2013). 
26

 Section 381.0065(4)(l), F.S. 
27

 See supra note 25.  
28

 See DOH, Status Report on Phase II and Phase III of the Florida Onsite Sewage Nitrogen Reduction Strategies Study, 

Feb. 1, 2013, http://www.myfloridaeh.com/ostds/research/Nitrogen.html (last visited on Apr. 6, 2013).  
29

 Section 381.0065(4)(l), F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1840   Page 7 

 

Tests performed by the nitrogen reduction study have produced results of reduction in total 

nitrogen of over 95 percent with a final effluent concentration of 2.6 mg/l or less for several of 

the systems.
30

 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

Sections 1 and 3 amend ss. 125.022 and 166.033, F.S., respectively, to require counties and 

municipalities to attach a disclaimer to all development permits that includes a condition that all 

other applicable state or federal permits must be obtained before commencement of the 

development. 

 

Section 2 amends s. 125.35, F.S., to expand the authority of counties to lease certain professional 

sports franchise facilities to include ancillary commercial development located on property that 

is part of or contiguous to the professional sports franchise facility; 

 

Section 4 amends several provisions in s. 381.0065(4), F.S., relating to onsite sewage treatment 

and disposal systems (OSTDSs) in Monroe County. The bill: 

 Requires Monroe County property owners who are not scheduled to be served by a central 

sewer by December 31, 2015, to comply with certain concentration level standards; 

 Provides that a tested and certified OSTDS that reduces nitrogen concentrations by at least 

70 percent is deemed to be in compliance with current nitrogen standards; 

 Allows Monroe County property owners that have recently installed OSTDS in areas 

scheduled to be served by central sewer systems to continue to use the systems until 2020; 

and 

 Allows property owners who have paid connection fees or assessments for connection to a 

central sewer system, in an area scheduled to be served by a central sewer by December 31, 

2015, the option of installing a holding tank with a high water alarm until they are able to 

connect to a central sewer system. 

 

Section 5 extends building permits and any permit issued pursuant to part IV of ch. 373, F.S., 

regarding management and storage of surface waters, which expire between January 1, 2012, and 

January 1, 2016, for a period of three years after the expiration date of the permit. This extension 

also applies to local government-issued permits and does not prohibit conversion from the 

construction phase to the operation phase of a permit. Also, the bill sets a maximum extension of 

seven total years for the listed extensions in combination with this extension. This three year 

extension applies only to areas that are to be served by central sewer systems by December 2015 

within the Florida Keys Area of Critical State Concern in unincorporated Monroe County and 

excludes special wastewater districts. 

 

Section 6 amends subsection (3) of section 24 of chapter 2012-205, Laws of Florida, to provide 

that valid permit holders eligible for a two year extension have until October 1, 2013 to notify 

the authorizing agency of their intention to utilize the extension. 

 

Section 7 provides an effective date of July 1, 2013. 

                                                 
30

 Supra note 28. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1840   Page 8 

 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

D. Other Constitutional Issues: 

Single Subject Rule 

 

The title of the bill is an act relating to Development Permits, yet the bill contains 

provisions relating to local government leasing of real property and onsite sewage 

treatment and disposal systems. As such, the bill may be subject to challenge under 

Section 6, Article III of the Florida Constitution, which requires every law to “embrace 

but one subject and matter properly connected therewith.”  

 

Local Bills 

 

Article 3, section 10 of the Florida Constitution provides: 

 

No special law shall be passed unless notice of intention to seek enactment 

thereof has been published in the manner provided by general law. Such notice 

shall not be necessary when the law, except the provision for referendum, is 

conditioned to become effective only upon approval by vote of the electors of the 

area affected. 

 

Because the building permit provisions in section 5 of the bill apply solely to the Florida 

Keys area, it is possible the bill may be considered a local bill and therefore be subject to 

special law requirements in the Constitution including the requirement of notice of intent 

to seek enactment.  

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1840   Page 9 

 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

NFIP 

The bill ensures Florida is fully compliant with NFIP and will save communities from the 

threat of being suspended from the program for non-compliance with NFIP standards.  

 

If a community were to be suspended for non-compliance with NFIP, lending institutions 

may require private flood insurance for high-risk properties at significantly higher cost to 

the homeowner. If a flood disaster occurs in a suspended community, many types of 

federal disaster assistance for the acquisition, construction, or repair of insurable 

structures within a SFHA normally available to individuals and households for housing 

and personal property will not be available. 

 

Permit Extensions 

The bill provides two permit extension provisions which may help developers who have 

previously expired or soon-to-be expired permits who would like to keep their projects 

eligible in the future. 

 

OSTDSs 

OSTDSs require a significant financial commitment to install and operate over the life of 

the system. Connecting to a central sewer system is also a significant investment. For 

residents in unincorporated Monroe County who have installed an OSTDS since July 1, 

2010 and comply with the effluent standards provided in law, the bill provides assurance 

that they may continue to operate their OSTDs until December 31, 2020. 

 

A property owner will also have the option of installing a holding tank with a high water 

alarm. Savings are indeterminate because pumping costs for a holding tank can be high, 

but it expands the options available to property owners. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

The bill expands the authority of counties to lease certain professional sports franchise 

facilities to include ancillary commercial development located on property that is part of 

or contiguous to the professional sports franchise facility. This provision may provide a 

county more flexibility in selecting a lessee of county property contiguous to an existing 

sports franchise facility. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 1840   Page 10 

 

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS/CS by Rules on April 17, 2013: 

The committee substitute:  

 Expands the authority of counties to lease certain professional sports franchise 

facilities to include ancillary commercial development located on property that is part 

of or contiguous to the professional sports franchise facility; 

 Amends several provisions relating to onsite sewage treatment and disposal systems 

in Monroe County; and 

 Provides for the extension of building permits for property owners within the Florida 

Keys Area of Critical State Concern in an area is to be served by central sewer 

systems by December 2015. This applies only in unincorporated Monroe County and 

excludes special wastewater districts. 

 

CS by Community Affairs on April 9, 2013: 

The committee substitute deletes a provision regarding mapped flood hazard areas. Also, 

the CS extends the deadline for the holder of certain permits to notify the authorizing 

agency of automatic extension eligibility. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1840 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì624254$Î624254 

 

Page 1 of 2 

4/16/2013 12:17:12 PM 595-04401-13 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

04/17/2013 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Rules (Smith) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Between lines 42 and 43 3 

insert: 4 

Section 2. Paragraph (b) of subsection (1) of section 5 

125.35, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 6 

125.35 County authorized to sell real and personal property 7 

and to lease real property.— 8 

(1) 9 

(b) Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph (a), under 10 

terms and conditions negotiated by the board, the board of 11 

county commissioners may is expressly authorized to: 12 

1. Negotiate the lease of an airport or seaport facility; 13 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1840 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì624254$Î624254 

 

Page 2 of 2 

4/16/2013 12:17:12 PM 595-04401-13 

2. Modify or extend an existing lease of real property for 14 

an additional term not to exceed 25 years, where the improved 15 

value of the lease has an appraised value in excess of $20 16 

million; or 17 

3. Lease a professional sports franchise facility financed 18 

by revenues received pursuant to s. 125.0104 or s. 212.20 which 19 

may include commercial development that is ancillary to the 20 

sports facility if the ancillary development property is part of 21 

or contiguous to the professional sports franchise facility; 22 

 23 

under such terms and conditions as negotiated by the board. 24 

 25 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 26 

And the title is amended as follows: 27 

Delete lines 2 - 6 28 

and insert: 29 

 30 

An act relating to development permits; amending s. 31 

125.022, F.S.; requiring counties and municipalities 32 

to attach certain disclaimers and include certain 33 

permit conditions when issuing development permits; 34 

amending s. 125.35, F.S.; providing that a county may 35 

include a commercial development that is ancillary to 36 

a professional sports facility in the lease of a 37 

sports facility; amending. s. 166.033, F.S.; 38 

conforming provisions to changes made by the act; 39 

amending chapter 2012-205, Laws 40 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1840 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì709122xÎ709122 

 

Page 1 of 7 

4/17/2013 11:27:14 AM 595-04551-13 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

04/17/2013 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Rules (Latvala) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Between lines 71 and 72 3 

insert: 4 

Section 3. Paragraph (l) of subsection (4) of section 5 

381.0065, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 6 

381.0065 Onsite sewage treatment and disposal systems; 7 

regulation.— 8 

(4) PERMITS; INSTALLATION; AND CONDITIONS.—A person may not 9 

construct, repair, modify, abandon, or operate an onsite sewage 10 

treatment and disposal system without first obtaining a permit 11 

approved by the department. The department may issue permits to 12 

carry out this section, but shall not make the issuance of such 13 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1840 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì709122xÎ709122 

 

Page 2 of 7 

4/17/2013 11:27:14 AM 595-04551-13 

permits contingent upon prior approval by the Department of 14 

Environmental Protection, except that the issuance of a permit 15 

for work seaward of the coastal construction control line 16 

established under s. 161.053 shall be contingent upon receipt of 17 

any required coastal construction control line permit from the 18 

Department of Environmental Protection. A construction permit is 19 

valid for 18 months from the issuance date and may be extended 20 

by the department for one 90-day period under rules adopted by 21 

the department. A repair permit is valid for 90 days from the 22 

date of issuance. An operating permit must be obtained prior to 23 

the use of any aerobic treatment unit or if the establishment 24 

generates commercial waste. Buildings or establishments that use 25 

an aerobic treatment unit or generate commercial waste shall be 26 

inspected by the department at least annually to assure 27 

compliance with the terms of the operating permit. The operating 28 

permit for a commercial wastewater system is valid for 1 year 29 

from the date of issuance and must be renewed annually. The 30 

operating permit for an aerobic treatment unit is valid for 2 31 

years from the date of issuance and must be renewed every 2 32 

years. If all information pertaining to the siting, location, 33 

and installation conditions or repair of an onsite sewage 34 

treatment and disposal system remains the same, a construction 35 

or repair permit for the onsite sewage treatment and disposal 36 

system may be transferred to another person, if the transferee 37 

files, within 60 days after the transfer of ownership, an 38 

amended application providing all corrected information and 39 

proof of ownership of the property. There is no fee associated 40 

with the processing of this supplemental information. A person 41 

may not contract to construct, modify, alter, repair, service, 42 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1840 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì709122xÎ709122 

 

Page 3 of 7 

4/17/2013 11:27:14 AM 595-04551-13 

abandon, or maintain any portion of an onsite sewage treatment 43 

and disposal system without being registered under part III of 44 

chapter 489. A property owner who personally performs 45 

construction, maintenance, or repairs to a system serving his or 46 

her own owner-occupied single-family residence is exempt from 47 

registration requirements for performing such construction, 48 

maintenance, or repairs on that residence, but is subject to all 49 

permitting requirements. A municipality or political subdivision 50 

of the state may not issue a building or plumbing permit for any 51 

building that requires the use of an onsite sewage treatment and 52 

disposal system unless the owner or builder has received a 53 

construction permit for such system from the department. A 54 

building or structure may not be occupied and a municipality, 55 

political subdivision, or any state or federal agency may not 56 

authorize occupancy until the department approves the final 57 

installation of the onsite sewage treatment and disposal system. 58 

A municipality or political subdivision of the state may not 59 

approve any change in occupancy or tenancy of a building that 60 

uses an onsite sewage treatment and disposal system until the 61 

department has reviewed the use of the system with the proposed 62 

change, approved the change, and amended the operating permit. 63 

(l) For the Florida Keys, the department shall adopt a 64 

special rule for the construction, installation, modification, 65 

operation, repair, maintenance, and performance of onsite sewage 66 

treatment and disposal systems which considers the unique soil 67 

conditions and water table elevations, densities, and setback 68 

requirements. On lots where a setback distance of 75 feet from 69 

surface waters, saltmarsh, and buttonwood association habitat 70 

areas cannot be met, an injection well, approved and permitted 71 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1840 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì709122xÎ709122 

 

Page 4 of 7 

4/17/2013 11:27:14 AM 595-04551-13 

by the department, may be used for disposal of effluent from 72 

onsite sewage treatment and disposal systems. The following 73 

additional requirements apply to onsite sewage treatment and 74 

disposal systems in Monroe County: 75 

1. The county, each municipality, and those special 76 

districts established for the purpose of the collection, 77 

transmission, treatment, or disposal of sewage shall ensure, in 78 

accordance with the specific schedules adopted by the 79 

Administration Commission under s. 380.0552, the completion of 80 

onsite sewage treatment and disposal system upgrades to meet the 81 

requirements of this paragraph. 82 

2. Onsite sewage treatment and disposal systems must cease 83 

discharge by December 31, 2015, or must comply with department 84 

rules and provide the level of treatment which, on a permitted 85 

annual average basis, produces an effluent that contains no more 86 

than the following concentrations: 87 

a. Biochemical Oxygen Demand (CBOD5) of 10 mg/l. 88 

b. Suspended Solids of 10 mg/l. 89 

c. Total Nitrogen, expressed as N, of 10 mg/l or a 90 

reduction in nitrogen of at least 70 percent. A system that has 91 

been tested and certified to reduce nitrogen concentration by at 92 

least 70 percent is in compliance with this standard. 93 

d. Total Phosphorus, expressed as P, of 1 mg/l. 94 

 95 

In addition, onsite sewage treatment and disposal systems 96 

discharging to an injection well must provide basic disinfection 97 

as defined by department rule. 98 

3. An area that is not scheduled to be served by a central 99 

sewer, onsite sewage treatment, and disposal systems must, by 100 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1840 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì709122xÎ709122 

 

Page 5 of 7 

4/17/2013 11:27:14 AM 595-04551-13 

December 31, 2015, comply with department rules and provide the 101 

level of treatment described in subparagraph 2. 102 

4.3. On or after July 1, 2010, all new, modified, and 103 

repaired onsite sewage treatment and disposal systems must 104 

provide the level of treatment described in subparagraph 2. 105 

However, In areas scheduled to be served by central sewer by 106 

December 31, 2015, if the property owner has paid a connection 107 

fee or assessment for connection to the central sewer system, 108 

the property owner may install a holding tank with a high-water 109 

alarm or an onsite sewage treatment and disposal system that 110 

meets may be repaired to the following minimum standards: 111 

a. The existing tanks must be pumped and inspected and 112 

certified as being watertight and free of defects in accordance 113 

with department rule; and 114 

b. A sand-lined drainfield or injection well in accordance 115 

with department rule must be installed. 116 

5.4. Onsite sewage treatment and disposal systems must be 117 

monitored for total nitrogen and total phosphorus concentrations 118 

as required by department rule. 119 

6.5. The department shall enforce proper installation, 120 

operation, and maintenance of onsite sewage treatment and 121 

disposal systems pursuant to this chapter, including ensuring 122 

that the appropriate level of treatment described in 123 

subparagraph 2. is met. 124 

7.6. The authority of a local government, including a 125 

special district, to mandate connection of an onsite sewage 126 

treatment and disposal system is governed by s. 4, chapter 99-127 

395, Laws of Florida. 128 

8. Notwithstanding any other provision of law, an onsite 129 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1840 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì709122xÎ709122 

 

Page 6 of 7 

4/17/2013 11:27:14 AM 595-04551-13 

sewage treatment and disposal system installed after July 1, 130 

2010, in unincorporated Monroe County, excluding special 131 

wastewater districts, which complies with the standards in 132 

subparagraph 2., is not required to connect to a central sewer 133 

system until December 31, 2020. 134 

Section 4. For areas to be served by central sewer systems 135 

by December 2015 within the Florida Keys Area of Critical State 136 

Concern, any building permit and any permit issued by the 137 

Department of Environmental Protection or by a water management 138 

district pursuant to part IV of chapter 373, Florida Statutes, 139 

which expires January 1, 2012, through January 1, 2016, is 140 

extended and renewed for 3 years. This extension includes any 141 

local government-issued development order or local government-142 

issued building permit, including certificates of levels of 143 

service. This section does not prohibit conversion from the 144 

construction phase to the operation phase upon completion of 145 

construction and is in addition to any permit extension. 146 

Extensions granted under this section; s. 14, chapter 2009-96, 147 

Laws of Florida, as amended by s. 47, ch. 2010-147, Laws of 148 

Florida; s. 46, chapter 2010-147, Laws of Florida; s. 74, 149 

chapter 2011-139, Laws of Florida; s. 79, chapter 2011-139, Laws 150 

of Florida, may not exceed 7 years. Specific development order 151 

extensions granted pursuant to s. 380.06(19)(c)2., Florida 152 

Statutes, may not be further extended by this section. This 153 

section applies only in unincorporated Monroe County, excluding 154 

special wastewater districts. 155 

 156 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 157 

And the title is amended as follows: 158 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 1840 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì709122xÎ709122 

 

Page 7 of 7 

4/17/2013 11:27:14 AM 595-04551-13 

Delete line 6 159 

and insert: 160 

development permits; amending s. 381.0065, F.S.; 161 

revising treatment standards for onsite sewage and 162 

disposal systems in Monroe County; requiring areas in 163 

Monroe County not served by certain sewage and 164 

disposal systems to comply with specified rules and 165 

standards; deleting a requirement for new, modified, 166 

and repaired systems in Monroe County to meet 167 

specified standards; authorizing certain property 168 

owners in Monroe County to install certain tanks and 169 

systems; providing that certain systems in Monroe 170 

County are not required to connect to the central 171 

sewer system until a specified date; providing an 172 

extension and renewal of certain permits issued by the 173 

Department of Environmental Protection or by a water 174 

management district for areas to be served by central 175 

sewer systems within the Florida Keys Area of Critical 176 

State Concern; providing that certain extensions may 177 

not exceed a specified number of years; prohibiting 178 

certain extensions; providing for applicability; 179 

amending chapter 2012-205, Laws 180 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1840 

 

 

 

By the Committees on Community Affairs; and Military and 

Veterans Affairs, Space, and Domestic Security 

 

 

 

578-04000-13 20131840c1 

Page 1 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to development permits; amending ss. 2 

125.022 and 166.033, F.S.; requiring counties and 3 

municipalities to attach certain disclaimers and 4 

include certain permit conditions when issuing 5 

development permits; amending chapter 2012-205, Laws 6 

of Florida; revising the deadline for the holder of 7 

certain permits to notify the authorizing agency of 8 

automatic extension eligibility; providing an 9 

effective date. 10 

 11 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 12 

 13 

Section 1. Section 125.022, Florida Statutes, is amended to 14 

read: 15 

125.022 Development permits.—When a county denies an 16 

application for a development permit, the county shall give 17 

written notice to the applicant. The notice must include a 18 

citation to the applicable portions of an ordinance, rule, 19 

statute, or other legal authority for the denial of the permit. 20 

As used in this section, the term “development permit” has the 21 

same meaning as in s. 163.3164. For any development permit 22 

application filed with the county after July 1, 2012, a county 23 

may not require as a condition of processing or issuing a 24 

development permit that an applicant obtain a permit or approval 25 

from any state or federal agency unless the agency has issued a 26 

final agency action that denies the federal or state permit 27 

before the county action on the local development permit. 28 

Issuance of a development permit by a county does not in any way 29 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1840 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

578-04000-13 20131840c1 

Page 2 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

create any rights on the part of the applicant to obtain a 30 

permit from a state or federal agency and does not create any 31 

liability on the part of the county for issuance of the permit 32 

if the applicant fails to obtain requisite approvals or fulfill 33 

the obligations imposed by a state or federal agency or 34 

undertakes actions that result in a violation of state or 35 

federal law. A county shall may attach such a disclaimer to the 36 

issuance of a development permit and shall may include a permit 37 

condition that all other applicable state or federal permits be 38 

obtained before commencement of the development. This section 39 

does not prohibit a county from providing information to an 40 

applicant regarding what other state or federal permits may 41 

apply. 42 

Section 2. Section 166.033, Florida Statutes, is amended to 43 

read: 44 

166.033 Development permits.—When a municipality denies an 45 

application for a development permit, the municipality shall 46 

give written notice to the applicant. The notice must include a 47 

citation to the applicable portions of an ordinance, rule, 48 

statute, or other legal authority for the denial of the permit. 49 

As used in this section, the term “development permit” has the 50 

same meaning as in s. 163.3164. For any development permit 51 

application filed with the municipality after July 1, 2012, a 52 

municipality may not require as a condition of processing or 53 

issuing a development permit that an applicant obtain a permit 54 

or approval from any state or federal agency unless the agency 55 

has issued a final agency action that denies the federal or 56 

state permit before the municipal action on the local 57 

development permit. Issuance of a development permit by a 58 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1840 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

578-04000-13 20131840c1 

Page 3 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

municipality does not in any way create any right on the part of 59 

an applicant to obtain a permit from a state or federal agency 60 

and does not create any liability on the part of the 61 

municipality for issuance of the permit if the applicant fails 62 

to obtain requisite approvals or fulfill the obligations imposed 63 

by a state or federal agency or undertakes actions that result 64 

in a violation of state or federal law. A municipality shall may 65 

attach such a disclaimer to the issuance of development permits 66 

and shall may include a permit condition that all other 67 

applicable state or federal permits be obtained before 68 

commencement of the development. This section does not prohibit 69 

a municipality from providing information to an applicant 70 

regarding what other state or federal permits may apply. 71 

Section 3. Subsection (3) of section 24 of chapter 2012-72 

205, Laws of Florida, is amended to read: 73 

Section 24. (3) The holder of a valid permit or other 74 

authorization that is eligible for the 2-year extension must 75 

notify the authorizing agency in writing by October 1, 2013 76 

December 31, 2012, identifying the specific authorization for 77 

which the holder intends to use the extension and the 78 

anticipated timeframe for acting on the authorization. 79 

Section 4. This act shall take effect July 1, 2013. 80 



FLORIDA

Meeting Date

APP A II C 
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Address

Bill Number

Amendment Barcode
(if applicable)

(if applicable)

Phone

City

Speaking:    ~] For [---] Against

Representing ~’~’~ \l i~(~’~ O~

at request of Chair: [] Yes ~ NoAppearing

State Zip

[--] Information

Lobbyist registered with Legislature: ~ Yes [~] No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting, s-001 (10/20/1 I)



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Rules 

 

BILL:  CS/SB 712 

INTRODUCER:  Rules Committee and Senator Latvala 

SUBJECT:  Fallen Law Enforcement Officers License Plates 

DATE:  April 19, 2013 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Everette  Eichin  TR  Favorable 

2. Everette  Phelps  RC  Fav/CS 

3.     ATD   

4.     AP   

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... X Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

CS/SB 712 creates the Fallen Law Enforcement Officers specialty license plate. The bill: 

 

 Sets a $25 annual use fee for the plate; 

 Allows the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles (department, DHSMV) to 

develop the license plate, including colors and design;  

 Requires that the word “Florida” must appear at the top of the plate and the words “A Hero 

Remembered Never Dies” must appear at the bottom; 

 Establishes that the annual use fee be distributed to the Police and Kids Foundation, Inc.; and 

 Clarifies exemptions for the Fallen Law Enforcement Officers specialty license plate from 

the current moratorium for the issuance of new specialty license plates, the $60,000 

application fee which defrays the cost for developing the plate, from providing a marketing 

strategy outline, but maintaining the 1,000 pre-sale requirement of the plates.  

 

This bill substantially amends, ss. 320.08056 and 320.08058 of the Florida Statutes. 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/SB 712   Page 2 

 

II. Present Situation: 

Specialty License Plates 

Specialty license plates are available to any owner or lessee of a motor vehicle who is willing to 

pay an annual use fee for the privilege. Annual use fees ranging from $15 to $25, paid in addition 

to required license taxes and service fees, are distributed to an organization in support of a 

particular cause or charity signified in the plate’s design and designated in statute. The 

Legislature may create a specialty license plate under its own initiative or it can do so at the 

request of an organization. 

 

The sponsoring organization wishing to receive a specialty license plate is required to comply 

with the requirements of s. 320.0853, F.S., which include: 

 

 describing the proposed specialty license, and submit a sample plate that conforms to the 

specifications set by the department. 

 paying the $60,000 processing fee which defrays the department’s cost for reviewing the 

application and developing the specialty license plate, if authorized. 

 providing a marketing strategy outlining short-term and long-term marketing plans and a 

projected financial analysis outlining the anticipated and planned revenues from the sale of 

the requested specialty license plate. 

 

The approved specialty license plate organization must presell a minimum of 1,000 vouchers 

within 24 months before the department can begin manufacturing the specialty license plate. If, 

at the end of the 24-month presale period, the minimum sales requirements have not been met, 

the department will de-authorize the specialty plate, discontinue development, and discontinue 

issuance of the presale voucher. 

 

Currently, there is a moratorium on the issuance of new specialty license plates. Section 45, Ch. 

2008-176, L.O.F., as amended by s. 21, Ch. 2010-223, L.O.F., provides that “[e]except for a 

specialty license plate proposal which has submitted a letter of intent to the Department of 

Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles prior to May 2, 2008, and which has submitted a valid 

survey, marketing strategy, and application fee as required by s. 320.08053, F. S., prior to 

October 1, 2008, or which was included in a bill filed during the 2008 Legislative Session, the 

Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles may not issue any new specialty license 

plates pursuant to ss. 320.08056 and 320.08058, F.S., between July 1, 2008, and July 1, 2014.” 

 

Fallen Law Enforcement Officers 

On average, one law enforcement officer is killed in the line of duty somewhere in the United 

States every 56 hours. Since the first known line-of-duty death in 1791, more than 19,000 U.S. 

law enforcement officers have made the ultimate sacrifice.
1
 The Memorial Fund serves as a 

nationwide clearinghouse of information and statistics on law enforcement line-of-duty deaths. 

 

Police and Kids Foundation, Inc. 

                                                 
1
 http://www.nleomf.org/facts/ (last visited on 3/19/2013) 



BILL: CS/SB 712   Page 3 

 

The Police and Kids Foundation, Inc.,
2
 is a non-profit 501(C) 3 charity, set up with two 

objectives: helping children in need, and creating the yearly scholarship to at least one senior 

student at Pinellas Park High School Criminal Justice Academy. 

 

The Police and Kids Foundation, Inc., generate funding to assist children in and around the 

Tampa Bay community. Local police officers provide assistance of food, infant supplies, 

clothing, and any other measures necessary to stabilize a situation and improve child’s life. 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

The bill provides that the department shall develop the Fallen Law Enforcement Officers 

specialty license plate, notwithstanding section 45 of 2008-176, Laws of Florida, as amended by 

section 21 of ch. 2010-223, Laws of Florida, and s. 320.08053(1), F.S. The license plate does 

however, have to be approved by the department and meet the presell requirements of 

subsections 2 and 3 of the bill. The organization has 24 months after departmental approval to 

presell 1,000 vouchers. In developing the Fallen Law Enforcement Officers specialty license 

plate, the department must approve the colors and design; the word “Florida” must appear at the 

top of the plate, and the words “a Hero Remembered Never Dies” at the bottom of the plate. 

 

Drivers can purchase the specialty plate upon payment of the appropriate license taxes and fees 

and the $25 annual use fee. 

 

Additionally, the bill allows that a maximum of 10 percent of the use fee proceeds collected from 

the sale of the Fallen Law Enforcement Officers specialty license plates be distributed to the 

Police and Kids Foundation, Inc., and may be used to promote and market the plate. The 

remainder of the proceeds received by the Police and Kids Foundation, Inc., may be used for 

operational purposes. 

 

The bill has an effective date of October 1, 2013. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

                                                 
2
 http://www.policeandkids.com/about/ (last visited on 3/19/2013) 



BILL: CS/SB 712   Page 4 

 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

Persons who purchase the Fallen Law Enforcement Officers specialty license plate will 

pay the $25 annual use fee. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

The department’s Information Systems Administration Office will require approximately 

88 hours, non-recurring, in order to develop, design, manufacture, distribute the specialty 

license plate, and implement the provisions of this bill. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None.  

VII. Related Issues: 

None.  

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS by Rules on April 17, 2013: 

The bill clarifies exemptions of certain requirements that are not necessary for the 

department to create and develop the Fallen Law Enforcement Officers specialty license 

plate. The department will distribute the $25 use fees received from the sale of the license 

plates to the Police and Kids Foundation, Inc., and allows that a maximum of 10 percent 

of those funds be used for the Foundation’s operations. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 712 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì901884AÎ901884 

 

Page 1 of 3 

4/17/2013 10:29:46 AM TR.RC.04533 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: WD 

04/17/2013 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Rules (Latvala) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete everything after the enacting clause 3 

and insert: 4 

Section 1. Paragraph (aaaa) is added to subsection (4) of 5 

section 320.08056, Florida Statutes, to read: 6 

320.08056 Specialty license plates.— 7 

(4) The following license plate annual use fees shall be 8 

collected for the appropriate specialty license plates: 9 

(aaaa) Fallen Law Enforcement Officers license plate, $25.  10 

Section 2. Subsection (79) is added to section 320.08058, 11 

Florida Statutes, to read: 12 

320.08058 Specialty license plates.— 13 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 712 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì901884AÎ901884 

 

Page 2 of 3 

4/17/2013 10:29:46 AM TR.RC.04533 

(79) FALLEN LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS LICENSE PLATES.— 14 

(a) Notwithstanding section 45 of 2010-223, Laws of 15 

Florida, and s. 320.08053(1), the department shall develop a 16 

Fallen Law Enforcement Officers license plate as provided in s. 17 

320.08053(2) and (3), and this section. The plates must bear the 18 

colors and design approved by the department. The word “Florida” 19 

must appear at the top of the plate, and the words “A Hero 20 

Remembered Never Dies” must appear at the bottom of the plate. 21 

(b) The license plate annual use fees shall be distributed 22 

to the Police and Kids Foundation, Inc., which may use a maximum 23 

of 10 percent of the proceeds to promote and market the plate. 24 

The remainder of the proceeds shall be used by the Police and 25 

Kids Foundation, Inc., to invest and reinvest and use the 26 

interest for the operation of the Police and Kids Foundation, 27 

Inc. 28 

Section 3. This act shall take effect October 1, 2013. 29 

 30 

 31 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 32 

And the title is amended as follows: 33 

Delete everything before the enacting clause 34 

and insert: 35 

A bill to be entitled 36 

An act relating to specialty license plates; amending ss. 37 

320.08056 and 320.08058, F.S.,; creating a Fallen Law 38 

Enforcement Officers license plate; establishing an annual use 39 

fee for the plate; providing for the distribution of use fees 40 

received from the sale of such plates; providing an effective 41 

date. 42 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 712 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì901884AÎ901884 

 

Page 3 of 3 

4/17/2013 10:29:46 AM TR.RC.04533 

 43 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 712 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì895022{Î895022 

 

Page 1 of 3 

4/17/2013 11:41:51 AM TR.RC.04549 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

04/17/2013 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Rules (Latvala) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete everything after the enacting clause 3 

and insert: 4 

Section 1. Paragraph (aaaa) is added to subsection (4) of 5 

section 320.08056, Florida Statutes, to read: 6 

320.08056 Specialty license plates.— 7 

(4) The following license plate annual use fees shall be 8 

collected for the appropriate specialty license plates: 9 

(aaaa) Fallen Law Enforcement Officers license plate, $25.  10 

Section 2. Subsection (79) is added to section 320.08058, 11 

Florida Statutes, to read: 12 

320.08058 Specialty license plates.— 13 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 712 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì895022{Î895022 

 

Page 2 of 3 

4/17/2013 11:41:51 AM TR.RC.04549 

(79) FALLEN LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS LICENSE PLATES.— 14 

(a) Notwithstanding section 45 of 2008-176, Laws of 15 

Florida, as amended by section 21 of ch. 2010-223, Laws of 16 

Florida, and s. 320.08053(1), the department shall develop a 17 

Fallen Law Enforcement Officers license plate as provided in s. 18 

320.08053(2) and (3), and this section. The plates must bear the 19 

colors and design approved by the department. The word “Florida” 20 

must appear at the top of the plate, and the words “A Hero 21 

Remembered Never Dies” must appear at the bottom of the plate. 22 

(b) The license plate annual use fees shall be distributed 23 

to the Police and Kids Foundation, Inc., which may use a maximum 24 

of 10 percent of the proceeds to promote and market the plate. 25 

The remainder of the proceeds shall be used by the Police and 26 

Kids Foundation, Inc., to invest and reinvest and use the 27 

interest for the operation of the Police and Kids Foundation, 28 

Inc. 29 

Section 3. This act shall take effect October 1, 2013. 30 

 31 

 32 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 33 

And the title is amended as follows: 34 

Delete everything before the enacting clause 35 

and insert: 36 

A bill to be entitled 37 

An act relating to specialty license plates; amending ss. 38 

320.08056 and 320.08058, F.S.,; creating a Fallen Law 39 

Enforcement Officers license plate; establishing an annual use 40 

fee for the plate; providing for the distribution of use fees 41 

received from the sale of such plates; providing an effective 42 



Florida Senate - 2013 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 712 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì895022{Î895022 

 

Page 3 of 3 

4/17/2013 11:41:51 AM TR.RC.04549 

date. 43 

 44 



Florida Senate - 2013 SB 712 

 

 

 

By Senator Latvala 

 

 

 

 

20-00448-13 2013712__ 

Page 1 of 1 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to specialty license plates; amending 2 

ss. 320.08056 and 320.08058, F.S.; creating a Fallen 3 

Law Enforcement Officers license plate; establishing 4 

an annual use fee for the plate; providing for the 5 

distribution of use fees received from the sale of 6 

such plates; providing an effective date. 7 

 8 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 9 

 10 

Section 1. Paragraph (aaaa) is added to subsection (4) of 11 

section 320.08056, Florida Statutes, to read: 12 

320.08056 Specialty license plates.— 13 

(4) The following license plate annual use fees shall be 14 

collected for the appropriate specialty license plates: 15 

(aaaa) Fallen Law Enforcement Officers license plate, $25. 16 

Section 2. Subsection (79) is added to section 320.08058, 17 

Florida Statutes, to read: 18 

320.08058 Specialty license plates.— 19 

(79) FALLEN LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS LICENSE PLATES.— 20 

(a) The department shall develop a Fallen Law Enforcement 21 

Officers license plate as provided in this section. The plates 22 

must bear the colors and design approved by the department. The 23 

word “Florida” must appear at the top of the plate, and the 24 

words “A Hero Remembered Never Dies” must appear at the bottom 25 

of the plate. 26 

(b) The license plate annual use fees shall be distributed 27 

to the Police and Kids Foundation, Inc. 28 

Section 3. This act shall take effect July 1, 2014. 29 



SENATOR JACK LATVALA
20th District

THE FLORIDA SENATE
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1100

COMMITTEES:
Ethics and Elections, Chair
Appropriations
Appropriations Subcommittee on General

Government
Appropriations Subcommittee on Transportation,

Tourism, and Economic Development
Community Affairs
Environmental Preservation and Conservation
Gaming
Judiciary
Rules

March 21, 2013

The Honorable John Thrasher, Chairman
Senate Rules Committee
404 S. Monroe St., 402S
Tallahassee, FL 32399-1100

Dear Chairman Thrasher:

2013

I respectfully request that my bill, SB 712/Fallen Law Enforcement Officers License Plates, be
placed on the agenda of the Senate Rules Committee at the earliest possible time. The bill was
favorably considered by the Senate Transportation Committee on March 21.

This bill will create a specialty license plate to honor law enforcement officers that are killed in
the line of duty. Proceeds from the annual fee of $25 per tag will benefit the Police and Kids
Foundation, Inc. which is a non-profit charity that assists children that are victims of crimes.

Please contact me if you have any questions regarding this request. I appreciate your
consideration.

Jack Latw
State Senator
District 20

JL:tc

CC: John Phelps, Staff Director

REPLY TO:
~l 26133 U.S. Highway 19 North, Suite 201, Clearwater, Florida 33763 (727) 793-2797 FAX: (727) 793-2799
[] 408 Senate Office Building, 404 South Monroe Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1100 (850) 487-5020

Senate’s Website: www.flsenate.gov

DON GAETZ GARRETT RICHTER
President of the Senate President Pro Tempore



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Rules 

 

BILL:  CS/SB 1260 

INTRODUCER:  Committee on Ethics and Elections and Senator Ring 

SUBJECT:  Public Records 

DATE:  April 12, 2013 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Carlton  Roberts  EE  Fav/CS 

2. Naf  McVaney  GO  Favorable 

3. Carlton  Phelps  RC  Favorable 

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... x Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

CS/SB 1260 is the public records exemption bill that is linked to SB 1352. SB 1352 requires the 

uniform statewide voter registration application to include a field for a voter registration 

applicant’s e-mail address. Current law does not provide a public record exemption for the e-

mail address of a voter or voter registration applicant. 

 

This bill provides that the e-mail address of a voter registration applicant or a voter is 

confidential and exempt from public record requirements. 

 

The bill provides for repeal of the exemption on October 2, 2018, unless reviewed and saved 

from repeal by the Legislature. It also provides a statement of public necessity as required by the 

State Constitution. 

 

Because this bill creates a new public records exemption, it requires a two-thirds vote of the 

members present and voting in each house of the Legislature for final passage. 

 

This bill substantially amends section 97.0585, Florida Statutes. 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/SB 1260   Page 2 

 

II. Present Situation: 

Public Records Laws 

The State Constitution provides every person the right to inspect or copy any public record made 

or received in connection with the official business of any public body, officer, or employee of 

the state, or of persons acting on their behalf.
1
 The records of the legislative, executive, and 

judicial branches are specifically included.
2
  

 

The Florida Statutes also specify conditions under which public access must be provided to 

government records. The Public Records Act
3
 guarantees every person’s right to inspect and 

copy any state or local government public record
4
 at any reasonable time, under reasonable 

conditions, and under supervision by the custodian of the public record.
5
  

 

Only the Legislature may create an exemption to public records requirements.
6
 Such an 

exemption must be created by general law and must specifically state the public necessity 

justifying the exemption.
7
 Further, the exemption must be no broader than necessary to 

accomplish the stated purpose of the law. A bill enacting an exemption may not contain other 

substantive provisions
8
 and must pass by a two-thirds vote of the members present and voting in 

each house of the Legislature.
9
 

 

The Open Government Sunset Review Act (the Act) prescribes a legislative review process for 

newly created or substantially amended public records or open meetings exemptions.
10

 It 

                                                 
1
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(a). 

2
 Id. 

3
 Chapter 119, F.S. 

4
 Section 119.011(12), F.S., defines “public records” to mean “all documents, papers, letters, maps, books, tapes, 

photographs, films, sound recordings, data processing software, or other material, regardless of the physical form, 

characteristics, or means of transmission, made or received pursuant to law or ordinance or in connection with the transaction 

of official business by any agency.” Section 119.011(2), F.S., defines “agency” to mean as “any state, county, district, 

authority, or municipal officer, department, division, board, bureau, commission, or other separate unit of government created 

or established by law including, for the purposes of this chapter, the Commission on Ethics, the Public Service Commission, 

and the Office of Public Counsel, and any other public or private agency, person, partnership, corporation, or business entity 

acting on behalf of any public agency.” The Public Records Act does not apply to legislative or judicial records (see Locke v. 

Hawkes, 595 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1992)). 
5
 Section 119.07(1)(a), F.S. 

6
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). There is a difference between records the Legislature designates as exempt from public records 

requirements and those the Legislature designates confidential and exempt. A record classified as exempt from public 

disclosure may be disclosed under certain circumstances (see WFTV, Inc. v. The School Board of Seminole, 874 So.2d 48 

(Fla. 5th DCA 2004), review denied 892 So.2d 1015 (Fla. 2004); City of Riviera Beach v. Barfield, 642 So.2d 1135 (Fla. 4th 

DCA 2004); and Williams v. City of Minneola, 575 So.2d 687 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). If the Legislature designates a record as 

confidential and exempt from public disclosure, such record may not be released, by the custodian of public records, to 

anyone other than the persons or entities specifically designated in the statutory exemption (see Attorney General Opinion 

85-62, August 1, 1985). 
7
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). 

8
 The bill may, however, contain multiple exemptions that relate to one subject. 

9
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). 

10
 Section 119.15, F.S. An exemption is substantially amended if the amendment expands the scope of the exemption to 

include more records or information or to include meetings as well as records (s. 119.15(4)(b), F.S.). The requirements of the 

Act do not apply to an exemption that is required by federal law or that applies solely to the Legislature or the State Court 

System (s. 119.15(2), F.S.). 



BILL: CS/SB 1260   Page 3 

 

requires the automatic repeal of such exemption on October 2nd of the fifth year after creation or 

substantial amendment, unless the Legislature reenacts the exemption.
11

 The Act provides that a 

public records or open meetings exemption may be created or maintained only if it serves an 

identifiable public purpose and is no broader than is necessary to meet such public purpose.
12

 

 

Voter Registration 

Current law requires the Department of State to prescribe by rule a uniform statewide voter 

registration application.
13

 The application must elicit certain information from the voter 

applicant, such as the applicant’s name, date of birth, and address of legal residence.
14

 

 

Public Record Exemption for Voter Registration Information 

Current law also provides a public record exemption for certain information held by an agency
15

 

for purposes of voter registration.
16

 Specifically, the following information is confidential and 

exempt
17

 from public record requirements: 

 All declinations to register to vote made pursuant to ss. 97.057 and 97.058, F.S. 

 Information relating to the place where a person registered to vote or where a person updated 

a voter registration. 

 The social security number, driver’s license number, and Florida identification number of a 

voter registration applicant or voter. 

 

In addition, the signature of a voter registration applicant or a voter is exempt from copying 

requirements.
18

 

 

The public record exemption applies to information held by an agency before, on, or after the 

effective date of the exemption.
19

 

 

                                                 
11

 Section 119.15(3), F.S. 
12

 Section 119.15(6)(b), F.S. 
13

 Section 97.052(1), F.S. 
14

 Section 97.052(2), F.S. 
15

 The exemption applies to information held by an agency as defined in s. 119.011, F.S. Section 119.011(2), F.S., defines 

“agency” to mean “any state, county, district, authority, or municipal officer, department, division, board, bureau, 

commission or other separate unit of government created or established by law including, for the purposes of this chapter, the 

Commission on Ethics, the Public Service Commission, and the Office of Public Counsel, and any other public or private 

agency, person, partnership, corporation, or business entity acting on behalf of any public agency.” 
16

 Section 97.0585, F.S. 
17

 There is a difference between records the Legislature designates as exempt from public record requirements and those the 

Legislature deems confidential and exempt. A record classified as exempt from public disclosure may be disclosed under 

certain circumstances. (See WFTV, Inc. v. The School Board of Seminole, 874 So.2d 48, 53 (Fla. 5
th

 DCA 2004), review 

denied 892 So.2d 1015 (Fla. 2004); City of Riviera Beach v. Barfield, 642 So.2d 1135 (Fla. 4
th

 DCA 1994); Williams v. City 

of Minneola, 575 So.2d 687 (Fla. 5
th

 DCA 1991). If the Legislature designates a record as confidential and exempt from 

public disclosure, such record may not be released, by the custodian of public records, to anyone other than the persons or 

entities specifically designated in the statutory exemption. (See Attorney General Opinion 85-62, August 1, 1985). 
18

 Section 97.0585(2), F.S. 
19

 Section 97.0585(4), F.S. 



BILL: CS/SB 1260   Page 4 

 

SB 1352 (linked to this bill) 

SB 1352 requires the uniform statewide voter registration application to include a field for a 

voter registration applicant’s email address and an indication of whether the applicant wishes to 

receive sample ballots by e-mail. 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

This bill expands the current public record exemption for voter registration information. It 

provides that the e-mail address of a voter registration applicant or voter is confidential and 

exempt from public record requirements. 

 

Current law provides for retroactive application of the public record exemption for voter 

registration information.
20

 

 

The bill provides that the exemption is subject to the Open Government Sunset Review Act and 

will repeal on October 2, 2018, unless reviewed and reenacted by the Legislature. 

 

The bill provides a statement of public necessity as required by the State Constitution. 

 

The bill provides that the exemption will take effect on the same date as Senate Bill 1352 or 

similar legislation if such legislation is adopted in the same legislative session, or an extension 

thereof, and becomes law. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

Not applicable. Article VII, s. 18(d) of the State Constitution provides that election laws 

are exempt from the Municipality/County Mandates restrictions. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

D. Other Constitutional Issues: 

Vote Requirement 

 

Article I, s. 24(c) of the State Constitution requires a two-thirds vote of the members 

present and voting for final passage of a newly created or expanded public record or 

                                                 
20

 The Florida Supreme Court has ruled that a public record exemption may be applied retroactively only if the enacting 

legislation clearly express intent that such exemption is to be applied retroactively (Memorial Hospital-West Volusia, Inc. v. 

News-Journal Corporation, 729 So.2d 373 (Fla. 2001). 



BILL: CS/SB 1260   Page 5 

 

public meeting exemption. The bill expands the current public record exemption for voter 

information; thus, it requires a two-thirds vote for final passage. 

 

Public Necessity Statement  

 

Article I, s. 24(c) of the State Constitution requires a public necessity statement for a 

newly created or expanded public record or public meeting exemption. The bill expands 

the current public record exemption for voter information; thus, it includes a public 

necessity statement. 

 

Breadth of Exemption 

 

Article I, s. 24(c) of the State Constitution requires a newly created public record or 

public meeting exemption to be no broader than necessary to accomplish the stated 

purpose of the law. The bill creates a public record exemption limited to the email 

address of a voter or voter registration applicant. The exemption does not appear to be in 

conflict with the constitutional requirement that the exemption be no broader than 

necessary to accomplish its purpose. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

None. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

The bill likely could create a minimal fiscal impact on agencies, because staff responsible 

for complying with public record requests could require training related to expansion of 

the public record exemption. In addition, those agencies could incur costs associated with 

redacting confidential and exempt information prior to releasing a record. The costs, 

however, would be absorbed, as they are part of the day-to-day responsibilities of the 

agency. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None.  



BILL: CS/SB 1260   Page 6 

 

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS by Ethics and Elections on March 11, 2013: 

The CS differs from the original bill in that it provides that the effective date of this 

provision is the same date that SB 1352 or similar legislation takes effect, if such 

legislation is adopted in the same legislative session or extension thereof and becomes 

law. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1260 

 

 

 

By the Committee on Ethics and Elections; and Senator Ring 

 

 

 

 

582-02220-13 20131260c1 

Page 1 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to public records; amending s. 2 

97.0585, F.S.; providing an exemption from public 3 

records requirements for the e-mail addresses of voter 4 

registration applicants and voters; providing for 5 

future legislative review and repeal of the exemption 6 

under the Open Government Sunset Review Act; providing 7 

a statement of public necessity; providing an 8 

effective date. 9 

 10 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 11 

 12 

Section 1. Section 97.0585, Florida Statutes, is amended to 13 

read: 14 

97.0585 Public records exemption; information regarding 15 

voters and voter registration; confidentiality.— 16 

(1) The following information held by an agency as defined 17 

in s. 119.011 is confidential and exempt from s. 119.07(1) and 18 

s. 24(a), Art. I of the State Constitution and may be used only 19 

for purposes of voter registration: 20 

(a) All declinations to register to vote made pursuant to 21 

ss. 97.057 and 97.058. 22 

(b) Information relating to the place where a person 23 

registered to vote or where a person updated a voter 24 

registration. 25 

(c) The social security number, driver’s license number, 26 

and Florida identification number of a voter registration 27 

applicant or voter. 28 

(d) The e-mail address of a voter registration applicant or 29 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1260 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

582-02220-13 20131260c1 

Page 2 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

voter. 30 

(2) The signature of a voter registration applicant or a 31 

voter is exempt from the copying requirements of s. 119.07(1) 32 

and s. 24(a), Art. I of the State Constitution. 33 

(3) The names, addresses, and telephone numbers of persons 34 

who are victims of stalking or aggravated stalking are exempt 35 

from s. 119.071(1) and s. 24(a), Art. I of the State 36 

Constitution in the same manner that the names, addresses, and 37 

telephone numbers of participants in the Address Confidentiality 38 

Program for Victims of Domestic Violence which are held by the 39 

Attorney General under s. 741.465 are exempt from disclosure, 40 

provided that the victim files a sworn statement of stalking 41 

with the Office of the Attorney General and otherwise complies 42 

with the procedures in ss. 741.401-741.409. 43 

(4) This section applies to information held by an agency 44 

before, on, or after the effective date of this exemption. 45 

(5)(a) Subsection (3) is subject to the Open Government 46 

Sunset Review Act in accordance with s. 119.15 and shall stand 47 

repealed on October 2, 2015, unless reviewed and saved from 48 

repeal through reenactment by the Legislature. 49 

(b) Paragraph (1)(d) is subject to the Open Government 50 

Sunset Review Act in accordance with s. 119.15 and shall stand 51 

repealed on October 2, 2018, unless reviewed and saved from 52 

repeal through reenactment by the Legislature. 53 

Section 2. The Legislature finds that it is a public 54 

necessity that the e-mail address of a voter registration 55 

applicant or voter that is held by an agency be made 56 

confidential and exempt from public record requirements. E-mail 57 

addresses are personal information that could be misused and 58 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1260 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

582-02220-13 20131260c1 

Page 3 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

could result in voter fraud if released. A voter may request an 59 

absentee ballot using an e-mail address. Public access to that 60 

e-mail address could make others aware of those voters intending 61 

to vote using an absentee ballot and could result in 62 

confiscation and misuse of a mailed absentee ballot by a person 63 

other than the registered voter before the registered voter 64 

receives the requested absentee ballot. In addition, collection 65 

of the e-mail address of a voter registration applicant or a 66 

registered voter would allow the supervisors of elections to 67 

send sample ballots electronically, thereby saving counties 68 

money. If a voter registration applicant or a registered voter 69 

knows that his or her e-mail address is subject to public 70 

disclosure, he or she may be less willing to provide the address 71 

to the supervisor of elections. Accordingly, the effective and 72 

efficient administration of a government program would be 73 

significantly impaired. 74 

Section 3. This act shall take effect on the same date that 75 

SB 1352 or similar legislation takes effect, if such legislation 76 

is adopted in the same legislative session or an extension 77 

thereof and becomes law. 78 



(Deliver BOTH copies o[ this [orm to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Topic

Name

Job Title

Bill Number

Amendment Barcode
(if applicable)

(if applicable)

Address
Street

city

Speaking:

State Zip

[~"~r [--] Against ~] Information

Phone

E-mail

Representing

Appearing at request of Chair: [~] Yes [-~’~~ Lobbyist registered with Legislature: [-~?es [] No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to fimit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting, s-ool (lO/2O/11 )



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Rules  

 

BILL:  SB 1800 

INTRODUCER:  Committee on Governmental Oversight and Accountability  

SUBJECT:  OGSR/Employment Discrimination Complaints 

DATE:  April 5, 2013 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Naf  McVaney    go SPB 7124 as introduced 

2. Naf  Phelps  RC  Favorable 

3.        

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

I. Summary: 

SB 1800 is the result of an Open Government Sunset Review by the Governmental Oversight 

and Accountability Committee. 

 

Current law provides a temporary public records exemption for all complaints and related 

records, held by any agency, that relate to a complaint of discrimination relating to race, color, 

religion, sex, national origin, age, handicap, or marital status in connection with certain hiring 

and employment practices. This part of the exemption expires when one of specified conditions 

occurs.  

 

When the alleged victim chooses not to file a complaint and requests that records of the 

complaint remain confidential, all records relating to an allegation of employment discrimination 

are confidential and exempt from public disclosure requirements. This part of the exemption 

does not expire. 

 

Pursuant to the Open Government Sunset Review Act, the exemption will repeal on October 2, 

2013, unless reenacted by the Legislature. This bill reenacts the exemption and makes clarifying 

changes. 

 

The bill does not expand the scope of the public records exemption; therefore, a two-thirds vote 

of the members present and voting in each house of the Legislature is not required for passage.  

 

This bill amends section 119.071 of the Florida Statutes. 

REVISED:         



BILL: SB 1800   Page 2 

 

II. Present Situation: 

Public Records Laws 

The Florida Constitution provides every person the right to inspect or copy any public record 

made or received in connection with the official business of any public body, officer, or 

employee of the state, or of persons acting on their behalf.
1
 The records of the legislative, 

executive, and judicial branches are specifically included.
2
  

 

The Florida Statutes also specify conditions under which public access must be provided to 

government records. The Public Records Act
3
 guarantees every person’s right to inspect and 

copy any state or local government public record
4
 at any reasonable time, under reasonable 

conditions, and under supervision by the custodian of the public record.
5
  

 

Only the Legislature may create an exemption to public records requirements.
6
 Such an 

exemption must be created by general law and must specifically state the public necessity 

justifying the exemption.
7
 Further, the exemption must be no broader than necessary to 

accomplish the stated purpose of the law. A bill enacting an exemption may not contain other 

substantive provisions
8
 and must pass by a two-thirds vote of the members present and voting in 

each house of the Legislature.
9
 

 

Open Government Sunset Review Act 

The Open Government Sunset Review Act (the Act) prescribes a legislative review process for 

newly created or substantially amended public records or open meetings exemptions.
10

 It 

                                                 
1
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(a). 

2
 Id. 

3
 Chapter 119, F.S. 

4
 Section 119.011(12), F.S., defines “public records” to mean “all documents, papers, letters, maps, books, tapes, 

photographs, films, sound recordings, data processing software, or other material, regardless of the physical form, 

characteristics, or means of transmission, made or received pursuant to law or ordinance or in connection with the transaction 

of official business by any agency.” Section 119.011(2), F.S., defines “agency” to mean as “any state, county, district, 

authority, or municipal officer, department, division, board, bureau, commission, or other separate unit of government created 

or established by law including, for the purposes of this chapter, the Commission on Ethics, the Public Service Commission, 

and the Office of Public Counsel, and any other public or private agency, person, partnership, corporation, or business entity 

acting on behalf of any public agency.” The Public Records Act does not apply to legislative or judicial records (see Locke v. 

Hawkes, 595 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1992)). 
5
 Section 119.07(1)(a), F.S. 

6
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). There is a difference between records the Legislature designates as exempt from public records 

requirements and those the Legislature designates confidential and exempt. A record classified as exempt from public 

disclosure may be disclosed under certain circumstances (see WFTV, Inc. v. The School Board of Seminole, 874 So.2d 48 

(Fla. 5th DCA 2004), review denied 892 So.2d 1015 (Fla. 2004); City of Riviera Beach v. Barfield, 642 So.2d 1135 (Fla. 4th 

DCA 2004); and Williams v. City of Minneola, 575 So.2d 687 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). If the Legislature designates a record as 

confidential and exempt from public disclosure, such record may not be released, by the custodian of public records, to 

anyone other than the persons or entities specifically designated in the statutory exemption (see Attorney General Opinion 

85-62, August 1, 1985). 
7
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). 

8
 The bill may, however, contain multiple exemptions that relate to one subject. 

9
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). 

10
 Section 119.15, F.S. An exemption is substantially amended if the amendment expands the scope of the exemption to 

include more records or information or to include meetings as well as records (s. 119.15(4)(b), F.S.). The requirements of the 



BILL: SB 1800   Page 3 

 

requires the automatic repeal of such exemption on October 2nd of the fifth year after creation or 

substantial amendment, unless the Legislature reenacts the exemption.
11

 

 

The Act provides that a public records or open meetings exemption may be created or 

maintained only if it serves an identifiable public purpose and is no broader than is necessary to 

meet such public purpose.
12

 An exemption serves an identifiable purpose if it meets one of the 

following purposes and the Legislature finds that the purpose of the exemption outweighs open 

government policy and cannot be accomplished without the exemption: 

 It allows the state or its political subdivision to effectively and efficiently administer a 

governmental program, which administration would be significantly impaired without the 

exemption; 

 It protects sensitive personal information that, if released, would be defamatory or would 

jeopardize an individual’s safety; however, only the identity of an individual may be 

exempted under this provision; or 

 It protects trade or business secrets.
13

 

 

The Act also requires specified questions to be considered during the review process.
14

 

 

When reenacting an exemption that will repeal, a public necessity statement and a two-thirds 

vote for passage are required if the exemption is expanded.
15

 A public necessity statement and a 

two-thirds vote for passage are not required if the exemption is reenacted with grammatical or 

stylistic changes that do not expand the exemption, if the exemption is narrowed, or if an 

exception
16

 to the exemption is created.
17

 

 

Employment Discrimination  

State law prohibits employment discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, national 

origin, sex, handicap, or marital status.
18

 Most of the state and local agencies that responded to 

                                                                                                                                                                         
Act do not apply to an exemption that is required by federal law or that applies solely to the Legislature or the State Court 

System (s. 119.15(2), F.S.). 
11

 Section 119.15(3), F.S. 
12

 Section 119.15(6)(b), F.S. 
13

 Id. 
14

 Section 119.15(6)(a), F.S. The specified questions are: 

 What specific records or meetings are affected by the exemption? 

 Whom does the exemption uniquely affect, as opposed to the general public? 

 What is the identifiable public purpose or goal of the exemption? 

 Can the information contained in the records or discussed in the meeting be readily obtained by alternative means? 

If so, how? 

 Is the record or meeting protected by another exemption? 

 Are there multiple exemptions for the same type of record or meeting that it would be appropriate to merge? 
15

 An exemption is expanded when it is amended to include more records, information, or meetings or to include meetings as 

well as records, or records as well as meetings. 
16

 An example of an exception to a public records exemption would be allowing an additional agency access to confidential 

and exempt records.  
17

 See State of Florida v. Ronald Knight, 661 So.2d 344 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995) (holding that nothing in s. 24, art. I of the 

Florida Constitution requires exceptions to a public records exemption to contain a public necessity statement). 
18

 Section 760.10, F.S. 



BILL: SB 1800   Page 4 

 

questionnaires sent pursuant to the Open Government Sunset Review indicated that they have a 

process for receiving, processing, and investigating complaints of employment discrimination.
19

 

 

Florida Commission on Human Relations 

The Florida Commission on Human Relations (commission) is an independent commission 

tasked with promoting and encouraging fair treatment and equal opportunity for all persons and 

mutual understanding and respect among economic, social, racial, religious, and ethnic groups.
20

 

Among its specified duties is that the commission must receive, initiate, investigate, seek to 

conciliate, hold hearings on, and act upon complaints alleging a discriminatory practice.
21

 

 

Public Records Exemption under Review 

Current law provides a public records exemption for all complaints and other records in the 

custody of any agency
22

 which relate to a complaint of discrimination relating to race, color, 

religion, sex, national origin, age, handicap, or marital status in connection with hiring practices, 

position classifications, salary, benefits, discipline, discharge, employee performance, 

evaluation, or other related activities.
23

 The exemption expires when: 

 A finding is made relating to probable cause; 

 The investigation of the complaint becomes inactive; or 

 The complaint or any other records is made part of the official record of any hearing or court 

proceeding.
24

 

 

The exemption specifies that: 

 It shall not affect any function or activity of the Florida Commission on Human Relations; 

and 

 Any state or federal agency that is authorized to have access to such complaints or records by 

any provision of law shall be granted such access in the furtherance of such agency’s 

statutory duties.
25

 

 

In addition, when the alleged victim chooses not to file a complaint and requests that records of 

the complaint remain confidential, all records relating to an allegation of employment 

discrimination are confidential and exempt from public records disclosure requirements.
26

 The 

exemption does not authorize the release of such records. 

 

Professional staff of the Governmental Oversight and Accountability Committee conducted a 

review of the exemption pursuant to the Open Government Sunset Review Act and sent 

questionnaires to state and local agencies regarding their use of the exemption. Those agencies 

responding to the questionnaire indicated that there is a public necessity to continue to protect 

                                                 
19

 The questionnaire responses are on file with the Senate Governmental Oversight and Accountability Committee. 
20

 Section 760.05, F.S. 
21

 Section 760.06(5), F.S.  
22

 The meaning of “agency” is as defined in s. 119.011(2), F.S. (see footnote 4). 
23

 Section 119.071(2)(g)1.a., F.S. 
24

 Id. 
25

 Section 119.071(2)(g)1.b. and c., F.S. 
26

 Section 119.071(2)(g)2., F.S. 



BILL: SB 1800   Page 5 

 

the information, and recommended reenactment of the public records exemption under review. 

Their responses
27

 appear to indicate that the exemption is necessary to preserve the effective and 

efficient administration of government investigations of employment discrimination complaints. 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

The bill removes the repeal date, thereby reenacting the public records exemption for 

employment discrimination complaints. 

 

The bill also makes clarifying drafting changes. 

 

The bill’s effective date is October 1, 2013. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

Not applicable. This bill does not appear to require counties or municipalities to spend 

funds or take an action requiring the expenditure of funds, reduce the authority that 

counties or municipalities have to raise revenues in the aggregate, or reduce the 

percentage of state tax shared with counties or municipalities. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

This bill reenacts but does not expand the scope of an existing public records exemption; 

therefore, a two-thirds vote of the members present and voting in each house of the 

Legislature is not required for passage. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

None. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

None. 

                                                 
27

 On file with the Senate Governmental Oversight and Accountability Committee. 



BILL: SB 1800   Page 6 

 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

None. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2013 SB 1800 

 

 

 

By the Committee on Governmental Oversight and Accountability 

 

 

 

 

585-02859-13 20131800__ 

Page 1 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to public records; amending s. 2 

119.071, F.S., relating to a public records exemption 3 

for agency records concerning complaints of employment 4 

discrimination; saving the exemption from repeal under 5 

the Open Government Sunset Review Act; removing the 6 

scheduled repeal of the exemption; providing an 7 

effective date. 8 

 9 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 10 

 11 

Section 1. Paragraph (g) of subsection (2) of section 119.071, 12 

Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 13 

119.071 General exemptions from inspection or copying of 14 

public records.— 15 

(2) AGENCY INVESTIGATIONS.— 16 

(g)1.a. All complaints and other records in the custody of 17 

any agency which relate to a complaint of discrimination 18 

relating to race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age, 19 

handicap, or marital status in connection with hiring practices, 20 

position classifications, salary, benefits, discipline, 21 

discharge, employee performance, evaluation, or other related 22 

activities are exempt from s. 119.07(1) and s. 24(a), Art. I of 23 

the State Constitution until a finding is made relating to 24 

probable cause, the investigation of the complaint becomes 25 

inactive, or the complaint or other record is made part of the 26 

official record of any hearing or court proceeding. 27 

a.b. This exemption does provision shall not affect any 28 

function or activity of the Florida Commission on Human 29 

Florida Senate - 2013 SB 1800 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

585-02859-13 20131800__ 

Page 2 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Relations. 30 

b.c. Any state or federal agency that is authorized to have 31 

access to such complaints or records by any provision of law 32 

shall be granted such access in the furtherance of such agency’s 33 

statutory duties. 34 

2. If an when the alleged victim chooses not to file a 35 

complaint and requests that records of the complaint remain 36 

confidential, all records relating to an allegation of 37 

employment discrimination are confidential and exempt from s. 38 

119.07(1) and s. 24(a), Art. I of the State Constitution. 39 

3. This paragraph is subject to the Open Government Sunset 40 

Review Act in accordance with s. 119.15 and shall stand repealed 41 

on October 2, 2013, unless reviewed and saved from repeal 42 

through reenactment by the Legislature. 43 

Section 2. This act shall take effect October 1, 2013. 44 



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Rules  

 

BILL:  SB 706 

INTRODUCER:  Senator Montford 

SUBJECT:  Uninsured Motorist Insurance Coverage 

DATE:  April 12, 2013 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Knudson  Burgess  BI  Favorable 

2. Shankle  Cibula  JU  Favorable 

3. Knudson  Phelps  RC  Favorable 

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

I. Summary: 

SB 706 deals with the rejection of stackable Uninsured Motorist (UM) benefits. Current law 

states that when the named insured, applicant, or lessee signs a form rejecting UM coverage, a 

conclusive presumption arises that “there was an informed knowing acceptance of such 

limitations” of coverage. The bill specifies that the signed form gives rise to a conclusive 

presumption that the rejection of stackable coverage benefits was made “on behalf of all 

insureds.” The bill addresses the decision of the Florida First District Court of Appeal in 

Travelers Commercial Insurance Company v. Harrington.
1
 

 

This bill substantially amends section 627.727, Florida Statutes. 

II. Present Situation: 

Uninsured Motorist Coverage 

Uninsured Motorist or UM coverage provides a basis for persons to directly insure themselves 

against the effects of bodily injuries caused by others who are legally liable but uninsured or 

underinsured. Such coverage pays for medical expenses and lost wages, after personal injury 

protection coverage is exhausted and includes payment for pain and suffering.
2
 Uninsured 

Motorist also provides “excess coverage” which means that when a motorist is injured because 

of the negligence of another, the injured party is able to collect from the liability insurance of the 

                                                 
1
 Travelers Commercial Insurance Company v. Harrington , 86 So. 3d 1274 (Fla. 1st DCA 1012). 

2
 The insurer providing UM coverage has liability for damages in tort for pain and suffering only if the injury or disease is 

described in s. 627.737(2), F.S. 

REVISED:         



BILL: SB 706   Page 2 

 

negligent motorist and from his or her own uninsured motorist insurance if the negligent motorist 

is unable to provide full reimbursement. 

 

Bodily injury liability policies must include UM coverage at limits equal to those for Bodily 

Injury (BI) liability insurance, unless the coverage is rejected or lower limits are elected by the 

insured. The rejection or selection of lower UM coverage limits must be made in writing on a 

form approved by the Office of Insurance Regulation. If a named insured signs the form, “it will 

be conclusively presumed that there was an informed knowing rejection of coverage or election 

of lower limits on behalf of all insureds.”
3
 

 

Uninsured Motorist coverage is available in “stackable” and “non-stackable” coverages. 

Stackable UM coverage means that the coverage limits for each car insured under a motorist’s 

policy may be added together. Non-stackable UM coverage only pays up to the limits for one 

insured vehicle. Section 627.727(9), F.S., states that, “[i]nsurers may offer policies of uninsured 

motorist coverage…establishing that if the insured accepts the offer…coverage provided as to 

two or more motor vehicles shall not be added together to determine the limit of insurance 

coverage available to an injured person for any one accident….” If the insured elects non-

stackable coverage, the insurer must provide at least a 20 percent coverage premium discount to 

the policyholder to account for the reduced coverage available under the policy.
4
 Under 

s. 627.727(9), F.S., UM coverage is stackable unless the insured waives stackable coverage in 

writing. The written waiver establishes a conclusive presumption that “there was an informed, 

knowing acceptance of such limitations.”
5
 

 

In Travelers Commercial Insurance Company v. Harrington, the First District Court of Appeal 

affirmed a trial court decision determining that stackable coverage benefits are available to an 

insured claimant under an insurance policy where the purchaser executed a signed waiver of 

stacking benefits, but the insured claimant did not waive such benefits.
6
 In Harrington, the 

daughter of an insured was injured in a car accident and sought recovery under an insurance 

policy purchased by her father who had purchased UM benefits but rejected stackable benefits in 

writing. The Court ruled that Ms. Harrington could recover stackable coverage benefits because 

the statutory language for a waiver of stackable UM coverage does not apply to other insureds 

under the policy who do not execute the rejection of stacking coverage.
7
  

 

The Court compared the provision governing written rejection
8
 of coverage in subsection (1) of 

s. 627.727, F.S., with the provision in subsection (9) governing written rejection of stackable 

coverage. The court noted that the conclusive presumption in subsection (1) that is created when 

the insured executes a signed, written form declining UM coverage or electing limits of such 

coverage that are lower than the BI coverage  is “on behalf of all insureds.” The Court reasoned 

                                                 
3
 See s. 627.727(1), F.S. The conclusive presumption related to the insured’s rejection of UM Coverage or election to obtain 

UM Coverage with lower limits than BI coverage was enacted in CS/HB 319 by the 1984 Legislature. See chapter 84-41, 

s. 1, Laws of Fla.  
4
 Section 627.727(9), F.S. 

5
 The conclusive presumption related to the insured’s rejection of stackable UM Coverage or election to obtain UM Coverage 

with lower limits than BI coverage was enacted in HB 1029 by the 1987 Legislature. See chapter 87-213, s. 1, Laws of Fla. 
6
 Harrington, 86 So. 3d at 1278. 

7
 Id. at 1277-1278. 

8
 Or election of UM Coverage limits that are less than Bodily Injury coverage limits under the policy. 



BILL: SB 706   Page 3 

 

that the conclusive presumption in subsection (9) that is created when the insured executes a 

signed, written form declining stackable coverage only applies to the named insured because the 

statute does not specify that it is made on behalf of all insureds under the policy.
9
 The District 

Court of Appeal certified the stacking issue to the Florida Supreme Court, which has accepted 

jurisdiction.
10

 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

The bill amends s. 627.727, F.S., regarding the rejection of stackable Uninsured Motorist 

benefits. Current law states that when the named insured, applicant, or lessee signs a form 

rejecting coverage, a conclusive presumption arises that “there was an informed knowing 

acceptance of such limitations” of coverage. The bill specifies that the signed form gives rise to a 

conclusive presumption that the rejection of stackable coverage benefits was made “on behalf of 

all insureds.” 

 

The bill takes effect upon becoming a law. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

The Harrington decision of the First District Court of Appeals may reduce the 

availability of non-stackable coverage. If the named insured or an applicant for an 

insurance policy cannot waive stackable UM coverage on behalf of other insureds under 

the policy, the loss costs associated with unstacked UM coverage are likely to rise. 

Florida law requires that insurers provide at least a 20 percent UM coverage premium 

discount if stackable benefits are waived. If the difference in loss costs between stacked 

and unstacked UM coverage loss costs is less than 20 percent, insurers may cease 

                                                 
9
 Id. 

10
 Florida Supreme Court Case Number SC12–1257. 



BILL: SB 706   Page 4 

 

offering unstacked UM coverage. Consumers who want to purchase UM coverage would 

then be deprived of the choice of selecting the less expensive unstacked version of such 

coverage. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

None. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None.  

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

None. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2013 SB 706 

 

 

 

By Senator Montford 

 

 

 

 

3-00902A-13 2013706__ 

Page 1 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to uninsured motorist insurance 2 

coverage; amending s. 627.727, F.S.; providing that, 3 

under certain circumstances, specified persons who 4 

elect non-stacking limitations on their uninsured 5 

motorist insurance coverage are conclusively presumed 6 

to have made an informed, knowing acceptance of the 7 

limitations on behalf of all insureds; providing an 8 

effective date. 9 

 10 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 11 

 12 

Section 1. Subsection (9) of section 627.727, Florida 13 

Statutes, is amended to read: 14 

627.727 Motor vehicle insurance; uninsured and underinsured 15 

vehicle coverage; insolvent insurer protection.— 16 

(9) Insurers may offer policies of uninsured motorist 17 

coverage containing policy provisions, in language approved by 18 

the office, establishing that if the insured accepts this offer: 19 

(a) The coverage provided as to two or more motor vehicles 20 

shall not be added together to determine the limit of insurance 21 

coverage available to an injured person for any one accident, 22 

except as provided in paragraph (c). 23 

(b) If at the time of the accident the injured person is 24 

occupying a motor vehicle, the uninsured motorist coverage 25 

available to her or him is the coverage available as to that 26 

motor vehicle. 27 

(c) If the injured person is occupying a motor vehicle 28 

which is not owned by her or him or by a family member residing 29 

Florida Senate - 2013 SB 706 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3-00902A-13 2013706__ 

Page 2 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

with her or him, the injured person is entitled to the highest 30 

limits of uninsured motorist coverage afforded for any one 31 

vehicle as to which she or he is a named insured or insured 32 

family member. Such coverage shall be excess over the coverage 33 

on the vehicle the injured person is occupying. 34 

(d) The uninsured motorist coverage provided by the policy 35 

does not apply to the named insured or family members residing 36 

in her or his household who are injured while occupying any 37 

vehicle owned by such insureds for which uninsured motorist 38 

coverage was not purchased. 39 

(e) If, at the time of the accident the injured person is 40 

not occupying a motor vehicle, she or he is entitled to select 41 

any one limit of uninsured motorist coverage for any one vehicle 42 

afforded by a policy under which she or he is insured as a named 43 

insured or as an insured resident of the named insured’s 44 

household. 45 

 46 

In connection with the offer authorized by this subsection, 47 

insurers shall inform the named insured, applicant, or lessee, 48 

on a form approved by the office, of the limitations imposed 49 

under this subsection and that such coverage is an alternative 50 

to coverage without such limitations. If this form is signed by 51 

a named insured, applicant, or lessee, it shall be conclusively 52 

presumed that there was an informed, knowing acceptance of such 53 

limitations on behalf of all insureds. When the named insured, 54 

applicant, or lessee has initially accepted such limitations, 55 

such acceptance shall apply to any policy which renews, extends, 56 

changes, supersedes, or replaces an existing policy unless the 57 

named insured requests deletion of such limitations and pays the 58 



Florida Senate - 2013 SB 706 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3-00902A-13 2013706__ 

Page 3 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

appropriate premium for such coverage. Any insurer who provides 59 

coverage which includes the limitations provided in this 60 

subsection shall file revised premium rates with the office for 61 

such uninsured motorist coverage to take effect prior to 62 

initially providing such coverage. The revised rates shall 63 

reflect the anticipated reduction in loss costs attributable to 64 

such limitations but shall in any event reflect a reduction in 65 

the uninsured motorist coverage premium of at least 20 percent 66 

for policies with such limitations. Such filing shall not 67 

increase the rates for coverage which does not contain the 68 

limitations authorized by this subsection, and such rates shall 69 

remain in effect until the insurer demonstrates the need for a 70 

change in uninsured motorist rates pursuant to s. 627.0651. 71 

Section 2. This act shall take effect upon becoming a law. 72 



(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Topic

Name

Job Title

(ifapplicabl~

Amendment Barcode
(if applicable)

Address ~l~--
Street

City

Phone

~-~ ~ ~.~ t ~    E-mail
State Zip

Speaking:    ~ For F--] Against [~ Information

Representing

Appearing at request of Chair: I---] Yes [~] No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: [~es [] No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as manY persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/20/11)



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Rules  

 

BILL:  CS/SB 1756 

INTRODUCER:  Governmental Oversight and Accountability Committee and Senator Montford 

SUBJECT:  Public Records/Applicants or Participants in School Food and Nutrition Service 

Programs 

DATE:  April 12, 2013 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Akhavein  Halley  AG  Favorable 

2. Naf  McVaney  GO  Fav/CS 

3. Akhavein  Phelps  RC  Favorable 

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... X Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

CS/SB 1756 creates a public records exemption for personal identifying information of an 

applicant for or participant in a school food and nutrition service program that is held by the 

Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services, the Department of Children and Families, or 

the Department of Education. The bill specifies circumstances under which the exempt 

information must be disclosed. 

 

The bill provides that the exemption will repeal on October 2, 2018, pursuant to the Open 

Government Sunset Review Act, unless reviewed and reenacted by the Legislature. The bill also 

provides a statement of public necessity as required by the Florida Constitution. 

 

Because this bill creates a new public records exemption, it requires a two-thirds vote of the 

members present and voting in each house of the Legislature for final passage. 

 

This bill creates section 595.409 of the Florida Statutes. 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/SB 1756   Page 2 

 

II. Present Situation: 

Public Records Laws 

The Florida Constitution provides every person the right to inspect or copy any public record 

made or received in connection with the official business of any public body, officer, or 

employee of the state, or of persons acting on their behalf.
1
 The records of the legislative, 

executive, and judicial branches are specifically included.
2
  

 

The Florida Statutes also specify conditions under which public access must be provided to 

government records. The Public Records Act
3
 guarantees every person’s right to inspect and 

copy any state or local government public record
4
 at any reasonable time, under reasonable 

conditions, and under supervision by the custodian of the public record.
5
  

 

Only the Legislature may create an exemption to public records requirements.
6
 Such an 

exemption must be created by general law and must specifically state the public necessity 

justifying the exemption.
7
 Further, the exemption must be no broader than necessary to 

accomplish the stated purpose of the law. A bill enacting an exemption may not contain other 

substantive provisions
8
 and must pass by a two-thirds vote of the members present and voting in 

each house of the Legislature.
9
 

 

The Open Government Sunset Review Act (the Act) prescribes a legislative review process for 

newly created or substantially amended public records or open meetings exemptions.
10

 It 

                                                 
1
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(a). 

2
 Id. 

3
 Chapter 119, F.S. 

4
 Section 119.011(12), F.S., defines “public records” to mean “all documents, papers, letters, maps, books, tapes, 

photographs, films, sound recordings, data processing software, or other material, regardless of the physical form, 

characteristics, or means of transmission, made or received pursuant to law or ordinance or in connection with the transaction 

of official business by any agency.” Section 119.011(2), F.S., defines “agency” to mean as “any state, county, district, 

authority, or municipal officer, department, division, board, bureau, commission, or other separate unit of government created 

or established by law including, for the purposes of this chapter, the Commission on Ethics, the Public Service Commission, 

and the Office of Public Counsel, and any other public or private agency, person, partnership, corporation, or business entity 

acting on behalf of any public agency.” The Public Records Act does not apply to legislative or judicial records (see Locke v. 

Hawkes, 595 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1992)). 
5
 Section 119.07(1)(a), F.S. 

6
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). There is a difference between records the Legislature designates as exempt from public records 

requirements and those the Legislature designates confidential and exempt. A record classified as exempt from public 

disclosure may be disclosed under certain circumstances (see WFTV, Inc. v. The School Board of Seminole, 874 So.2d 48 

(Fla. 5th DCA 2004), review denied 892 So.2d 1015 (Fla. 2004); City of Riviera Beach v. Barfield, 642 So.2d 1135 (Fla. 4th 

DCA 2004); and Williams v. City of Minneola, 575 So.2d 687 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). If the Legislature designates a record as 

confidential and exempt from public disclosure, such record may not be released, by the custodian of public records, to 

anyone other than the persons or entities specifically designated in the statutory exemption (see Attorney General Opinion 

85-62, August 1, 1985). 
7
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). 

8
 The bill may, however, contain multiple exemptions that relate to one subject. 

9
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). 

10
 Section 119.15, F.S. An exemption is substantially amended if the amendment expands the scope of the exemption to 

include more records or information or to include meetings as well as records (s. 119.15(4)(b), F.S.). The requirements of the 

Act do not apply to an exemption that is required by federal law or that applies solely to the Legislature or the State Court 

System (s. 119.15(2), F.S.). 



BILL: CS/SB 1756   Page 3 

 

requires the automatic repeal of such exemption on October 2nd of the fifth year after creation or 

substantial amendment, unless the Legislature reenacts the exemption.
11

 The Act provides that a 

public records or open meetings exemption may be created or maintained only if it serves an 

identifiable public purpose and is no broader than is necessary to meet such public purpose.
12

 

 

School Food and Nutrition Service Programs 

Federal law authorizes federal financial assistance to states for the operation of school food and 

nutrition service programs.
13

 The Secretary of the United States Department of Agriculture 

annually prescribes income guidelines for determining eligibility for free and reduced price 

meals.
14

 Federal law prohibits disclosure of any information obtained from an application for 

free or reduced price meals except under specified circumstances.
15

 

 

The state Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services (DACS) is the state administrator of 

school food and nutrition service programs.
16

 The state Department of Children and Families 

(DCF) receives information from the United States Social Security Administration and 

determines Medicaid eligibility for the state of Florida. The state Department of Education 

(DOE) obtains eligibility information from the DCF and provides it to the DACS and local 

educational agencies for a determination of whether a student is eligible for participation in a 

school food and nutrition service program.
17

  

 

Personal Information of Program Applicants or Participants 

Personal information of applicants for or participants in a school food and nutrition service 

program appears to be confidential and exempt from public disclosure when held by an 

educational agency in a K-12 education record.
18

 In addition, a public records exemption for 

personal identifying information of a temporary cash assistance program participant or family 

member,
19

 state confidentiality sharing provisions,
20

 and federal confidentiality regulations
21

 

may provide some level of protection. However, there is currently no clearly defined public 

records exemption for personal identifying information of an applicant for or participant in a 

school food and nutrition service program that is held by the DACS, the DCF, or the DOE. 

                                                 
11

 Section 119.15(3), F.S. 
12

 Section 119.15(6)(b), F.S. 
13

 See the Child Nutrition Act of 1966 (42 U.S.C. 1771 et seq.) and the Richard B. Russell National School Lunch Act (42 

U.S.C. 1751 et seq.). 
14

 42 U.S.C. 1758(b)(1)(A) and 42 U.S.C. 1773(e)(1)(A). 
15

 42 U.S.C. 1758(b)(6). 
16

 Section 570.98(1), F.S. 
17

 Memorandum of Understanding between the DCF, DOC, and DACS, DACS contract no. 018596 (on file with the Senate 

Governmental Oversight and Accountability Committee) and phone call with DACS staff on April 5, 2013. 
18

 See s. 1002.221, F.S. 
19

 Section 414.295, F.S. The exemption does not apply to such information when held by the DACS. 
20

 See ss. 39.00145(4), 381.0022, and 402.115, F.S. 
21

 See 42 U.S.C. 602(a) and 45 C.F.R. 205.50(a) (use or disclosure of Temporary Cash Assistance information), 7 U.S.C. 

2020(e)(g) and 7 C.F.R. 272.1(c)(d) (use or disclosure of Food Assistance information), and 42 U.S.C. 1396(a)(7) and 42 

C.F.R. 431.302-.306 (use or disclosure of Medicaid information). 



BILL: CS/SB 1756   Page 4 

 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

This bill creates a public records exemption for personal identifying information of an applicant 

for or participant in a school food and nutrition program that is held by the DACS, the DCF, or 

the DOE.  

 

The bill requires the exempt information to be disclosed to: 

 Another governmental entity in the performance of its official duties and responsibilities; or 

 Any person who has the written consent of the applicant or participant. 

 

The bill provides that it does not prohibit a participant’s legal guardian from obtaining 

confirmation of acceptance and approval, dates of applicability, or other information the legal 

guardian may request. 

 

The bill provides that the public records exemption is subject to the Open Government Sunset 

Review Act and will repeal on October 2, 2018, unless reviewed and reenacted by the 

Legislature. The bill also provides a statement of public necessity as required by the Florida 

Constitution. 

 

The bill will take effect on the same date that SB 1628 or similar legislation takes effect, if such 

legislation is adopted in the same legislative session or an extension thereof and becomes law. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

Not applicable. The bill does not appear to affect county or municipal governments. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

Vote Requirement 

Section 24(c), art. I of the Florid Constitution requires a two-thirds vote of each house of 

the Legislature for passage of a newly-created or expanded public records or public 

meetings exemption. Because this bill creates a new public records exemption, it requires 

a two-thirds vote for passage. 

 

Public Necessity Statement 

Section 24(c), art. I of the Florida Constitution requires a public necessity statement for a 

newly created or expanded public records or public meetings exemption. Because this bill 

creates a new public records exemption, it includes a public necessity statement. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 



BILL: CS/SB 1756   Page 5 

 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

None. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

None. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

The 2011 Legislature created the Healthy Schools for Healthy Lives Act, which provided for a 

transfer of administration of school food and nutrition service programs from the Department of 

Education (DOE) to the Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services (DACS).
22

 This bill 

is linked to SB 1628, which, in pertinent part, rearranges and supplements existing law to allow 

the DACS to more effectively administer its school food and nutrition service program duties. 

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS by Governmental Oversight and Accountability on April 9, 2013: 

The original bill provided that its effective date is contingent upon enactment of a linked 

substantive bill, but did not specify a bill number. The CS adds “SB 1628” to this bill’s 

effective date as the linked substantive bill. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 

                                                 
22

 Chapter 2011-217, L.O.F. (codified at ss. 570.98-570.984, F.S.). 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1756 

 

 

 

By the Committee on Governmental Oversight and Accountability; 

and Senator Montford 

 

 

 

585-04023-13 20131756c1 

Page 1 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to public records; creating s. 2 

595.409, F.S.; providing an exemption from public 3 

records requirements for personal identifying 4 

information of an applicant for or participant in a 5 

school food and nutrition service program held by the 6 

Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services, the 7 

Department of Children and Families, or the Department 8 

of Education; providing for specified disclosure; 9 

providing for applicability; providing for legislative 10 

review and repeal of the exemption under the Open 11 

Government Sunset Review Act; providing a contingent 12 

effective date. 13 

 14 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 15 

 16 

Section 1. Section 595.409, Florida Statutes, is created to 17 

read: 18 

595.409 Public records exemption.— 19 

(1) Personal identifying information of an applicant for or 20 

participant in a school food and nutrition service program, as 21 

defined in s. 595.402, held by the department, the Department of 22 

Children and Families, or the Department of Education is exempt 23 

from s. 119.07(1) and s. 24(a), Art. I of the State 24 

Constitution. 25 

(2)(a) Such information shall be disclosed to: 26 

1. Another governmental entity in the performance of its 27 

official duties and responsibilities; or 28 

2. Any person who has the written consent of the applicant 29 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1756 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

585-04023-13 20131756c1 

Page 2 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

for or participant in such program. 30 

(b) This section does not prohibit a participant’s legal 31 

guardian from obtaining confirmation of acceptance and approval, 32 

dates of applicability, or other information the legal guardian 33 

may request. 34 

(3) This exemption applies to any information identifying a 35 

program applicant or participant held by the department, the 36 

Department of Children and Families, or the Department of 37 

Education before, on, or after the effective date of this 38 

exemption. 39 

(4) This section is subject to the Open Government Sunset 40 

Review Act in accordance with s. 119.15 and shall stand repealed 41 

on October 2, 2018, unless reviewed and saved from repeal 42 

through reenactment by the Legislature. 43 

Section 2. The Legislature finds that it is a public 44 

necessity that personal identifying information of an applicant 45 

for or participant in a school food and nutrition service 46 

program, as defined in s. 595.402, Florida Statutes, held by the 47 

Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services, the Department 48 

of Children and Families, or the Department of Education be made 49 

exempt from the requirements of s. 119.07(1), Florida Statutes, 50 

and s. 24(a), Article I of the State Constitution. In order for 51 

a person applying to or participating in a school food and 52 

nutrition service program to feel secure in the program, the 53 

applicant or participant should be able to rely upon the fact 54 

that his or her personal identifying information held by the 55 

Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services, the Department 56 

of Children and Families, or the Department of Education is 57 

protected from disclosure to anyone other than those who have 58 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1756 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

585-04023-13 20131756c1 

Page 3 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

the need to know such information. A public records exemption 59 

for personal identifying information of an applicant for or 60 

participant in a school food and nutrition service program, as 61 

defined in s. 595.402, Florida Statutes, held by the Department 62 

of Agriculture and Consumer Services, the Department of Children 63 

and Families, or the Department of Education protects 64 

information of a sensitive, personal nature concerning an 65 

individual, the release of which could be defamatory to the 66 

individual, could cause unwarranted damage to his or her good 67 

name or reputation, and could possibly jeopardize the safety of 68 

the individual. Additionally, the public records exemption 69 

allows the state to effectively and efficiently administer a 70 

governmental program, which administration would be 71 

significantly impaired without the exemption. Thus, the 72 

Legislature declares that it is a public necessity that the 73 

personal identifying information of an applicant for or a 74 

participant in a school food and nutrition service program, as 75 

defined in s. 595.402, Florida Statutes, held by the Department 76 

of Agriculture and Consumer Services, the Department of Children 77 

and Families, or the Department of Education be made exempt from 78 

public records requirements. 79 

Section 3. This act shall take effect on the same date that 80 

SB 1628 or similar legislation takes effect, if such legislation 81 

is adopted in the same legislative session or an extension 82 

thereof and becomes law. 83 



(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date

Topic

Name

Job Title-~

Address

Speaking:

Street

City State Zip

[~For 1--7 Against F--] Information

Representing

Bill Number
(if applicable)

Amendment Barcode
(if applicable)

Appearing at request of Chair: [-7 Yes [~ No
Lobbyist registered with Legislature: ~] Yes [] No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage pubfic testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the pubfic record for this meeting, s-ool (10/20/11 )



TH~ FLORIDA

Topic

Name

Job Title

Address

APPI AIIA CI!! IRECOIRI#
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Speaking: [~07 [--1 Against [--]Information

Representing

Appearing at request of Chair:

Bill Number 1 7<~"4~)

Amendment Barcode
(if applicable)

(if applicable)

Lobbyist registered with Legislature: [~ Yes ~

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage pubfic testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who de speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting, s-eel (10/20111)



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Rules  

 

BILL:  SB 736 

INTRODUCER:  Senator Richter 

SUBJECT:  Limitations Relating to Deeds and Wills 

DATE:  April 12, 2013 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Munroe  Cibula  JU  Favorable 

2. Preston  Hendon  CF  Favorable 

3. Munroe  Phelps  RC  Favorable 

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

I. Summary: 

SB 736 expands the scope of s. 95.231(1), F.S., to cure defective documents purporting to 

transfer title to real property. Under existing law, a 5-year limitation period acts to cure defective 

deeds or wills that are missing required seals or signatures of witnesses. Under the bill, the 5-

year limitation period will cure such defects in any instrument, including a power of attorney,
1
 

used in connection with the transfer of title to real property. Additionally, the bill provides a 

savings clause to allow any person who is adversely affected by the bill‟s changes to bring a 

claim within the specified period of time to protect his or her interest. 

 

The bill is not anticipated to have a fiscal impact on state government and provides for an 

effective date of October 1, 2013. 

 

This bill substantially amends section 95.231, Florida Statutes. 

II. Present Situation: 

In general, s. 689.01, F.S., provides the statutory requirements for the conveyance of real estate 

in Florida. In some instances, if an instrument such as a deed or will is not acknowledged or 

defectively acknowledged or is missing a required witness, the defective instrument may be 

cured over time.
2
 

 

                                                 
1
 “Power of attorney” means a writing that grants authority to an agent to act in the place of the principal, whether or not the 

term is used in that writing. Section 709.2102(7), F.S. 
2
 See 1 FLA. JUR. 2D Acknowledgments s. 23 (2013). 

REVISED:         



BILL: SB 736   Page 2 

 

The Legislature may cure defective deeds or wills that have technical deficiencies by enacting 

curative statutes. The Florida Legislature has enacted a number of these.
3
 Curative statutes make 

the process of owning and conveying real property easier.
4
 “By a curative statute the Legislature 

has the power to ratify, validate and confirm any act or proceeding which it could have 

authorized in the first place.”
5
 

 

Section 95.231, F.S., cures the defects of missing witnesses and defective acknowledgements in 

deeds or wills conveying a fee simple interest
6
 in real estate. 

 

The purpose of such statute is to „cure‟ or clear an existing title to real estate 

or an interest in it, of formal irregularities, that is, of clouds, doubts and 

suspicions against the title resulting from technical defects in the form or 

execution of deeds and wills executed by „the person owning the property‟ 

by limiting the time within which such defects can be asserted to a stated 

time as measured from some event, such as their recording.
7
 

 

A person claiming an interest in the affected property has 20 years from the recording of the 

deed or the probate of the will to assert any claim to the property against the claimants under the 

deed or will.
8
 Easements, powers of attorney, restrictions, and declarations which are very 

common instruments do not have the benefit of s. 95.231, F.S.
9
 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

In addition to deeds and wills, the bill expands the scope of s. 95.231(1), F.S., to include any 

instrument required in the conveyance of real estate in Florida (by example an easement
10

 or 

park dedication
11

) and a power of attorney accompanying and used for such instrument. A power 

of attorney validated by the bill is valid only for the purpose of effectuating the instrument with 

which it is recorded. 

 

                                                 
3
 See 19 FLA. JUR. 2D Deeds s. 21 (2013). See also ss. 694.01, F.S., et seq. and 1 FLA. JUR. 2D Acknowledgments s. 23 (2013). 

4
 See 19 FLA. PRAC. Florida Real Estate s. 5:14 (2012 ed.). 

5
 Coon v. Board of Public Instruction of Okaloosa County, 203 So. 2d 497, 498 (1967). 

6
 An absolute or fee simple estate is one in which the owner is entitled to the entire property with the unconditional power of 

disposition during his life.” Henry P. Trawick Jr., Trawick‟s Florida Practice and Procedure, s. 9:2 (2009 ed.). 
7
 Holland v. Hattaway, 438 So. 2d 456, 462 (5th DCA 1983). The stated time in the statute is 5 years. Section 95.231(2), F.S. 

8
 Section 95.231(2), F.S. 

9
 Real Property, Probate, and Trust Law Section of The Florida Bar, White Paper: In Support of Amending Section 95.231, 

F.S. (2013) (on file with the Senate Committee on Judiciary). 
10

 Easement means “An interest in land owned by another person, consisting in the right to use or control the land, or an area 

above or below it, for a specific limited purpose (such as to cross it for access to a public road). • The land benefiting from an 

easement is called the dominant estate; the land burdened by an easement is called the servient estate. Unlike a lease or 

license, an easement may last forever, but it does not give the holder the right to possess, take from, improve, or sell the land. 

The primary recognized easements are (1) a right-of-way, (2) a right of entry for any purpose relating to the dominant estate, 

(3) a right to the support of land and buildings, (4) a right of light and air, (5) a right to water, (6) a right to do some act that 

would otherwise amount to a nuisance, and (7) a right to place or keep something on the servient estate.” BLACK‟S LAW 

DICTIONARY (9th
 
ed. 2009). 

11
 “A frequent method of ensuring that land is used for the purpose of a park is through a dedication of the land for that 

purpose, with a dedication being defined as the act of appropriating land to the public or any general or public use and 

specifically for that as a park.” 59 AM. JUR. 2D Parks, Squares, and Playgrounds s. 14 (internal citations omitted). 



BILL: SB 736   Page 3 

 

A person claiming an interest in property other than a fee simple interest which was defectively 

conveyed before October 1, 2013, must file a claim or defense of that interest in court before 

October 1, 2014, to have the validity of the instrument determined under existing law. Otherwise, 

the 5-year limitations period governing such claims and defenses will apply. 

 

The bill takes effect October 1, 2013. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

Because the bill cures defects in the execution of instruments other than deeds or wills, 

individuals engaged in commercial real estate transactions may save legal fees and other 

associated costs to cure technical defects of missing witnesses and defective 

acknowledgements in instruments conveying real property.
12

 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

The Office of the State Courts Administrator completed a judicial impact statement for 

the bill and found that the bill may result in a possible, though likely insubstantial, near-

term increase in court workload based on civil filings before the October 1, 2014, 

deadline for matters to be determined under current law. The fiscal impact of the bill 

cannot be accurately determined due to the unavailability of data needed to quantify the 

near-term impact on judicial workload.
13

 

                                                 
12

 Real Property, Probate, and Trust Law Section of The Florida Bar, supra note 9. 
13

 Office of the State Courts Administrator, 2013 Judicial Impact Statement, SB 736 (Feb. 28, 2013) (on file with the Senate 

Committee on Judiciary). 



BILL: SB 736   Page 4 

 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None.  

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

None. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill‟s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2013 SB 736 

 

 

 

By Senator Richter 

 

 

 

 

23-00649-13 2013736__ 

Page 1 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to limitations relating to deeds and 2 

wills; amending s. 95.231, F.S.; providing for 3 

limitations of actions when a deed or will is on 4 

record; providing that a person claiming an interest 5 

in real property affected by amendments made in the 6 

act has until a specified date to file a claim or 7 

defense in court to determine the validity of the 8 

instrument; providing that if a claim or defense is 9 

filed within the specified period, the validity of the 10 

instrument is determined without regard to these 11 

amendments; providing an effective date. 12 

 13 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 14 

 15 

Section 1. Section 95.231, Florida Statutes, is amended to 16 

read: 17 

95.231 Limitations where deed or will on record.— 18 

(1) Five years after the recording of an instrument 19 

required to be executed in accordance with s. 689.01; 5 years 20 

after the recording of a power of attorney accompanying and used 21 

for an instrument required to be executed in accordance with s. 22 

689.01; or 5 years after a deed or the probate of a will 23 

purporting to convey real property, from which it appears that 24 

the person owning the property attempted to convey, affect, or 25 

devise it, the instrument, power of attorney, deed or will shall 26 

be held to have its purported effect authorize the conveyance or 27 

devise of, or to convey, affect, or devise, the fee simple title 28 

to the real property, or any interest in it, of the person 29 

Florida Senate - 2013 SB 736 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

23-00649-13 2013736__ 

Page 2 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

signing the instrument, as if there had been no lack of seal or 30 

seals, witness or witnesses, defect in acknowledgment or 31 

relinquishment of dower, in the absence of fraud, adverse 32 

possession, or pending litigation. The instrument is shall be 33 

admissible in evidence. A power of attorney validated under this 34 

subsection shall be valid only for the purpose of effectuating 35 

the instrument with which it was recorded. 36 

(2) After 20 years from the recording of a deed or the 37 

probate of a will purporting to convey real property, no person 38 

shall assert any claim to the property against the claimants 39 

under the deed or will or their successors in title. 40 

(3) This law is cumulative to all laws on the subject 41 

matter. 42 

Section 2. A person claiming an interest in real property 43 

affected by the amendments to s. 95.231, Florida Statutes, in 44 

this act has until October 1, 2014, to file a claim or defense 45 

in court to determine the validity of an instrument that may be 46 

affected by the amendments. If a claim or defense is filed 47 

before October 1, 2014, the validity of the instrument shall be 48 

determined without regard to these amendments. 49 

Section 3. This act shall take effect October 1, 2013. 50 



SENATOR GARRETT RICHTER
President Pro Tempore

23rd District

THE FLORIDA SENATE
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1100

COMMITTEES:
Gaming, Chair
Appropriations
Appropriations Subcommittee on Education
Appropriations Subcommittee on Health

and Human Services
Banking and Insurance
Commerce and Tourism
Judiciary
Rules
Transportation

JOINT COMMITTEE:
Joint Legislative Budget Commission

April 8, 2013

The Honorable John Thrasher, Chair
Committee on Rules
402 Senate Office Building
404 South Monroe Street
Tallahassee, FL 32399

RECE 
APR 0 8 2013

Dear Chair Thrasher:

Senate Bill 736, Limitations Relating to Deeds and Wills has been reported favorably out of the
committee on Children, Families, and Elder Affairs. The final committee of reference is Rules. I
would appreciate the placing of this bill on your next committee agenda.

Thank you for your consideration.

Sincerely,

Garrett Richter

cc: John B. Phelps, Staff Director

REPLY TO:
I"1 3299 E. Tamiami Trail, Suite 203, Naples, Florida 34112-4961 (239) 417-6205
~1 404 Senate Office Building, 404 South Monroe Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1100 (850) 487-5023
~3 25 Homestead Road North, Suite 42 B, Lehigh Acres, Florida 33936 (239) 338-2777

Senate’s Website: www.flsenate.gov

DON GAETZ GARRETT RICHTER
President of the Senate President Pro Tempore



Meeting Date

BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Topic

Name

Job Title I~FJ4,£/

Street

City

Speaking:    [~For ~ Against

Bill Number ~~,~

Amendment Barcode

FI ~ ¢~ O! E-mail
State Zip

(if applicable)

(if applicable)

Information

Representing "/~g.~fl’l¢’>",

Appearing at request of Chair: Lobbyist registered with Legislature: [-~’Yes I--] No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage pubfic testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to fimit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting, s-ool (lO/2O/11 )



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Rules 

 

BILL:  CS/SB 1098 

INTRODUCER:  Banking and Insurance Committee and Senator Richter 

SUBJECT:  General Assignments 

DATE:  April 12, 2013 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Munroe  Cibula  JU  Favorable 

2. Johnson   Burgess  BI  Fav/CS 

3. Munroe  Phelps  RC  Favorable 

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... X Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

CS/SB 1098 streamlines for the discharge of duties by an assignee under an assignment for the 

benefit of creditors. The changes to the law relating to an assignment for the benefit of creditors 

were recommended by the Business Law Section of The Florida Bar as part of its comprehensive 

review of the law.
1
 This bill: 

 

 Creates a negative notice procedure to allow an assignee when discharging duties under an 

assignment for the benefit of creditors to give notice to interested parties of a planned action. 

In the absence of objection, the assignee may proceed without a hearing. A form is created 

for providing negative notice of certain acts to be undertaken by the assignee. 

 Sets a minimum bond for assignees under an assignment for the benefit of creditors of at 

least $25,000 or double the liquidation value of the unencumbered and liquid assets of the 

insolvent estate, whichever is higher. 

 Authorizes an assignee to conduct discovery as provided for in the Florida Rules of Civil 

Procedure in the course of prosecuting or objecting to claims. 

                                                 
1
 See, The Business Law Section of The Florida Bar, White Paper: Support for Proposed Amendments to Chapter 727, F.S., 

Assignments for the Benefit of Creditors (on file with the Senate Committee on Judiciary). 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/SB 1098   Page 2 

 

 Eliminates a conflict in existing law relating to an extension of the time within which an 

assignee may conduct the business of an insolvent debtor to allow the assignee to conduct the 

business of the insolvent debtor for 45 days, or longer, if needed and appropriate notice is 

given. 

 Identifies the parties entitled to notice and the contents of the notice when an assignee rejects 

a lease when discharging his or her duties for an insolvent estate. 

 Creates a form for deeds for use by an assignee in the sale of real property by an insolvent 

estate. 

 

This bill substantially amends the following sections of the Florida Statutes: 727.103, 727.104, 

727.108, 727.109, 727.110, 727.111, and 727.113. 

 

This bill creates section 727.117, Florida Statutes. 

II. Present Situation: 

The practice of assignment for the benefit of creditors is a state law procedure to administer an 

insolvent estate. Under an assignment for the benefit of a creditor, a debtor may voluntarily 

assign its assets to a third party.
2
 The practice of assignment for the benefit of creditors involves 

an assignment in which the debtor voluntarily assigns its assets to a third party as a trustee for the 

purpose of liquidating the assets to satisfy, in full or in part, creditors’ claims against the debtor.
3
 

 

The practice of assignment for the benefit of creditors existed at common law and was codified 

in Florida law in 1889.
4
 Florida law codifying the practice of assignment for the benefit of 

creditors was substantially re-drafted and codified in ch. 727, F.S.
5
 

 

Under Florida law,
6
 an assignment for the benefit of creditors “accomplishes the same result as a 

[federal] bankruptcy.”
7
 An assignment for the benefit of creditors is similar to federal bankruptcy 

proceedings by allowing the liquidation of a debtor’s property for an equal distribution to 

creditors.
8
 An assignment to the benefit of creditors may be distinguished from a federal 

bankruptcy proceeding in that it does not impose an automatic stay of collection efforts in favor 

of the debtor and the debtor is not discharged from his or her debt.
9
  

 

An assignment for the benefit of creditors under ch. 727, F.S., commences with an assignment 

proceeding in which the insolvent debtor (assignor)
10

 executes an irrevocable assignment in 

                                                 
2
 See, id. 

3
 See Moecker v. Antoine, 845 So. 2d 904, 910 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003) (citing Brainard v. Fitzgerald, 3 Cal.2d 157, 44 P.2d 336, 

339 (Cal. 1935)). See also, The Business Law Section of The Florida Bar, supra note 1. 
4
 Moecker, 845 So. 2d at 910. 

5
 See generally, chapter 3891, Laws of Florida and substantial redrafting with the enactment of ch. 87-174, ss. 1-17, Laws of 

Florida. 
6
 See ch. 727, F.S. 

7
 Henry P. Trawick, Jr., Trawick’s Florida Practice and Procedure, s. 37:18 (2012 ed.). 

8
 See also, The Business Law Section of The Florida Bar, supra note 1. 

9
 Id. 

10
 “Assignor” means one who transfers property rights or powers to another. BLACK’S LAW DICTIONARY (9th ed. 2009).  



BILL: CS/SB 1098   Page 3 

 

writing in compliance with a statutory form.
11

 Then, the original assignment must be recorded in 

the county where the assignor had its principal place of business and a certified copy recorded in 

each county where assets of the assignor’s estate are located.
12

 The assignee
13

 must file a petition 

with the clerk of the court to commence an assignment proceeding, and then file a motion 

requesting the court to fix the appropriate amount of the assignee’s bond.
14

 The amount of the 

bond may not be less than double the liquidation value of the assets and is conditioned upon the 

assignee’s discharge of the duties.
15

 

 

Practitioners have stated that a need exists for more consistency and guidance in the procedures 

used to handle an assignment for the benefit of creditors. 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

Negative Notice 

The bill creates a new procedure for use with an assignment for the benefit of creditors. The 

purpose of the procedure is to reduce the administrative burden on courts and the administrative 

costs to the estate for hearings for relief that are not contested or opposed.
16

 “Negative notice is a 

common procedural tool in federal bankruptcy court.”
17

 Under the bill, notice may be served by 

negative notice by including a specific form warning in the document (as set forth in 

s. 727.114(4), F.S., that: 

 

 The assignee proposes to take certain actions described in the notice without further notice or 

hearing unless a party in interest files an objection within 21 days of service of the notice; 

 Any objection to the notice must be filed with the clerk of the court and served on the 

assignee’s attorney and any other appropriate person; 

 If an objection is filed and served within the time permitted, the court must schedule a 

hearing; and 

 If no objection is filed, the assignee and the court will presume that no party opposes the 

granting of the relief requested in the notice. 

 

If an objection is not filed within the time prescribed, the assignee may take the actions described 

in the notice.
18

 

                                                 
11

 See Ronald G. Neiwirth and Jason Bloom, Florida Legislature Overhauls Assignment for the Benefit of Creditors: More 

Similar to Bankruptcy, But With a Twist, 82 FLA. B.J. 20, 20 (Jan. 2008) and s. 727.104(1)(a), F.S. 
12

 Id. at 20 and s. 727.104(2)(a), F.S. 
13

 “Assignee” means one to whom property rights or powers are transferred by another. BLACK’S LAW DICTIONARY (9th ed. 

2009). 
14

 See Ronald G. Neiwirth and Jason Bloom, supra note 11 at 20 and s. 727.104(2)(b), F.S. 
15

 “The assignee must accept the trust created by the assignment and agree to carry it out as provided by law without delay.” 

See Henry P. Trawick, Jr., supra note 6 and s. 727.104(1), F.S. 
16

 See The Business Law Section of The Florida Bar, supra note 1. 
17

 See Ronald G. Neiwirth and Jason Bloom, supra note 11 at 26 (citing Local Rule 9013-1(D) of the U.S. Bankruptcy Court 

for the Southern District of Florida which generally explains that “certain motions may be considered by the court without a 

hearing if appropriate notice and an opportunity to object to the relief requested is provided to interested parties (“negative 

notice”)).”  
18

 Under s. 727.111(4), F.S., the actions include: a proposed sale of assets of the estate other than in the ordinary course of 

business, the assignee’s continued operation of the assignor’s (insolvent debtor’s) business for longer than 45 calendar days, 



BILL: CS/SB 1098   Page 4 

 

 

Notice 

A subtle conflict currently exists between s. 727.108(4), F.S., which allows an assignee to 

conduct the business of the assignor for up to 14 days (or longer upon notice), and s. 727.111(4), 

F.S., which requires not less than 20 days’ notice of an assignee’s continued operation of the 

assignor’s business for longer than 14 calendar days. Thus, an assignee’s compliance with both 

provisions is impossible unless the notice required by s. 727.111(4), F.S., is sent before the 

assignment has occurred. 

 

To remedy the conflict, the bill provides an extension of the time within which an assignee may 

conduct the business of the assignor under s. 727.108(4), F.S., from 14 days to 45 days. The 

additional time is a larger window within which an assignee can assess the business, determine a 

strategy for liquidation, and, if necessary, give notice of intent to operate the business for an 

additional period. The assignee may continue to operate the business for up to 90 days if there is 

no objection to a negative notice given to interested parties. This period may also be extended. 

The bill leaves intact the condition that such operation of the business must be in the best interest 

of the estate. 

 

Notice to Creditors 

Currently, s. 727.111, F.S., requires a notice to be mailed at least 20 days before a proposed sale 

of assets, the payment of fees, or the settlement of a case, which might be an asset of the estate. 

To streamline the deadlines set forth in the statute into multiples of 7 days, the bill extends the 

minimum amount of time for notice under the statute from 20 days to 21 days. 

 

Assignee Bond 

The purpose of the bond under an assignment for the benefit of creditors is to “protect the 

assignor’s creditors from potential loss in the event of the assignee’s improper and irreparable 

disposition of the assignor’s assets.”
19

 Under current law, courts must set the bond in an amount 

not less than double the liquidation value of the assets of the estate. This requirement has led 

some courts to impose an unnecessarily high bond requirement, which adds costs to the 

administration of an insolvent estate under assignment for the benefit of creditors.
20

 The bill 

amends s. 727.104(4), F.S., to revise the assignee’s bond requirement to be at least $25,000 or 

double the liquidation value of the unencumbered and liquid assets of the estate, whichever is 

higher. The amendment will have the effect of requiring a minimum bond amount without 

artificially inflating the bond amount based on a large amount of secured or unliquidated debt. 

 

                                                                                                                                                                         
the compromise or settlement of a controversy, and the payment of fees and expenses to the assignee and to professional 

persons employed by the assignee. 
19

 The Business Law Section of The Florida Bar, supra note 1 (citing Williamson v. Leith, 36 F.2d 643, 644 (Fla. 5th DCA 

1929)). 
20

 Id. 



BILL: CS/SB 1098   Page 5 

 

Objections to Claims 

In an assignment for the benefit of creditors, creditors of an assignor file claims with the assignee 

who is charged with determining the validity and priority of such claims before distributing the 

assignor’s assets in accordance with statutory requirements.
21

 The assignee or any other party in 

interest may object to a creditor’s claim.
22

 The bill adds procedural amendments to s. 727.113(1), 

F.S., to specify which parties are entitled to service of any such objection and the service address 

of the claimant for objections to claims. This provision is also subject to the negative notice 

procedure created in the bill. 

 

Assignee’s Deed 

The bill creates s. 727.117, F.S., adding a form deed to statutory provisions for an assignment for 

the benefit of creditors. The deed is in substantially the same form as the warranty deed set forth 

in s. 689.02, F.S., without the warranties of title. Instead, the assignee states that the grantor 

executes the instrument in its capacity as assignee of the estate of the insolvent debtor. The deed 

also states that the assignee is not personally liable because of the instrument. 

 

Rejection of Unexpired Leases 

The statute currently allows an assignee to reject an unexpired lease of non-residential real 

property or personal property.
23

 However, it provides little guidance regarding the proper 

procedure for such rejection.
24

 In the interest of establishing consistent practices, the bill revises 

s. 727.110, F.S., to codify the procedure for such rejection. 

 

The bill specifies: 

 

 The parties entitled to notice of the rejection; 

 The information that must be included in the notice of such rejection; and 

 The effective date of the rejection. 

 

The bill also confirms the termination of an estate’s rights, obligations, and liability concerning 

the leased property if a lessor fails to take possession upon rejection. The bill also authorizes an 

as assignee to use the negative notice procedure for the notice of rejection. 

 

Discovery 

The Business Law Section of The Florida Bar has indicated that disputes have arisen among 

practitioners regarding the applicability of the discovery provisions in the Florida Rules of Civil 

Procedure to cases involving the discharge of an assignee’s statutory duties to: 

 

                                                 
21

 Section 727.113, F.S. 
22

 Section 727.113(3), F.S. 
23

 See ss. 727.108(5) and 727.109(6), F.S. 
24

 The Business Law Section of The Florida Bar, supra note 1. 



BILL: CS/SB 1098   Page 6 

 

 Determine whether to prosecute estate claims and causes of action;
25

  

 Examine the validity and priority of claims against the estate;
26

 and 

 Investigate the value or benefits of an asset of the estate.
27

 

 

The bill amends s. 727.108(1)(a), F.S., and s. 727.113, F.S., to confirm an assignee’s right to 

conduct discovery as provided in the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure in the discharge of the 

assignee’s duty to determine whether to prosecute such claims or causes of actions; and 

concerning objections to claims in all cases pending on July 1, 2013, or filed thereafter. 

 

The bill takes effect upon becoming a law. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

To the extent that the bill reduces costs associated with assignments for the benefit of 

creditors, additional funds will be available to pay creditor claims. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

None. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

                                                 
25

 Section 727.108(1)(a), F.S. 
26

 Section 727.108(10), F.S. 
27

 Section 727.108(11), F.S. 



BILL: CS/SB 1098   Page 7 

 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS by Banking and Insurance on April 9, 2013 

The CS amends the deed form to include the parcel identification number of real property 

transferred; and clarifies that the assignee’s deed form provided in the bill is to be used to 

transfer real property. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1098 

 

 

 

By the Committee on Banking and Insurance; and Senator Richter 

 

 

 

 

597-03994-13 20131098c1 

Page 1 of 14 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to general assignments; amending s. 2 

727.103, F.S.; defining the term “negative notice”; 3 

amending s. 727.104, F.S.; requiring an assignee’s 4 

bond to be in at least a specific amount or double the 5 

liquidation value of the unencumbered and liquid 6 

assets of the estate, whichever is higher; amending s. 7 

727.108, F.S.; authorizing an assignee to conduct 8 

certain discovery to determine whether to prosecute 9 

certain claims or causes of action; extending the time 10 

period an assignee may conduct the business of the 11 

assignor; authorizing the assignee to continue 12 

conducting the business of the assignor under certain 13 

circumstances by serving negative notice; amending s. 14 

727.109, F.S.; extending the time period for which a 15 

court may authorize an assignee to conduct the 16 

business of the assignor; amending s. 727.110, F.S.; 17 

providing procedures for an assignee’s rejection of an 18 

unexpired lease of nonresidential real property or of 19 

personal property; requiring the assignee to serve a 20 

notice of rejection on certain persons and file it 21 

with the court; requiring that a notice of rejection 22 

for personal property include certain information 23 

about the affected property; specifying the effective 24 

date of the rejection; requiring the estate’s rights 25 

and obligations to and liability for the affected 26 

property to terminate under certain circumstances; 27 

amending s. 727.111, F.S.; extending the minimum time 28 

period for giving notice to the assignor and 29 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1098 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-03994-13 20131098c1 

Page 2 of 14 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

creditors; conforming language; providing a procedure 30 

for serving notice on certain persons; requiring an 31 

objection to be filed and served within a specific 32 

time period; requiring the notice to be in a specified 33 

form; providing that the assignee may take certain 34 

actions if an objection is not filed; requiring the 35 

court to hear a filed objection; authorizing the court 36 

to shorten negative notice under certain 37 

circumstances; providing that a party may raise the 38 

shortened notice period in certain objections; 39 

requiring a certificate of service for negative notice 40 

to be filed with the court under certain 41 

circumstances; requiring negative notice to be given 42 

to certain persons under certain circumstances; 43 

amending s. 727.113, F.S.; providing procedures for 44 

serving an objection to a claim; providing that the 45 

Florida Rules of Civil Procedure apply to objections 46 

to claims in all pending cases beginning on a specific 47 

date; creating s. 727.117, F.S.; requiring an 48 

assignee’s deed to be in a specific form; providing an 49 

effective date. 50 

 51 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 52 

 53 

Section 1. Present subsection (13) of section 727.103, 54 

Florida Statutes, is redesignated as subsection (14), and a new 55 

subsection (13) is added to that section, to read: 56 

727.103 Definitions.—As used in this chapter, unless the 57 

context requires a different meaning, the term: 58 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1098 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-03994-13 20131098c1 

Page 3 of 14 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(13) “Negative notice” means notice as set forth in s. 59 

727.111(4) which, unless a response is filed within 21 days 60 

after the date of service thereof, allows certain actions set 61 

forth in the notice to occur. 62 

Section 2. Subsection (2) of section 727.104, Florida 63 

Statutes, is amended to read: 64 

727.104 Commencement of proceedings.— 65 

(2) Within 10 days after delivery of the assignment to the 66 

assignee, the assignee shall: 67 

(a) Record the original assignment in the public records of 68 

the county in which the assignor had its principal place of 69 

business and shall thereafter promptly record a certified copy 70 

of the assignment in each county where assets of the estate are 71 

located.; 72 

(b) File, in the office of the clerk of the court in the 73 

county of the assignor’s place of business if it has one, in the 74 

county of its chief executive office if it has more than one 75 

place of business, or in the county of the assignor’s residence 76 

if the assignor is an individual not engaged in business, in 77 

accordance with the procedures for filing a complaint as set 78 

forth in the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, a petition 79 

setting forth the name and address of the assignor and the name 80 

and address of the assignee; a copy of the assignment, together 81 

with Schedules A and B; and a request that the court fix the 82 

amount of the assignee’s bond to be filed with the clerk of the 83 

court. This bond is shall be subject to reconsideration upon the 84 

motion of any party in interest after notice and hearing. The 85 

bond is shall be payable to the clerk of the court, in an amount 86 

not less than $25,000 or double the liquidation value of the 87 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1098 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-03994-13 20131098c1 

Page 4 of 14 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

unencumbered and liquid assets of the estate as set forth in 88 

Schedule B, whichever is higher, conditioned upon the assignee’s 89 

faithful discharge of her or his duties. Within 30 days after 90 

the court enters an order setting the amount of such bond, the 91 

assignee shall file the bond with the clerk of the court, who 92 

shall approve the bond. 93 

Section 3. Subsections (1) and (4) of section 727.108, 94 

Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 95 

727.108 Duties of assignee.—The assignee shall: 96 

(1) Collect and reduce to money the assets of the estate, 97 

whether by suit in any court of competent jurisdiction or by 98 

public or private sale, including, but not limited to, 99 

prosecuting any tort claims or causes of action that which were 100 

previously held by the assignor, regardless of any generally 101 

applicable law concerning the nonassignability of tort claims or 102 

causes of action., and; 103 

(a) With respect to the estate’s claims and causes of 104 

action, the assignee may: 105 

1. Conduct discovery as provided under the Florida Rules of 106 

Civil Procedure to determine whether to prosecute such claims or 107 

causes of actions. 108 

2. Prosecute such claims or causes of action as provided in 109 

this section. or 110 

3. Sell and assign, in whole or in part, such claims or 111 

causes of action to another person or entity on the terms that 112 

the assignee determines are in the best interest of the estate 113 

under to s. 727.111(4).; and 114 

(b) In an action in any court by the assignee or the first 115 

immediate transferee of the assignee, other than an affiliate or 116 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1098 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-03994-13 20131098c1 

Page 5 of 14 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

insider of the assignor, against a defendant to assert a claim 117 

or chose in action of the estate, the claim is not subject to, 118 

and any remedy may not be limited by, a defense based on the 119 

assignor’s acquiescence, cooperation, or participation in the 120 

wrongful act by the defendant which forms the basis of the claim 121 

or chose in action. 122 

(4) Conduct the business of the assignor for a limited 123 

period that may not to exceed 45 14 calendar days, if doing so 124 

is in the best interest of the estate, or for a longer period 125 

if, in the best interest of the estate, upon notice and until 126 

such time as an objection, if any, is sustained by the court; 127 

however, the assignee may not operate the business of the 128 

assignor for longer than 45 calendar days without a court order 129 

authorizing such operation if an objection by a party in 130 

interest is interposed to the assignee’s motion for authority to 131 

operate the assignor’s business. An assignee’s authorization to 132 

conduct the business of the assignor may be extended for a 133 

period longer than 45 days upon service of negative notice. If 134 

no timely objection is filed with the court, the assignee may 135 

continue to operate the assignor’s business for an additional 90 136 

days. The court may extend the 90-day period if it finds an 137 

extension to be in the best interest of the estate. 138 

Section 4. Subsection (3) of section 727.109, Florida 139 

Statutes, is amended to read: 140 

727.109 Power of the court.—The court shall have power to: 141 

(3) Upon notice and a hearing, if requested, authorize the 142 

business of the assignor to be conducted by the assignee for 143 

longer than 45 14 calendar days, if in the best interest of the 144 

estate. 145 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1098 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-03994-13 20131098c1 

Page 6 of 14 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Section 5. Subsection (3) is added to section 727.110, 146 

Florida Statutes, to read: 147 

727.110 Actions by assignee and other parties in interest.— 148 

(3) As to an assignee’s rejection of an unexpired lease of 149 

nonresidential real property or of personal property, as 150 

provided under ss. 727.108(5) and 727.109(6): 151 

(a) The assignee shall file a notice of rejection with the 152 

court and serve a copy on the owner or lessor of the affected 153 

property and, for personal property, on the landlord of the 154 

premises on which the property is located. A notice of rejection 155 

relating to personal property must identify the affected 156 

property, the address at which the affected property is located, 157 

the name and telephone number of the person in possession of the 158 

affected property, and the deadline for removal of the affected 159 

property. 160 

(b) The effective date of the rejection is the date of 161 

entry of a court order authorizing such rejection. 162 

(c) If the lessor of the affected property fails to take 163 

possession thereof after notice of the rejection, the estate’s 164 

rights and obligations to and liability for the property 165 

terminate upon the effective date of the rejection. 166 

Section 6. Subsections (4), (6), and (8) of section 167 

727.111, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 168 

727.111 Notice.— 169 

(4) The assignee shall give the assignor and all creditors 170 

at least not less than 21 20 days’ notice by mail of a proposed 171 

sale of assets of the estate other than in the ordinary course 172 

of business, the assignee’s continued operation of the 173 

assignor’s business for longer than 45 14 calendar days, the 174 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1098 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-03994-13 20131098c1 

Page 7 of 14 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

compromise or settlement of a controversy, and the payment of 175 

fees and expenses to the assignee and to professional persons 176 

employed by the assignee pursuant to s. 727.108(7). The notice 177 

shall be served on all creditors and their attorneys, if any, at 178 

the address provided in the creditor’s proof of claim. If a 179 

proof of claim has not been filed by a creditor that is 180 

registered to do business in this state, the notice must be 181 

served on the creditor’s registered agent as listed with the 182 

Division of Corporations of the Department of State and on the 183 

creditor’s attorney, if known. If a proof of claim has not been 184 

filed and the creditor does not have a registered agent within 185 

the state, the notice must be served on the creditor at the 186 

address listed in the schedules filed by the assignor. Objection 187 

Any objections to the proposed action must be filed and served 188 

upon the assignee and the assignee’s attorney, if any, within 21 189 

days after service of the notice not less than 3 days before the 190 

date of the proposed action. The notice shall be in the 191 

following form: must include a description of the proposed 192 

action to be taken, the date of the proposed action, and the 193 

date and place for the hearing at which any objections will be 194 

heard. 195 

 196 

NOTICE OF OPPORTUNITY TO OBJECT AND REQUEST A HEARING 197 

 198 

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT 199 

OF THE .... 200 

CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR 201 

.... COUNTY, 202 

FLORIDA 203 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1098 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-03994-13 20131098c1 

Page 8 of 14 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

 204 

IN RE:............, 205 

Assignor, 206 

TO:............, 207 

Assignee. 208 

 209 

TO CREDITORS AND OTHER INTERESTED PARTIES: 210 

 211 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that, pursuant to s. 727.111(4), Florida 212 

Statutes, the assignee may ...(List applicable action(s) 213 

described in s. 727.111(4))..., and the Court may consider these 214 

actions without further notice or hearing unless a party in 215 

interest files an objection within 21 days from the date this 216 

paper is served. If you object to the relief requested in this 217 

paper, you must file your objection with the Clerk of the Court 218 

at...(Clerk’s address)..., and serve a copy on the assignee’s 219 

attorney,...(attorney’s name and address)..., and any other 220 

appropriate person. 221 

 222 

If you file and serve an objection within the time permitted, 223 

the Court shall schedule a hearing and notify you of the 224 

scheduled hearing. If a hearing is already scheduled, list the 225 

date, time, and location of the hearing: ...(date, time, and 226 

location)...  227 

 228 

If you do not file an objection within the time permitted, the 229 

assignee and the Court will presume that you do not oppose the 230 

granting of the relief requested in the paper. 231 

 232 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1098 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-03994-13 20131098c1 

Page 9 of 14 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

.................... 233 

ASSIGNEE 234 

Attorney for assignee (if any):........ 235 

Address:........ 236 

 237 

If no objections are not timely filed and served, the assignee 238 

may take such action as described in the notice without further 239 

order of the court or may obtain an order approving the action 240 

without further notice or hearing of the court granting such 241 

motion if the assignee reasonably believes that the order is 242 

necessary to proceed with the action contemplated by the motion. 243 

If an objection is filed, the court shall hold a hearing on the 244 

objection. 245 

(6) For good cause shown and without notice of hearing, the 246 

court may shorten the notice or negative notice period or limit 247 

the parties to whom notice or negative notice need be given, 248 

pursuant to subsection (3) or subsection (4). This subsection 249 

does not affect the right of a party in interest to raise the 250 

shortened notice period in any objection to the relief sought 251 

under subsection (4). 252 

(8) Wherever notice or negative notice is required to be 253 

given under this chapter, a certificate of service of such 254 

notice or negative notice shall be filed with the court, and 255 

notice or negative notice shall be given to all consensual 256 

lienholders and counsel who have filed a notice of appearance 257 

with the court or who are identified in the assignor’s 258 

schedules. 259 

Section 7. Subsection (1) of section 727.113, Florida 260 

Statutes, is amended, and subsection (5) is added to that 261 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1098 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-03994-13 20131098c1 

Page 10 of 14 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

section, to read: 262 

727.113 Objections to claims.— 263 

(1) At any time before prior to the entry of an order 264 

approving the assignee’s final report, the assignee or any party 265 

in interest, including another creditor of the assignor, may 266 

file with the court an objection to a claim, which objection 267 

must be in writing and set forth the nature of the objection, 268 

and shall serve a copy thereof on the creditor at the address 269 

provided in the proof of claim, and to the assignee and the 270 

assignee’s attorney, if any. The objection may be served on 271 

negative notice. A copy of the objection, together with notice 272 

of hearing thereon, shall be mailed to the creditor at least 20 273 

days prior to the hearing. All claims properly filed with the 274 

assignee and not disallowed by the court constitute all claims 275 

entitled to distribution from the estate. 276 

(5) The discovery provisions of the Florida Rules of Civil 277 

Procedure apply to objections to claims in all cases pending on 278 

July 1, 2013, or filed thereafter. 279 

Section 8. Section 727.117, Florida Statutes, is created to 280 

read: 281 

727.117 Assignee’s deed form.— 282 

(1) If an assignee sells real property of the estate, the 283 

deed shall be in substantially the following form: 284 

 285 

ASSIGNEE’S DEED 286 

 287 

This Assignee’s Deed is made and executed this .... day of 288 

...., ...(year)..., by ...., as Assignee for the Estate of ...., 289 

Case No. .... in the Circuit Court of .... County, Florida, 290 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1098 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-03994-13 20131098c1 

Page 11 of 14 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

whose post office address is .... (hereinafter “Grantor”), to 291 

...., whose post office address is .... (hereinafter “Grantee”). 292 

Wherever used herein, the terms “Grantor” and “Grantee” 293 

include all the parties to this instrument, singular and plural, 294 

and the heirs, legal representatives, and assigns of these 295 

individuals, and the successors and assigns of corporations, 296 

wherever the context so admits or requires. 297 

 298 

WITNESSETH: 299 

 300 

That Grantor, for and in consideration of the sum of Ten 301 

Dollars ($10.00) and other good and valuable consideration in 302 

hand paid to said Grantor by Grantee, the receipt of which is 303 

hereby acknowledged, hereby grants, bargains, sells, aliens, 304 

remises, releases, conveys, and confirms unto Grantee, all of 305 

that certain real property lying and being in the County of 306 

...., State of Florida, more particularly described as follows: 307 

 308 

SEE ATTACHED “EXHIBIT A,” which is incorporated herein by 309 

the term “Property”. 310 

 311 

This conveyance is subject to taxes accruing for the year 312 

of conveyance and subsequent years, and all encumbrances, 313 

covenants, conditions, and restrictions of record, except 314 

nothing herein operates to reimpose same. 315 

 316 

TOGETHER with all the tenements, hereditaments, and 317 

appurtenances thereto belonging or in anywise appertaining. 318 

 319 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1098 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-03994-13 20131098c1 

Page 12 of 14 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the same in fee simple forever. 320 

 321 

AND the Grantor hereby covenants with said Grantee that 322 

Grantor has good right and lawful authority to sell and convey 323 

said Property. 324 

 325 

Grantor executed this instrument only in Grantor’s capacity 326 

as Assignee of the above referenced Assignment estate and no 327 

personal judgment shall ever be sought or obtained against 328 

Grantor individually by reason of this instrument. 329 

 330 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, said Grantor has caused these presents 331 

to be executed the day and year first written above. 332 

 333 

GRANTOR: 334 

 335 

...(Grantor’s Signature)... 336 

Print Name:........ 337 

As Assignee for the Estate of ...(Assignor’s Name)... 338 

Case No. .... 339 

Circuit Court of .... County, Florida 340 

 341 

Signed, sealed and delivered 342 

in the presence of: 343 

 344 

...(Witness’s Signature)... 345 

Witness 346 

...(Witness’s Name Printed)... 347 

Print Name 348 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1098 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-03994-13 20131098c1 

Page 13 of 14 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

 349 

...Witness’s Signature... 350 

Witness 351 

...(Witness’s Name Printed)... 352 

Print Name 353 

 354 

STATE OF FLORIDA 355 

COUNTY OF .... 356 

 357 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this .... day of ...., 358 

...(year)..., by ...(Assignee’s Name)..., as Assignee for the 359 

Estate of ...(Assignor’s Name)..., Case No. ...., Circuit Court 360 

of .... County, Florida, on behalf of said estate. 361 

 362 

...(Signature of Notary Public - State of Florida)... 363 

...(Print, Type, or Stamp Commissioned Name of Notary Public)... 364 

Personally Known .... OR Produced Identification .... 365 

Type of Identification Produced:.... 366 

(2) The form for an assignee’s deed shall include a blank 367 

space for the property appraiser’s parcel identification number 368 

describing the property conveyed, which number, if available, 369 

shall be entered on the deed before it is presented for 370 

recording. The failure to include such blank space or the parcel 371 

identification number, or the inclusion of an incorrect parcel 372 

identification number, does not affect the validity of the 373 

conveyance or the recordability of the deed. Such parcel 374 

identification number is not a part of the legal description of 375 

the property otherwise set forth in the deed and may not be used 376 

as a substitute for the legal description of the property being 377 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1098 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-03994-13 20131098c1 

Page 14 of 14 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

conveyed. 378 

Section 9. This act shall take effect upon becoming a law. 379 



 

 

SENATOR GARRETT RICHTER 
President Pro Tempore 

23rd District 

THE FLORIDA SENATE 
 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-1100 
 

 
COMMITTEES: 
Gaming, Chair 
Appropriations 
Appropriations Subcommittee on Education 
Appropriations Subcommittee on Health 
   and Human Services 
Banking and Insurance 
Commerce and Tourism 
Judiciary 
Rules 
Transportation 
 
JOINT COMMITTEE: 
Joint Legislative Budget Commission 
 

 

 
 REPLY TO: 
   3299 E. Tamiami Trail, Suite 203, Naples, Florida  34112-4961  (239) 417-6205 
   404 Senate Office Building, 404 South Monroe Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1100  (850) 487-5023 
   25 Homestead Road North, Suite 42 B, Lehigh Acres, Florida 33936   (239) 338-2777 
 

Senate’s Website:  www.flsenate.gov 
 
 

 DON GAETZ GARRETT RICHTER 
 President of the Senate President Pro Tempore 
 

 

 

April 9, 2013 

 

 

The Honorable John Thrasher, Chair 

Senate Committee on Rules 

402 Senate Office Building 

404 South Monroe Street 

Tallahassee, FL  32399 

 

Dear Chairman Thrasher: 

 

Senate Bill 1098, relating to General Assignments, has been referred to the Committee on Rules, 

and was passed unanimously in all House and Senate committee.  I would appreciate the placing 

of this bill on the committee’s agenda at your earliest convenience. 

 

Thank you for your consideration. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 

 

Garrett Richter 

 

cc: John Phelps, Staff Director 

 

 



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Rules 

 

BILL:  SB 1848 

INTRODUCER:  Banking and Insurance Committee 

SUBJECT:  Public Records/Inspector General/Citizens Property Insurance Corporation 

DATE:  April 12, 2013 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Matiyow  Burgess    bi SPB 7136 as Introduced 

2. Naf  McVaney  GO  Favorable 

3. Matiyow  Phelps  RC  Favorable 

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

I. Summary: 

SB 1848 is linked to SB 1770, which, in pertinent part, creates an Office of the Inspector General 

of Citizens Property Insurance Corporation (Citizens). SB 1848 expands an existing public 

records exemption for Citizens records to also include: 

 The identity of an individual who makes an allegation to the inspector general that an 

employee or agent of Citizens has committed a specified act or violation; and 

 Information relating to an investigation of such an alleged act or violation. 

 

The bill specifies circumstances under which such an identity or investigative information may 

be released. 

 

The bill provides that the expanded exemption is subject to the Open Government Sunset Review 

Act and will repeal on October 2, 2018, unless reviewed and reenacted by the Legislature. It also 

provides a statement of public necessity as required by the Florida Constitution. 

 

Because this bill expands a public records exemption, it requires a two-thirds vote of the 

members present and voting in each house of the Legislature for final passage. 

 

This bill substantially amends the section 627.351 of the Florida Statutes. 

REVISED:         



BILL: SB 1848   Page 2 

 

II. Present Situation: 

Public Records Laws 

The Florida Constitution provides every person the right to inspect or copy any public record 

made or received in connection with the official business of any public body, officer, or 

employee of the state, or of persons acting on their behalf.
1
 The records of the legislative, 

executive, and judicial branches are specifically included.
2
  

 

The Florida Statutes also specify conditions under which public access must be provided to 

government records. The Public Records Act
3
 guarantees every person’s right to inspect and 

copy any state or local government public record
4
 at any reasonable time, under reasonable 

conditions, and under supervision by the custodian of the public record.
5
  

 

Only the Legislature may create an exemption to public records requirements.
6
 Such an 

exemption must be created by general law and must specifically state the public necessity 

justifying the exemption.
7
 Further, the exemption must be no broader than necessary to 

accomplish the stated purpose of the law. A bill enacting an exemption may not contain other 

substantive provisions
8
 and must pass by a two-thirds vote of the members present and voting in 

each house of the Legislature.
9
 

 

The Open Government Sunset Review Act (the Act) prescribes a legislative review process for 

newly created or substantially amended public records or open meetings exemptions.
10

 It 

                                                 
1
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(a). 

2
 Id. 

3
 Chapter 119, F.S. 

4
 Section 119.011(12), F.S., defines “public records” to mean “all documents, papers, letters, maps, books, tapes, 

photographs, films, sound recordings, data processing software, or other material, regardless of the physical form, 

characteristics, or means of transmission, made or received pursuant to law or ordinance or in connection with the transaction 

of official business by any agency.” Section 119.011(2), F.S., defines “agency” to mean as “any state, county, district, 

authority, or municipal officer, department, division, board, bureau, commission, or other separate unit of government created 

or established by law including, for the purposes of this chapter, the Commission on Ethics, the Public Service Commission, 

and the Office of Public Counsel, and any other public or private agency, person, partnership, corporation, or business entity 

acting on behalf of any public agency.” The Public Records Act does not apply to legislative or judicial records (see Locke v. 

Hawkes, 595 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1992)). 
5
 Section 119.07(1)(a), F.S. 

6
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). There is a difference between records the Legislature designates as exempt from public records 

requirements and those the Legislature designates confidential and exempt. A record classified as exempt from public 

disclosure may be disclosed under certain circumstances (see WFTV, Inc. v. The School Board of Seminole, 874 So.2d 48 

(Fla. 5th DCA 2004), review denied 892 So.2d 1015 (Fla. 2004); City of Riviera Beach v. Barfield, 642 So.2d 1135 (Fla. 4th 

DCA 2004); and Williams v. City of Minneola, 575 So.2d 687 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). If the Legislature designates a record as 

confidential and exempt from public disclosure, such record may not be released, by the custodian of public records, to 

anyone other than the persons or entities specifically designated in the statutory exemption (see Attorney General Opinion 

85-62, August 1, 1985). 
7
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). 

8
 The bill may, however, contain multiple exemptions that relate to one subject. 

9
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). 

10
 Section 119.15, F.S. An exemption is substantially amended if the amendment expands the scope of the exemption to 

include more records or information or to include meetings as well as records (s. 119.15(4)(b), F.S.). The requirements of the 

Act do not apply to an exemption that is required by federal law or that applies solely to the Legislature or the State Court 

System (s. 119.15(2), F.S.). 



BILL: SB 1848   Page 3 

 

requires the automatic repeal of such exemption on October 2nd of the fifth year after creation or 

substantial amendment, unless the Legislature reenacts the exemption.
11

 The Act provides that a 

public records or open meetings exemption may be created or maintained only if it serves an 

identifiable public purpose and is no broader than is necessary to meet such public purpose.
12

 

 

Citizens Property Insurance Corporation (Citizens) 

Citizens is a state-created, not-for-profit, tax-exempt governmental entity whose public purpose 

is to provide property insurance coverage to those unable to find affordable coverage in the 

voluntary admitted market.
13

 Citizens is not a private insurance company.
14

 Citizens was 

statutorily created in 2002 when the Florida Legislature combined the state’s two insurers of last 

resort, the Florida Residential Property and Casualty Joint Underwriting Association and the 

Florida Windstorm Underwriting Association. Citizens operates in accordance with the 

provisions in s. 627.351(6), F.S., and is governed by an eight-member Board of Governors that 

administers its Plan of Operations, which is reviewed and approved by the Financial Services 

Commission. The Governor, President of the Senate, Speaker of the House of Representatives, 

and Chief Financial Officer each appoints two members to the board. 

 

Citizens Inspector General  

Citizens currently does not have an inspector general and is not required by law to have one. The 

Chief of Internal Audit has job duties and responsibilities similar to an inspector general. The 

Chief of Internal Audit position was created in Citizens in 2006 and Citizens’ first Chief of 

Internal Audit started in January 2007. The position has been filled almost continuously since 

that time, with Citizens employing four Chiefs of Internal Audit since 2007.  

 

Generally, the duties of the Chief of Internal Audit include: fostering and promoting 

accountability and integrity in Citizens; holding the Citizen’s leadership, management and staff 

accountable for efficient, cost-effective operation; and preventing, identifying, and eliminating 

fraud, waste, corruption, illegal acts, and abuse. Specific duties and responsibilities for the 

position are contained in s. 627.351(6)(i), F.S. The Chief of Internal Audit carries out his duties 

primarily through audits, management reviews and investigations.  

 

From December 2010 until October 2012, Citizens also had an Office of Corporate Integrity. The 

office handled employee complaints, particularly those that could indicate ethics violations and 

internal fraud. From December 2010 until July 2012, the employees in this office reported to 

Citizens’ General Counsel and Chief Legal Officer. Thereafter, they reported to the Citizens’ 

Chief of Internal Audit. The Office was disbanded by Citizens’ Board in October 2012, but its 

functions were absorbed by other Citizens’ staff, including the Office of Internal Audit, the 

Ethics Officer, and the Employee Relations Office. 

 

                                                 
11

 Section 119.15(3), F.S. 
12

 Section 119.15(6)(b), F.S. 
13

 “Admitted market” means insurance companies licensed to transact insurance in Florida. 
14

 Section 627.351(6)(a)1., F.S. Citizens is also subject to regulation by the Office of Insurance Regulation. 



BILL: SB 1848   Page 4 

 

SB 1770 (linked to this bill) 

SB 1770, in pertinent part, establishes the Office of the Inspector General within Citizens to 

ensure accountability, integrity, and efficiency. The inspector general is appointed by the 

Financial Services Commission and may be removed from office only by the commission. The 

inspector general is under the supervision of the commission until June 30, 2014, after which he 

or she reports to the chair of the board of governors. 

 

The inspector general’s specified duties are to initiate, direct, coordinate, participate in, and 

perform studies, reviews, evaluations, and investigations designed to assess management 

practices; compliance with laws, rules, and policies; and program effectiveness and efficiency. In 

addition, the inspector general must complete special projects and perform other duties as 

requested by the Financial Services Commission. 

 

At least annually, the inspector general must report to the President of the Senate and the 

Speaker of the House of Representatives the extent to which policies are returned to the 

voluntary market from the corporation’s clearinghouse. Such a report must include an analysis 

regarding the effectiveness of the clearinghouse for depopulation of Citizens. 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

This bill expands an existing public records exemption that makes specified Citizens records 

confidential and exempt. Specifically, the bill adds to the exemption the name or identity of an 

individual who, in good faith, alleges, or provides information relating to an allegation, to the 

Office of the Inspector General that an employee or agent of Citizens: 

 Violated a federal, state, or local law, ordinance, or rule; 

 Committed an act of fraud, waste, abuse, malfeasance, or mismanagement;  

 Committed employee misconduct; or 

 Violated a policy of the corporation. 

 

The bill authorizes disclosure of such person’s name or identity: 

 With the written consent of the individual; or 

 Pursuant to a court order. 

 

The bill also adds to the existing Citizens public records exemption all information relating to an 

investigation of such a possible violation or act. The bill provides that such information is 

confidential or exempt until the inspector general completes the investigation and determines 

such violation or act occurred. If the inspector general determines that the alleged violation or act 

did not occur, the information remains confidential and exempt. Such information may be 

disclosed at any time to: 

 A current member of the Financial Services Commission; 

 The current President of the Senate; or 

 The current Speaker of the House of Representatives. 

 

The bill provides that the expanded exemption is subject to the Open Government Sunset Review 

Act and will repeal on October 2, 2018, unless reviewed and reenacted by the Legislature. The 

bill also provides a statement of public necessity as required by the Florida Constitution. 



BILL: SB 1848   Page 5 

 

 

This bill will take effect on the same date that SB 1770 or similar legislation takes effect, if such 

legislation is adopted in the same legislative session or an extension thereof and becomes a law. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

Not applicable. This bill does not appear to affect county or municipal governments. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

Vote Requirement 
 

Section 24(c), Art. I of the Florida Constitution requires a newly created or expanded 

public records exemption to pass by a two-thirds vote of the members present and voting 

in each house of the Legislature. This bill expands a public records exemption; therefore, 

it requires a two-thirds vote for final passage. 

 

Public Necessity Statement 
 

Section 24(c), Art. I of the Florida Constitution requires a newly created or expanded 

public records exemption to contain a public necessity statement justifying the 

exemption. This bill expands a public records exemption; therefore, it contains a public 

necessity statement. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

None. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

This bill could create a minimal fiscal impact on Citizens, because staff responsible for 

complying with public records requests could require training related to the expansion of 

the public records exemption. In addition, Citizens could incur costs associated with 

redaction of the confidential and exempt information prior to releasing the record. The 

costs would be absorbed, however, as they are part of the day-to-day responsibilities of 

Citizens.  



BILL: SB 1848   Page 6 

 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None.  

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

None. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2013 SB 1848 

 

 

 

By the Committee on Banking and Insurance 

 

 

 

 

597-03438-13 20131848__ 

Page 1 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to public records; providing a public 2 

records exemption for the identity of individuals who 3 

make certain allegations or provide certain 4 

information to the inspector general of Citizens 5 

Property Insurance Corporation and for information 6 

relating to a resulting investigation; providing for 7 

future review and repeal; providing a statement of 8 

public necessity; providing a contingent effective 9 

date. 10 

 11 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 12 

 13 

Section 1. With respect to the Office of the Inspector 14 

General of the corporation: 15 

(1) The name or identity of an individual who, in good 16 

faith, alleges, or provides information relating to an 17 

allegation, to the Office of the Inspector General of the 18 

corporation that an employee or agent of the corporation 19 

violated a federal, state, or local law, ordinance, or rule; 20 

committed an act of fraud, waste, abuse, malfeasance, or 21 

mismanagement; committed employee misconduct; or violated a 22 

policy of the corporation. The name or identity of such an 23 

individual may be disclosed only with the written consent of the 24 

individual or pursuant to a court order. 25 

(2) All information relating to an investigation of a 26 

possible violation or act described in this section conducted by 27 

the inspector general is confidential and exempt until he or she 28 

completes the investigation and determines such violation or act 29 

Florida Senate - 2013 SB 1848 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-03438-13 20131848__ 

Page 2 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

occurred. If the inspector general determines that such 30 

violation or act did not occur, the information remains 31 

confidential and exempt. Information relating to an 32 

investigation may be disclosed at any time to a current member 33 

of the Financial Services Commission or the current President of 34 

the Senate or Speaker of the House of Representatives. 35 

(3) This section is subject to the Open Government Sunset 36 

Review Act in accordance with s. 119.15, Florida Statutes, and 37 

shall stand repealed on October 2, 2018, unless reviewed and 38 

saved from repeal through reenactment by the Legislature. 39 

Section 2. Section 1 of this act shall be codified as sub-40 

subparagraph j. of subparagraph 1. of paragraph (x) of 41 

subsection (6) of section 627.351, Florida Statutes, and the 42 

section and subsections in section 1 of this act may be 43 

redesignated to conform to that codification. 44 

Section 3. (1) The Legislature finds and declares that it 45 

is a public necessity that the identity of an individual who 46 

makes an allegation, or provides information relating to an 47 

allegation against an employer or agent of the corporation 48 

regarding a violation of law, ordinance, rule, or corporation 49 

policy, or an act of fraud, waste, abuse, malfeasance, 50 

mismanagement, or employee misconduct, which is held by the 51 

Office of Inspector General of the Citizens Property Insurance 52 

Corporation, be made confidential and exempt from s. 119.07(1), 53 

Florida Statutes, and s. 24(a), Article I of the State 54 

Constitution until the inspector general concludes any resulting 55 

evaluation, audit, or investigation. This exemption is necessary 56 

because failure to provide such protection could make 57 

individuals who provide information vulnerable to harassment or 58 



Florida Senate - 2013 SB 1848 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-03438-13 20131848__ 

Page 3 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

retaliation from persons who may be the subject of such 59 

allegations and resulting investigations and have a chilling 60 

effect that discourages individuals from disclosing information 61 

that would facilitate the ability of the inspector general to 62 

carry out his or her investigatory duties. 63 

(2) The Legislature finds that it is a public necessity 64 

that information relating to the inspector general’s 65 

investigation of a possible violation of law, ordinance, rule, 66 

or corporation policy, or an act of fraud, waste, abuse, 67 

malfeasance, mismanagement, or employee misconduct, be 68 

confidential and exempt from s. 119.07(1), Florida Statutes, and 69 

s. 24(a), Art. I of the State Constitution. This exemption is 70 

necessary because the release of such information could 71 

potentially be defamatory to an individual under investigation, 72 

cause unwarranted damage to the good name or reputation of such 73 

individual, or significantly impair the investigation. The 74 

exemption creates a secure environment in which the inspector 75 

general may conduct an investigation. 76 

Section 4. This act shall take effect on the same date that 77 

SB 1770 or similar legislation takes effect, if such legislation 78 

is adopted in the same legislative session or an extension 79 

thereof and becomes a law. 80 



The Florida Senate

Committee Agenda Request

To;

Subject:

Senator John Thrasher, Chair
Committee on Rules

Committee Agenda Request

RECEIVED
APR 1 o 2013

Date: April 10, 2013

I respectfully request that Senate Bill 1848, relating to Public Records / Inspector General /
Citizens Property Insurance Corporation, be placed on the:

[-] committee agenda at your earliest possible convenience.

[~ next committee agenda.

Senator David Simmons
Florida Senate, District 10

File signed original with committee office s-020 (03/2004)



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Rules 

 

BILL:  SB 1850 

INTRODUCER:  Banking and Insurance Committee 

SUBJECT:  Public Records/Citizens Property Insurance Corporation Clearinghouse 

DATE:  April 12, 2013 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Matiyow  Burgess    bi SPB 7140 as Introduced 

2. Naf  McVaney  GO  Favorable 

3. Matiyow  Phelps  RC  Favorable 

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

I. Summary: 

SB 1850 is linked to SB 1770, which, in pertinent part, creates a Citizens Property Insurance 

Corporation clearinghouse. SB 1850 provides that underwriting guidelines, manuals, rating 

information, and other underwriting criteria or instructions submitted by an insurer to the 

clearinghouse which are used to identify and select risks from the clearinghouse are confidential 

and exempt from public records requirements. 

 

The bill provides that the public records exemption is subject to the Open Government Sunset 

Review Act and will repeal on October 2, 2018, unless reviewed and reenacted by the 

Legislature. It also provides a statement of public necessity as required by the Florida 

Constitution. 

 

Because this bill creates a public records exemption, it requires a two-thirds vote of the members 

present and voting in each house of the Legislature for final passage. 

 

This bill substantially amends a currently nonexistent section of the Florida Statutes that is 

created by the linked bill, SB 1770. 

II. Present Situation: 

Public Records Laws 

The Florida Constitution provides every person the right to inspect or copy any public record 

made or received in connection with the official business of any public body, officer, or 

REVISED:         



BILL: SB 1850   Page 2 

 

employee of the state, or of persons acting on their behalf.
1
 The records of the legislative, 

executive, and judicial branches are specifically included.
2
  

 

The Florida Statutes also specify conditions under which public access must be provided to 

government records. The Public Records Act
3
 guarantees every person’s right to inspect and 

copy any state or local government public record
4
 at any reasonable time, under reasonable 

conditions, and under supervision by the custodian of the public record.
5
  

 

Only the Legislature may create an exemption to public records requirements.
6
 Such an 

exemption must be created by general law and must specifically state the public necessity 

justifying the exemption.
7
 Further, the exemption must be no broader than necessary to 

accomplish the stated purpose of the law. A bill enacting an exemption may not contain other 

substantive provisions
8
 and must pass by a two-thirds vote of the members present and voting in 

each house of the Legislature.
9
 

 

The Open Government Sunset Review Act (the Act) prescribes a legislative review process for 

newly created or substantially amended public records or open meetings exemptions.
10

 It 

requires the automatic repeal of such exemption on October 2nd of the fifth year after creation or 

substantial amendment, unless the Legislature reenacts the exemption.
11

 The Act provides that a 

public records or open meetings exemption may be created or maintained only if it serves an 

identifiable public purpose and is no broader than is necessary to meet such public purpose.
12

 

                                                 
1
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(a). 

2
 Id. 

3
 Chapter 119, F.S. 

4
 Section 119.011(12), F.S., defines “public records” to mean “all documents, papers, letters, maps, books, tapes, 

photographs, films, sound recordings, data processing software, or other material, regardless of the physical form, 

characteristics, or means of transmission, made or received pursuant to law or ordinance or in connection with the transaction 

of official business by any agency.” Section 119.011(2), F.S., defines “agency” to mean as “any state, county, district, 

authority, or municipal officer, department, division, board, bureau, commission, or other separate unit of government created 

or established by law including, for the purposes of this chapter, the Commission on Ethics, the Public Service Commission, 

and the Office of Public Counsel, and any other public or private agency, person, partnership, corporation, or business entity 

acting on behalf of any public agency.” The Public Records Act does not apply to legislative or judicial records (see Locke v. 

Hawkes, 595 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1992)). 
5
 Section 119.07(1)(a), F.S. 

6
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). There is a difference between records the Legislature designates as exempt from public records 

requirements and those the Legislature designates confidential and exempt. A record classified as exempt from public 

disclosure may be disclosed under certain circumstances (see WFTV, Inc. v. The School Board of Seminole, 874 So.2d 48 

(Fla. 5th DCA 2004), review denied 892 So.2d 1015 (Fla. 2004); City of Riviera Beach v. Barfield, 642 So.2d 1135 (Fla. 4th 

DCA 2004); and Williams v. City of Minneola, 575 So.2d 687 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). If the Legislature designates a record as 

confidential and exempt from public disclosure, such record may not be released, by the custodian of public records, to 

anyone other than the persons or entities specifically designated in the statutory exemption (see Attorney General Opinion 

85-62, August 1, 1985). 
7
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). 

8
 The bill may, however, contain multiple exemptions that relate to one subject. 

9
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). 

10
 Section 119.15, F.S. An exemption is substantially amended if the amendment expands the scope of the exemption to 

include more records or information or to include meetings as well as records (s. 119.15(4)(b), F.S.). The requirements of the 

Act do not apply to an exemption that is required by federal law or that applies solely to the Legislature or the State Court 

System (s. 119.15(2), F.S.). 
11

 Section 119.15(3), F.S. 
12

 Section 119.15(6)(b), F.S. 



BILL: SB 1850   Page 3 

 

 

Citizens Property Insurance Corporation (Citizens) 

Citizens is a state-created, not-for-profit, tax-exempt governmental entity whose public purpose 

is to provide property insurance coverage to those unable to find affordable coverage in the 

voluntary admitted market.
13

 Citizens is not a private insurance company.
14

 Citizens was 

statutorily created in 2002 when the Florida Legislature combined the state’s two insurers of last 

resort, the Florida Residential Property and Casualty Joint Underwriting Association and the 

Florida Windstorm Underwriting Association. Citizens operates in accordance with the 

provisions in s. 627.351(6), F.S., and is governed by an eight-member Board of Governors that 

administers its Plan of Operations, which is reviewed and approved by the Financial Services 

Commission. The Governor, President of the Senate, Speaker of the House of Representatives, 

and Chief Financial Officer each appoints two members to the board. 

 

SB 1770 (linked to this bill) 

This bill is linked to SB 1770, which, in pertinent part, requires Citizens to implement a 

clearinghouse by July 1, 2013. All new and renewal applications, excluding commercial 

residential, must be submitted to the clearinghouse before Citizens can bind or renew coverage.  

 

The clearinghouse:  

 Must develop an application process to facilitate private insurers in determining whether or 

not to make an offer of coverage through the clearinghouse.  

 Must enter into contracts with Florida property insurance companies to participate in the 

clearinghouse and must accept appointments from voluntary market insurers. 

 Must require all new and renewal applicants to be submitted to the clearinghouse to see if 

there are any offers of coverage from an authorized insurer.  

 Must require all new applications for coverage to be subject to a 48-hour period that allows a 

private insurer participating in the clearinghouse to select applicants for coverage. 

 Allows an applicant to accept an offer from a surplus lines insurer if the applicant does not 

receive an offer of coverage from admitted insurers. 

 May charge a reasonable fee as a percentage of an agent’s commission to offset the costs of 

the clearinghouse. Insurers participating in the clearinghouse are not required to pay a fee or 

use the clearinghouse. 

 

All licensed insurers are authorized to participate in the clearinghouse, but participation is not 

mandatory.  

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

The bill provides that underwriting guidelines, manuals, rating information, and other 

underwriting criteria or instructions submitted by an insurer to the Citizens clearinghouse which 

are used to identify and select risks from the clearinghouse are confidential and exempt from 

public records disclosure requirements. 

                                                 
13

 “Admitted market” means insurance companies licensed to transact insurance in Florida. 
14

 Section 627.351(6)(a)1., F.S. Citizens is also subject to regulation by the Office of Insurance Regulation. 



BILL: SB 1850   Page 4 

 

 

The bill provides that the public records exemption is subject to the Open Government Sunset 

Review Act and will repeal on October 2, 2018, unless reviewed and reenacted by the 

Legislature. It also provides a public necessity statement as required by the Florida Constitution. 

 

This act shall take effect on the same date that SB 1770 or similar legislation creating 

s. 627.3518, Florida Statutes, the Citizen’s Property Insurance Corporation clearinghouse, takes 

effect, if such legislation is adopted in the same legislative session or an extension thereof and 

becomes law. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

Not applicable. This bill does not appear to affect county or municipal governments. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

Vote Requirement 
 

Section 24(c), Art. I of the Florida Constitution requires a newly created or expanded 

public records exemption to pass by a two-thirds vote of the members present and voting 

in each house of the Legislature. This bill creates a public records exemption; therefore, it 

requires a two-thirds vote for final passage. 

 

Public Necessity Statement 
 

Section 24(c), Art. I of the Florida Constitution requires a newly created or expanded 

public records exemption to contain a public necessity statement justifying the 

exemption. This bill creates a public records exemption; therefore, it contains a public 

necessity statement. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

Underwriting guidelines, manuals, rating information and other underwriting criteria 

belonging to insurers participating in the Citizens clearinghouse program will be 

protected, thereby preventing release of information that could put such insurers at a 

competitive disadvantage. 



BILL: SB 1850   Page 5 

 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

This bill could create a minimal fiscal impact on Citizens, because staff responsible for 

complying with public records requests could require training related to the expansion of 

the public records exemption. In addition, Citizens could incur costs associated with 

redaction of the confidential and exempt information prior to releasing the record. The 

costs would be absorbed, however, as they are part of the day-to-day responsibilities of 

Citizens.  

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None.  

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

None. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2013 SB 1850 

 

 

 

By the Committee on Banking and Insurance 

 

 

 

 

597-03437-13 20131850__ 

Page 1 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to public records; amending s. 2 

627.3518, F.S.; providing an exemption from public 3 

records requirements for all underwriting guidelines, 4 

manuals, rating information, and other underwriting 5 

criteria or instructions submitted by an insurer to 6 

the corporation’s policyholder eligibility 7 

clearinghouse program which are used to identify and 8 

select risks from the program; providing for future 9 

review and repeal; providing a statement of public 10 

necessity; providing a contingent effective date. 11 

 12 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 13 

 14 

Section 1. Subsection (11) is added to section 627.3518, 15 

Florida Statutes, as created by SB 1770 or similar legislation, 16 

2013 Regular Session, to read: 17 

627.3518 Citizens Property Insurance Corporation 18 

clearinghouse.— 19 

(11) Underwriting guidelines, manuals, rating information, 20 

and other underwriting criteria or instructions submitted by an 21 

insurer to the corporation’s clearinghouse which are used to 22 

identify and select risks from the clearinghouse are 23 

confidential and exempt from s. 119.07(1) and s. 24(a), Art. I 24 

of the State Constitution. This subsection is subject to the 25 

Open Government Sunset Review Act in accordance with s. 119.15 26 

and shall stand repealed on October 2, 2018, unless reviewed and 27 

saved from repeal through reenactment by the Legislature. 28 

Section 2. The Legislature finds and declares that it is a 29 

Florida Senate - 2013 SB 1850 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-03437-13 20131850__ 

Page 2 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

public necessity that underwriting guidelines, manuals, rating 30 

information, and other underwriting criteria or instructions 31 

submitted by an insurer to the Citizens Property Insurance 32 

Corporation’s clearinghouse which are used to identify and 33 

select risks from the clearinghouse be made confidential and 34 

exempt from s. 119.07(1), Florida Statutes, and s. 24(a), 35 

Article I of the State Constitution. The program will facilitate 36 

obtaining offers of coverage from authorized insurers for new 37 

applicants for insurance coverage with the corporation and for 38 

policyholders seeking to renew existing insurance coverage with 39 

the corporation. Obtaining offers of coverage from authorized 40 

insurers through the clearinghouse will provide more choices for 41 

consumers and reduce the corporation’s exposure and potential 42 

for imposing assessments on its policyholders and policyholders 43 

in the private market. In order for the program to efficiently 44 

determine whether there are authorized insurers interested in 45 

making an offer of coverage for a particular risk, a substantial 46 

amount of detailed data from participating insurers must be 47 

provided to the program. Public disclosure of the detailed data 48 

could result in a substantial chilling effect on insurer 49 

participation in the program and thereby undermine the program’s 50 

success. 51 

Section 3. This act shall take effect on the same date that 52 

SB 1770 or similar legislation creating s. 627.3518, Florida 53 

Statutes, the Citizen’s Property Insurance Corporation 54 

clearinghouse, takes effect, if such legislation is adopted in 55 

the same legislative session or an extension thereof and becomes 56 

law. 57 



The Florida Senate

Committee Agenda Request

To:

Subject:

Senator John Thrasher, Chair
Committee on Rules

Colrmaittee Agenda Request

RECEI
APR 1 o 2013

RULES

Date: April 10, 2013

I respectfully request that Senate Bill 1850, relating to Public Records / Citizens Property
Insurance Corporation Clearinghouse, be placed on the:

[-] committee agenda at your earliest possible convenience.

[~] next committee agenda.

Senator David Simmons
Florida Senate, District 10

File signed original with committee office s-o2o (03/2004)



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Rules  

 

BILL:  CS/SB 834 

INTRODUCER:  Banking and Insurance and Senator Simmons 

SUBJECT:  Public Records/Proprietary Business Information/Office of Insurance Regulation 

DATE:  April 12, 2013 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Matiyow  Burgess  BI  Fav/CS 

2. Naf  McVaney  GO  Favorable 

3. Matiyow  Phelps  RC  Favorable 

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... X Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

CS/SB 834, which is linked to CS/SB 836, creates a public records exemption to incorporate the 

necessary confidentiality elements for the Office of Insurance Regulation (OIR) to meet the 

National Association of Insurance Commissioners’ accreditation standards. 

 

The bill provides that proprietary business information held by the OIR in accordance with its 

statutory duties relating to insurer solvency is confidential and exempt from public records 

requirements. The bill specifies circumstances under which such confidential and exempt 

information may be disclosed. 

 

The bill provides for repeal of the exemption on October 2, 2018, unless reviewed and saved 

from repeal by the Legislature pursuant to the Open Government Sunset Review Act. It also 

provides a statement of public necessity as required by the Florida Constitution. 

 

Because this bill creates a new public records exemption, it requires a two-thirds vote of the 

members present and voting in each house of the Legislature for final passage. 

 

The bill creates section 624.4212 of the Florida Statutes. 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/SB 834   Page 2 

 

II. Present Situation: 

Public Records Laws 

The Florida Constitution provides every person the right to inspect or copy any public record 

made or received in connection with the official business of any public body, officer, or 

employee of the state, or of persons acting on their behalf.
1
 The records of the legislative, 

executive, and judicial branches are specifically included.
2
  

 

The Florida Statutes also specify conditions under which public access must be provided to 

government records. The Public Records Act
3
 guarantees every person’s right to inspect and 

copy any state or local government public record
4
 at any reasonable time, under reasonable 

conditions, and under supervision by the custodian of the public record.
5
  

 

Only the Legislature may create an exemption to public records requirements.
6
 Such an 

exemption must be created by general law and must specifically state the public necessity 

justifying the exemption.
7
 Further, the exemption must be no broader than necessary to 

accomplish the stated purpose of the law. A bill enacting an exemption may not contain other 

substantive provisions
8
 and must pass by a two-thirds vote of the members present and voting in 

each house of the Legislature.
9
 

 

The Open Government Sunset Review Act (the Act) prescribes a legislative review process for 

newly created or substantially amended public records or open meetings exemptions.
10

 It 

                                                 
1
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(a). 

2
 Id. 

3
 Chapter 119, F.S. 

4
 Section 119.011(12), F.S., defines “public records” to mean “all documents, papers, letters, maps, books, tapes, 

photographs, films, sound recordings, data processing software, or other material, regardless of the physical form, 

characteristics, or means of transmission, made or received pursuant to law or ordinance or in connection with the transaction 

of official business by any agency.” Section 119.011(2), F.S., defines “agency” to mean as “any state, county, district, 

authority, or municipal officer, department, division, board, bureau, commission, or other separate unit of government created 

or established by law including, for the purposes of this chapter, the Commission on Ethics, the Public Service Commission, 

and the Office of Public Counsel, and any other public or private agency, person, partnership, corporation, or business entity 

acting on behalf of any public agency.” The Public Records Act does not apply to legislative or judicial records (see Locke v. 

Hawkes, 595 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1992)). 
5
 Section 119.07(1)(a), F.S. 

6
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). There is a difference between records the Legislature designates as exempt from public records 

requirements and those the Legislature designates confidential and exempt. A record classified as exempt from public 

disclosure may be disclosed under certain circumstances (see WFTV, Inc. v. The School Board of Seminole, 874 So.2d 48 

(Fla. 5th DCA 2004), review denied 892 So.2d 1015 (Fla. 2004); City of Riviera Beach v. Barfield, 642 So.2d 1135 (Fla. 4th 

DCA 2004); and Williams v. City of Minneola, 575 So.2d 687 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). If the Legislature designates a record as 

confidential and exempt from public disclosure, such record may not be released, by the custodian of public records, to 

anyone other than the persons or entities specifically designated in the statutory exemption (see Attorney General Opinion 

85-62, August 1, 1985). 
7
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). 

8
 The bill may, however, contain multiple exemptions that relate to one subject. 

9
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). 

10
 Section 119.15, F.S. An exemption is substantially amended if the amendment expands the scope of the exemption to 

include more records or information or to include meetings as well as records (s. 119.15(4)(b), F.S.). The requirements of the 

Act do not apply to an exemption that is required by federal law or that applies solely to the Legislature or the State Court 

System (s. 119.15(2), F.S.). 



BILL: CS/SB 834   Page 3 

 

requires the automatic repeal of such exemption on October 2nd of the fifth year after creation or 

substantial amendment, unless the Legislature reenacts the exemption.
11

 The Act provides that a 

public records or open meetings exemption may be created or maintained only if it serves an 

identifiable public purpose and is no broader than is necessary to meet such public purpose.
12

 

 

Office of Insurance Regulation 

The Office of Insurance Regulation (OIR) is part of the Financial Services Commission 

(commission), which is composed of the Governor and Cabinet members. The OIR is 

responsible for activities of the commission relating to regulation and investigation of violations 

of the Insurance Code,
13

 which governs insurance institutions.
14

 

 

National Association of Insurance Commissioners 

The OIR is a member of the National Association of Insurance Commissioners (NAIC), an 

organization consisting of state insurance regulators. As a member of the NAIC, the OIR is 

required to participate in the organization’s accreditation program. NAIC accreditation is a 

certification that legal, regulatory, and organizational oversight standards and practices are being 

fulfilled by a state insurance department. Once accredited, a member state is subject to a full 

accreditation review every five years. The OIR is slated for its next accreditation review during 

the fall of 2013. 

 

Supervisory Colleges 

Supervisory colleges are essentially interstate meetings for insurance regulators to focus on large 

insurers that write significant amounts of insurance in multiple jurisdictions.  

 

Public Records Exemptions and the Insurance Code 

The Insurance Code currently provides a number of public records exemptions relating to 

insurance-related information, including: 

 

 Trade secret documents;
15

 

 Risk-based capital information;
16

 

 Information related to orders of supervision;
17

 and 

 Personal consumer and personal financial information.
18

 

 

                                                 
11

 Section 119.15(3), F.S. 
12

 Section 119.15(6)(b), F.S. 
13

 Comprised of ss. 624.01-624.24, F.S. 
14

 See s. 20.121(3)(a)1., F.S. 
15

 Section 624.4213, F.S. Even in the absence of a statutory exemption for particular trade secrets, s. 815.045, F.S., “should 

be read to exempt from disclosure as public records all trade secrets [as defined in s. 812.081(1)(c), F.S.].” Sepro Corp. v. 

Florida Dep’t of Environmental Protection, 911 So.2d 792 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003), review denied sub nom. 
16

 Section 624.40851, F.S. 
17

 Section 624.82, F.S. 
18

 Section 624.23, F.S. 



BILL: CS/SB 834   Page 4 

 

Section 624.319, F.S., makes OIR’s examination and investigation reports and workpapers 

confidential during the pendency of an examination or investigation. The exemption allows the 

OIR to share this information with other governmental entities (if disclosure is necessary for the 

receiving entity to perform its duties and responsibilities) and with the NAIC.  

 

While there is no general statutory exemption for information claimed to be proprietary business 

information, the Legislature has created a number of exemptions from ch. 119, F.S., for 

proprietary business information held by certain agencies. This term is generally defined by the 

statute creating the exemption and frequently includes trade secrets.  

 

Currently, the Insurance Code contains a specific exemption relating to “proprietary business 

information” held by the OIR, but it relates only to such information provided by a title 

insurance agency or insurer.
19

 

 

CS/SB 836: Insurer Solvency 

The NAIC periodically reviews its solvency standards as set forth in its model acts, and revises 

accreditation requirements to adapt to evolving industry standards. The OIR has identified 

several model act components not currently included in the Insurance Code, and which must be 

implemented in order for the OIR to maintain its accreditation this fall. Therefore, among other 

NAIC model act components, CS/SB 836 implements the following NAIC confidentiality 

requirements: 

 

 NAIC Property and Casualty Actuarial Opinion Model Law 

Current law requires insurers (except those providing life insurance and title insurance) to 

provide to the OIR a statement of opinion on loss and loss adjustment expense reserves 

prepared by an actuary or a qualified loss reserve specialists, and supporting workpapers. 

Current law treats these documents as public.
20

 The NAIC model law provides that states 

must require insurers to provide actuarial opinion summaries and that the regulators must 

keep these summaries confidential.  

 Model Holding Company Act & Regulations 

In response to the recent financial crisis, a NAIC workgroup focused on group supervision 

issues in the context of large insurers and their affiliates in their respective holding 

companies. The workgroup noted the corresponding regulatory need to enhance insurance 

regulators’ ability to obtain and evaluate financial information from affiliates, especially 

regarding “enterprise risk.”
21

 In adopting the NAIC model act, CS/SB 836 requires persons 

seeking a controlling interest in an insurer or controlling company to file an annual enterprise 

risk report to the OIR.  

 

                                                 
19

 Section 626.94195, F.S. 
20

 Section 624.424, F.S. 
21

 Enterprise risk is “any activity, circumstance, event, or series of events involving one or more affiliates of an insurer that, if 

not remedies promptly, is likely to have a material adverse effect upon the financial condition or liquidity of the insurer of its 

insurance company as a whole, including, but not limited to, anything that would cause the insurer’s risk-based capital as set 

forth in [state statutory requirement] or would cause the insurer to be in a hazardous financial condition.” Section 1(F) of the 

NAIC Model Insurance Holding Company System Regulatory Act. 



BILL: CS/SB 834   Page 5 

 

CS/SB 836 also makes the following changes that are relevant to the public records exemption 

created by this bill:  

 

 Provides that a controlling person of a domestic insurer may divest its controlling interest by 

providing notice to the OIR.  

 Provides for the OIR’s participation in a supervisory college, as the NAIC has also made 

establishment and participation in supervisory colleges an accreditation standard.  

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

This bill, which is linked to CS/SB 836, creates a public records exemption to incorporate the 

necessary confidentiality elements for the OIR to meet the NAIC’s accreditation standards. 

 

The bill provides that proprietary business information held by the OIR in accordance with its 

statutory duties relating to insurer solvency is confidential and exempt from public records 

requirements. It defines “proprietary business information” to mean information, regardless of 

form or characteristics, that is owned or controlled by an insurer, or a person or affiliated person 

who seeks acquisition of controlling stock in a domestic stock insurer or controlling company, 

and that: 

 

 Is intended to be and is treated by the insurer or the person as private in that the disclosure of 

the information would cause harm to the insurer, the person, or the company's business 

operations and has not been disclosed unless disclosed pursuant to a statutory requirement, an 

order of a court or administrative body, or a private agreement that provides that the 

information will not be released to the public; 

 Is not otherwise readily ascertainable or publicly available by proper means by other persons 

from another source in the same configuration as requested by the office; and 

 Includes, but is not limited to: 

o Trade secrets as defined in the Uniform Trade Secrets Act
22

 that comply with the 

Insurance Code’s trade secret document marking requirements. 

o Information relating to competitive interests, the disclosure of which would impair the 

competitive business of the provider of the information. 

o The source, nature, and amount of the consideration used or to be used in carrying out a 

merger or other acquisition of control in the ordinary course of business, including the 

identity of the lender, if the person filing a statement regarding consideration so requests. 

o Information relating to bids or other contractual data, the disclosure of which would 

impair the efforts of the insurer or its affiliates to contract for goods or services on 

favorable terms. 

o Internal auditing controls and reports of internal auditors. 

o The actuarial opinion summary required under s. 624.424(1)(b), F.S., and the documents, 

material, and other information related thereto. 

                                                 
22

 Section 688.002(4), F.S., defines “trade secret” to mean information, including a formula, pattern, compilation, program, 

device, method, technique, or process that: 

 Derives independent economic value, actual or potential, from not being generally known to, and not being readily 

ascertainable by proper means by, other persons who can obtain economic value from its disclosure or use; and 

 Is the subject of efforts that are reasonable under the circumstances to maintain its secrecy. 



BILL: CS/SB 834   Page 6 

 

o A notice filed with the OIR by the person or affiliated person who seeks to divest 

controlling stock in an insurer. 

o The insurers’ annual registration statement that is required by CS/SB 836 and all 

documents, materials, and other information related thereto. 

o The enterprise risk report required by CS/SB 836 and the documents, materials, and other 

information related to the enterprise risk report. 

o Information provided to or obtained by the OIR pursuant to participation in a supervisory 

college. 

o Information received from another governmental entity or the NAIC which is 

confidential or exempt if held by that entity for use by the OIR in the performance of its 

official duties. 

 

The bill authorizes the OIR to disclose the confidential and exempt proprietary business 

information: 

 

 If the insurer to which it pertains gives prior written consent; 

 Pursuant to a court order; 

 To the American Academy of Actuaries upon a request stating the information is for the 

purpose of professional disciplinary proceedings and specifying procedures satisfactory to 

the OIR for preserving the confidentiality of the information; 

 To other states, federal and international agencies, NAIC, and state, federal, and international 

law enforcement authorities, including members of a supervisory college, if the recipient 

agrees in writing to maintain the confidential and exempt status of the document, material, or 

other information and has verified in writing its legal authority to maintain such 

confidentiality; or 

 For the purpose of aggregating information on an industry wide basis and disclosing the 

information to the public only if the specific identities of the insurers, or persons or affiliated 

persons, are not revealed. 

 

The bill provides that the public records exemption is subject to the Open Government Sunset 

Review Act and will repeal on October 2, 2018, unless reviewed and reenacted by the 

Legislature. The bill also provides a statement of public necessity as required by the Florida 

Constitution 

 

The bill will take effect October 1, 2013, if CS/SB 836 or similar legislation is adopted in the 

same legislative session or an extension thereof and becomes a law. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

Not applicable. This bill does not appear to affect county or municipal governments. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

Vote Requirement 
 



BILL: CS/SB 834   Page 7 

 

Section 24(c), Art. I of the Florida Constitution requires a newly created public records 

exemption to pass by a two-thirds vote of the members present and voting in each house 

of the Legislature. This bill creates a new public records exemption; therefore, it requires 

a two-thirds vote for final passage. 

 

Public Necessity Statement 
 

Section 24(c), Art. I of the Florida Constitution requires a law creating a new public 

records exemption to contain a public necessity statement justifying the exemption. This 

bill creates a new public records exemption; therefore, it contains a public necessity 

statement. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

The public records exemption created by the bill may have an indeterminate positive 

impact on the private sector by protecting insurers’ proprietary business information. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

The bill could create a minimal fiscal impact on the OIR, because staff responsible for 

complying with public records requests could require training related to creation of the 

new public records exemption. The OIR could also incur costs association with redaction 

of the confidential and exempt information prior to releasing a record. The costs would 

be absorbed, however, as part of the day-to-day responsibilities of the OIR. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None.  



BILL: CS/SB 834   Page 8 

 

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the CS.) 

CS by Banking and Insurance on April 3, 2013: 

The CS: 

 

 Clarifies that the public records exemption is applicable to a trade secret as defined in 

the Uniform Trade Secrets Act and specifies additional types of information that 

constitute proprietary business information; 

 Removes an outdated reference to the Open Government Sunset Review Act of 1995 

and replaces it with the Open Government Sunset Review Act; and 

 Links the effective date of the CS to the passage of CS/SB 836.  

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the CS’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 834 

 

 

 

By the Committee on Banking and Insurance; and Senator Simmons 

 

 

 

 

597-03447-13 2013834c1 

Page 1 of 5 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to public records; creating s. 2 

624.4212, F.S.; creating an exemption from public 3 

records requirements for proprietary business 4 

information submitted to the Office of Insurance 5 

Regulation; defining the term “proprietary business 6 

information”; providing exceptions; providing for 7 

future legislative review and repeal; providing a 8 

statement of public necessity; providing a contingent 9 

effective date. 10 

 11 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 12 

 13 

Section 1. Section 624.4212, Florida Statutes, is created 14 

to read: 15 

624.4212 Confidentiality of proprietary business 16 

information.—Proprietary business information held by the Office 17 

of Insurance Regulation in accordance with its statutory duties 18 

with respect to insurer solvency is confidential and exempt from 19 

s. 119.07(1) and s. 24(a), Art. I of the State Constitution. 20 

(1) As used in this section, the term “proprietary business 21 

information” means information, regardless of form or 22 

characteristics, which is owned or controlled by an insurer, or 23 

a person or affiliated person who seeks acquisition of 24 

controlling stock in a domestic stock insurer or controlling 25 

company, and which: 26 

(a) Is intended to be and is treated by the insurer or the 27 

person as private in that the disclosure of the information 28 

would cause harm to the insurer, the person, or the company’s 29 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 834 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-03447-13 2013834c1 

Page 2 of 5 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

business operations and has not been disclosed unless disclosed 30 

pursuant to a statutory requirement, an order of a court or 31 

administrative body, or a private agreement that provides that 32 

the information will not be released to the public; 33 

(b) Is not otherwise readily ascertainable or publicly 34 

available by proper means by other persons from another source 35 

in the same configuration as requested by the office; and 36 

(c) Includes, but is not limited to: 37 

1. Trade secrets as defined in s. 688.002 which comply with 38 

s. 624.4213. 39 

2. Information relating to competitive interests the 40 

disclosure of which would impair the competitive business of the 41 

provider of the information. 42 

3. The source, nature, and amount of the consideration used 43 

or to be used in carrying out a merger or other acquisition of 44 

control in the ordinary course of business, including the 45 

identity of the lender, if the person filing a statement 46 

regarding consideration so requests. 47 

4. Information relating to bids or other contractual data 48 

the disclosure of which would impair the efforts of the insurer 49 

or its affiliates to contract for goods or services on favorable 50 

terms. 51 

5. Internal auditing controls and reports of internal 52 

auditors. 53 

6. The actuarial opinion summary required under s. 54 

624.424(1)(b) and the documents, materials, and other 55 

information related thereto. 56 

7. A notice filed with the office by the person or 57 

affiliated person who seeks to divest controlling stock in an 58 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 834 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-03447-13 2013834c1 

Page 3 of 5 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

insurer pursuant to s. 628.461. 59 

8. The filings required under s. 628.801 and all documents, 60 

materials, and other information related thereto. 61 

9. The enterprise risk report required under ss. 628.461(3) 62 

and 628.801 and the documents, materials, and other information 63 

related to the enterprise risk report. 64 

10. Information provided to or obtained by the office 65 

pursuant to participation in a supervisory college established 66 

under s. 628.805. 67 

11. Information received from another governmental entity 68 

or the National Association of Insurance Commissioners which is 69 

confidential or exempt if held by that entity for use by the 70 

office in the office’s performance of its duties. 71 

(2) The office may disclose confidential and exempt 72 

proprietary business information: 73 

(a) If the insurer to which it pertains gives prior written 74 

consent; 75 

(b) Pursuant to a court order; 76 

(c) To the American Academy of Actuaries upon a request 77 

stating that the information is for the purpose of professional 78 

disciplinary proceedings and specifying procedures satisfactory 79 

to the office for preserving the confidentiality of the 80 

information; 81 

(d) To other states, federal and international agencies, 82 

the National Association of Insurance Commissioners and its 83 

affiliates and subsidiaries, and state, federal, and 84 

international law enforcement authorities, including members of 85 

a supervisory college described in s. 628.805 if the recipient 86 

agrees in writing to maintain the confidential and exempt status 87 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 834 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-03447-13 2013834c1 

Page 4 of 5 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

of the document, material, or other information, and has 88 

verified in writing its legal authority to maintain such 89 

confidentiality; or 90 

(e) For the purpose of aggregating information on an 91 

industrywide basis and disclosing the information to the public 92 

only if the specific identities of the insurers, or persons or 93 

affiliated persons, are not revealed. 94 

(3) This section is subject to the Open Government Sunset 95 

Review Act in accordance with s. 119.15 and shall stand repealed 96 

on October 2, 2018, unless reviewed and saved from repeal 97 

through reenactment by the Legislature. 98 

Section 2. The Legislature finds that it is a public 99 

necessity that proprietary business information that is provided 100 

to the Office of Insurance Regulation by an insurer or acquiring 101 

party pursuant to the requirements of the Florida Insurance Code 102 

or the Holding Company System Regulatory Act of the National 103 

Association of Insurance Commissioners in order for the office 104 

to conduct its regulatory duties with respect to insurer 105 

solvency, be made confidential and exempt from s. 119.07(1), 106 

Florida Statutes, and s. 24(a), Article I of the State 107 

Constitution. The disclosure of such information could injure an 108 

insurer in the marketplace by providing its competitors with 109 

detailed insight into the financial status and strategic plans 110 

of the insurer, thereby diminishing the advantage that the 111 

insurer maintains over competitors that do not possess such 112 

information. Without this exemption, an insurer or acquiring 113 

party might refrain from providing accurate and unbiased data, 114 

thus impairing the office’s ability to accurately evaluate the 115 

propriety of proposed acquisitions in the state, and the 116 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 834 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

597-03447-13 2013834c1 

Page 5 of 5 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

financial condition of insurers and their affiliates. 117 

Proprietary business information derives actual or potential 118 

independent economic value from not being generally known to, 119 

and not being readily ascertainable by proper means by, other 120 

persons who can derive economic value from its disclosure or 121 

use. The office, in performing its duties and responsibilities, 122 

may need to obtain proprietary business information from 123 

insurers and regulated entities. Without an exemption from 124 

public records requirements for proprietary business information 125 

provided to the office, such information becomes a public record 126 

when received and must be divulged upon request. Divulgence of 127 

proprietary business information under the public records law 128 

would destroy the value of that property to the proprietor, 129 

causing a financial loss not only to the proprietor but also to 130 

the residents of this state due to the loss of reliable 131 

financial data necessary for the accurate evaluation of proposed 132 

acquisitions. Release of proprietary business information would 133 

give business competitors an unfair advantage and weaken the 134 

position in the marketplace of the proprietor who owns or 135 

controls the business information. The harm to insurers in the 136 

marketplace and to the effective administration of acquisitions 137 

caused by the public disclosure of such information far 138 

outweighs the public benefits derived from its release. 139 

Section 3. This act shall take effect October 1, 2013, if 140 

SB 836 or similar legislation is adopted in the same legislative 141 

session or an extension thereof and becomes a law. 142 



The Florida Senate

Committee Agenda Request

To:

Subject:

Senator John Thrasher, Chair
Committee on Rules

Committee Agenda Request

RECEIVED
APR 1 0 2013

Date: April 10, 2013

I respectfully request that Senate Bill 834, relating to Public Records / Proprietary Business
Information / Office of Insurance Regulation, be placed on the:

[--] committee agenda at your earliest possible convenience.

next committee agenda.

Senator David Simmons
Florida Senate, District 10

File signed original with committee office 8-020 (03/2004)



Name

Job Title

copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Bill Number
(if applicable)

Amendment Barcode

Address
Street

Phone

City

Speaking: ~ For [-~ Against

Representing ~-~ ~/" ~/A~

E-mail
State Zip

[] Information

Appearing at request of Chair:’~ Yes [--] No
Lobbyist registered with Legislature: ~ Yes [~ No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting, s-ool (10/20/11)



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Rules 

 

BILL:  CS/SB 1172 

INTRODUCER:  Judiciary Committee and Senator Simmons 

SUBJECT:  Land Trusts 

DATE:  April 5, 2013 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Munroe  Cibula  JU  Fav/CS 

2. Knudson  Burgess  BI  Favorable 

3. Munroe  Phelps  RC  Favorable 

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... X Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

CS/SB 1172 revises the laws relating to land trusts. In general, a land trust is a written instrument 

in which title to real property is vested in a trustee who has the authority to manage or dispose of 

the property. 

 

More specifically, the bill: 

 Clarifies the distinction between a land trust governed by s. 689.071, F.S., and other trusts 

governed by the Florida Trust Code. 

 Defines a land trust based on the functional scope of the land trustee‟s duties, although the 

power to manage or dispose of property remains an essential element of a Florida land trust. 

 Relocates provisions of s. 689.071, F.S., to a newly-created section, s. 689.073, F.S. These 

provisions generally state that purchasers and others can rely on a land trustee‟s authority 

over property as described in a recorded instrument. These provisions will remain equally 

applicable to any recorded instrument, created before or after the effective date of the bill, 

which conveys title to property and the power to manage or dispose of the property. 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/SB 1172   Page 2 

 

 Codifies a number of land trust practices and principles commonly used in Florida and 

Illinois which are derived from judicial precedents or treatises on land trusts.
1
 

 

This bill creates section 689.073, Florida Statutes. 

 

This bill substantially amends sections 689.071, 689.073, and 736.0102 of the Florida Statutes. 

II. Present Situation: 

“A land trust is a unique creature of Illinois law where real estate is conveyed to a trustee under 

an arrangement reserving to the beneficiaries the full management and control of the property.”
2
 

Under a land trust: 

 

[t]he trustee executes deeds, mortgages or otherwise deals with the property 

at the written direction of the beneficiaries. The beneficiaries collect rents, 

improve and operate the property and exercise all rights of ownership other 

than holding or dealing with the legal title…. While legal title to the real 

estate is held by the trustee, the beneficiaries retain „the power of direction‟ 

to deal with the title, to manage and control the property, to receive 

proceeds from sales or mortgages and all rentals and avails on the property.
3
 

 

Land trusts were initially developed in Illinois. The use of these trusts in Florida was validated 

by the enactment of s. 689.071, F.S., the Florida Land Trust Act, in 1963.
4
 Section 689.071, F.S., 

has always focused primarily on the authority of the land trustee to convey good title to third 

parties if the prior deed to the land trustee granted to the trustee certain powers to deal with and 

dispose of the property, commonly referred to as “deed powers.”
5
 Serving primarily as a 

“purchaser protection” statute, s. 689.071, F.S., because the statute protects third party grantees, 

mortgagees, and lessees who rely on the statutory authority of the trustee based on those 

recorded deed powers. Those who rely on a trustee are not required to inquire into the identity of 

the beneficiaries or the terms of the unrecorded trust agreement.
6
 All persons dealing with the 

trustee of a land trust under a recorded instrument take free of claims of beneficiaries.
7
 The 

interests of beneficiaries under a land trust are personal property.
8
  

                                                 
1
 The Real Property, Probate, and Trust Law Section of the Florida Bar, White Paper: Amendments to Land Trust Act (2013) 

(on file with the Senate Committee on Judiciary). By codifying the land trust practices, it will facilitate and encourage the use 

of land trusts in Florida real property transactions. Id. 
2
 3A HORNER PROBATE PRAC. & ESTATES s.68:46 (2013); In re Marriage of Gross, 756 N.E.2d 312, 315 (1st Dist. 2001). 

3
 In re Marriage of Gross, 756 N.E.2d at 315. 

4
 Chapter 63-468, ss. 1-6, Laws of Fla. The statute was enacted to confirm the marketability and insurability of land 

purchased from a land trustee. Correspondence from the Real Property, Probate, and Trust Law Section of The Florida 

Bar (on file with the Senate Committee on Judiciary). 
5
 The Real Property, Probate, and Trust Law Section of the Florida Bar, supra note 1 and also see “Deed powers” refer to 

those that “the recorded instrument confers on the trustee the power and authority to protect, to conserve, to sell, to lease, to 

encumber, or otherwise to manage and dispose of the real property described in the recorded instrument.” 

Section 689.071(3), F.S. 
6
 Real Property, Probate, and Trust Law Section of The Florida Bar, supra note 1; s. 689.071(4), F.S. 

7
 Section 689.071(5), F.S. 

8
 Section 689.071(6), F.S. 



BILL: CS/SB 1172   Page 3 

 

In Florida, the aspects of the land trust under s. 689.071, F.S., which confer legal title to the 

trustee, also apply to any recorded instrument that grants deed powers to a trustee.
9
 In order to 

obtain the purchaser protection aspects of the statute,
10

 it became common practice in Florida for 

conveyances to trustees to include s. 689.071, F.S., deed powers although the trust was not 

intended to be a land trust. 

 

The primary purpose of this bill is to provide greater clarity in the manner that the Florida Land 

Trust Act and the Florida Trust Code
11

 are intended to relate to each other by specifying a 

comprehensive statutory definition of land trust.
12

 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

General overview 

The bill clarifies the distinction between a land trust governed by s. 689.071, F.S. and other 

express trusts governed by the Florida Trust Code,
13

 but preserves the “title protection” benefits 

of the existing statute for any conveyance to trustee containing deed powers. To do so, the bill: 

 

 Defines land trusts based on the functional scope of the land trustee‟s duties, although deed 

powers remain an essential element of a Florida land trust. 

 Relocates all the purchaser protection provisions of s. 689.071, F.S., to a newly-created 

section, s. 689.073, F.S., which will remain equally applicable to any conveyance containing 

deed powers to a trustee of any trust. 

 Codifies a number of land trust practices and principles commonly used in Florida and 

Illinois which are derived from judicial precedents or treatises on land trusts.
14

 

 

Purchaser Protection Provision transferred to Section 689.073, F.S. 

The bill transfers and amends the purchaser protection provisions in ss. 689.071(3), (4), and (5), 

F.S., to newly-created s. 689.073, F.S. 

 

The existing ss. 689.071(3), (4), and (5), F.S., are that are transferred to s. 689.073, F.S., are 

intended to have exactly the same legal effect: the provisions protect a purchaser who buys or 

leases land from a trustee if the trustee acquired the land by a recorded deed or other instrument 

that granted certain powers “deed powers” to the trustee. If those deed powers are recorded, then 

the statute protects the purchaser by confirming that: 

 

 The trustee is vested with title to the property and is fully able to transfer the title to the 

purchaser; 

 The purchaser is protected from title assaults by the beneficiaries of the trust; 

                                                 
9
 Real Property, Probate, and Trust Law Section of The Florida Bar, supra note 1. 

10
Section 689.071, F.S. 

11
 Chapter 736, F.S. 

12
 Real Property, Probate, and Trust Law Section of The Florida Bar, supra note 1. 

13
 Chapter 736, F.S. 

14
 Real Property, Probate, and Trust Law Section of The Florida Bar, supra note 1. By codifying the land trust practices, it 

will facilitate and encourage the use of land trusts in Florida real property transactions. Id. 



BILL: CS/SB 1172   Page 4 

 

 The beneficiaries need not be disclosed; 

 The trust document need not be disclosed; and 

 The purchaser may safely deal with the trustee without inquiring whether the trustee has 

authority to deal with the land.
15

 

 

The new statute deletes language that vests both legal and equitable title in the trustee; removes a 

reference to real property “in this state” in the current law, thereby confirming that out-of-state 

lands may be held in Florida land trusts.
16

 Additionally, the new statute requires that the statute 

apply without regard to whether any reference is made in the recorded instrument to the 

beneficiaries of such trust or to any separate collateral unrecorded declarations or agreements, 

without regard to the provisions of any unrecorded trust agreement or declaration of trust, and 

without regard to whether the trust is governed by the Florida Land Trust Act or the Florida 

Trust Code. This statute applies both to recorded instruments that are recorded after the effective 

date of this bill and to recorded instruments that were previously recorded and governed by 

similar provisions contained in s. 689.071(3), F.S. (2012). The statute validates all previous 

conveyances as vesting the trustee with the requisite deed powers. 

 

Definition of Land Trust under s. 689.071(2), F.S. 

The bill revises the remaining provisions of s. 689.071, F.S., which were not moved to the 

newly-created s. 689.073, F.S. The revised definition of land trust in s. 689.071(2)(c), F.S., still 

requires a conveyance to a trustee by a recorded instrument containing deed powers, but 

beginning with the effective date of the bill, this definition focuses on the key functional 

distinction between land trust and other express trusts. Under a land trust, a land trustee functions 

almost entirely as the agent of the beneficiaries or the person holding the power of directions 

under the trust agreement. Whereas, a trustee who is subject to the Florida Trust Code in ch. 736, 

F.S., has more extensive fiduciary duties and responsibilities to the trust beneficiaries, along with 

more extensive potential liability if the trustee fails to perform the trustee‟s discretionary duties 

prudently.
17

 

 

A land trustee has a fiduciary relationship to the land trust beneficiaries and the person holding 

the power of direction over the actions of the land trustee, just as any agent is bound a fiduciary 

to the principal for whom the agent acts.
18

 In practice, land trustees are rarely delegated 

discretionary duties under a land trust agreement, beyond ministerial and administrative 

matters.
19

 This lack of duties is a logical parallel to the exemption that land trustees enjoy from 

ch. 736, F.S., responsibilities and liabilities.
20

 The bill makes clear this practical distinction in the 

revised definition of a land trust in s. 689.071(2)(c), F.S., by stating that the trustee has limited 

duties as specified in the statute.
21

 

 

                                                 
15

 Correspondence from the Real Property, Probate, and Trust Law Section of The Florida Bar (on file with the Senate 

Committee on Judiciary). 
16

 Real Property, Probate and Trust Law Section of The Florida Bar, supra note 1. 
17

 Id. 
18

 Id. See also, Raborn v. Menotte, 974 So. 2d 328 (Fla. 2008). 
19

 Id. See also, “The trustee is a mere vessel of title.” Brigham v. Brigham, 11 So. 3d 374, 385 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009). 
20

 Real Property, Probate and Trust Law Section of The Florida Bar, supra note 1. 
21

 Id. 



BILL: CS/SB 1172   Page 5 

 

For trust created on or after the effective date of the bill, the revised definition limits the duties of 

a trustee of a land trust to: 

 

 The duty to exercise the trustee‟s deed powers as directed by the beneficiary or by the holder 

of the power of direction (the agent‟s fiduciary duty to follow the principal‟s directions); 

 The duty to dispose of the trust property at the termination of the trust; 

 The duty to perform ministerial and administrative functions delegated to the trustee; and 

 The duties required of certain timeshare trustees by ch. 721, F.S.
22

 

 

If the trustee‟s duties exceed the foregoing limited duties and the trust is created after the 

effective date of the bill, then the trust will not be treated as a land trust and will not be excluded 

from the operation of the Florida Trust Code.
23

 Because the purchaser protection provisions of 

the statute operate on any conveyance containing deed powers, the classification of the trust as a 

land trust will have no effect on the title to any real property held by the trustee.
24

 

 

Other Definitions 

The bill revises the definition for “holder of the power of direction” to “power of direction”. The 

phrase, “person or entity” is shortened to “person.” 

 

The bill creates new definitions for some basic trust concepts, such as “trust agreement,” “trust 

property,” and “recorded instrument.” “Trustee” is redefined to mean the trustee of a land trust or 

the trustee of another trust. Numerous references to “trustee” in s. 689.071, F.S., are revised in 

the bill to specifically refer to “trustee of a land trust” where appropriate. 

 

Vesting of Legal and Equitable Title Revisions to s. 689.071(3), F.S. 

The bill continues the existing statutory statement that a land trustee is vested with both legal and 

equitable title to the trust property. This concept does not appear in the transferred purchaser 

protection provisions in s. 689.073, created in the bill because it universally applies to any type 

of trust with deed powers.
25

 

 

The bill makes technical revisions to s. 689.071(3), F.S., to maintain a consistent use of defined 

terms such as “land trust,” trust agreement,” and “trust property.” 

 

Statute of Uses and Doctrine of Merger – Revisions to ss. 689.071(4) and (5), F.S. 

When s. 689.071, F.S., was first enacted for the purpose of validating the use of Illinois land 

trusts in Florida, one commonly assumed result was that land trusts would not be executed as 

“passive trusts” or “dry trusts” by the statute of uses, which is codified in Florida in s. 689.09, 

                                                 
22

 Id. Section 721.08, F.S., provides that time-share accommodations may be placed into a trust. 
23

 Id. 
24

 Id. 
25

 Id. 



BILL: CS/SB 1172   Page 6 

 

F.S.
26

 The bill makes that result explicit with respect to a land trust, overriding not only 

s. 689.09, F.S., but also the common-law statute of uses.
27

 

 

New subsection 689.071(5), F.S., overrides the doctrine of merger with respect to a land trust, so 

that a land trust will not be extinguished if the trustee is the sole beneficiary.
28

 

 

Personal Property Option 

Currently s. 689.071, F.S., provides that the recorded instrument may define and declare the 

interests of land trust beneficiaries as personal property under Florida law. The bill clarifies that 

this designation of personal property must be made in the recorded instrument or the trust 

agreement, or it will be considered real property. Subsection 689.071(6), F.S., is modified to 

allow the optional personal property declaration to be made in the recorded instrument or in the 

trust agreement. 

 

Beneficiary Provisions 

Currently, customary provisions in land trusts are based upon treatises by Illinois land trust 

authorities. The bill revises s. 689.071(8), F.S., in a number of respects to codify these land trust 

practices.
29

 

 

The bill adds s. 689.071(8)(b), F.S., as a statutory endorsement of flexible beneficial ownership 

techniques described in the Kenoe treatise.
30

 The purpose of including these provisions directly 

in the Florida Land Trust Act is to increase public awareness that such techniques are available 

without making reference to the treatise, thereby promoting the usage of land trusts in Florida 

generally.
31

 

 

The bill revises s. 689.071(8)(c), F.S., to reconcile the Florida Land Trust Act with the Uniform 

Commercial Code Article 9 exclusion of interests in real property.
32

 Caselaw
33

 holds that a 

beneficial interest in a land trust is a general intangible within the scope of the Florida Uniform 

Commercial Code, and this result is codified in the present version of s. 689.071(8)(c), F.S., 

which provides that Uniform Commercial Code Article 9 governs the perfection of a security 

interest in a beneficial interest in a land trust. However, if the beneficial interest is defined as real 

property under s. 689.071(6), F.S., then there is a possible contradiction between the Florida 

Land Trust Act (which says Article 9 applies to beneficial interests) and the Uniform 

Commercial Code (which says Article 9 excludes real property interests). 

 

The Florida Vacation Plan and Timeshare Act
34

 authorizes the creation and marketing of 

timeshare estates through trusts.
35

 Because timeshare estates are defined as real property,
36

 the 

                                                 
26

 Id. 
27

 Id. 
28

 Id. 
29

 Id. 
30

 Id. Henry W. Kenoe wrote a number of treatises on land trusts. Id. 
31

 Id. 
32

 These provisions are found in s. 679.1091(4)(k), F.S. 
33

 In re Cowsert, 14 B.R. 335 (Bankr.S.D.Fla. 1981). 
34

 Chapter 721, F.S. 



BILL: CS/SB 1172   Page 7 

 

purchasers of Florida timeshare estates typically finance their purchase with a mortgage recorded 

against the timeshare estate. However, if the timeshare estate is created as a beneficial interest in 

a timeshare trust a land trust is created. As a result, two different statutes prescribe two different 

methods of perfection, causing possible confusion in the mechanics of perfecting the lien.
37

 

 

The bill revises s. 689.071(8)(c), F.S., to resolve this apparent contradiction by clarifying that the 

Uniform Commercial Code governs perfection if the beneficial interest in a land trust is declared 

to be personal property (as was the case in Cowsert), but that a mortgage instrument recorded in 

the real estate records is the proper method of perfection if the beneficial interest in a land trust is 

declared to be real property. If real property is involved, the proper county for recording the 

mortgage may be specified in the recorded instrument or in a declaration of trust or 

memorandum that is recorded in the same county as the recorded instrument; otherwise the 

location of the trust property determines the proper county for recording the mortgage. The bill 

provides a transition rule to provide for the continuation of perfection for any Uniform 

Commercial Code financing statement that may have been filed before the effective date of this 

clarification.
38

 It is an abbreviated version of the transition rules that were included in Revised 

Uniform Commercial Code Article 9 in 2001.
39

 

 

The bill revises s. 689.071(8)(c), F.S., to state more clearly that a lien or security interest 

perfected against a beneficial interest in a land trust does not affect in any way the legal or 

equitable title of the land trustee to the trust property. Section 689.071(8)(d), F.S., is amended to 

make explicit a concept that is inherent in a beneficiary‟s ability to encumber a beneficial interest 

as described in existing s. 689.071(8)(c), F.S. The trustee‟s legal and equitable title to the trust 

property is separate and distinct from the beneficiary‟s beneficial interest in the land trust and the 

trust property. A lien, judgment, mortgage, security interest or other encumbrance against one 

interest does not automatically attach to the other interest. Section 689.071(8)(e), F.S., is also 

revised to clarify this same point. Documents recorded by a beneficiary to transfer or encumber a 

beneficial interest do not affect the legal and equitable title of the trustee or the deed powers 

granted to the trustee in the recorded instrument. 

 

The bill adds s. 689.071(8)(i), F.S., which is intended to end the reported occasional practice by 

some judges of appointing a guardian ad litem to represent the interests of land trust beneficiaries 

in a foreclosure or other litigation affecting title to the trust property.
40

 Because a land trustee is 

vested with both legal and equitable title to the trust property, joinder of the land trustee in the 

action is sufficient without a party incurring the additional expense of a guardian ad litem.
41

 

 

Successor Trustee Provisions – Revisions to s. 689.071(9), F.S. 

The use of “each and every successor trustee” is substituted in s. 689.071(9), F.S., for the shorter 

expression: “each successor trustee.” 

                                                                                                                                                                         
35

 See s. 721.08(2)(c)4, F.S. 
36

 See s. 721.05(34), F.S., 
37

 The conflict exists between the Uniform Commercial Code Article 9 and the Florida Land Trust Act. 
38

 Real Property, Probate and Trust Law Section of The Florida Bar, supra note 1. 
39

 Id. 
40

 Id. 
41

 Id. 



BILL: CS/SB 1172   Page 8 

 

 

The bill redesignates the existing paragraph 689.071(9)(f), F.S., as paragraph 689.071(9)(e), F.S., 

to provide that a trust agreement may authorize, in addition to beneficiaries, the person holding 

the power of direction, to direct the land trustee to convey the trust property to another trustee. 

 

Trustee as a Creditor 

The bill amends s. 689.071(10)(a), F.S., to include a reference to a mortgage and a security 

interest against a beneficial interest in a land trust to conform to other changes in the bill. 

 

Notice to Trustee Provisions – Revisions to s. 689.071(11), F.S. 

The bill adds a new s. 689.071(11), F.S., to assure that the right parties receive any third-party 

notices concerning property held in a land trust by requiring that notice to a land trustee include 

certain identifying information if it appears in the recorded instrument. 

 

Transition Rule Provision; Timeshare Trusts- Revisions to s. 689.071(12), F.S. 

The revised definition of “land trust” in the bill contains a cross-reference to a transition rule that 

appears in s. 689.071(12), F.S. This transition rule exempts existing land trusts from the new 

duties-based test in s. 689.071(2)(c), F.S; rather, an existing trust is a land trust (or not) based on 

the intentions expressed in (or discernible from) the existing trust agreement.
42

 As a practical 

matter, the overwhelming majority of existing land trusts sharply curtail the discretionary duties 

of the land trustee, such that those existing trusts would meet the new duties-based “land trust” 

definition even if it were applied to them retroactively.
43

 But, because there are some land trust 

agreements that vest the land trustee with greater discretion, the transition rule provision does not 

apply the duties-based test to any existing land trust agreement that says the trust is a “land trust” 

or clearly was intended to be a land trust.
44

 In this way, existing obvious land trusts are 

“grandfathered” into the land trust statute.
45

 

 

There are two necessary exceptions to the transition rule provision:  (1) if it is not obvious from 

reading the existing trust agreement that the parties intended to create a land trust, then the 

duties-based test applies; and (2) if an existing land trust agreement is amended to add or expand 

duties of the trustee, then the duties-based test is applied only to the added or expanded duties 

that were not found in the trust agreement before the effective date of the amended act. In either 

case, if the trustee has or adds too many duties beyond those in the land trust definition, the result 

is that the trustee becomes subject to the tougher trustee standards of ch. 736, F.S., but there is no 

effect on the title to the trust property. 

 

As noted above in the discussion of timeshare interests, current statutes
46

 authorize the use of 

trusts for the creation and marketing of timeshare estates and specify similar requirements for 

                                                 
42

 Id. 
43

 Id. 
44

 Id. 
45

 Id. 
46

 Chapter 721, F.S. 



BILL: CS/SB 1172   Page 9 

 

using trusts for multi-site vacation clubs.
47

 These statutes specify that certain provisions of the 

Florida Trust Code govern the liability of the trustees of such qualifying trusts,
48

 and these 

provisions are usually recited in the ch. 721, F.S., trust agreements. If such an existing timeshare 

trust were created as a land trust, however, then the trust agreement would contain provisions 

stating that the trust is a land trust (making it a land trust)
49

 and would also refer to governance 

by ch. 736, F.S. 

 

Florida Trust Code – Revisions to s. 736.0102, F.S. 

The bill includes a conforming amendment to s. 736.0102, F.S., of the Florida Trust Code. The 

bill divides this section into two subsections, and a third subsection is added to address the 

exclusion of land trusts from the Florida Trust Code. The newly-created s. 736.0102(3), F.S., 

provides that the Trust Code does not apply to land trusts under s. 689.071, F.S., except to the 

extent provided in s. 689.071(7), F.S., of the Land Trust Act and in the two provisions of ch. 721, 

F.S., that apply parts of ch. 736, F.S., to timeshare trusts. 

 

Effective date 

The bill directs the Division of Law Revision and Information to replace the phrase “effective 

date of the act” wherever it occurs in this bill with such date. 

 

The bill takes effect upon becoming a law. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

                                                 
47

 Section 721.53(1)(e), F.S. 
48

 See specifically, ss. 736.08125, 736.08163, 736.1013, and 736.1015, F.S. 
49

 See s. 689.071(14)(b)1, F.S. 



BILL: CS/SB 1172   Page 10 

 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

None. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

None. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS by Judiciary on March 12, 2013: 

The committee substitute clarifies that certain statutory cross-references are to the Florida 

Statutes 2012. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill‟s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1172 

 

 

 

By the Committee on Judiciary; and Senator Simmons 

 

 

 

 

590-02267-13 20131172c1 

Page 1 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to land trusts; creating s. 689.073, 2 

F.S., and transferring, renumbering, and amending s. 3 

689.071(4) and (5), F.S.; providing requirements 4 

relating to vesting of ownership in a trustee; 5 

providing exclusion and applicability; amending s. 6 

689.071, F.S.; revising and providing definitions; 7 

revising provisions relating to land trust transfers 8 

of real property and vesting of ownership in a 9 

trustee; prohibiting the operation of the statute of 10 

uses to execute a land trust or to vest the trust 11 

property under certain conditions; prohibiting the 12 

operation of the doctrine of merger to execute a land 13 

trust or to vest the trust property under certain 14 

conditions; providing conditions under which a 15 

beneficial interest is deemed real property; revising 16 

and providing rights, liabilities, and duties of land 17 

trust beneficiaries; authorizing certain beneficial 18 

ownership methods; providing for the perfection of 19 

security documents; providing that a trustee’s legal 20 

and equitable title to the trust property is separate 21 

and distinct from the beneficiary’s beneficial 22 

interest in the land trust and the trust property; 23 

prohibiting a lien, judgment, mortgage, security 24 

interest, or other encumbrance against one interest 25 

from automatically attaching to another interest; 26 

providing that the appointment of a guardian ad litem 27 

is not necessary in certain foreclosure litigation 28 

affecting the title to trust property of a land trust; 29 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1172 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02267-13 20131172c1 

Page 2 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

conforming provisions to changes made by the act; 30 

deleting provisions relating to the applicability of 31 

certain successor trustee provisions; providing notice 32 

requirements; providing for the determination of 33 

applicable law for certain trusts; providing for 34 

applicability relating to Uniform Commercial Code 35 

financing statements; providing requirements for 36 

recording effectiveness; amending s. 736.0102, F.S.; 37 

revising and providing scope of the Florida Trust 38 

Code; providing a directive to the Division of Law 39 

Revision and Information; providing an effective date. 40 

 41 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 42 

 43 

Section 1. Section 689.073, Florida Statutes, is created, 44 

and present subsections (4) and (5) of section 689.071, Florida 45 

Statutes, are transferred and renumbered as subsections (2) and 46 

(3), respectively, of section 689.073, Florida Statutes, and 47 

amended, to read: 48 

689.073 Powers conferred on trustee in recorded 49 

instrument.— 50 

(1) OWNERSHIP VESTS IN TRUSTEE.—Every conveyance, deed, 51 

mortgage, lease assignment, or other instrument heretofore or 52 

hereafter made, hereinafter referred to as the “recorded 53 

instrument,” transferring any interest in real property, 54 

including, but not limited to, a leasehold or mortgagee 55 

interest, to any person or any corporation, bank, trust company, 56 

or other entity duly formed under the laws of its state of 57 

qualification, which recorded instrument designates the person, 58 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1172 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02267-13 20131172c1 

Page 3 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

corporation, bank, trust company, or other entity “trustee” or 59 

“as trustee” and confers on the trustee the power and authority 60 

to protect, to conserve, to sell, to lease, to encumber, or 61 

otherwise to manage and dispose of the real property described 62 

in the recorded instrument, is effective to vest, and is 63 

declared to have vested, in such trustee full power and 64 

authority as granted and provided in the recorded instrument to 65 

deal in and with such property, or interest therein or any part 66 

thereof, held in trust under the recorded instrument. 67 

(2)(4) NO DUTY TO INQUIRE.—Any grantee, mortgagee, lessee, 68 

transferee, assignee, or person obtaining satisfactions or 69 

releases or otherwise in any way dealing with the trustee with 70 

respect to the real property or any interest in such property 71 

held in trust under the recorded instrument, as hereinabove 72 

provided for, is not obligated to inquire into the 73 

identification or status of any named or unnamed beneficiaries, 74 

or their heirs or assigns to whom a trustee may be accountable 75 

under the terms of the recorded instrument, or under any 76 

unrecorded separate declarations or agreements collateral to the 77 

recorded instrument, whether or not such declarations or 78 

agreements are referred to therein; or to inquire into or 79 

ascertain the authority of such trustee to act within and 80 

exercise the powers granted under the recorded instrument; or to 81 

inquire into the adequacy or disposition of any consideration, 82 

if any is paid or delivered to such trustee in connection with 83 

any interest so acquired from such trustee; or to inquire into 84 

any of the provisions of any such unrecorded declarations or 85 

agreements. 86 

(3)(5) BENEFICIARY CLAIMS.—All persons dealing with the 87 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1172 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02267-13 20131172c1 

Page 4 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

trustee under the recorded instrument as hereinabove provided 88 

take any interest transferred by the trustee thereunder, within 89 

the power and authority as granted and provided therein, free 90 

and clear of the claims of all the named or unnamed 91 

beneficiaries of such trust, and of any unrecorded declarations 92 

or agreements collateral thereto whether referred to in the 93 

recorded instrument or not, and of anyone claiming by, through, 94 

or under such beneficiaries. However, this section does not 95 

prevent a beneficiary of any such unrecorded collateral 96 

declarations or agreements from enforcing the terms thereof 97 

against the trustee. 98 

(4) EXCLUSION.—This section does not apply to any deed, 99 

mortgage, or other instrument to which s. 689.07 applies. 100 

(5) APPLICABILITY.—The section applies without regard to 101 

whether any reference is made in the recorded instrument to the 102 

beneficiaries of such trust or to any separate collateral 103 

unrecorded declarations or agreements, without regard to the 104 

provisions of any unrecorded trust agreement or declaration of 105 

trust, and without regard to whether the trust is governed by s. 106 

689.071 or chapter 736. This section applies both to recorded 107 

instruments that are recorded after the effective date of this 108 

act and to recorded instruments that were previously recorded 109 

and governed by similar provisions contained in s. 689.071(3), 110 

Florida Statutes 2012, and any such recorded instrument 111 

purporting to confer power and authority on a trustee under such 112 

provisions of s. 689.071(3), Florida Statutes 2012, is valid and 113 

has the effect of vesting full power and authority in such 114 

trustee as provided in this section. 115 

Section 2. Section 689.071, Florida Statutes, as amended by 116 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1172 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02267-13 20131172c1 

Page 5 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

this act, is amended to read: 117 

689.071 Florida Land Trust Act.— 118 

(1) SHORT TITLE.—This section may be cited as the “Florida 119 

Land Trust Act.” 120 

(2) DEFINITIONS.—As used in this section, the term: 121 

(a) “Beneficial interest” means any interest, vested or 122 

contingent and regardless of how small or minimal such interest 123 

may be, in a land trust which is held by a beneficiary. 124 

(b) “Beneficiary” means any person or entity having a 125 

beneficial interest in a land trust. A trustee may be a 126 

beneficiary of the land trust for which such trustee serves as 127 

trustee. 128 

(c) “Holder of the power of direction” means any person or 129 

entity having the authority to direct the trustee to convey 130 

property or interests, execute a mortgage, distribute proceeds 131 

of a sale or financing, and execute documents incidental to the 132 

administration of a land trust. 133 

(c)(d) “Land trust” means any express written agreement or 134 

arrangement by which a use, confidence, or trust is declared of 135 

any land, or of any charge upon land, under which the title to 136 

real property, including, but not limited to, a leasehold or 137 

mortgagee interest, both legal and equitable, is vested in a 138 

trustee by a recorded instrument that confers on the trustee the 139 

power and authority prescribed in s. 689.073(1) and under which 140 

the trustee has no duties other than the following: 141 

1. The duty to convey, sell, lease, mortgage, or deal with 142 

the trust property, or to exercise such other powers concerning 143 

the trust property as may be provided in the recorded 144 

instrument, in each case as directed by the beneficiaries or by 145 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1172 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02267-13 20131172c1 

Page 6 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

the holder of the power of direction; 146 

2. The duty to sell or dispose of the trust property at the 147 

termination of the trust; 148 

3. The duty to perform ministerial and administrative 149 

functions delegated to the trustee in the trust agreement or by 150 

the beneficiaries or the holder of the power of direction; or 151 

4. The duties required of a trustee under chapter 721, if 152 

the trust is a timeshare estate trust complying with s. 153 

721.08(2)(c)4. or a vacation club trust complying with s. 154 

721.53(1)(e); 155 

 156 

however, the duties of the trustee of a land trust created 157 

before the effective date of this act may exceed the limited 158 

duties listed in this paragraph to the extent authorized in 159 

subsection (12) subsection (3). The recorded instrument does not 160 

itself create an entity, regardless of whether the relationship 161 

among the beneficiaries and the trustee is deemed to be an 162 

entity under other applicable law. 163 

(d) “Power of direction” means the authority of a person, 164 

as provided in the trust agreement, to direct the trustee of a 165 

land trust to convey property or interests, execute a lease or 166 

mortgage, distribute proceeds of a sale or financing, and 167 

execute documents incidental to the administration of a land 168 

trust. 169 

(e) “Recorded instrument” has the same meaning as provided 170 

in s. 689.073(1). 171 

(f) “Trust agreement” means the written agreement governing 172 

a land trust or other trust, including any amendments. 173 

(g) “Trust property” means any interest in real property, 174 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1172 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02267-13 20131172c1 

Page 7 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

including, but not limited to, a leasehold or mortgagee 175 

interest, conveyed by a recorded instrument to a trustee of a 176 

land trust or other trust. 177 

(h)(e) “Trustee” means the person or entity designated in a 178 

recorded instrument or trust agreement trust instrument to hold 179 

legal and equitable title to the trust property of a land trust 180 

or other trust. 181 

(3) OWNERSHIP VESTS IN TRUSTEE.—Every recorded instrument 182 

conveyance, deed, mortgage, lease assignment, or other 183 

instrument heretofore or hereafter made, hereinafter referred to 184 

as the “recorded instrument,” transferring any interest in real 185 

property to the trustee of a land trust and conferring upon the 186 

trustee the power and authority prescribed in s. 689.073(1), in 187 

this state, including, but not limited to, a leasehold or 188 

mortgagee interest, to any person or any corporation, bank, 189 

trust company, or other entity duly formed under the laws of its 190 

state of qualification, in which recorded instrument the person, 191 

corporation, bank, trust company, or other entity is designated 192 

“trustee” or “as trustee,” whether or not reference is made in 193 

the recorded instrument to the beneficiaries of such land trust 194 

or to the trust agreement or any separate collateral unrecorded 195 

declarations or agreements, is effective to vest, and is hereby 196 

declared to have vested, in such trustee both legal and 197 

equitable title, and full rights of ownership, over the trust 198 

real property or interest therein, with full power and authority 199 

as granted and provided in the recorded instrument to deal in 200 

and with the trust property or interest therein or any part 201 

thereof. The recorded instrument does not itself create an 202 

entity, regardless of whether the relationship among the 203 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1172 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02267-13 20131172c1 

Page 8 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

beneficiaries and the trustee is deemed to be an entity under 204 

other applicable law; provided, the recorded instrument confers 205 

on the trustee the power and authority to protect, to conserve, 206 

to sell, to lease, to encumber, or otherwise to manage and 207 

dispose of the real property described in the recorded 208 

instrument. 209 

(4) STATUTE OF USES INAPPLICABLE.—Section 689.09 and the 210 

statute of uses do not execute a land trust or vest the trust 211 

property in the beneficiary or beneficiaries of the land trust, 212 

notwithstanding any lack of duties on the part of the trustee or 213 

the otherwise passive nature of the land trust. 214 

(5) DOCTRINE OF MERGER INAPPLICABLE.—The doctrine of merger 215 

does not extinguish a land trust or vest the trust property in 216 

the beneficiary or beneficiaries of the land trust, regardless 217 

of whether the trustee is the sole beneficiary of the land 218 

trust. 219 

(6) PERSONAL PROPERTY.—In all cases in which the recorded 220 

instrument or the trust agreement, as hereinabove provided, 221 

contains a provision defining and declaring the interests of 222 

beneficiaries of a land trust thereunder to be personal property 223 

only, such provision is shall be controlling for all purposes 224 

when such determination becomes an issue under the laws or in 225 

the courts of this state. If no such personal property 226 

designation appears in the recorded instrument or in the trust 227 

agreement, the interests of the land trust beneficiaries are 228 

real property. 229 

(7) TRUSTEE LIABILITY.—In addition to any other limitation 230 

on personal liability existing pursuant to statute or otherwise, 231 

the provisions of ss. 736.08125 and 736.1013 apply to the 232 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1172 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02267-13 20131172c1 

Page 9 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

trustee of a land trust created pursuant to this section. 233 

(8) LAND TRUST BENEFICIARIES.— 234 

(a) Except as provided in this section, the beneficiaries 235 

of a land trust are not liable, solely by being beneficiaries, 236 

under a judgment, decree, or order of court or in any other 237 

manner for a debt, obligation, or liability of the land trust. 238 

(b) Any beneficiary acting under the trust agreement of a 239 

land trust is not liable to the land trust’s trustee or to any 240 

other beneficiary for the beneficiary’s good faith reliance on 241 

the provisions of the trust agreement. A beneficiary’s duties 242 

and liabilities under a land trust may be expanded or restricted 243 

in a trust agreement or beneficiary agreement. 244 

(b)1. If provided in the recorded instrument, in the trust 245 

agreement, or in a beneficiary agreement: 246 

a. A particular beneficiary may own the beneficial interest 247 

in a particular portion or parcel of the trust property of a 248 

land trust; 249 

b. A particular person may be the holder of the power of 250 

direction with respect to the trustee’s actions concerning a 251 

particular portion or parcel of the trust property of a land 252 

trust; and 253 

c. The beneficiaries may own specified proportions or 254 

percentages of the beneficial interest in the trust property or 255 

in particular portions or parcels of the trust property of a 256 

land trust. 257 

2. Multiple beneficiaries may own a beneficial interest in 258 

a land trust as tenants in common, joint tenants with right of 259 

survivorship, or tenants by the entireties. 260 

(c) If a beneficial interest in a land trust is determined 261 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1172 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02267-13 20131172c1 

Page 10 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

to be personal property as provided in subsection (6), chapter 262 

679 applies to the perfection of any security interest in that a 263 

beneficial interest in a land trust. If a beneficial interest in 264 

a land trust is determined to be real property as provided in 265 

subsection (6), then to perfect a lien or security interest 266 

against that beneficial interest, the mortgage, deed of trust, 267 

security agreement, or other similar security document must be 268 

recorded in the public records of the county that is specified 269 

for such security documents in the recorded instrument or in a 270 

declaration of trust or memorandum of such declaration of trust 271 

recorded in the public records of the same county as the 272 

recorded instrument. If no county is so specified for recording 273 

such security documents, the proper county for recording such a 274 

security document against a beneficiary’s interest in any trust 275 

property is the county where the trust property is located. The 276 

perfection of a lien or security interest in a beneficial 277 

interest in a land trust does not affect, attach to, or encumber 278 

the legal or equitable title of the trustee in the trust 279 

property and does not impair or diminish the authority of the 280 

trustee under the recorded instrument, and parties dealing with 281 

the trustee are not required to inquire into the terms of the 282 

unrecorded trust agreement or any lien or security interest 283 

against a beneficial interest in the land trust. 284 

(d) The trustee’s legal and equitable title to the trust 285 

property of a land trust is separate and distinct from the 286 

beneficial interest of a beneficiary in the land trust and in 287 

the trust property. A lien, judgment, mortgage, security 288 

interest, or other encumbrance attaching to the trustee’s legal 289 

and equitable title to the trust property of a land trust does 290 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1172 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02267-13 20131172c1 

Page 11 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

not attach to the beneficial interest of any beneficiary; and 291 

any lien, judgment, mortgage, security interest, or other 292 

encumbrance against a beneficiary or beneficial interest does 293 

not attach to the legal or equitable title of the trustee to the 294 

trust property held under a land trust, unless the lien, 295 

judgment, mortgage, security interest, or other encumbrance by 296 

its terms or by operation of other law attaches to both the 297 

interest of the trustee and the interest of such beneficiary. A 298 

beneficiary’s duties and liabilities may be expanded or 299 

restricted in a trust agreement or beneficiary agreement. 300 

(e) Any subsequent document appearing of record in which a 301 

beneficiary of a land trust transfers or encumbers any the 302 

beneficial interest in the land trust does not transfer or 303 

encumber the legal or equitable title of the trustee to the 304 

trust property and does not diminish or impair the authority of 305 

the trustee under the terms of the recorded instrument. Parties 306 

dealing with the trustee of a land trust are not required to 307 

inquire into the terms of the unrecorded trust agreement. 308 

(f) The An unrecorded trust agreement giving rise to a 309 

recorded instrument for a land trust may provide that one or 310 

more persons or entities have the power to direct the trustee to 311 

convey property or interests, execute a mortgage, distribute 312 

proceeds of a sale or financing, and execute documents 313 

incidental to administration of the land trust. The power of 314 

direction, unless provided otherwise in the land trust agreement 315 

of the land trust, is conferred upon the holders of the power 316 

for the use and benefit of all holders of any beneficial 317 

interest in the land trust. In the absence of a provision in the 318 

land trust agreement of a land trust to the contrary, the power 319 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1172 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02267-13 20131172c1 

Page 12 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

of direction shall be in accordance with the percentage of 320 

individual ownership. In exercising the power of direction, the 321 

holders of the power of direction are presumed to act in a 322 

fiduciary capacity for the benefit of all holders of any 323 

beneficial interest in the land trust, unless otherwise provided 324 

in the land trust agreement. A beneficial interest in a land 325 

trust is indefeasible, and the power of direction may not be 326 

exercised so as to alter, amend, revoke, terminate, defeat, or 327 

otherwise affect or change the enjoyment of any beneficial 328 

interest in a land trust. 329 

(g) A land trust relating to real estate does not fail, and 330 

any use relating to the trust property real estate may not be 331 

defeated, because beneficiaries are not specified by name in the 332 

recorded instrument deed of conveyance to the trustee or because 333 

duties are not imposed upon the trustee. The power conferred by 334 

any recorded instrument deed of conveyance on a trustee of a 335 

land trust to sell, lease, encumber, or otherwise dispose of 336 

property described in the recorded instrument deed is effective, 337 

and a person dealing with the trustee of a land trust is not 338 

required to inquire any further into the right of the trustee to 339 

act or the disposition of any proceeds. 340 

(h) The principal residence of a beneficiary shall be 341 

entitled to the homestead tax exemption even if the homestead is 342 

held by a trustee in a land trust, provided the beneficiary 343 

qualifies for the homestead exemption under chapter 196. 344 

(i) In a foreclosure against trust property or other 345 

litigation affecting the title to trust property of a land 346 

trust, the appointment of a guardian ad litem is not necessary 347 

to represent the interest of any beneficiary. 348 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1172 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02267-13 20131172c1 

Page 13 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(9) SUCCESSOR TRUSTEE.— 349 

(a) The provisions of s. 736.0705 relating to the 350 

resignation of a trustee do not apply to the appointment of a 351 

successor trustee under this section. 352 

(a)(b) If the recorded instrument and the unrecorded land 353 

trust agreement are silent as to the appointment of a successor 354 

trustee of a land trust in the event of the death, incapacity, 355 

resignation, or termination due to dissolution of a land trustee 356 

or if a land trustee is unable to serve as trustee of a land 357 

trust, one or more persons or entities having the power of 358 

direction of the land trust agreement may appoint a successor 359 

trustee or trustees of the land trust by filing a declaration of 360 

appointment of a successor trustee or trustees in the public 361 

records of office of the recorder of deeds in the county in 362 

which the trust property is located. The declaration must be 363 

signed by a beneficiary or beneficiaries of the land trust and 364 

by the each successor trustee or trustees, must be acknowledged 365 

in the manner provided for acknowledgment of deeds, and must 366 

contain: 367 

1. The legal description of the trust property. 368 

2. The name and address of the former trustee. 369 

3. The name and address of the each successor trustee or 370 

trustees. 371 

4. A statement that each successor trustee has been 372 

appointed by one or more persons or entities having the power of 373 

direction of the land trust appointed the successor trustee or 374 

trustees, together with an acceptance of appointment by the each 375 

successor trustee or trustees. 376 

(b)(c) If the recorded instrument is silent as to the 377 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1172 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02267-13 20131172c1 

Page 14 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

appointment of a successor trustee or trustees of a land trust 378 

but an unrecorded land trust agreement provides for the 379 

appointment of a successor trustee or trustees in the event of 380 

the death, incapacity, resignation, or termination due to 381 

dissolution of the land trustee, of a land trust, then upon the 382 

appointment of any successor trustee pursuant to the terms of 383 

the unrecorded land trust agreement, the each successor trustee 384 

or trustees shall file a declaration of appointment of a 385 

successor trustee in the public records of office of the 386 

recorder of deeds in the county in which the trust property is 387 

located. The declaration must be signed by both the former 388 

trustee and the each successor trustee or trustees, must be 389 

acknowledged in the manner provided for acknowledgment of deeds, 390 

and must contain: 391 

1. The legal description of the trust property. 392 

2. The name and address of the former trustee. 393 

3. The name and address of the successor trustee or 394 

trustees. 395 

4. A statement of resignation by the former trustee and a 396 

statement of acceptance of appointment by the each successor 397 

trustee or trustees. 398 

5. A statement that the each successor trustee or trustees 399 

were was duly appointed under the terms of the unrecorded land 400 

trust agreement. 401 

 402 

If the appointment of any successor trustee of a land trust is 403 

due to the death or incapacity of the former trustee, the 404 

declaration need not be signed by the former trustee and a copy 405 

of the death certificate or a statement that the former trustee 406 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1172 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02267-13 20131172c1 

Page 15 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

is incapacitated or unable to serve must be attached to or 407 

included in the declaration, as applicable. 408 

(c)(d) If the recorded instrument provides for the 409 

appointment of any successor trustee of a land trust and any 410 

successor trustee is appointed in accordance with the recorded 411 

instrument, no additional declarations of appointment of any 412 

successor trustee are required under this section. 413 

(d)(e) Each successor land trustee appointed with respect 414 

to a land trust is fully vested with all the estate, properties, 415 

rights, powers, trusts, duties, and obligations of the 416 

predecessor land trustee, except that any successor land trustee 417 

of a land trust is not under any duty to inquire into the acts 418 

or omissions of a predecessor trustee and is not liable for any 419 

act or failure to act of a predecessor trustee. A person dealing 420 

with any successor trustee of a land trust pursuant to a 421 

declaration filed under this section is not obligated to inquire 422 

into or ascertain the authority of the successor trustee to act 423 

within or exercise the powers granted under the recorded 424 

instruments or any unrecorded trust agreement declarations or 425 

agreements. 426 

(e)(f) A land trust agreement may provide that the trustee 427 

of a land trust, when directed to do so by the holder of the 428 

power of direction or by the beneficiaries of the land trust or 429 

legal representatives of the beneficiaries, may convey the trust 430 

property directly to another trustee on behalf of the 431 

beneficiaries or to another representative named in such 432 

directive others named by the beneficiaries. 433 

(10) TRUSTEE AS CREDITOR.— 434 

(a) If a debt is secured by a security interest or mortgage 435 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1172 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02267-13 20131172c1 

Page 16 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

against in a beneficial interest in a land trust or by a 436 

mortgage on land trust property of a land trust, the validity or 437 

enforceability of the debt, security interest, or mortgage and 438 

the rights, remedies, powers, and duties of the creditor with 439 

respect to the debt or the security are not affected by the fact 440 

that the creditor and the trustee are the same person or entity, 441 

and the creditor may extend credit, obtain any necessary 442 

security interest or mortgage, and acquire and deal with the 443 

property comprising the security as though the creditor were not 444 

the trustee. 445 

(b) A trustee of a land trust does not breach a fiduciary 446 

duty to the beneficiaries, and it is not evidence of a breach of 447 

any fiduciary duty owed by the trustee to the beneficiaries for 448 

a trustee to be or become a secured or unsecured creditor of the 449 

land trust, the beneficiary of the land trust, or a third party 450 

whose debt to such creditor is guaranteed by a beneficiary of 451 

the land trust. 452 

(11) NOTICES TO TRUSTEE.—Any notice required to be given to 453 

a trustee of a land trust regarding trust property by a person 454 

who is not a party to the trust agreement must identify the 455 

trust property to which the notice pertains or include the name 456 

and date of the land trust to which the notice pertains, if such 457 

information is shown on the recorded instrument for such trust 458 

property. 459 

(12) DETERMINATION OF APPLICABLE LAW.—Except as otherwise 460 

provided in this section, chapter 736 does not apply to a land 461 

trust governed by this section. 462 

(a) A trust is not a land trust governed by this section if 463 

there is no recorded instrument that confers on the trustee the 464 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1172 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02267-13 20131172c1 

Page 17 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

power and authority prescribed in s. 689.073(1). 465 

(b) For a trust created before the effective date of this 466 

act: 467 

1. The trust is a land trust governed by this section if a 468 

recorded instrument confers on the trustee the power and 469 

authority described in s. 689.073(1) and if: 470 

a. The recorded instrument or the trust agreement expressly 471 

provides that the trust is a land trust; or 472 

b. The intent of the parties that the trust be a land trust 473 

is discerned from the trust agreement or the recorded 474 

instrument; 475 

 476 

without regard to whether the trustee’s duties under the trust 477 

agreement are greater than those limited duties described in s. 478 

689.071(2)(c). 479 

2. The trust is not a land trust governed by this section 480 

if: 481 

a. The recorded instrument or the trust agreement expressly 482 

provides that the trust is to be governed by chapter 736, or by 483 

any predecessor trust code or other trust law other than this 484 

section; or 485 

b. The intent of the parties that the trust be governed by 486 

chapter 736, or by any predecessor trust code or other trust law 487 

other than this section, is discerned from the trust agreement 488 

or the recorded instrument; 489 

 490 

without regard to whether the trustee’s duties under the trust 491 

agreement are greater than those limited duties listed in s. 492 

689.071(2)(c), and without consideration of any references in 493 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1172 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02267-13 20131172c1 

Page 18 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

the trust agreement to provisions of chapter 736 made applicable 494 

to the trust by chapter 721, if the trust is a timeshare estate 495 

trust complying with s. 721.08(2)(c)4. or a vacation club trust 496 

complying with s. 721.53(1)(e). 497 

3. Solely for the purpose of determining the law governing 498 

a trust under subparagraph 1. or subparagraph 2., the 499 

determination shall be made without consideration of any 500 

amendment to the trust agreement made on or after the effective 501 

date of this act, except as provided in paragraph (d). 502 

4. If the determination of whether a trust is a land trust 503 

governed by this section cannot be made under either 504 

subparagraph 1. or subparagraph 2., the determination shall be 505 

made under paragraph (c) as if the trust was created on or after 506 

the effective date of this act. 507 

(c) If a recorded instrument confers on the trustee the 508 

power and authority described in s. 689.073(1) and the trust was 509 

created on or after the effective date of this act, the trust 510 

shall be determined to be a land trust governed by this section 511 

only if the trustee’s duties under the trust agreement, 512 

including any amendment made on or after such date, are greater 513 

than those limited duties described in s. 689.071(2)(c). 514 

(d) If the trust agreement for a land trust created before 515 

the effective date of this act is amended on or after such date 516 

to add to or increase the duties of the trustee beyond the 517 

duties provided in the trust agreement as of the effective date 518 

of this act, the trust shall remain a land trust governed by 519 

this section only if the additional or increased duties of the 520 

trustee implemented by the amendment are greater than those 521 

limited duties described in s. 689.071(2)(c). 522 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1172 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02267-13 20131172c1 

Page 19 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(13) UNIFORM COMMERCIAL CODE TRANSITION RULE.—This section 523 

does not render ineffective any effective Uniform Commercial 524 

Code financing statement filed before July 1, 2014, to perfect a 525 

security interest in a beneficial interest in a land trust that 526 

is determined to be real property as provided in subsection (6), 527 

but such a financing statement ceases to be effective at the 528 

earlier of July 1, 2019, or the time the financing statement 529 

would have ceased to be effective under the law of the 530 

jurisdiction in which it is filed, and the filing of a Uniform 531 

Commercial Code continuation statement after July 1, 2014, does 532 

not continue the effectiveness of such a financing statement. 533 

The recording of a mortgage, deed of trust, security agreement, 534 

or other similar security document against such a beneficial 535 

interest that is real property in the public records specified 536 

in paragraph (8)(c) continues the effectiveness and priority of 537 

a financing statement filed against such a beneficial interest 538 

before July 1, 2014, if: 539 

(a) The recording of the security document in that county 540 

is effective to perfect a lien on such beneficial interest under 541 

paragraph (8)(c); 542 

(b) The recorded security document identifies a financing 543 

statement filed before July 1, 2014, by indicating the office in 544 

which the financing statement was filed and providing the dates 545 

of filing and the file numbers, if any, of the financing 546 

statement and of the most recent continuation statement filed 547 

with respect to the financing statement; and 548 

(c) The recorded security document indicates that such 549 

financing statement filed before July 1, 2014, remains 550 

effective. 551 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1172 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02267-13 20131172c1 

Page 20 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

 552 

If no original security document bearing the debtor’s signature 553 

is readily available for recording in the public records, a 554 

secured party may proceed under this subsection with such 555 

financing statement filed before July 1, 2014, by recording a 556 

copy of a security document verified by the secured party as 557 

being a true and correct copy of an original authenticated by 558 

the debtor. This subsection does not apply to the perfection of 559 

a security interest in any beneficial interest in a land trust 560 

that is determined to be personal property under subsection (6). 561 

(14)(11) REMEDIAL ACT.—This act is remedial in nature and 562 

shall be given a liberal interpretation to effectuate the intent 563 

and purposes hereinabove expressed. 564 

(15)(12) EXCLUSION.—This act does not apply to any deed, 565 

mortgage, or other instrument to which s. 689.07 applies. 566 

Section 3. Section 736.0102, Florida Statutes, is amended 567 

to read: 568 

736.0102 Scope.— 569 

(1) Except as otherwise provided in this section, this code 570 

applies to express trusts, charitable or noncharitable, and 571 

trusts created pursuant to a law, judgment, or decree that 572 

requires the trust to be administered in the manner of an 573 

express trust. 574 

(2) This code does not apply to constructive or resulting 575 

trusts; conservatorships; custodial arrangements pursuant to the 576 

Florida Uniform Transfers to Minors Act; business trusts 577 

providing for certificates to be issued to beneficiaries; common 578 

trust funds; land trusts under s. 689.071, except to the extent 579 

provided in s. 689.071(7); trusts created by the form of the 580 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 1172 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

590-02267-13 20131172c1 

Page 21 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

account or by the deposit agreement at a financial institution; 581 

voting trusts; security arrangements; liquidation trusts; trusts 582 

for the primary purpose of paying debts, dividends, interest, 583 

salaries, wages, profits, pensions, or employee benefits of any 584 

kind; and any arrangement under which a person is nominee or 585 

escrowee for another. 586 

(3) This code does not apply to any land trust under s. 587 

689.071, except to the extent provided in s. 689.071(7), s. 588 

721.08(2)(c)4. or s. 721.53(1)(e). A trust governed at its 589 

creation by chapter 736, former chapter 737, or any prior trust 590 

statute superseded or replaced by any provision of former 591 

chapter 737, is not a land trust regardless of any amendment or 592 

modification of the trust, any change in the assets held in the 593 

trust, or any continuing trust resulting from the distribution 594 

or retention in further trust of assets from the trust. 595 

Section 4. The Division of Law Revision and Information is 596 

directed to replace the phrase “the effective date of this act” 597 

wherever it occurs in this act with such date. 598 

Section 5. This act shall take effect upon becoming a law. 599 



The Florida Senate

Committee Agenda Request

To:

Subject:

Senator John Thrasher, Chair
Committee on Rules

Committee Agenda Request

Date: April 2, 2013

APR 03 2013

I respectfully request that Senate Bill 1172, relating to Land Trusts, be placed on the:

committee agenda at your earliest possible convenience.

next committee agenda.

Senator David Simmons
Florida Senate, District 10

File signed original with committee office s-o2o (03/2004)



~’HE FLORIDA SENATE

APPE ARANCE  RECOND
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

4/17/13
Meeting Date

Topic Support the Land Trust Bill

Name Pete Dunbar

Job Title Attorney

Bill Number

Amendment Barcode

1172
(if applicable)

(~f applicable)

Address PO Box 10095
Street

Tallahassee
City

Speaking: E~ For [---] Against

FL 32302
State Zip

[--’] Information

Phone 850-222-3533

E-mail Pete@penningtonlaw.com

Representing The Real Property, Probate and Trust Law Section of the Florida Bar

Lobbyist registered with Legislature: [~ Yes [-"] NoAppearing at request of Chair: [~Yes E~ No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage pubfic testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the pubfi¢ record for this meeting, s-ool (lO/2O/11)



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Rules 

 

BILL:  CS/SB 714 

INTRODUCER: Communications, Energy, and Public Utilities Committee and Senator Simmons 

SUBJECT:  Public Records/Proprietary Confidential Business Information 

DATE:  April 5, 2013 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Geeker/Wiehle  Caldwell  CU  Fav/CS 

2. Naf  McVaney  GO  Favorable 

3. Geeker/Wiehle  Phelps  RC  Favorable 

4.        

5.        

6.        

 

Please see Section VIII. for Additional Information: 

A. COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE..... X Statement of Substantial Changes 

 B. AMENDMENTS........................  Technical amendments were recommended 

   Amendments were recommended 

   Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

CS/SB 714 creates a public records exemption for proprietary confidential business information 

held by an electric utility in conjunction with a due diligence review of an electric project or a 

project to improve the delivery, cost, or diversification of fuel or renewable energy resources. 

 

The bill requires such proprietary confidential business information to be retained for one year 

after the due diligence review has been completed and the electric utility has decided whether or 

not to participate in the project. 

 

The bill provides that the public records exemption is subject to the Open Government Sunset 

Review Act and will repeal on October 2, 2018, unless reviewed and saved from repeal through 

reenactment by the Legislature. The bill also provides a statement of public necessity as required 

by the Florida Constitution. 

 

Because the bill creates a new public records exemption, it requires a two-thirds vote of the 

members present and voting in each house of the Legislature for passage. 

 

The bill substantially amends section 119.0713 of the Florida Statutes. 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/SB 714   Page 2 

 

II. Present Situation: 

Public Records Laws 

The Florida Constitution provides every person the right to inspect or copy any public record 

made or received in connection with the official business of any public body, officer, or 

employee of the state, or of persons acting on their behalf.
1
 The records of the legislative, 

executive, and judicial branches are specifically included.
2
  

 

The Florida Statutes also specify conditions under which public access must be provided to 

government records. The Public Records Act
3
 guarantees every person’s right to inspect and 

copy any state or local government public record
4
 at any reasonable time, under reasonable 

conditions, and under supervision by the custodian of the public record.
5
  

 

Only the Legislature may create an exemption to public records requirements.
6
 Such an 

exemption must be created by general law and must specifically state the public necessity 

justifying the exemption.
7
 Further, the exemption must be no broader than necessary to 

accomplish the stated purpose of the law. A bill enacting an exemption may not contain other 

substantive provisions
8
 and must pass by a two-thirds vote of the members present and voting in 

each house of the Legislature.
9
 

 

The Open Government Sunset Review Act (the Act) prescribes a legislative review process for 

newly created or substantially amended public records or open meetings exemptions.
10

 It 

                                                 
1
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(a). 

2
 Id. 

3
 Chapter 119, F.S. 

4
 Section 119.011(12), F.S., defines “public records” to mean “all documents, papers, letters, maps, books, tapes, 

photographs, films, sound recordings, data processing software, or other material, regardless of the physical form, 

characteristics, or means of transmission, made or received pursuant to law or ordinance or in connection with the transaction 

of official business by any agency.” Section 119.011(2), F.S., defines “agency” to mean as “any state, county, district, 

authority, or municipal officer, department, division, board, bureau, commission, or other separate unit of government created 

or established by law including, for the purposes of this chapter, the Commission on Ethics, the Public Service Commission, 

and the Office of Public Counsel, and any other public or private agency, person, partnership, corporation, or business entity 

acting on behalf of any public agency.” The Public Records Act does not apply to legislative or judicial records (see Locke v. 

Hawkes, 595 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1992)). 
5
 Section 119.07(1)(a), F.S. 

6
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). There is a difference between records the Legislature designates as exempt from public records 

requirements and those the Legislature designates confidential and exempt. A record classified as exempt from public 

disclosure may be disclosed under certain circumstances (see WFTV, Inc. v. The School Board of Seminole, 874 So.2d 48 

(Fla. 5th DCA 2004), review denied 892 So.2d 1015 (Fla. 2004); City of Riviera Beach v. Barfield, 642 So.2d 1135 (Fla. 4th 

DCA 2004); and Williams v. City of Minneola, 575 So.2d 687 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). If the Legislature designates a record as 

confidential and exempt from public disclosure, such record may not be released, by the custodian of public records, to 

anyone other than the persons or entities specifically designated in the statutory exemption (see Attorney General Opinion 

85-62, August 1, 1985). 
7
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). 

8
 The bill may, however, contain multiple exemptions that relate to one subject. 

9
 FLA. CONST., art. I, s. 24(c). 

10
 Section 119.15, F.S. An exemption is substantially amended if the amendment expands the scope of the exemption to 

include more records or information or to include meetings as well as records (s. 119.15(4)(b), F.S.). The requirements of the 

Act do not apply to an exemption that is required by federal law or that applies solely to the Legislature or the State Court 

System (s. 119.15(2), F.S.). 



BILL: CS/SB 714   Page 3 

 

requires the automatic repeal of such exemption on October 2nd of the fifth year after creation or 

substantial amendment, unless the Legislature reenacts the exemption.
11

 The Act provides that a 

public records or open meetings exemption may be created or maintained only if it serves an 

identifiable public purpose and is no broader than is necessary to meet such public purpose.
12

 

 

Applicability of Public Records Requirements to Electric Utilities 

The three types of electric utilities defined in s. 366.02(2), F.S., are the municipal electric utility, 

investor-owned electric utility, and rural electric cooperative. Any records produced or held by 

investor-owned utilities or rural electric cooperatives are unaffected by public records law, as 

both are privately owned. Municipal utilities, however, are owned by a municipality and their 

records are subject to public records law.  

 

Public Records Exemptions for Municipal Electric Utility Records 

Current law provides a variety of public records exemptions relating to utilities,
13

 but there is no 

current exemption that applies to proprietary confidential business information held by a 

municipal electric utility in conjunction with a due diligence review of projects related to the 

provision of electric service. 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

This bill creates a new public records exemption for proprietary confidential business 

information held by an electric utility that is subject to chapter 119, F.S., in conjunction with a 

due diligence review of an electric project as defined in s. 163.01(3)(d), F.S.,
14

 or a project to 

improve the delivery, cost, or diversification of fuel or renewable energy resources. The bill 

provides that such information is confidential and exempt
15

 from s. 119.07(1), F.S., and s. 24(a), 

Art. I of the Florida Constitution. Further, the bill requires that such information be retained for 

one year after the due diligence review has been completed and the electric utility has decided 

whether or not to participate in the project. 

 

The bill defines “proprietary confidential business information” as: 

                                                 
11

 Section 119.15(3), F.S. 
12

 Section 119.15(6)(b), F.S. 
13

 See, e.g., ss. 119.0713(3) (municipal utility bids to provide an item or service to customers), 364.183 

(telecommunications), 366.093 (investor-owned electric and natural gas utilities), 367.156 (water and wastewater utilities), 

and 368.108, F.S. (natural gas transmission companies). 
14

 Section 163.01(3)(d), F.S., defines an “electric project” as: 

1. Any plant, works, system, facilities, and real property and personal property of any nature whatsoever, together 

with all parts thereof and appurtenances thereto, which is located within or without the state and which is used or 

useful in the generation, production, transmission, purchase, sale, exchange, or interchange of electric capacity 

and energy, including facilities and property for the acquisition, extraction, conversion, transportation, storage, 

reprocessing, or disposal of fuel and other materials of any kind for any such purposes. 

2. Any interest in, or right to, the use, services, output, or capacity of any such plant, works, system, or facilities. 

3. Any study to determine the feasibility or costs of any of the foregoing, including, but not limited to, engineering, 

legal, financial, and other services necessary or appropriate to determine the legality and financial and 

engineering feasibility of any project referred to in subparagraph 1. or subparagraph 2. 
15

 There is a difference between records that the Legislature has made exempt from public inspection and those that are 

confidential and exempt. See footnote 6.  



BILL: CS/SB 714   Page 4 

 

 

[I]nformation, regardless of form or characteristics, which is owned or controlled by an 

electric utility that is subject to chapter 119, is intended to be and is treated by the entity 

that provided the information to the electric utility as private in that the disclosure of the 

information would cause harm to the providing entity or its business operations, and has 

not been disclosed unless disclosed pursuant to a statutory provision, an order of a court 

or administrative body, or private agreement that provides that the information will not be 

released to the public. The term includes, but is not limited to: 

1. Trade secrets. 

2. Internal auditing controls and reports of internal auditors. 

3. Security measures, systems, or procedures. 

4. Information concerning bids or other contractual data, the disclosure of which 

would impair the efforts of the company or its affiliates to contract for goods 

or services on favorable terms. 

5. Information relating to competitive interests, the disclosure of which would 

impair the competitive business of the provider of information. 

 

This definition is substantially similar to existing provisions of law defining proprietary 

confidential business information.
16

 

 

The bill provides that the public record exemption created by the bill is subject to the Open 

Government Sunset Review Act in accordance with s. 119.15, F.S., and will be repealed on 

October 2, 2018, unless reviewed and saved from repeal through reenactment by the Legislature. 

 

The bill also provides a statement of public necessity as required by the Florida Constitution. 

 

The bill’s effective date is July 1, 2013. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

Not applicable. This bill does not appear to require counties or municipalities to spend 

funds or take action requiring the expenditure of funds, reduce the authority that counties 

or municipalities have to raise revenues in the aggregate, or reduce the percentage of state 

tax shared with counties or municipalities. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

Vote Requirement 
 

Article I, s. 24(c) of the Florida Constitution requires a two-thirds vote of the members 

present and voting in each house of the Legislature for final passage of a new public 

records exemption; therefore, this bill requires a two-thirds vote for passage. 

 

                                                 
16

 See, e.g., ss. 364.183 (telecommunications), 366.093 (investor-owned electric and natural gas utilities), 367.156 (water and 

wastewater utilities), and 368.108, F.S. (natural gas transmission companies). 



BILL: CS/SB 714   Page 5 

 

Public Necessity Statement 
 

Article I, s. 24(c) of the Florida Constitution requires a law creating a new public records 

exemption to contain a public necessity statement justifying the exemption; therefore, this 

bill contains a public necessity statement. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

The bill may expand opportunities for private sector entities to do business with 

municipal electric utilities by creating a public records exemption for proprietary 

confidential business information, as the exemption may encourage more private sector 

participation and sharing of information. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

Out-of-state energy generators and other technology providers may be more inclined to 

enter into public-private partnerships in Florida; to the extent that such electric 

partnerships would potentially improve the delivery, cost, or diversification of fuel or 

renewable energy, government-owned electric utilities and their customers may benefit. 

 

Electric utilities may experience a minimal fiscal impact, because staff responsible for 

complying with public records requests could require training related to the new public 

records exemption. In addition, electric utilities could incur costs associated with 

redacting the confidential and exempt information. Such costs would be absorbed, 

however, as they are part of the day-to-day responsibilities of the electric utilities. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

The bill does not define “trade secrets.” 



BILL: CS/SB 714   Page 6 

 

VIII. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS by Communications, Energy, and Public Utilities on March 6, 2013: 

Expressly defines the term proprietary confidential business information instead of 

defining it by cross-reference. 

 Clarifies that proprietary confidential business information is “held by” an electric 

utility instead of “provided to.” 

 Consistently states that proprietary confidential business information is both 

confidential and exempt. 

 Requires that the proprietary confidential business information be retained for one 

year by the electric utility. 

 Deletes “propriety” and replaces with “proprietary.” 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 714 

 

 

 

By the Committee on Communications, Energy, and Public 

Utilities; and Senator Simmons 

 

 

 

579-01973-13 2013714c1 

Page 1 of 4 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to public records; amending s. 2 

119.0713, F.S.; providing an exemption from public 3 

records requirements for specified proprietary 4 

confidential business information held by an electric 5 

utility that is subject to ch. 119, F.S., in 6 

conjunction with a due diligence review of an electric 7 

project or a project to improve the delivery, cost, or 8 

diversification of fuel or renewable energy resources; 9 

providing for the retention of such information for a 10 

specified time; providing for future review and repeal 11 

of the exemption; providing a statement of public 12 

necessity; providing an effective date. 13 

 14 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 15 

 16 

Section 1. Subsection (4) is added to section 119.0713, 17 

Florida Statutes, to read: 18 

119.0713 Local government agency exemptions from inspection 19 

or copying of public records.— 20 

(4)(a) Proprietary confidential business information means 21 

information, regardless of form or characteristics, which is 22 

held by an electric utility that is subject to chapter 119, is 23 

intended to be and is treated by the entity that provided the 24 

information to the electric utility as private in that the 25 

disclosure of the information would cause harm to the providing 26 

entity or its business operations, and has not been disclosed 27 

unless disclosed pursuant to a statutory provision, an order of 28 

a court or administrative body, or private agreement that 29 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 714 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

579-01973-13 2013714c1 

Page 2 of 4 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

provides that the information will not be released to the 30 

public. Proprietary confidential business information includes, 31 

but is not limited to: 32 

1. Trade secrets. 33 

2. Internal auditing controls and reports of internal 34 

auditors. 35 

3. Security measures, systems, or procedures. 36 

4. Information concerning bids or other contractual data, 37 

the disclosure of which would impair the efforts of the electric 38 

utility to contract for goods or services on favorable terms. 39 

5. Information relating to competitive interests, the 40 

disclosure of which would impair the competitive business of the 41 

provider of the information. 42 

(b) Proprietary confidential business information held by 43 

an electric utility that is subject to chapter 119 in 44 

conjunction with a due diligence review of an electric project 45 

as defined in s. 163.01(3)(d) or a project to improve the 46 

delivery, cost, or diversification of fuel or renewable energy 47 

resources is confidential and exempt from s. 119.07(1) and s. 48 

24(a), Art. I of the State Constitution. 49 

(c) All proprietary confidential business information 50 

described in paragraph (b) shall be retained for one year after 51 

the due diligence review has been completed and the electric 52 

utility has decided whether or not to participate in the 53 

project. 54 

(d) This subsection is subject to the Open Government 55 

Sunset Review Act in accordance with s. 119.15, and shall stand 56 

repealed on October 2, 2018, unless reviewed and saved from 57 

repeal through reenactment by the Legislature. 58 



Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 714 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

579-01973-13 2013714c1 

Page 3 of 4 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Section 2. (1) The Legislature finds that it is a public 59 

necessity that proprietary confidential business information 60 

held by an electric utility that is subject to chapter 119, 61 

Florida Statutes, in conjunction with a due diligence review of 62 

an electric project as defined in s. 163.01(3)(d), Florida 63 

Statutes, or a project to improve the delivery, cost, or 64 

diversification of fuel or renewable energy resources be made 65 

confidential and exempt from public records requirements. The 66 

disclosure of such proprietary confidential business 67 

information, such as trade secrets, internal auditing controls 68 

and reports, security measures, systems, or procedures, or other 69 

information relating to competitive interests, could injure the 70 

provider in the marketplace by giving its competitors detailed 71 

insights into its financial status and strategic plans, thereby 72 

putting the provider at a competitive disadvantage. Without this 73 

exemption, providers might be unwilling to enter into 74 

discussions with the utility regarding the feasibility of future 75 

contracting. This could, in turn, limit opportunities the 76 

utility might otherwise have for finding cost-effective or 77 

strategic solutions for providing electric service or improving 78 

the delivery, cost, or diversification of fuel or renewable 79 

energy. This would put public providers of electric utility 80 

services at a competitive disadvantage by limiting their ability 81 

to optimize services to their customers and adversely affecting 82 

the customers of those utilities by depriving them of 83 

opportunities for rate reductions or other improvements in 84 

services. 85 

(2) Proprietary confidential business information derives 86 

actual or potential independent economic value from not being 87 

Florida Senate - 2013 CS for SB 714 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

579-01973-13 2013714c1 

Page 4 of 4 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

generally known to, and not being readily ascertainable by 88 

proper means by, other persons who can derive economic value 89 

from its disclosure or use. A utility, in performing the 90 

appropriate due diligence review of electric projects or 91 

projects to improve the delivery, cost, or diversification of 92 

fuel or renewable energy sources, may need to obtain proprietary 93 

confidential business information. Without an exemption from 94 

public records requirements for this information, it becomes a 95 

public record when received by an electric utility and must be 96 

disclosed upon request. Disclosure of any proprietary 97 

confidential business information under the public records law 98 

would destroy the value of that property and cause economic harm 99 

not only to the entity or person providing the information, but 100 

to the ratepayers through reduced competition for the provision 101 

of vital electric utility services. 102 

(3) In finding that the public records exemption created by 103 

this act is a public necessity, the Legislature also finds that 104 

the public and private harm in disclosing such proprietary 105 

confidential business information significantly outweighs any 106 

public benefit derived from disclosure of the information and 107 

that the exemption created by this act will enhance the ability 108 

of electric utilities to optimize their performance, thereby 109 

benefiting the ratepayers. 110 

Section 3. This act shall take effect July 1, 2013. 111 



 

The Florida Senate 

Committee Agenda Request 

 

File signed original with committee office  S-020 (03/2004) 

To: Senator John Thrasher, Chair 

 Committee on Rules  

Subject: Committee Agenda Request 

Date: April 2, 2013 

 

 

I respectfully request that Senate Bill 714, relating to Public Records/Proprietary Confidential 

Business Information, be placed on the: 

 

  committee agenda at your earliest possible convenience. 

 

  next committee agenda. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

      
Senator David Simmons 

Florida Senate, District 10 

 



Meeting Date

Job Title

Address
Street " o"

City State Zip

Speaking: [~For [--] Against [~ Information

BillNumber~ ~-1~

Amendment Barcode
(if applicable)

(if applicable)

Phone ~)’~

E-mail

Representing

Appearing at request of Chair: [~ Yes ’~No
Lobbyist registered with Legislature: [--] Yes ~No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage pubfic testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to tim# their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting, s-ool (lO/2O/11)



(Delver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Topic

Name

Job Title

Address
Street

Speaking" ~jCor    [] Against

Representing ~_~=~’/~

State            Z~

I---] Information

Bill Number ,~’_/~ ~7/
(if applicable)

Amendment Barcode
(if applicable)

Appearing at request of Chair: V--] Yes ~o Lobbyist registered with Legislature:fj~Yes ~ No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage pubfic testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting, s-001 (10/20/11)



CourtSmart Tag Report

Room: EL 110
Caption: Senate Rules Committee

Case:
Judge:

Started: 4/t7/2013 2:31:20 PM
Ends: 4/17/2013 4:06:01 PM Length: 01:34:42

2:31:22 PM
2:31:28 PM
2:31:32 PM
2:32:06 PM
2:32:17 PM
2:32:52 PM
2:33:07 PM
2:33:20 PM
2:33:27 PM
2:33:57 PM
2:34:09 PM
2:34:18 PM
2:34:28 PM
2:34:34 PM
2:34:47 PM
2:34:47 PM
2:34:47 PM
2:34:51 PM
2:35:00 PM
2:35:09 PM
2:35:14 PM
2:35:52 PM
2:36:11 PM
2:36:20 PM
2:37:15 PM
2:37:27 PM
2:37:33 PM
2:37:41 PM
2:37:57 PM
2:38:03 PM
2:38:33 PM
2:39:04 PM
2:39:14 PM
2:40:20 PM
2:41:16 PM
2:41:19 PM
2:41:36 PM
2:41:42 PM
2:41:53 PM
2:42:01 PM
2:42:04 PM
2:42:07 PM
2:42:37 PM
2:43:00 PM
2:43:05 PM
2:43:07 PM
2:43:42 PM
2:44:03 PM
2:44:29 PM
2:44:36 PM
2:45:06 PM
2:45:22 PM

Senator Thrasher calls the meeting to order
roll call
quorum present
CS/SB 528 by Senator Simpson
Senator Simpson explains the bill
Senator Lee takes the chair
Senator Thrasher explains Amendment 622998
No objection to the late filed amendment
Senator Thrasher explains the amendment
Senator Diaz de la Portilla ask a question
Senator Thrasher responds
without objection amendment adopted
back on the bill
Kitri Hebrank of Florida Home Builders waives in support
Nick lgrossi of EQR waives in support
Brian Kemp waives in support
back on the bill
Senator Simmons waives close
without objection cs adopted
roll call
CS/SB 528 reported favorable
CS/CS SB 1122 by Senator Simpson
Amendment 764182 by Senator Montford
Senator Simpson explains amendment
Adam Basford of Florida Farm bureau waives in support
Senator Simpson waives close
amendment adopted
CS adopted
roll call
CS/CS/SB 1122 reported favorably
Senator Smith takes the chair
CS/SB 1494 by Senator Thrasher
Senator Thrasher explains the bill
Senator Lee explains amendment 298330
Amendment adopted
Senator Lee explains amendment 784344
Amendment adopted
Andrew Fay of the Office of the Attorney General waives in support
Senator Thrasher waives close
CS adopted
roll call
CS/SB 1494 reported favorably
Senator Thrasher explains CS/SB 1496
Senator Thrasher waives close
roll call
CS/SB 1496 reported favorably
Senator Thrasher takes the chair
CS/CS/SB 1734 explains the bill
by Senator Flores
Amendment 143288 by Senator Negron
Adrianna Sekula Pace Center for Girls waives in support
Amendment adopted

Type:



2:45:33 PM
2:45:39 PM
2:45:46 PM
2:45:57 PM
2:46:31 PM
2:46:48 PM
2:47:22 PM
2:48:24 PM
2:48:52 PM
2:49:05 PM
2:50:00 PM
2:50:12 PM
2:50:36 PM
2:51:14 PM
2:52:48 PM
2:53:24 PM
2:53:42 PM
2:53:51 PM
2:55:02 PM
2:55:14 PM
2:55:24 PM
2:55:38 PM
2:55:48 PM
2:56:18 PM
2:56:24 PM
2:57:00 PM
2:58:12 PM
2:58:18 PM
2:58:29 PM
2:58:31 PM
2:59:26 PM
3:00:43 PM
3:00:49 PM
3:00:51 PM
3:01:35 PM
3:03:02 PM
3:03:20 PM
3:03:35 PM
3:03:49 PM
3:04:00 PM
3:04:16 PM
3:04:31 PM
3:04:47 PM
3:04:57 PM
3:05:01 PM
3:05:35 PM
3:06:08 PM
3:10:t2 PM
3:11:03 PM
3:11:29 PM
3:11:39 PM
3:12:10 PM
3:12:15 PM
3:12:18 PM
3:t2:52 PM
3:13:27 PM
3:13:40 PM
3:13:46 PM
3:13:54 PM
3:t4:31 PM
3:16:45 PM
3:16:56 PM

Senator Flores waives close
CS adopted by Senator Lee
roll call
CS/CS/SB 1734 reported favorably
CS/CS/SB 1016 by Senator Hays
Senator Hays explains the bill
Senator Smith ask a question
Senator Hays answers
Casey Stoutamire of Florida Dental Association waives in support
Senator Hays waives close
roll call on CS/CS/SB 1016
CS/CS/SB 1016 reported favorably
CS/CS/SB 580 explained by Senator Hays
Senator Hays explains strike all - Amendment 446246
Amendment 125176 withdrawn
without objection 446246 introduced and explained by Senator Hays
Senator Margolis ask a question
Senator Hays responds
amendment adopted
Yelline Goin Community Association Leadership Lobby waives in support
Richard Pinsky waives in support
CS adopted
Senator Hays closes on the bill
roll call
CS/CS/SB 580 reported favorably
Senator Detert explains CS/SB 536
Martha DeCastro Florida Hospital Association waives in support
Allison Carvajal Florida Nurse Practitioner Network waives in support
roll call
CS/SB 536 reported favorably
CS/SB 474 explained by Senator Altman
Senator Airman waives close
roll call
CS/SB 474 reported favorably
CS/SB 1840 explained by Senator Airman
Amendment 624254 by Senator Smith
Senator Smith explains amendment
Amendment adopted
Amendment 709122 by Senator Latvala
Senator Latvala explains amendment
Amendment adopted
Julie Roberts Division of Emergency Management waives in support
CS adopted
roll call
CS/SB 1840 reported favorably
SB 986 by Senator Soto
Paul Henry representing himself speaks against the bill
Senator Lavala speaks
Senator Soto speaks
Senator Latvala speaks
Senator Soto speaks
Senator Soto waives close
roll call
SB 986 reported favorably
CS/CS/SB 1210 explained by Senator Soto
Eric Maclure State Courts System waives in support
Senator Soto waives close
roll call
CS/CSSB 1210 reported favorable
CS/CS/SB 490 by Senator Stargel explains the bill
Senator Smith ask a question
Senator Stargel answers



3:22:01
3:22:13
3:23:03
3:27:55
3:28:09
3:28:21
3:28:30
3:28:41
support
3:29:00
3:31:15
3:31:58
3:32:01
3:32:45
3:33:54
3:34:22
3:35:07
3:35:19
3:35:25
3:35:28
3:36:04
3:36:18
3:36:28
3:36:32
3:37:12
3:38:06
3:38:13
3:39:12
3:39:19
3:39:23
3:39:50
3:40:36
3:40:45
3:40:57
3:41:04
3:41:08
3:41:42
3:42:41
3:42:46
3:42:49
3:43:25
3:43:56
3:44:08
3:44:16
3:44:20
3:44:54
3:45:02
3:45:29
3:45:40
3:46:45
3:46:57
3:47:07
3:47:12
3:47:14
3:47:56
3:48:14
3:48:26
3:48:30
3:48:35
3:49:05
3:49:36
3:49:45

PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM

PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM

Senator Sobel ask a question
Senator Stargel answers
Alice Vickers Florida Consumer Action Network speaks against
Arthur Rosenburg Florida Legal Services Inc. waives against
Amy Datz representing herself waives against
Willie Bailey representing himself waives against
Glynda Linton representing herself waives against
Gayle Roberts, Joanne Alvarez representing themselves waives against & Kelly Matlette waives in

Senator Smith in debate
Senator Stargel closes on bill
roll call
CS/CS/SB 490 reported favorably
Senator Richter makes a motion
Senator Diaz de la Portilla makes a motion
Senator Rings explains CS/SB 1260
Ron Labasky Florida State Association of Supervisors of Election waives in support
Senator Ring waives close
roll call
CS/SB 1260 reported favorably
Senator Ring Explains SB 1800
Senator Ring waives close
roll call
SB 1800 reported favorably
CS/SB 824 explained by David Matin
Eric Mclure State Courts Systems waives in support
Senator Margolis speaks
Mr. Marin waives close
roll call
CS/SB 824 reported favorably
CS/SB 1014 explained by Mr. David Marin
Eric Maclure State Courts System waives in support
Senator Margolis speaks
Mr. Matin waives close
roll call
CS/SB 1014 reported favorably
SB 1424 explained by Molly Caddell on behalf of Senator Evers
waive close
roll call
SB 1424 reported favorably
CS/CS/SB 1160 explained by Tyrell Hall on behalf of Senator Bullard
Amendment 445448 by Senator Smith
Senator Smith explains amendment
Amendment adopted
Amendment 485304 by Senator Smith
Amendment adopted
Amendment 947950 by Senator Smith
Senator Margolis ask a question
Senator Smith answers
Amendment adopted
cs adopted
Tyrell Hall waives close
roll call
CS/CS/SB 1160 reported favorably
SB 706 by Senator Montford explained
Doug Bell Progressive Insurance waives in support
Senator Montford waives close
roll call
SB 706 reported favorably
CS/SB 1756 by Senator Montford explains bill
Grace Lovett Depart of Agriculture waives in support
Amy Datz representing herself waives in support



3:49:53
3:49:58
3:50:12
3:50:35
3:50:51
3:52:04
3:52:14
3:52:23
3:53:04
3:53:09
3:53:25
3:53:47
3:54:14
support
3:54:28
3:54:34
3:54:44
3:55:05
3:55:48
3:55:55
3:55:57
3:56:27
3:57:44
3:57:50
3:57:52
3:58:21
3:59:31
3:59:38
3:59:42
4:00:05
4:00:54
4:01:12
4:01:41
4:01:52
4:02:27
4:02:37
4:02:43
4:02:47
4:03:16
4:03:50
4:04:05
4:04:11
4:04:18
4:04:30
4:04:59

PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM

PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM
PM

Senator Montford waives close
roll call
CS/SB 1756 reported favorably
Senator Montford makes a motion
SB 712 by Senator Latvala explains bill
Amendment 901884 withdrawn
Amendment 895022 introduced
Senator Latvala explains amendment
Amendment adopted
CS adopted and roll call
SB 712 reported favorably
SB 736 by Senator Richter explains bill
Josh Aubuchon Reptiles the Real property, probate and Trust Law Section, Florida Bar waives in

Senator Richter waives close
roll call
SB 736 reported favorably
CS/SB 1098 by Senator Richter explained
Senator Richter waives close
roll call
CS/SB 1098 reported favorably
SB 1848 explained by Senator Simmons
Senator Simmons waives close
roll call
SB 1848 reported favorably
SB 1850 explained by Senator Simmons
Senator Simmons waives close
roll call
SB 1850 reported favorably
CS/SB 834 explained by Senator Simmons
Rebecca Matthews Florida Office of Insurance waives in support
Senator Simmons waives close
Cs/SB 834 reported favorably
CS/SB 1172 by Senator Simmons explained
Pete Dunbar The Real Property, Probate and Trust Law Section of the Florida Bar waives in support
Senator Simmons waives close
roll call
CS/SB 1172 reported favorably
CS/SB 714 by Senator Simmons explains bill
Chip Merrian Orlando Utilities Commission waives in support
Suzanne Goss JEA waives in support
Senator Simmons waives his close
roll call
CS/SB 714 reported favorably
Senator Smith moves we rise


	Bill and Amendment List Report
	Expanded Agenda (Long)
	S1494
	RC Bill Analysis 4/19/2013
	298330
	784344
	1494c1
	SB 1494 Appearance Records.pdf

	S1496
	RC Bill Analysis 4/17/2013
	1496c1

	S0528
	RC Bill Analysis 4/17/2013
	622998
	0528c1
	SB 528 Agenda Request.pdf
	SB 528 Appearance Records.pdf

	S1122
	RC Bill Analysis 4/17/2013
	764182
	1122c2
	SB 1122 Appearance Records.pdf

	S0824
	RC Bill Analysis 4/17/2013
	0824c1
	SB 824 Agenda Request.pdf
	Aide to present SB 824 & 1014.pdf
	SB 824 Appearance Records.pdf

	S1014
	RC Bill Analysis 4/17/2013
	1014c1
	SB 1014 Agenda Request.pdf
	Aide to present SB 824 & 1014.pdf
	SB 1014 Appearance Records.pdf

	S0986
	RC Bill Analysis 4/17/2013
	0986__
	SB 986 Appearance Records.pdf

	S1210
	RC Bill Analysis 4/17/2013
	1210c2
	SB 1210 Appearance Records.pdf

	S1734
	RC Bill Analysis 4/17/2013
	143288
	1734c2
	SB 1734 Agenda Request.pdf
	SB 1734 Appearance Records.pdf

	S1424
	RC Bill Analysis 4/17/2013
	1424__
	Aide to present SB 1424.pdf

	S0490
	RC Bill Analysis 4/17/2013
	0490c2
	SB 490 Appearance Records.pdf

	S0536
	RC Bill Analysis 4/17/2013
	0536c1
	SB 536 Agenda Request.pdf
	SB 536 Appearance Records.pdf

	S1016
	RC Bill Analysis 4/17/2013
	1016c2
	SB 1016 Agenda Request.pdf
	SB 1016 Appearance Records.pdf

	S0580
	RC Bill Analysis 4/18/2013
	125176
	446246
	0580c2
	SB 580 Agenda Request.pdf
	SB 580 Appearance Records.pdf

	S1160
	RC Bill Analysis 4/19/2013
	445448
	485304
	947950
	1160c2

	S0474
	RC Bill Analysis 4/17/2013
	0474c1

	S1840
	RC Bill Analysis 4/19/2013
	624254
	709122
	1840c1
	SB 1840 Appearance Records.pdf

	S0712
	RC Bill Analysis 4/19/2013
	901884
	895022
	0712__
	SB 712 Agenda Request.pdf

	S1260
	RC Bill Analysis 4/17/2013
	1260c1
	SB 1260 Appearance Records.pdf

	S1800
	RC Bill Analysis 4/17/2013
	1800__

	S0706
	RC Bill Analysis 4/17/2013
	0706__
	SB 706 Appearance Records.pdf

	S1756
	RC Bill Analysis 4/17/2013
	1756c1
	SB 1756 Appearance Records.pdf

	S0736
	RC Bill Analysis 4/17/2013
	0736__
	SB 736 Agenda Request.pdf
	SB 736 Appearance Records.pdf

	S1098
	RC Bill Analysis 4/17/2013
	1098c1
	SB 1098 Agenda Request.pdf

	S1848
	RC Bill Analysis 4/17/2013
	1848__
	SB 1848 Agenda Request.pdf

	S1850
	RC Bill Analysis 4/17/2013
	1850__
	SB 1850 Agenda Request.pdf

	S0834
	RC Bill Analysis 4/17/2013
	0834c1
	SB 834 Agenda Request.pdf
	SB 834 Appearance Records.pdf

	S1172
	RC Bill Analysis 4/17/2013
	1172c1
	SB 1172 Agenda Request.pdf
	SB 1172 Appearance Records.pdf

	S0714
	RC Bill Analysis 4/17/2013
	0714c1
	SB 714 Agenda Request.pdf
	SB 714 Appearance Records.pdf

	Comment
	04-17-13 CourtSmart.pdf




